IN VITRO ANALYSES OF TOLL-LIKE AND NOD-LIKE RECEPTORS AND IN VIVO INTERLEUKIN-1 RECEPTOR ANTAGONIST POLYMORPHISM DURING HELICOBACTER PYLORI INFECTION

Thesis submitted to the University of Calicut in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of

> DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN IMMUNOLOGY

> > By

SUNEESH KUMAR PACHATHUNDIKANDI

DEPARTMENT OF BIOTECHNOLOGY UNIVERSITY OF CALICUT KERALA, INDIA **April, 2009**

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the thesis entitled '*In vitro* analyses of Toll Like and Nod Like Receptors and *In vivo* Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist Polymorphism during *Helicobacter pylori* Infection' submitted by Mr. Suneesh Kumar Pachathundikandi, in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the award of Doctor of Philosophy in Immunology, to the University of Calicut is an authentic research work carried out by him under my supervision and guidance in the Department of Biotechnology and the outcome of his research under DAAD (German Academic Exchange Service) Sandwich Fellowship has become a part of the thesis. This thesis has not previously formed the basis for the award of any degree, diploma or other similar title or recognition.

> Dr. M. V. Joseph Professor Research Supervisor

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the work presented in this thesis entitled '*In vitro* analyses of Toll Like and Nod Like Receptors and *In vivo* Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist Polymorphism during *Helicobacter pylori* Infection' submitted to the University of Calicut for the award of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Immunology, is original and carried out by me under the supervision of Dr. M V Joseph, Professor, Department of Biotechnology, University of Calicut. This has not been submitted earlier either in part or in full for any degree or diploma of any university.

Mr. Suneesh Kumar Pachathundikandi

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge the persons who have supported and helped me during the doctoral research.

I have immense pleasure and gratitude for acknowledging my supervisor and guide Dr. M V Joseph, Professor, Department of Biotechnology, University of Calicut for his valuable insight and critical review of this doctoral research in a fruitful manner. He has guided the research in very methodical way in India and through online guidance when I was doing part of my research in Germany under DAAD (German Academic Exchange Service) Sandwich Fellowship. I am deeply indebted to him for his resilience, patience and all the help extended to me during my research period.

I am taking this opportunity to thank Prof. Dr. Steffen Backert, Institute for Medical Microbiology, Otto-von-Guericke University, Magdeburg, Germany (presently University College, Dublin, Ireland) for giving me a chance to work in his laboratory and extending all the facilities to complete part of my PhD research in Germany under DAAD Fellowship programme. I am also thankful to Prof. Dr. med Wolfgang Koenig, Director, Institute for Medical Microbiology, Otto-von-Guericke University, Magdeburg, Germany for providing the facilities and materials for the research and motivating me through his cheerful character.

I would also like to thank Dr. P R Manish Kumar, Head & Co-ordinator, Department of Biotechnology, University of Calicut and Mr. C Gopinathan, Senior Lecturer, Department of Biotechnology, University of Calicut for their help and support during this research period.

I have immense pleasure to extend my heartfelt thanks to my colleagues in India and Germany, Dr. K T V, Vijayan, Dr K P Martin, Dr Sabine Brandt, Dr Nicole Tegetmeyer, Ms Franziska Layer, Ms Diana Schmidt, Mr Nishanth Gopalakrishna and Mr T V Rahul Raghavan for keeping my research environment as smooth, viable and creative.

I would also like to thank Mr Ramadas, Assistant Registrar, University of Calicut, Ms K M Thara, Technical Assistant, Ms Saraswathi, Librarian, Department of Biotechnology, University of Calicut for their help and support during the research period.

I am deeply touched by the full moral support and love extended by Mr T Chandukutty Nair and Mrs P Kallyani, my parents and Ms P T Ujwala, my sister, otherwise, the story would have been a different one. I would also like to thank my fiancée Ms P V Jiji for her stimulus encouragement at the final stages of my thesis preparation. I herewith express my sincere gratitude and love to my family members for helping and supporting me whole heartedly during my entire life.

Finally, I am very thankful to the financial support extended to me by Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR) and German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) through their fellowships during my PhD research.

Above all, I am thankful to God for giving me such an interesting career as scientific investigator, I believe, that is really the search for God's own creativity. I am happy that I have been able to see very few of his interesting creativities for the first time.

Mr. Suneesh Kumar Pachathundikandi

ABBREVIATIONS

^	Amporo
ABCA-1	A P-binding cassette, sub-family A member-1
AKI	Serine/threonine-specific protein kinase
AlpA	Adherence-associated lipoprotein A
AlpB	Adherence-associated lipoprotein B
AP-1	Activator protein-1
APCs	Antigen presenting cells
	Analysin presenting cells
ASC	Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a
	caspase recruitment domain
ASK-1	Apoptosis-regulating Signal Kinase
ATCC	American type culture collection
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BabA	Blood group antigen binding Adhesin
BC	Before Christ
B colle	Blymphopytos
	Distription bases 40
BCL-10	B-cell CLL/lympnoma-10
BCR	B-Cell Receptor
BD-2	Beta-defensin-2
BD-3	Beta-defensin-3
BEAS-2B	Bronchial epithelial cell line
BHI	Brain heart Infusion
	Bcl-2-related ovarian death gene
	Doi-2-related Ovarian death gene
BIR	Baculoviral IAP repeats
BMAP-27	Bovine myeloid antimicrobial peptide-27
BMMs	Bone Marrow-derived macrophages
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
Caco-2	Epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma cells
CadA	Cytoxin associated gene A
cadPAL	Cag nathogenecity island
	Cuelio Adonacina mananhaanhata
CARD	Caspase Recruiting Domain
CARDIAK	CARD containing ICE-associated Kinase
CATERPILLER	CARD, transcription enhancer, R (purine)-binding,
	pyrin, lots of LRRs
CBMC	Cord Blood-derived Mast Cells
CC	CC chemokine
CCL-5	CC chemokine ligand -5
	CC chomoking ligand 30
	CC chemokine recenter 6
CG	Cholesterol glucosides
c-Fos	Cytoplasmic Finkel–Biskis–Jinkins murine
	osteogenic sarcoma virus protein
CHO	Chinese Hamster Ovary cells
CINCA	Chronic Infentile Neurological Cutaneous and
	Articular syndrome
210	Cis-acting elements
	Close II. major biotocompatibility complex
UTA	
	transactivator
c-MET	Mesenchymal-epithelial transition factor
COS-1	CV-1 (simian) in Origin, and carrying the SV40
	genetic material
CpG DNA	CpG containing oligonucleotide
c-Rel	c-Rel proto-oncogene
CPK	Sarcoma virus CT10 oncogene homolog
CSK	a SPC tyrosina kinasa
CSK	
CIL	Cytotoxic I-cells
CXCR-4	CXC chemokine receptor-4
CXL-9	CX chemokine ligand-9
CXL-11	CX chemokine ligand-11
CvaA	Adenylate cyclase deficient
CDT	Cytolethal distending toxin
	Diaminonimetic Acid
	Dondritic Colle
DC-SIGN	DC specific C-type lectin
DĎ	Death domain

DDCs DMBT-1 DMP DMSO DNA dotA dsRNA DSS DTT DU DupA ECL ECP EGFR EPIYA ER ERK et al	Dermal Dendritic Cells Deleted in Maligant Brain Tumors-1 Dsmuramylpeptides Dimethyl sulfoxide Deoxyribonucleic acid defect in organelle trafficking Double stranded RNA Dextran Sodium Sulfate Dithiothreitol Duodenal Ulcer Duodenal Ulcer Duodenal ulcer associated protein Enhanced chemical luminescence Eosinophil Cationic Protein Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Abi Glu-Pro-Ile-Tyr-Ala motif Endoplasmic reticulum Extra cellular signal regulated kinase <i>et aliter</i>
ExoS	Exoenzyme S
ExoU	Exoenzyme U
FAK	Focal Adhesion Kinase
FAM	6-carboxyfluorescein
FCAS	Familial Cold Autoinflammatory Syndrome
	FU Receptors
FK565	Heptanovl-gamma-D-glutamvl-L-meso-
	diaminopimelyI-D-alanine
FliC	Flagellar filament structural protein
FSL-1	Pam2CGDPKHPKSF (synthetic lipoprotein)
g	gravity
GAS	Group A Streptococcus
G-CSE	Granulocyte colony stimulating factor
GG2EE	Mouse macrophage cell line
GlcNAc-MurNAc	N-acetylglucosamine-N-acetymuramic acid
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-Monocyte colony stimulating factor
Gp96	Glycoprotein-96 kDa
GSK-3	Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3
GSI	Gamma-secretase Inhibitor
GRD2 h	bour
H-60	H-60 protein
HA	Heamagglutinin
HBV	Hepatitis B Virus
HCECs	Human corneal cpithelial cells
HEK293	Human embryonic kidney cell line
HeLa cells	Cervical epithelial cell line
Hes-1	Hairy and Enhancer of Split homolog-1
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
hopZ	Helicobacter outer membrane protein Z
ĤР	Helicobacter pylori
HRP	Horse radish peroxide
HSC	Hematopoetic Stem Cell
	Heat shock protein-60 kDa
HSV-2	Herpes simplex virus type-2
HT-29	Colon epithelial cell line
HOK-16B	Human gingival epithelial cell line
IARC	International agency for cancer research
IAV	Influenza A Virus
IceA	Induced upon contact with epithelium gene
IFNY	Interieron-gamma
	Interferon-beta
IKK	Inhibitor of KB kinase
IL.	Interleukin
IL-1Rs	Interleukin-1 Receptors
IP-10	Inducible protein-10

IL-RN	Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
- H	Immunoprecipitation
IPAF IBAKa	Ice Protease(caspase-1) Activatin FActor
	IE-1 Receptor Associated Rindses
IRF-3	IFN-regulatory Factor-3
ITAM	Immunoglobullin Tyrosine Activation Motif
JNK	Jun amino-terminal Kinase
kb	Kilo base
KC	Mouse chemokine CXCL-1
kDa	Kilo Dalton
KRV	Kilham Rat Virus
LAM	Lipoarabinomannan
LC	Langerhan Cell
LC-DCs	Langerhan cells like DCs
Le	
	Lipomannans
	Lipopolysacchande
LRRs	Leucine Rich Repeats
LXR	Liver X Receptors
LYN	SRC family kinase
Μ	Molar
MAL	MyD-88 Adaptor Like protein
MALT	Mucosa Associated Lymphoid Tissue
MAPK	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinases
MBP-68-86	Microbacterial Peptide
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MCs	Mast Cells
MD-2	Myeloid differentiation-2
MDA mDC	Mucleid DC
MDP	Muramyl dipentide
MEKK-4	MAP kinase kinase kinase-4
MH	Mueller-Hinton
MHC	Major Histo-Compatibility
min	Minute
MIP-1	Macrophage inflammatory protein-1
MKP-1	MAPK phosphatase-1
MMP-9	Matrix Metalloproteinase
MMTV	Mouse mammary tumour virus
MOI Ma DOa	Multiplicity of Infection
Mo-DCs	Monocytes derived LCs
	Monocytes derived LCS
Muc	
MurNAc-I -Ala-D-isoGln	Muramyl dipentide
MWS	Muckle-Wells Syndrome
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response88
Nap	Neutrophil attracting protein
NACHT	A domain in NLRs
NAIP	Neuronal Apoptos Inhibitor Protein
NAIP-5	Neuronal Apoptos Inhibitor Protein-5
NBD	Necleotide-binding Domain
	NF-KB essential modulator)
	NUClear factor- KB
	Natural Killer
NKG2D	Kill cell lectin-like receptor subfamily K member -1
NKT	Natural Killer T-cells
NLRs	Nod-like receptors
NO	Nitric Oxide
NOD	Nucleotide Oligomerization Domain
Notch-1	Notch, Drosophila, homolog of, 1, translocation-
	associated
NUD	Non-ulcer or functional Dyspeptic
oipA	Outer Inflammatory protein-A
OD	Optical Density
	7
	1

OspA	Outer surface protein -A
OVA	ovalbumin
p38	Protein 38 kDa
P65	Protein 65 kDa
PAF-R	Platelet Activating Factor Receptor
Pam3CSK4	Synthetic thacylated lipopeptide
FAIVIES Dom2CSSNA	Pattorial linepoptide PAM2CycSorl yc4
Pamocoona	Perinheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
nDC	Plasmacytoid DC
Abna	PGN deacetulase gene
PGN	Peptidoglycan
PGRPs	Peptidoglycan Recognition Proteins
PI-3-K	Phospho inositol-3-kinase
PIR-B	Paired Ig-like Receptor-B
PKA	Protein kinase-A
ΡΚϹ-ζ	Protein kinase-C-ζ
PMNs	Polymorphonulcear cells
PPD	Purified Protein Derivative
PR-3	Anti proteinase-3
PRAT4A	Protein associated with Toll-like receptor 4
PRMs	Pattern Recognition Molecules
PRRs	Pattern Recognition Receptors
PSA	Polysaccharide-A
	Pyrin domain Rea related C2 betwinum texin substrate 1
	Ras-related upon activation, normal T coll every
RANIES	and socrated
RARV	Retinoic acid Recentor-hamma
RAS	rat-sarcoma
RAW-264	Mouse macrophage cell line
RICK	RIP-like Interacting CLARP Kinase
RIG	Retinoic acid inducible gene-1
RIP-1	Receptor Interacting Protein-1
RIP-2	Receptor Interacting Protein-2
RLR	(RIG-1)-like receptors
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interface
RNI	Reactive Nitrogen Intermediates
ROI	Reactive Oxygen Intermediates
rpm	Revolution per minute
RP-105	Radioprotective-105
KSV DT	Respiratory synchial virus
n n Adea	Sialic acid binding adhesin
sabR	Sialic acid binding adhesin
SARM	Sterile Alpha and HEAT/armadillo Motif protein
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SHP-2	Tyrosine phosphatase
sLe [×]	Sialyl Lewis-x
sLe ^a	Sialyl Lewis-a
SOCS-1	Suppressor of cytokine signalling
SPI-1	Salmonella pathogenecity island-1
SPI-2	Salmonella pathogenecity island-2
SRC	SRC family kinase
SSRNA	Single-standed RNA
SIAI	Signal Transducers and Activator of Transcription
	Stanniocalcin-1
	Type III Secretion System
1000 T/QQ	Type III Secretion System
TR/	Colonic crypt cell line
TAK-1	TGFB activated kinase-1
TAB-1	TAK binding protein-1
TAB-2	TAK binding protein-2
TBST	Tris buffered saline Tween 20
T-cells	T lymphocytes
Tcps	TIR domain containing-proteins
TCR	T-Cell receptor

TFF-1	Trefoil factor Family
TGFα	Transforming growth factor-alpha
Th-0	T-helper-0
Th-1	T-helper-1
Th-2	T-helper-2
Th-17	T-helper-17
THP-1	Human monocytic leukaemia cell line
TIR	Toll/IL-1 Receptor domain
TIRAP	TIR domain containing adaptor protein
TLR	Toll Like Receptor
TMB	Tetramethylbenzidine
TNFα	Tumour necrosis factor-alpha
T reg	Regulatory T cells
TRAF-6	TNF receptor associated factor-6
TRAM	TRIF Related Adaptor Molecule
TREM-1	triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1
TRIF	TIR domain containing adaptor protein inducing
	IFNβ
Tris	Tris (hydroxymethyl)-aminomethane
Triton-X100	Polyethyleneglycol-[4-(2´,2´,4´,4´-
	tetramethylbutyl)phenyl]-ether
Tween-20	Polyoxyethylen-Sorbitan-Monolaurate
U	Unit
V	Volt
vacA	Vacuolating cytotoxin
VIP	Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide
WB	Western blot
WHO	World health organization
Wt	Wild type
ZO-1	Tight junction protein

Amino Acids

Ala	А	Methionine	Met	Μ
Cys	С	Asparagine	Asn	Ν
Asp	D	Proline	Pro	Р
Glu	Е	Glutamine	Gln	Q
Phe	F	Arginine	Arg	R
Gly	G	Serine	Ser	S
His	Н	Threonine	Thr	Т
lle	I	Valine	Val	V
Lys	K	Tryptophan	Trp	W
Leu	L	Tyrosine	Tyr	Y
	Ala Cys Asp Glu Phe Gly His Ile Lys Leu	Ala A Cys C Asp D Glu E Phe F Gly G His H Ile I Lys K Leu L	AlaAMethionineCysCAsparagineAspDProlineGluEGlutaminePheFArginineGlyGSerineHisHThreonineIleIValineLysKTryptophanLeuLTyrosine	AlaAMethionineMetCysCAsparagineAsnAspDProlineProGluEGlutamineGlnPheFArginineArgGlyGSerineSerHisHThreonineThrIleIValineValLysKTryptophanTrpLeuLTyrosineTyr

CONTENTS

1.0	Introduction	
1.1	A brief account of growth of immunology as a science	1
1.2	Innate imunity	3
1.3	Adaptive Immunity	6
1.4	Toll-like receptors: history, phylogeny, structure and signalling	10
1.5	The known TLR ligands	18
1.6	Toll-like receptors and its ligands in infection and inflammatory processes	19
1.7	Nod-like receptors	53
1.8	NLRs in inflammasomes	55
1.9	NLRs and its ligands in bacterial infections and inflammations	57
1.10	Helicobacter pylori: history, taxonomy, genome and culture	70
1.11	Epidemiology and clinical conditions associated with H. pylori	73
1.12	Pathogenesis and virulence factors of <i>H. pylori</i>	77
1.13	Immune responses to <i>H. pylori</i> infection	85
1.14	Host gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to <i>H. pylori</i> associated	87
1 15	Patronologies	00
1.15	Pattern recognition receptors in <i>H. pyton</i> mection	00
2.0	Materials & Methods	•••
2.1	Materials	93
2.1.1	Chemicals	93
2.1.1.1	Antibiotics	93
2.1.1.2	Enzyme inhibitors	93
2.1.2	Clinical specimen	93
2.1.3	Custom made PCR primer	93
2.1.4	Real time Taqman PCR primers	94
2.1.4.1	Real time PCR dual labelled primers	94
2.1.5	Applied Biosystems Taqman gene expression assays	95
2.1.0	Antibodies	95
2.1.0.1	Primary antibodies	95
2.1.0.2	Secondary antibodies	95
2.1.7	Restorio	90
2.1.0	Daulella Holiophoetor pulori strains	90
2.1.0.1	Preticobacter pyton strains	90
2.1.0.2	Eukoryotio coll lines	97
2.1.9	Eukaryotic cell alles	97
2.1.3.1	Mathada	90
2.2	Collection and transport of clinical specimen	99
2.2.1	Biochemical and molecular biology methods	99
2.2.2	Ranid urease test	99
2.2.2.1	DNA isolation from clinical biopsy specimen	90
2.2.2.2	PCR for H pylori genotyping	100
2.2.2.0	PCR for II -1 receptor antagonist polymorphism	100
2.2.2.4	RNA isolation and Drase digestion	100
2.2.2.6	Quantitative and qualitative assessment of RNA using Nanodrop TM method	102
2.2.2.7	Agarose electrophoresis for checking the integrity of RNA	103
2.2.2.8	Reverse transcriptase PCR	103
2.2.2.9	Taqman real time PCR	104
2.2.2.10	Immunoprecipitation	106

2.2.2.11	SDS-polyacrylamide electrophoresis Western blot analysis	107
2.2.2.12	ELISA (Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay)	110
2.2.3	Bacterial culture methods	111
2.2.3.1	Helicobacter pylori	111
2.2.4	Eukaryotic cell culture methods	112
2.2.4.1	THP-1 monocytic leukaemia cell line culture	112
2.2.4.2	THP-1 derived Dendritic cell culture	112
2.2.4.3	HEK293 cell line culture	113
2.2.4.4	HEK293-TLR2 cell line culture	113
2.2.4.5	HEK293-TLR5 cell line culture	114
2.2.4.6	HEK293-TLR10-HA cell line culture	115
2.2.5	Infection assay	116
2.2.5.1	Helicobacter pylori infection with THP-1 cells	116
2.2.5.2	Helicobacter pylori infection with THP-1 derived DCs	117
2.2.5.3	<i>Helicobacter pylori</i> infection with HEK293 cell lines (HEK293, HEK293- TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10-HA)	117
2.2.6	Inhibitor assay	118
2.2.7	Statistical analysis	118
3.0	Results	
3.1	THP1cells infection with <i>H. pylori</i> and isogenic mutants	119
3.2	TLR mRNA expression in THP-1 cells during infection with <i>H. pylori</i>	119
3.3	and isogenic mutants Immunoprecipiation and Western blot analysis of TLR-5 and TLR-10 from THP1 cells during infection with <i>H. pylori</i> and $\Delta flaA$ mutant	123
3.4	TLR mRNA Expression in THP1 monocyte derived Dendritic Cells during Infection with <i>H. pylori</i> and $\Delta flaA$ isogenic mutant	124
3.5	TLR mRNA expression in HEK293 cells stably transfected with TLR-2, TLR- 5 and TLR-10, respectively, during infection with <i>H. pylori</i> and isogenic mutants	125
3.6	Induction of phosphorylation of IRAK-1 (ser376) in THP-1 cells during infection with <i>H. pylori</i> and isogenic mutants	126
3.7	IRAK-M, a TLR signalling negative regulator, expression in THP-1 cells	127
3.8	NLRs and ASC/PYCARD expression in THP-1 cells during infection with <i>H.</i> pylori and isogenic mutants	128
3.9	Interleukin 1 β and IL-18 gene expression, Caspase-1 activation and Interleukin 1 β processing and secretion from THP1 cells during infection with	129
3.10	<i>H. pylori</i> and isogenic mutants Effect of SRC Kinase inhibitor PP2, Pan-caspase Inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK and EGFR Kinase inhibitor-AG1478 on Interleukin 1 beta secretion from THP1 monocytic cells during infection with <i>H. pylori</i> P12 and isogenic mutants	131
3.11	Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and TNFα mRNA expression, TNFα and chemokine IL-8 secretion from THP1 cells during infection with <i>H. pylori</i> and isogenic mutants	133
3.12	IRAK1 (ser376) phosphorylation and IL-1beta, IL-6, IL-18, TNFalpha and IL-8 gene expression and secretion in HEK293, HEK293-TLR2,	134

	HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10-HA cells during infection with <i>H.</i> pylori and isogenic mutants	
3.13	IL-1 Receptor Antagonist (IL-RN) gene polymorphism among the <i>H. pylori</i> colonized patients	136
4.0	Discussion	140
4.1	Toll like receptors Expression and IRAK-1 phosphorylation during <i>H. pylori</i> infection in THP-1 cells, THP-1-DCs, HEK-293, HEK293-TLR2, HEK293 TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10 cells	144
4.2	Nod like receptors Expression and Functional Activation of Inflammasome for IL-1 β maturation and secretion during <i>H. pylori</i> infection with THP-1 cells	152
4.3	Pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine expression and secretion in relation to TLR Expression and Signalling during <i>H. pylori</i> infection with THP-1 cells	155
4.4	Pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine expression and secretion in relation to TLR Expression and Signalling during <i>H. pylori</i> infection with HEK293, HEK293-TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10 cells	159
4.5	IL-1 Receptor Antagonist polymorphism and genotyping of <i>CagA, VacA, IceA1</i> and <i>A2</i> among a group of patients colonized with <i>H. pylori</i>	161
5.0	Conclusion	165
6.0	Bibliography	174

To my beloved parents

1. Introduction

1.1 A Brief Account on Growth of Immunology as a Science

The word 'immunology' finds its root from the latin word 'immunis' and that was used in the context of being free of the burden of taxes or military conscription. In the early history of human civilization, pestilence and diseases are believed to be the punishment rendering as a result of "bad deeds" or "evil thoughts". Early civilizations of humankind had the knowledge of epidemic disease from the very start of its social organization. The Babylonian Epic of Gilgamesh from about 2000 B.C. records visitations of disease and pestilence, and severe epidemics during the early dynasties of Egypt. In 430 BC, Thucydides recorded that during plague epidemics in Athens, individuals who had already contracted the disease and recovered and recognized their "immune" status had got more attention than dying persons. Thus the science of immunology grew from common knowledge that those who survived from many of the then common infectious diseases rarely contracted such diseases again. This was an observation that was made long before the establishment of the germ theory of disease. The ancient Chinese practised a form of immunization by inhaling dried powders derived from the crusts of smallpox lesions and later a practice of applying powdered smallpox "crusts" and inserting them with a pin or "poking" device into the skin became the choice. The process was referred to as variolation and became quite common in the Middle East. Tenth century Islamic physician Rhazes, Sixteenth century Italian physician Girolamo Fracastoro, and Heironymus Mercurialis were tried to explain the phenomenon of acquired immunity of small pox through some interesting ways (Silverstein AM, 1989).

In 1718 Lady Mary Wortley Montagu, the wife of the British ambassador to Constantinople, observed the positive effects of variolation on the native population and performed the technique on her own children. Edward Jenner published in 1798 his epoch-making report on a safer and even more efficacious vaccination (Latin vaccus means cow) against smallpox, derived from cowpox pustules. The Jennerian technique

vaccination became the mode of immunization for small pox in the world during that time. However, he was also not accurate on explaining the real mechanism of immunity developed by his technique. The first modern proposal of the 'germ theory of disease was introduced by Jacob Henle in 1840 and confirmed by Robert Koch in 1876 by inoculating Bacillus antracis which can cause the disease anthrax. Louis Pasteur played a pivotal role in the development of immunology and he was concerned about the prevention of bacterial disease and the mechanism of how human body changes to resist further infection. In 1881, the work of Emile Roux and Louis Pasteur demonstrated that chickens recovered from a mild attack of chicken cholera induced by an attenuated strain were protected from further challenge with more lethal strains. Pasteur extended these findings to other diseases, demonstrating that it was possible to attenuate a pathogen and administer the attenuated strain as a vaccine. In a classic experiment at Pouilly-le-Fort in the same year, Pasteur first vaccinated one group of sheep with heat attenuated anthrax bacillus (Bacillus anthracis) and then challenged the vaccinated sheep and some un-vaccinated sheep with a virulent culture of the bacillus. All the vaccinated sheep lived, and all the unvaccinated animals died. These experiments led him to test the first vaccine in human for rabies. In 1886, Theobold Smith demonstrated that heat killed cultures of chicken cholera bacillus were also effective in protection from cholera. Emil von Behring and Shibasaburo Kitasato demonstrated that animals immunized with diphtheria and tetanus toxins produced something in their blood that could neutralize or destroy the toxin, thus preventing disease. These substances acted against toxin were called antitoxins and later named antibodies, paved the way for serotherapy and the beginning of humoral theory of immunity. The second significant step in the expansion of the immunological research program of the nineteenth century came in 1884 with Ilya Metchnikoff's cellular theory of immunity. Metchnikoff suggested that the primitive intracellular digestive functions of lower animal forms had persisted in the capacity of the mobile phagocytes of metazoa and higher forms to ingest and digest foreign substances.

Metchnikoff proposed that the phagocytic cell is the primary element in natural immunity (the first line of defense against infection) and is critical also for acquired immunity (the heightened protection conferred by preventive immunization or prior infection). Metchnikoff suggested that the inflammatory response was in fact an evolutionary mechanism designed to protect the host organism (Silverstein AM, 1989). Both the humoral theory of immunity and cellular theory of immunity were proved to be the two pillars of mammalian immune system through extensive research carried out in the twentieth century. The advances in immunology during twentieth century have clearly identified the innate immunity as the first line of defense against diseases and paving way for specific adaptive immune responses to ward off the infection and keeping a state of immunological memory to resist further infection.

1.2 Innate Immunity

The innate immune system comprises the immune cells, epithelial cells, cytokines, chemokines and other mediators, which defend the host from microbial attack by detecting in a non-specific and primitive manner. Innate immunity represents the first line of defense against foreign body invasion and sends its message to the centres of immunological development to mount well developed and specific adaptive responses through various cellular and soluble factors. The innate immune system is evolutionarily older and phylogenetically conserved system present in almost all multicellular organisms (Hoffmann JA *et al*, 1999). Innate immune system plays a major role in detection of foreign body invasion. This process of detection and phagocytosis of foreign bodies leads to the production or release of chemical mediators such as chemokines, cytokines, histamine, bradykinin, serotonin, leukotrienes and prostaglandins. The releases of these mediators play an essential role to control the spread of infection by inflammatory reaction. At the next stage chemokines and cytokines attracts the neutrophils to the site of infection and later monocytes and lymphocytes to ward off the

infection. The professional antigen presenting cells (APCs) such as macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) at the site of infection are involved in the phagocytosis and killing of engulfed microbes. DCs and macrophages are the most potent APCs of the immune system. DCs act very early compared to macrophages. During foreign antigen insult immature DCs in the peripheral tissues capture antigens through phagocytosis and pinocytosis and then, under micro-environmental signals (cytokines and chemokines), migrate to the draining lymph nodes while undergoing maturation. The maturing DCs with a reduced capacity for phagocytosis but with an increased ability to present antigens home to T cell rich areas and induce an antigen specific T cell response (Murphy KM *et al*, 2007).

The functioning of innate immune system must have some form of detection at the molecular level to differentiate pathogenic and non-pathogenic commensal bacteria. At the end of the 20th century, Janeway formulated a hypothesis of how such an innate immune recognition system might look like and proposed a set of factors called 'patternrecognition receptors' (PRRs) capable of detecting 'pathogen-associated molecular patterns' or PAMPs (Janeway CA, 1989). The recent identification of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) in mammals has made it clear that innate immunity plays an important role in the detection of invading pathogens. Recent evidence shows that TLRs recognize specific patterns of microbial components, especially those from pathogens, and regulates the activation of both innate and adaptive immunity. The discovery of TLRs as essential components of the innate immune system has greatly advanced our knowledge and understanding of immune responses to infection and how these are regulated. Innate immunity in general and TLRs in particular play a crucial role in the front line of host defenses against microbes and also a modulator of the immune system at large in vertebrate animals (Takeda Y, 2003).

Two additional families of PRRs have also been discovered, that can sense the molecular patterns of microorganisms intracellularly, are Nucleotide oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) and Retinoic acid inducible gene-1 (RIG-1)-like receptors (RLRs). These two families comprise the intracellular PRRs, of which NLRs recognize primarily molecules of bacterial origin and RLRs are involved in antiviral response. The general domain structure of the NLR family members includes an aminoterminal effector region that consists of a protein-protein interaction domain such as the caspase recruiting domain (CARD), Pyrin or baculovirus IAP (inhibitor of apoptosis protein) repeat (BIR) domain, a centrally located NOD domain, and carboxyl-terminal leucine rich repeats (LRRs) that are involved in microbial sensing (Inohara et al., 2005). NLR family of proteins composed of 23 cytosolic proteins characterized by the specific domains. NOD1 and NOD2 of NLRs are capable of detecting bacterial peptidoglycanrelated molecules intrecellulary and mediate activation of NF-kB and mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs) lead to pro-inflammatory gene expression (McDonald et al., 2005). NLRs like NALP1, NALP3 and IPAF detects bacterial products and activate the caspase-1 to process the Pro-IL-1β and Pro-IL-18 to mature forms through the formation of multimeric structures called 'inflammasomes'. RIG-1 and melanoma differentiationassociated gene -5 (MDA-5), which are intracellular sensors of double-stranded (ds) RNA, are two members of the RLR family RLRs activate Interferon Responsive Factor (IRF) and NF-kB in most of the cell types after viral infection to produce type-1 Interferons (Yoneyama M et al, 2004; Kang DC et al, 2002)..

Peptidoglycan recognition proteins (PGRPs) are a novel family of pattern recognition molecules (PRMs) in innate immunity conserved from insects to mammals recognize bacterial cell wall peptidoglycan (PGN) and are suggested to act as anti-bacterial factors. In humans, four kinds of PGRPs (PGRP-L, Iα, Iβ and S) have been cloned and all four human PGRPs bind PGN. *E. coli* type tryacyl lipopeptide

(Pam3CSSNA), *E. coli* type lipid A, diaminopimelic acid containing desmuramyl peptide (gamma-D-glutamyl-meso-DAP; iE-DAP), and muramyldipeptide (MDP markedly upregulated the mRNA expression of the four PGRPs and cell surface expression of PGRP-I α and -I β , but did not induce either mRNA expression or secretion of inflammatory cytokines, in oral epithelial cells. Suppression of the expression of TLR-2, TLR-4, NOD-1 and NOD-2 by RNA interference (RNAi) specifically inhibited the upregulation of PGRP mRNA expression induced by Pam3CSSNA, lipid A, iE-DAP and MDP, respectively. In addition, suppression of NF- κ B activation clearly prevented the induction of PGRP mRNA expression. PAMPs induced the expression of PGRPs through TLRs and NLRs, but not proinflammatory cytokines, in oral epithelial cells, reflecting that PGRPs might be involved in host defence against bacterial invasion without accompanying inflammatory responses (Uehara A *et al*, 2005a).

PAMPs recognition by PRRs leads to different signalling events that ultimately effect the expression of many effector molecules of the immune system. The recognition in phagocytic cells leads to the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates (ROI & RNI) and increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules which act as second stimuli for T-cells activation. PRRs also signals the production of immune mediators such as chemokines, cytokines, leukotrienes, prostaglandins and anti-microbial peptides, which ultimately determines the recruitment of leukocytes at the site of infection and the production of successful adaptive immunity to eliminate the infection.

1.3 Adaptive Immunity

Adaptive immunity detects non-self through a discrete mechanism of recognition of peptide antigens using antigen receptors expressed on the surface of B- and Tlymphocytes. In order to respond to a wide range of potential antigens, B- and T-cells rearrange their immunoglobulin and T cell receptor genes respectively to generate over 10¹¹ different species of antigen receptors. With this high number of cognate receptors,

adaptive immune system acquires the capacity to eliminate or prevent many pathogenic challenges. Engagement of antigen receptors by the cognate antigen triggers clonal expansion of the lymphocyte and further production of antigen-specific antibodies. Hematopoetic stem cell (HSC) from bone marrow is the precursor of B- and T-cells. However, T-cells after differentiation leaves bone marrow for thymus and maturation happens in this lymphoid organ and thereby it got the name T-cells. In humans, approximately 1-2% of the lymphocyte pool recirculates each hour to optimize the opportunities for antigen-specific lymphocytes to find their specific antigen within the secondary lymphoid tissues. The clonal selection happens when cognate receptors such as T-cell receptor (TCR) or B-cell receptor (BCR) engage an antigen. The recognition of antigenic peptides by TCR requires specialized antigen presenting molecules called Major histo-compatibility (MHC) molecules in antigen presenting cells. Almost all of the nucleated cells are capable of presenting antigen to T-cell, however, professional antigen presenting cells such as DCs, macrophages and B-cells are only capable of activating naïve T-cells through co-stimulatory receptor engagement. B-cell receptors are membrane bound immunoglobulin molecules, which recognise the antigen in native form and doesn't need any special molecule like MHC in case of T-cells. The engagement of antigen with BCR activates the differentiation of B cells to an effector cell called plasma cells producing large quantities of immunoglobulins (Murphy KM et al, 2007).

T-cells are the major players of cell mediated immunity. The thymus maturation of T-cells produce CD4+ helper cell and CD8+ killer cell subsets of cell population, which varies in their effector function. CD4+ cell are called T-helper cells, which manage to maintain an immune status to clear off infection. CD4+ engagement with MHC-II loaded with processed exogenous peptides from professional antigen presenting cells induce them differentiate in to two effecter forms called T-hepler1 (Th-1) or T-helper 2 (Th-2) phenotype of CD4+ cells to eliminate different forms of disease (Aderem A and Underhill

D, 1999). Recently, it has been reported that a state of Th0 is pivotal to determine the differentiation of effecter forms, although the clear cut mechanism of this is not understood. This difference is mainly dependent on the cytokine release from antigen from T-cells during engagement with MHC-II molecules from professional antigen presenting cells. The Th-1 response is characterized by the production of Interferongamma (IFNy), which activates the bactericidal activities of macrophages, and induces B-cells to make opsonizing antibodies, and leads to "cell-mediated immunity". The Th-2 response is characterized by the release of Interleukin-4 (IL-4), which results in the activation of B-cells to make neutralizing (killing) antibodies, leading to humoral immunity. Generally, Th-1 responses are more effective against intracellular pathogens (viruses and bacteria that are inside host cells), while Th-2 responses are more effective against extracellular bacteria, parasites and toxins. Th17 is the most recently identified effector T-cells forms under the influence of cytokine IL-17 (Harrington LE et al, 2005). Cytotoxic T-cells (CTL) or killer T-cells detect the infected cells especially with virus through the MHC-I presented endogenous peptides (Aderem A and Underhill D, 1999). CTL kills the infected cells by the release of pore forming molecules such as perforin and granulysin, which eventually leads to bursting or lysing of cells. The granzymes released from CTL has been reported to induce apoptosis in infected cells. There is another subset of T cell population known as $y\delta$ T cells which possess an alternate TCR and share the characteristics of helper T-cells, CTL and Natural killer (NK) cells. Natural killer T cells (NKT) co-express a αβ T-cell receptor (TCR), but also express a variety of molecular markers that are typically associated with NK cells such as CD161. NKT-cells TCR vary from convential $\alpha\beta$ T-cells, that they possess a TCR with less diversity can recognize CD1 presented lipid or glycolipid molecules (Murphy KM et al, 2007).

B-cells derived from HSCs with BCR or membrane fixed antibodies can recognize its antigen in native form and up on engagement known as clonal selection. During this

clonal expansion process, B-cells undergo affinity maturation at germinal centres of secondary lymphoid tissues to make high affinity antibody to a particular antigen through somatic hypermutation (Forsdyke DR, 1995). Cytokines produced by the T-helper CD4+ cells enable these B- cells to rapidly proliferate to a pool of antibody-secreting plasma cells for massive synthesis and secretion of an antibody. Plasma cells are short lived cells (2-3 days) which secrete antibodies. These antibodies bind to antigens, making them easier targets for phagocytes, and trigger the complement cascade. About 10% of plasma cells will survive to become long-lived antigen specific memory B-cells. The primary response initially produces more of IgM molecules (as secreted BCR) and later replaced by IgG molecules against a particular antigen. Antibodies are the effecter molecules of the humoral immunity and that can reach the site of inflammation through blood and lymph and found most effective against bacteria, viruses and toxins before entering to cells (Murphy KM *et al*, 2007).



Fig.1 Diagramatic representation of haematopoetic cell lineage

1.4 Toll-Like Receptors: History, Phylogeny, Structure and Signalling

The involvement of the Toll receptors in innate immunity was first described in Drosophila and originally identified as a transmembrane receptor required for the establishment of dorso-ventral polarity in the developing embryo. Stimulation of Toll by the secreted Spatzle factor, a ligand of Toll, activates the cytoplasmic serine/threonine kinase Pelle via the adaptor protein Tube. Activation of Pelle promotes degradation of the ankyrin-repeat protein Cactus, which associates with the Rel-type transcription factor Dorsal in the cytoplasm. Once Cactus is degraded in response to the Toll-mediated signal, Dorsal is free to translocate to the nucleus, where it regulates transcription of specific target genes (Belvin MP and Anderson KV, 1996). The signalling pathway of Drosophila Toll shows remarkable similarity to the mammalian IL-1 pathway, which leads to activation of NF-κB, a transcription factor responsible for many aspects of inflammatory and immune responses.

A year after the discovery of the role of the drosophila Toll in the host defense against fungal infection, a mammalian homologue of the Drosophila Toll was identified (Medzhitov R *et al*, 1997). Subsequently, a family of proteins structurally related to Drosophila Toll was identified, collectively referred to as the Toll-like receptors (TLRs). The TLR family is known to consist of 10 members in human (TLR-1 to TLR-10), 11 members in mouse and the chromosomal location was identified for each human TLR. *TLR1, TLR6* and *TLR10* were clustered on chromosome 4p14, while *TLR2* and *TLR3* located to 4q32 and 4q35, respectively (Rock FL *et al*, 1998; Takeuchi O *et al*, 1999; Hasan U *et al*, 2005). *TLR4* and *TLR5* were located to 9q32-33 and 1q33.3, respectively (Rock FL *et al*, 1998), while *TLR7* and *TLR8* are located in tandem in Xp22, and *TLR9* occupy the position at 3p21.3 (Chuang TH and Ulevitch RJ, 2000). The TLR multigene family encodes important recognition receptors of the innate immune system that have been conserved in both the invertebrate and vertebrate lineages (Hoffman JA *et al*,

1999). TLRs recognize a variety of endogenous and exogenous ligands, many of the ligands are conserved molecules essential for pathogen survival. There are six major families of vertebrate TLRs. TLRs within a family recognize a general class of PAMPs. The family including *TLR1* has more species specific adaptations than other families.

The TLR family members are capable of recognizing several classes of pathogens and orchestrating appropriate innate and adaptive immune responses. Lipoproteins in which the N-terminal cysteine is triacylated are recognized by TLR-2 in combination with TLR-1. Diacylated lipoproteins are recognized by TLR-2 in combination with TLR-6 (Takeda Y et al, 2003; Ozinsky A et al, 2000). Double-stranded RNA, LPS and Flagellin are recognized by TLR-3, TLR-4 and TLR-5 respectively. Nucleic acids and haeme are recognized by the family consisting of TLR-7, -8, and -9 (Coban C et al, 2005, Diebold S et al, 2004; Heil F et al, 2004). TLRs within a family recognize a general class of PAMP associated with that family. Selective pressure for maintenance of specific PAMP recognition has clearly dominated the evolution of most of these families and often within subfamilies as well. Because TLR1 and TLR6 have similar genomic structures, consisting of one exon, and are located in tandem in the same chromosome, they may be the products of an evolutionary duplication. Division of TLRs into five subfamilies is also based on genomic structure. The TLR2 gene has two exons, but all of the coding sequences are contained within, exon 2. In contrast, the TLR-9 subfamily members including TLR-7, TLR-8, and TLR-9 are encoded by two exons (Chuang TH and Ulevitch RJ, 2000). The genes for TLR-7 and TLR-8 show 42.3% identity and 72.7% similarity in their amino acid sequences, have similar genomic structures, and are located close to each other on the X chromosome (Chuang TH and Ulevitch RJ, 2000; Du X et al, 2000). The TLR4 and TLR5 genes have four and five exons, respectively. TLR-3 has a unique structure among the TLRs in that it has five exons and the protein is encoded by exons 2 through 5. An overview of the tree indicates that all of the families,

and all of the genes within each family, are about equally distant from the center of the tree, where the progenitor vertebrate TLR gene or set of genes is inferred.



Fig.2 'Star phylogeny' chart for TLR family genes (Takeda Y *et al,* 2003)

This "star phylogeny" implies that all TLRs are evolving at about the same rate. This observation is somewhat unusual for multigene families, where often some members take on new functions; vertebrate TLRs are not fast-evolving genes. In addition, the discrepancies in molecular distances between species with shorter and longer generation times are relatively muted. This muting implies that selection is dominant over mutation in governing the rate of evolution of the TLRs, and thus that TLRs are under strong selection for maintenance of function.



Fig.3 Basic structure of mammalian TLRs, as compared with the human IL-1 receptor and the *Drosophila* Toll protein. The extracellular portion of TLRs is defined primarily by LRRs that constitute the ligand-binding site of TLRs. LRRs are depicted as yellow ovals. The highly conserved intracellular TIR signalling domain is depicted as a blue oval. From the eleven TLRs at present identified in man, TLR 11 is truncated and probably non-functional; in mice TLR 11 is abundantly present in the urogenital tract and appears to confer resistance to urinary tract infection (Fleer A and Krediet TG, 2007).

The innate immune response in vertebrates is the first line of defence against invading microorganisms. The main players in innate immunity are phagocytes such as epithelial cells, neutrophils, macrophages, and DCs. These cells can discriminate between pathogens and self by utilizing signals from the TLRs. The TLRs are type I integral membrane glycoproteins, and on the basis of considerable homology in the cytoplasmic region, they are members of a larger superfamily that includes the interleukin-1 receptors (IL-1Rs). However, the extracellular region of the TLRs and IL-1Rs differs markedly: the extracellular region of TLRs contains leucine-rich repeat (LRR) motifs, whereas the extracellular region of IL-1Rs contains three immunoglobulin-like domains. TLRs and IL-1Rs have a conserved region of ~200 amino acids in their cytoplasmic tails, which is known as the Toll/IL-1R (TIR) domain (Slack JL et al, 2000). Three conserved homologous regions in the TIR domain are crucial for signalling. The crystal structures of the TIR domains of human TLR-1 and TLR-2 have shown to contain a central five stranded parallel β -sheet, which is surrounded by five α -helices on each side (Xu Y et al, 2000). The extracellular domain of TLRs contains 19-25 tandem repeats of the LRR motif and each repeat consists of 24-29 amino acids (Bell JK et al, 2003). The repeats comprise a β -strand and a α -helix connected by loops. The LRR domains of TLRs form a horseshoe structure, and it is thought that the concave surface of the LRR domains is involved directly in the recognition of various pathogens. The subcellular localization of different TLRs correlates to some extent with the molecular patterns of their ligands. TLR-1, TLR-2 and TLR-4 are located on the cell surface and are recruited to phagosomes after activation by their respective ligands. On the other hand, TLR-3, TLR-7 and TLR-9, all of which are involved in the recognition of nucleic-acid-like structures, are not expressed on the cell surface (Ahmad-Nejad P et al, 2002; Heil F et al, 2003; Matsumoto M et al, 2003).

TLR after ligand binding recruiting signalling molecules include adaptor molecule myeloid differentiation primary response protein-88 (MyD-88), IL-1 receptor associated

kinases (IRAKs), transforming growth factor- β activated kinase -1 (TAK-1), TAK binding protein-1 (TAB-1), TAB 2 and tumour necrosis factor receptor associated factor-6 (TRAF-6) (Dunne A and O'Neill LA, 2003). The adaptor protein MyD-88 has both TIR domain and DD (death) domain and binds to TLR through TIR domain on activation. IRAKs bind to the TLR complex through DD domain and phosphorylated either by auto or cross prosphorylation. This causes its dissociation from the complex and permitting to bind with TRAF-6, TAK-1, TAB-1 and 2, causing activation of NF-κB and leads to the production of inflammatory cytokines (Medzhitov R et al, 1998; Akira S and Takeda K, 2004). IRAK-1, IRAK-2 and IRAK-4 are expressed ubiquitously but IRAK-M is restricted to monocytes/macrophages. IRAK-2 and IRAK-M are inactive kinases (Janssen S and Beyaert R, 2003). It has also been report that IRAK-M regulated TLR signalling negatively by preventing the dissociation of IRAK-1, -4 and MyD-88 and formation of IRAK-1 and TRAF-6 complex (Kobayashi K et al, 2002). The association between MyD-88 and IRAK is mediated through a DD-DD interaction. MyD-88 forms homodimers through DD–DD and TIR-domain–TIR-domain interactions and exists as a dimer when recruited to the receptor complex (Dunne A et al, 2003). Therefore, MyD88 functions as an adaptor linking TLRs/IL-1Rs with downstream signalling molecules that have DDs. IRAKs contain an N-terminal DD and a central serine/threonine-kinase domain. The kinase activity of IRAK-1 increases strongly following TLR/IL-1R stimulation, and its kinase domain is essential for signalling through NF-κB. However, kinase activity itself is not essential for signalling, because in IRAK-1 deficient cells, the over-expression of a kinase defective mutant of IRAK1 can strongly induce NF-κB activation (Li X et al, 1999). In IRAK1-deficient mice, cytokine production in response to IL-1 and LPS was diminished but not abolished (Kanakraj P et al, 1999; Thomas JA et al, 1999; Swantek JL et al, 2000), whereas IRAK-4deficient mice showed virtually no response to IL-1, LPS or other bacterial components, demonstrating that IRAK-4 has an important role in IL-1R/TLR signalling (Suzuki N et al, 2002). Patients with an inherited IRAK-4 deficiency have been

identified and they failed to respond to IL-1, to IL-18 or to stimulation of each of five TLRs (TLR-2, TLR-3, TLR-4, TLR-5 and TLR-9) (Picard C *et al*, 2003). Together, these results show that IRAK-4 and its kinase activity are required for TLR signalling and that IRAK4 functions upstream of IRAK1.

The discovery of the MyD-88-independent pathway led researchers to characterize the signalling pathways of the various TLRs, the activation of which leads to different patterns of gene expression. TLR ligand binding induces receptor dimerisation and a conformational change which recruits TIR domain containing adaptor proteins to the receptor TIR domain. Four signaling adaptor proteins have been identified to date, including MyD-88, TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein (TIRAP), TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein (TIRAP), TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein inducing IFN β (TRIF), TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM), while a fifth, SARM, has recently been shown to negatively regulate TLR signal transduction. TIRAP acts as a bridging adaptor between TLR4, TLR1/2, TLR2/6 and MyD-88. TRIF is associated only with TLR4 and TLR3, binding directly to TLR3 and using the bridging adaptor TRAM to bind to TLR4. TRIF is the only adaptor to activate IRF3 to mediate type I interferon induction, through the IKK related kinases IKK ϵ and TBK1 (Kawai T and Akira S, 2006). Adaptor usage by individual TLRs has allowed the definition of two distinct signal transduction pathways downstream of TLR activation based on the requirement for MyD-88.

MyD-88 was isolated originally as a gene that is induced rapidly during the IL-6stimulated differentiation of M1 myeloleukaemic cells into macrophages (Lord KA *et al*, 1990). MyD-88 was subsequently cloned as an adaptor molecule that functions to recruit IRAK to the IL-1R complex following stimulation with IL-1 (Muzio M *et al*, 1997; Wesche H *et al*, 1997; Burns KA *et al*, 1998). TIRAP does not have a DD and the physiological role of TIRAP was revealed by generating knockout mice: the production of inflammatory cytokines in response to LPS was found to be defective in TIRAP-deficient mice, but the expression of interferon (IFN) inducible genes and the delayed activation of NF-κB was

still observed (Fitzgerald KA *et al*, 2001; Yamamoto M *et al*, 2002). TIRAP-deficient mice also show impaired cytokine production in response to TLR2 ligands, despite having normal responses to TLR-3, TLR-7 and TLR-9 ligands (Yamamoto M *et al*, 2002; Horng T *et al*, 2002). Therefore, TIRAP is essential for MyD88-dependent signalling through TLR-2 and TLR-4.

The enforced expression of TRIF, another TIR-domain-containing adaptor, but not of MyD-88 or TIRAP, led to activation of the IFN-β promoter in human embryonic kidney-293 (HEK-293) cells, whereas a dominant negative form of TRIF inhibited TLR-3 dependent activation of the IFN-β promoter (Yamamoto M *et al*, 2002b). These *in vitro* studies indicated that TRIF functions in the MyD-88 independent pathway to induce IFNβ. The physiological role of TRIF was subsequently revealed through the targeted deletion of *Trif* in mice. In response to TLR-3 and TLR-4 ligands, these TRIF (-/-) deficient mice showed both impaired activation of IFN-regulatory factor-3 (IRF-3) and decreased expression of IFN-inducible genes (Yamamoto M *et al*, 2003). TRIF (-/-) deficient mice showed defective production of inflammatory cytokines in response to TLR-4 ligands but not to other TLR ligands. However, TLR-4 mediated activation of the MyD-88 dependent pathway was not impaired, as determined by phosphorylation of IRAK-1 and early-phase activation of NF-κB (Yamamoto M *et al*, 2003; Hoebe K *et al*, 2003).

TRAM, was recently identified through sequence homology in database searches (Bin LH *et al,* 2003; Oshiumi H *et al,* 2003). *In vitro* studies indicated that TRAM associates with TRIF and TLR-4 but not with TLR-3, and the inhibition of TRAM expression by siRNA demonstrated its important role in the TLR-4 but not TLR-3 mediated induction of IFN- β and IFN-inducible genes (Fitzgerald KA *et al,* 2003). Analysis of TRAM (-/-) deficient mice further established that TRAM has an essential role in the MyD-88 independent cascade of TLR-4 induced signals. In response to TLR-4 ligands, TRAM (-/-) deficient mice, similar to TRIF (-/-) deficient mice, showed impaired

activation of IRF-3 and reduced expression of IFN-inducible genes. However, unlike TRIF (-/-) deficient mice, TRAM (-/-) deficient mice showed a normal response to TLR-3 stimulation (Yamamoto *et al*, 2003). Thus, TRAM is involved specifically in the activation of the MyD88-independent/TRIF-dependent signalling pathway through TLR-4. In addition, similar to TRIF-deficient mice, TRAM deficient mice are defective in their production of inflammatory cytokines in response to LPS, despite the fact that the activation of IRAK-1 and early phase NF-κB activation is normal (Yamamoto *et al*, 2003).



Fig.4. TLR activation of NF- κ B occurs through My-D88-dependent and independent pathways. MyD-88-dependent activation of NF- κ B occurs following receptor induced association of MyD-88 directly to the TIR domain of the TIR, or as in the case of TLR-4, through the bridging adaptor TIRAP. This allows the formation of a complex which includes IRAK-1, IRAK-4 and TRAF-6. K63-polyubiquitination of TRAF6 is critical for the binding of TAK-1, TAB-2 and TAB-3. Activated TAK-1 phosphorylates and activates IKK β which in turn phosphorylates IkB α to signal for its K48-polyubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation. TAK-1 activity is also required for the activation of NF- κ B requires the adaptor TRIF, which binds directly to TLR-3 and uses the bridging adaptor TRAM to bind to the TLR-4 receptor. TRIF recruits RIP-1 which becomes K63-polyubiquitinated and requires TAK-1, TAB-2 and TAB-3 to activate NF- κ B, although the exact mechanism is unclear. In addition, TRIF activates the IKK related kinases IKK ϵ and TBK-1 which phosphorylate and activate the IRF-3 transcription factor (Carmody RJ and Chen YH, 2007).

1.5 The Known TLR Lignads

Table.1

TLR family	Ligands (origin)	Reference
TLR-1	Tri-acyl lipopeptides (bacteria,	Takeuchi O et al, 2002
	mycobacteria)	
	Soluble factors (Neisseria meningitides)	Wyllie DH <i>et al,</i> 2002
TLR-2	Lipoprotein/lipopeptides (a variety of	Aliprantis AO <i>et al,</i> 1999
	pathogens)	
	Peptidoglycan (Gram-positive bacteria)	Takeuchi O et al, 1999
	Lipoteichoic acid (Gram-positive bacteria)	Schwadner, R. et al, 1999
	Lipoarabinomannan (mycobacteria)	Means IK et al, 1999
	A phenol-soluble modulin (<i>Staphylococcus</i>	Hajjar AM et al, 2001
	epidermidis)	Coolbo DC ot of 2002
	Giycoinositoipnospholipids (<i>Trypanosoma</i>	Coeino PS et al, 2002
	Ciuzi) Ciucolinida (Trononomo moltonhilum)	Opitz B at al 2001
	Porins (Neisseria)	Massari P et al. 2007
	Zymosan (fungi)	Underhill DM et al. 1000
	Atypical LPS (Leptospira interrogans)	Werts C et al. 2001
	Atypical LPS (Porphyromonas gingivalis)	Hirschfeld M et al. 2001
	HSP70 (host)	Asea A et al. 2002
TI R-3	Double-stranded RNA (virus)	Alexopoulou Let al. 2001
TLR-4	LPS (Gram-negative bacteria)	Poltorak A et al. 1998
	Taxol (plant)	Kawasaki K <i>et al.</i> 2000
	Fusion protein (RSV)	Kurt-Jones EA <i>et al.</i> 2000
	Envelope proteins (MMTV)	Rassa JC et al. 2002
	HSP60 (Chlamydia pneumoniae)	Bulut Y <i>et al</i> , 2002
	HSP60 (host)	Vabulas RM <i>et al</i> , 2002
	HSP70 (host)	Vabulas RM <i>et al</i> , 2002
	Type III repeat extra domain A of	Okamura Y et al, 2001
	fibronectin (host)	
	Oligosaccharides of hyaluronic acid (host)	Termeer C et al, 2002
	Polysaccharide fragments of heparan	
	sulfate (host)	Johnson GB <i>et al,</i> 2002
	Fibrinogen (host)	Smiley ST et al, 2001
TLR-5	Flagellin (bacteria)	Hayashi F <i>et al,</i> 2001
TLR-6	Di-acyl lipopeptides (mycoplasma)	Takeuchi O et al, 2001
	Lipoteichoic acid (Gram positive bacteria)	Schwadner, R. et al, 1999
	Zymosan (Fungi)	Ozinsky A <i>et al,</i> 2000
TLR-7	single-stranded RNA (viruses)	Heil F <i>et al,</i> 2004
	Imidazoquinoline (synthetic compounds)	Hemmi H <i>et al,</i> 2002
	Loxoribine (synthetic compounds)	Heil F <i>et al,</i> 2003
	Bropirimine (synthetic compounds)	Heil F <i>et al,</i> 2003
TLR-8	single-stranded RNA (viruses)	Heil F <i>et al,</i> 2004
	Imidazoquinoline (synthetic compounds)	Jurk M <i>et al,</i> 2002
ILK-9	CpG DNA (bacteria and viruses)	Hemmi H <i>et al,</i> 2000
ILK-11	Unknown (Uropathogenic bacteria)	Znang D et al, 2004
	Profilin like molecule (<i>l'oxoplasma gondil)</i>	Yarovinsky F <i>et al,</i> 2005

1.6 Toll-Like Receptors and Its Ligands in Infection and Inflammatory Processes

Toll was identified as a Drosophila gene essential for ontogenesis and antimicrobial resistance and later several orthologues of Toll have been identified and cloned in vertebrates. These TLRs have been extensively studied thereafter and implicated in many infectious diseases and inflammatory processes. peptidoglycans (PGN) of Gram positive and LPS of Gram negative bacteria were first two ligands identified for TLR-2 and TLR-4, respectively (Zhang FX et al, 1999; Schwandner R et al, 1999; and Takeuchi O et al, 1999). In addition, lipoprotein from several microbes and lipoarabinomannan (LAM) from Mycobacterium tuberculosis found to be activated through TLR2 (Hirschfeld M et al, 1999; Means TK et al, 1999). Takeuchi et al (2000a) reported that MyD-88 deficient macrophages from knock out mice found to be hyporesponsive to LPS and that revealed the MyD-88 dependency of TLR mediated cellular activation. In the same year the above group have reported that mycoplasmal macrophage-activating lipopeptide-2 activated immune cells through a TLR-2 and MyD-88 dependent signalling pathway (Takeuchi O et al, 2000c). TLR-2 and MyD-88 (-/-) deficient mice were more susceptible to Staphylococcus aureus infection (Takeuchi O et al, 2000b). TLR-9, reported to be recognizing unmethylated bacterial CpG-DNA and that activated TLR signalling events in TLR2 (-/-) and TLR4 (-/-) deficient cells but not in MyD-88 (-/-) deficient cells (Haecker H et al, 2000, Bauer S et al, 2001). E. coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae or S. typhimurium LPSs have exhibited differences in their biological effects in vivo. In the TNF α (-/-) and TNF β (-/-) deficient mice, S. typhimurium LPS induced similar responses as in wild type mice but were resistant to E. coli and K. pneumoniae LPS endotoxemia. This difference have reflected by decreased IL-1 and IFNy and increased IL-10 levels in E. coli and K. pneumoniae LPS treated knock out mice (Netea MG et al, 2001).

The co-ordination among TLRs to detect a large number of PAMPs has been first reported by Ozinsky A *et al.* TLR-2 and TLR-6 heterodimer detects the PGNs while TLR-

2 homodimer detects bacterial lipopeptide. They also showed that the cytoplasmic domain of TLR-2 can form functional pairs with TLR-6 or TLR-1, and this interaction led to cytokine induction (Ozinsky A *et al*, 2000). Hajjar AM *et al* (2001) reported that phenol-soluble modulin from *Staphylococcus epidermidis* activated TLR-2 and that is enhanced by TLR-6 but inhibited by TLR-1. TLR-1 interacts with TLR-2 to recognize the lipid configuration of the native mycobacterial lipoprotein as well as several triacylated lipopeptides and enhanced the NF-κB activation (Takeuchi O *et al*, 2002). *Borrelia burgdorferi* outer-surface lipoprotein (OspA) immunization of mice genetically deficient in either TLR-2 (-/-) or TLR-1 (-/-) produced low titres of antibodies against OspA and macrophages from TLR-2 (-/-) mice were unresponsive to OspA and PGN, whereas those from TLR-1 (-/-) mice responded normally to PGN but not to OspA (Alexopoulou L *et al*, 2002). *Treponema maltophilum* glycolipids reported to be induced TNFα secretion from murine macrophage cell line RAW-264.7 through TLR-2 activation (Schroeder NW *et al*, 2000).

Epithelial cells, which considered as the first line of defence against microbes, were expressing TLRs and activated distinct Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) family when stimulated with LPS (Cairo E *et al*, 2000). LPS derived from *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella minnesota* activated human cell lines through TLR-4 but not TLR-2 (Tapping RI *et al*, 2000). TLR-4 anatgonist, lipid A like molecule E5531, specifically inhibited TLR-4 dependent *M. tuberculosis* induced TNFα secretion in RAW 264.7 cells and human alveolar macrophages but Nitric oxide (NO) production was not inhibited (Means TK *et al*, 2001). The importance of accessory molecules involved in ligand binding to TLRs have recognized later and CD14 was identified as one of those molecules. Low concentrations of LPS or the LPS-mimetic, Taxol, required the participation of CD14, for the induction of TLR-4 signal induced genes, whereas high concentrations of LPS or Taxol elicited the expression of a subset of LPS-inducible genes in the absence of CD14 (Perera PY *et al*, 2001). Ploetz SG *et al* (2001) reported

that LPS induced TNFa and eosinophil cationic protein (ECP) release from Eosinophil is CD14 dependent. In a study using TLR-4 (-/-) and CD14 (-/-) deficient mice showed that they clear Gram-negative bacteria (Escherichia coli 0111) at least ten times more efficiently than normal mice due to early LPS-induced PMN infiltration and enhanced clearance (Haziot A et al, 2001). TLR-2 and TLR-4 are present on the surface of human neutrophils, which treated with GM-CSF and G-CSF dramatically up-regulated TLR-2 and CD14 surface expression. GM-CSF treatment enhanced the IL-8 secretion and superoxide priming responses of neutrophils to stimulation with TLR-2 ligands, including zymosan, PGN, and LAM (Kurt-Jones EA et al, 2002). Using MyD-88-GFP fusion protein expressing macrophages, Ahmad-Nejad P et al (2002) demonstrated that LPS and CpG-DNA trigger signaling from two different cellular locations, LPS at the cell membrane and the CpG-DNA at the lysosomal compartment. LPS did not require endocytosis to functionally associate with the membrane expressed TLR-4/MD-2 complex, while internalization and endosomal maturation of CpG-DNA was needed to activate TLR-9. TLR-4 and radioprotective-105 (RP-105) are associated with small molecules called myeloid differentiation-2 (MD-2) and MD-1, respectively, which forms hetero-dimers (TLR-4/MD-2 and RP-105/MD-1) and function as recognition and signalling molecules of LPS. RP105 or MD-1 (-/-) deficient mice showed a reduced LPS responsiveness and there may be functional associations between TLR4/MD-2 and RP105/MD-1 (Kimoto M et al, 2003). TLR-4 expression in live cells demonstrated pronounced expression on the plasma membrane as well in the Golgi apparatus. LPS is recognized in mammals by a receptor complex composed of CD14, TLR-4, and MD-2. Aggregation of TLR-4 by immobilized TLR4 antibodies was sufficient to induce signalling, however, pharmacological disruption of the Golgi did not inhibit LPS induced NF-KB activation (Espevik T et al, 2003). Frendeus B et al reported that E. coli P fimbriae activated epithelial cells by means of a TLR-4 dependent signalling pathway, and suggest that glycosphingolipid receptors for P fimbriae can recruit TLR-4 as co-receptors in CD14 (-/-)

deficient host cells (Frendeus B et al, 2001). LPSs of Leptospira interrogans, Legionella pneumophila, Rhizobium species Sin-1, Bacteroides fragilis, Chlamydia trachomatis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa signals through TLR-2 and all TLR-2 signalling LPS discovered to date demonstrated relatively weak endotoxicity in some models and have structural features distinct from those LPS shown to signal through TLR-4 (Erridge C et al, 2004). Talreja J et al (2004) reported that histamine up-regulated the expression of TLR-2 and TLR-4 and amplified endothelial cell inflammatory responses to Gramnegative and Gram-positive bacterial components. MD-2 is associated with the extracellular portion of TLR-4, which directly binds to LPS and regulates subsequent LPS induced TLR-4 clustering. An endoplasmic reticulum (ER) chaperone, glycoprotein 96, is required for the stability of TLR-4 and the formation of a TLR-4/MD-2 complex in ER. Recently, another molecule, a protein associated with Toll-like receptor 4 (PRAT4A), was shown to play a critical role in cell surface expression of TLR-4. These molecules control LPS responsiveness by regulating the subcellular distribution of TLR-4 (Saitoh S and Miyake K, 2006). PRAT4A knockdown inhibited trafficking of TLR-1 and TLR-4 to the cell surface and ligand-induced trafficking of TLR-9 to lysosomes (Takahashi K et al, 2007).

Endotoxin tolerance in HEK-293/TLR-4/MD-2 transfectants and in human monocytes markedly suppressed LPS-mediated TLR-4 tyrosine phosphorylation and recruitment of LYN kinase to TLR-4, without affecting TLR-4/MD-2 interactions. Mutations of tyrosine residues Y674A and Y680A within the TIR domains of CD4/TLR-4 impaired its ability to elicit phosphorylation of p38 and JNK MAPK, IκBα degradation, activation of NF-κB and RANTES reporters and altered MyD-88/TLR-4 interactions, increased associations with a short IRAK-1 isoform, and decreased amounts of activated IRAK-1 in complex with TLR-4 (Medvedev AE *et al*, 2007). Spiller S *et al* (2008) reported that murine splenocytes and human PBMCs released IFNγ in a TLR-4 dependent manner, leading to enhanced TLR-2 surface expression and sensitivity for TLR-2 ligands. They identified that a TLR-4/MD2 antibody (1A6) in combination with mAb to
TLR-2 after 4h of infection with clinical isolates of *S. enterica* and *E. coli* and subsequent antibiotic therapy provided robust protection in infected mice.

LPS has induced cytokine production from DCs in a MyD-88 dependent manner and also induced functional maturation of MyD-88 (-/-) deficient DCs, including upregulation of costimulatory molecules and enhancement of APC activity. However, MyD-88 (-/-) deficient DCs could not mature in response to bacterial DNA, the ligand for TLR-9, indicating that MyD-88 is differentially required for TLR family members signalling (Kaisho T et al, 2001). DC maturation is induced by stimuli from Gram-positive microorganisms, such as PGN and lipotheichoic acid (LTA), with similar efficiency as by LPS. In addition, TLR-2 and TLR-4 interaction with the appropriate ligand is essential for bacteria-induced maturation of DCs (Michelsen KS et al, 2001). In mouse immature DC, TLR-2, TLR-4 and TLR-9 mRNA were up-regulated following LPS stimulation and inhibition of ERK and NF-kB activation suppressed the up-regulation of the expression of TLR-2, TLR-4 and TLR-9 mRNA, inhibition of p38 kinase prevented the up-regulation of TLR-2 and TLR-4 mRNA expression but enhanced the up-regulation of TLR-9 expression (An H et al 2002). In contrast to other TLR agonists, CpG DNA is superior in activation of dendritic dells and induction of cytokines such as IL-12 and IL-18. This qualifies CpG DNA as a Th-1 promoting adjuvant (Dalpke A et al, 2002). ManLAM binding to DC specific C-type lectin (DC-SIGN) prevented mycobacteria or LPS-induced DC maturation possibly through interfering with TLR-mediated signals (Geijtenbeek TB et al, 2003). DCs responded to TLR ligands produced IL-12 and related cytokines that are instrumental in Th-1 cell bias, and MHC class II antigen presentation to activate naive Th-cells. It has also been reported that DCs activated by TLR engagement can also provide a potent negative signal that prevents the development of Th-2 cells (Sun J et al, 2005). The production of IL-10, in addition to inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, was significantly reduced in DCs from TLR-4 defective C3H/HeJ mice in response to Bordetella pertussis. TLR-4 was required for B. pertussis LPS induced maturation of

DCs, but other B. pertussis components stimulated DC maturation independently of TLR-4. The course of *B. pertussis* infection was more severe in C3H/HeJ (TLR-4 defective) than in C3H/HeN mice. In addition, antibody and antigen specific IFNy responses were enhanced at the peak of infection, whereas antigen specific IL-10-producing T-cells were significantly reduced in C3H/HeJ mice. This was associated with enhanced inflammatory cytokine production, cellular infiltration, and severe pathological changes in the lungs of TLR-4 defective C3H/HeJ mice (Higgins SC et al, 2003).). Distinct TLR ligands instruct human DCs to induce distinct Th cell responses by differentially modulating MAPK. E. coli LPS and flagellin, which trigger TLR-4 and TLR-5, respectively, instructed DCs to stimulate Th1 responses via IL-12p70 production, which depends on the phosphorylation of p38 and JNK-1/2. In contrast, the TLR-2 agonist, Pam3cys, and schistosome egg antigens (the Th-2 stimulus), barely induced IL-12p70, however, stimulated sustained duration and magnitude of ERK-1/2 phosphorylation, which induced stabilization of the transcription factor c-Fos, (a suppressor of IL-12 and 3) resulted in Th-2 bias (Agrawal S et al, 2003). Stimulation of monocyte-derived DCs with TLR ligands differentially affects the uptake and cross-presentation of cellular antigens. Activation of DCs with TLR-3 or TLR-4 inhibited phagocytosis of apoptotic tumour cells and resulted in a reduced crosspresentation of p65-derived T-cell epitopes on MHC class I molecules upon engulfment of CMV infected fibroblasts (Weck MM et al, 2007). Geisel J et al (2007) reported that TLR-4 and TLR-2 stimulation in naive DC results in homo and cross tolerance and the mechanisms involved in tolerance depend on the concentration of the TLR agonist used for DC priming and are governed by IL-6 and DC maturation. Yersinia pestis, the causative agent of plague, at the temperature of its flea vector (approximately 20-30°C) expressesed a profile of genes distinct from those expressed in a mammalian host (37°C). DCs exposed to Y. pestis grown at 26°C, secreted copious amounts of IL-12p40 homodimer. However, DCs exposed to Y. pestis grown at 37°C, transcribed very little IL-12p40 and secreted as IL-12p40 monomer. The absence of TLR-4 abrogated the

production of IL-12p40 homodimer in DCs exposed to *Y. pestis* grown at 26°C (Robinson RT *et al,* 2008).

Plasmacytoid DC (pDC) expressed a higher level of TLR-9 compared with myeloid DC (mDC) cultured with GM-CSF, however, stimulation with IFNy was capable of upregulating TLR-9 expression in mDC to a level comparable with expression in pDC. IL-12 p40 and IL-6 mRNA expression and IL-12p70 secretion also enhanced in response to CpG DNA in IFNy pretreated mDC (Uchijima M et al, 2005). Live or heat-killed E. coli in mice induces splenic DC migration, maturation, and apoptosis, whereas, DC maturation is impaired in TLR-2 (-/-), TLR-4(-/-) and TRIF (-/-) deficient mice and DC apoptosis is reduced only in TLR-4 (-/-) and TRIF (-/-) deficient mice (De Trez C et al, 2005). Langerhan cells like DCs (LC-DCs) and monocyte derived DCs (Mo-DCs) expressed TLR-1 to 10 mRNAs at comparable levels. Although many of the TLR-induced cytokine patterns were similar between the two cell types, stimulation with the TLR-3 agonist poly-I:C triggered significantly higher amounts of the IFN inducible chemokines CXCL-9 and CXCL-11 in Langerhans cells (LC) like DCs as compared with Mo-DCs. Supernatants from TLR-3 activated LC-DCs reduced intracellular replication of vesicular stomatitis virus in a type I IFN-dependent manner (Renn CN et al, 2006). Differentiations of immature to mature DCs are induced by activation of TLRs. Bartz H et al reported that TLR triggering deviated phenotypic and functional differentiation from CD14+ monocytes to CD1a+ DCs. TLR stimulation in DC precursor cells induced proteins of the suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS), which correlated with loss of sensitivity to GM-CSF. Overexpression of SOCS-1 abolished GM-CSF signal transduction. Moreover, forced SOCS-1 expression in DC precursors mimicked the inhibitory effects on DC generation observed for TLR stimulation (Bartz et al, 2006).

LCs, and dermal dendritic cells (DDCs) have unique functions, human DDCs have a broad TLR expression profile, whereas human LCs have a selective impaired expression of cell surface TLR-2, TLR-4, and TLR-5. LCs weakly respond to bacterial

TLR-2, TLR-4, and TLR-5 ligands in terms of cytokine production and maturation, as well as to whole Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, whereas their responsiveness to viral TLR ligands and viruses is fully active and comparable to DDCs (van der Aar Am *et al*, 2007). Monocyte derived Langerin⁺/CD1c⁺LCs (MoLCs) secreted higher amounts of IL-6 and TNFα by stimulation through TLR-2 than by stimulation through TLR-3, -4, -5, - 8, and -9, however, DCs generated from the same donor monocytes, were activated by agonists of TLRs other than TLR-2 as well. Lipopeptides triggering TLR-2 induced IRAK-1 phosphorylation and migration toward the chemokines CCL-19 and CCL-21 in epidermal LCs and MoLCs and also up-regulated CD86, CD83, and CCR-7, TNFα and IL-6, and NF-κB activation (Peiser M *et al*, 2008).

Normal and neoplastic human B-cells express a distinct TLR repertoire including TLR-9 and TLR-10 and that expression is increased upon engagement of the antigen receptor complex or ligand with TLR-9 (Bourke E *et al*, 2003). Hayashi EA *et al* (2005) demonstrated that TLR-4 signaling favors B-cell maturation, whereas TLR-2 arrests or retards maturation. RP105 (-/-) deficient B-cells proliferated poorly in response to TLR-4 ligand LPS and TLR-2 ligand lipoproteins treatment. CD138 (syndecan-1)-positive plasma cells were detected after lipid A injection in wild-type spleen but much less in RP105 (-/-) deficient spleen. The immunopotentiating activity of neisserial porins, the major outer membrane protein of the pathogenic *Neisseria*, is mediated by its ability to stimulate B-cells and up-regulate the surface expression of CD86 and this ability is dependent on TLR-2 and MyD-88 (Massari P *et al*, 2002). It has also been reported that RP105 ligation *in vivo* induced plasma cell differentiation (Nagai Y *et al*, 2005).

Regulatory CD4⁺ T-cells (T-reg) were controlled inflammatory reactions to commensal bacteria and opportunist pathogens by selectively expressing TLR-4, -5, -7, and -8. TLR-4 ligand LPS induced up-regulation of several activation markers and enhanced T-reg survival and proliferation (Caramalho I *et al*, 2003). The liver is a site for trapping and apoptosis of activated CD8⁺ T-cells during systemic immune responses and

in TLR-4 deficiency, the liver was compromised in its ability to sequester activated CD8⁺ T-cells, and there was an inverse correlation between the frequency of activated CD8⁺ T-cells trapped in the liver and their frequency in the circulating pool (John B and Crispe IN, 2005). *C. albicans* induced immunosuppression through TLR-2 derived signals that mediate increased IL-10 production and survival of T-reg cells (Netea MG *et al*, 2004). Võ1 subset of $\gamma \delta$ T cells accumulated in inflamed joints in Lyme arthritis caused by the spirochete, *B. burgdorferi*. Collins C *et al* (2008) very recently reported that *B. burgdorferi* activated murine $\gamma \delta$ T-cells indirectly through TLR stimulation on DCs or monocytes and that also been dependent on caspases.

Mast cells (MCs) were expressed mRNAs for TLR-1, TLR-2, and TLR-6 but not TLR-4. Bacterial PGN and yeast zymosan were potent inducers of GM-CSF and IL-1ß and also induced substantial short-term cysteinyl leukotriene generation in mast cells (McCurdy JD et al, 2003). Varadaradjalou S et al (2003) reported that human normal cord blood-derived mast cells (CBMC) could interact with bacterial products, especially LPS from E. coli and PGN from S. aureus, known as TLR-4 and TLR-2 agonists, respectively. They found that both LPS and PGN induced significant release of not only TNFa, but also IL-5, IL-10 and IL-13, in addition, PGN alone stimulated histamine release by human MCs. However, the release of TNFa induced by LPS required the priming of CBMC by IL-4 and the presence of serum components, in particular soluble CD14. Murine and human MCs produced type-I IFNs after exposure to double-stranded RNA through specific interactions with TLR-3 (Kulka M et al, 2004). Rocha-de-Souza CM et al (2008) reported that S. aureus displayed a high adherence to mast cells as well as invasive and survival abilities and production of TNFa and IL-8 when infected with CBMC. However, pretreatment of cytochalasin D or preincubation with anti TLR-2 or anti-CD48 antibodies have abrogated the invasiveness and the inflammatory response, respectively.

Mycobacterium tuberculosis, through 19-kDa lipoprotein activation of TLR-2, inhibits IFNyR signalling in human macrophages, resulting in decreased MHC-II antigen processing and recognition by MHC-II-restricted CD4⁺ T-cells (Gehring AJ et al, 2003). This inhibition may promote *M. tuberculosis* evasion of T-cell responses and persistence of infection in tuberculosis. M. tuberculosis infections of TLR-2 deficient mice were displayed reduced bacterial clearance, a defective granulomatous response, and develop chronic pneumonia (Drennan MB et al, 2004). It has also been reported that glycopeptidolipids (GPLs), which are highly expressed surface molecules on *M. avium*, can stimulate the NF-kB pathway as well as MAPK p38 and JNK activation and production of proinflammatory cytokines when added to murine BMDCs. This stimulation was dependent on TLR-2 and MyD-88 but not TLR-4 (Sweet L and Schorev JS, 2006). M. tuberculosis 19-kDa lipoprotein and cell wall peptidoglycans (contained in the mycolylarabinogalactan peptidoglycans) inhibited macrophage responses to IFNy at a transcriptional level. The 19-kDa lipoprotein inhibited IFNy signalling in a TLR-2 dependent and MyD-88 dependent fashion, whereas PGNs inhibited the same signalling independently of TLR-2, TLR-4, and MyD-88 (Fortune SM et al, 2004). Production of IL-6 and IL-10 from DCs in response to *M. tuberculosis* is principally dependent on TLR-2. *M.* tuberculosis infection also induced IL-12 production in the absence of either TLR-2 or TLR-4 possibly through the involvement of other receptors in IL-12 production. In addition, it is also revealed that lack of TLR-2 or TLR-4 does not impact on DC maturation or on their ability to influence the polarity of differentiating naive T-cells during M. tuberculosis infection (Jang S et al, 2004). Neutrophils infected with M. bovis bacille Calmette Guerin (BCG) induced mRNA expression and secretion of the chemokine IL-8, by signalling through TLR-2 and TLR-4, in conjunction with MyD-88. Anti-TLR-2 antibody blocked the early phase of IL-8 and MyD-88 induction, while anti-TLR-4 antibody blocked the late phase of induction occurring 2 h after infection. The existence of a TLR/MyD-88 pathway for recognition and response to mycobacterial ligands provides neutrophils with

the ability to drive the recruitment and activation of inflammatory cells during the early phase of mycobacterial infection and immunization (Godlay G and Young DB, 2005). M. tuberculosis mannose-capped lipoarabinomannans (Man-LAMs) inhibited LPS-induced IL-12 p40 expression in an IL-10-independent manner through blocking IRAK-TRAF-6 interaction as well as IkBa phosphorylation leading to reduced NF-kB activation. Knockdown of IRAK-M expression by RNAi reinstated LPS-induced IL-12 production in Man-LAM-pretreated cells (Pathak SK et al, 2005). M. tuberculosis infected TLR9 (-/-) but not TLR2 (-/-) deficient mice displayed defective mycobacteria-induced IL-12p40 and IFNy responses in vivo, whereas, TLR2/9 (-/-) mice displayed markedly enhanced susceptibility to infection in association with combined defects in proinflammatory cytokine production in vitro (Bafica A et al, 2005). Tuberculin purified protein derivative stimulation resulted in rapid activation of MAPKs and an early burst of ROIs in monocytes/macrophages in a TLR-2 dependent manner. PPD-induced ROI production led to robust activation of apoptosis-regulating signal kinase (ASK1) upstream of p38 MAPK through TLR-2. In addition, phosphorylation of the cytosolic NADPH oxidase subunit p47phox and ASK1 activation are mutually dependent on PPD/TLR-2 mediated signalling (Yang CS et al, 2007).

IL-32 is a newly described proinflammatory cytokine that seems likely to play a role in inflammation and host defense. TLR-4 agonist, LPS, induced moderate (4-fold) production of IL-32, whereas agonists of TLR-2, TLR-3, TLR-5, or TLR-9, each of which strongly induced TNF α and IL-6, did not stimulate IL-32 production. However, *M. tuberculosis* and *M. bovis* BCG induced high level of IL-32 in monocytes. IL-32 is cell-associated pro-inflammatory cytokine and its stimulation by mycobacteria is through a caspase-1- and IL-18 dependent production of IFN γ (Netea MG *et al*, 2006).

S. enterica serotype Typhi, the causative agent of typhoid fever, expression of the Vi capsular antigen reduced expression of the neutrophil chemoattractant IL-8 in host cells. Capsulated bacteria elicited IL-8 expression in polarized human epithelial cells

(T84) and human macrophage-like cells (THP-1) in vitro at significantly reduced levels compared to noncapsulated bacteria. HEK293 cells transfected with human TLRs demonstrated that in the presence of TLR-5 or TLR-4/MD-2/CD14, a noncapsulated serotype Typhi mutant was able to induce the expression of IL-8, while this response was significantly reduced during infection with capsulated serotype Typhi wild type (Raffatellu M et al, 2005). S. typhimurium SPI-1 and the SPI-2 type III secretion systems (T3SS) contributed to inflammation and mutants that retained only a functional SPI-1 or a SPI-2 T3SS caused attenuated colitis. SPI-1 functional mutant caused diffused cecal inflammation that did not require MyD-88 signalling, however, SPI-2 functional mutant induced focal mucosal inflammation requiring MyD-88 (Hapfelmeier S et al, 2005). Mouse and human TLR-5 discriminate between different flagellins and mutagenesis studies demonstrate that naturally occurring amino acid variation in TLR-5 residue-268is responsible for human and mouse discrimination between flagellin molecules, whereas, mutations within one conserved surface identify residues D295 and D367 as important for flagellin recognition (Andersen-Nissen E et al, 2007). Sun J et al (2007) found that activation of PI-3-K and AKT by flagellin has a small damping effect in the early stages of flagellin signalling but is not responsible for tolerance in human intestinal epithelial cells and also indicated that inhibition of TLR-5 associated IRAK-4 activity occurs during the development of flagellin tolerance and is likely to be the cause of tolerance.

Mice deficient in MyD-88 (-/-) were more susceptible to *Listeria monocytogenes* and showed an inability to produce IL-12 and IFN γ during infection. TLRs/MyD-88 dependent IL-12/TNF α production and IL-12 and IL-18-mediated IFN γ production are found to be critical in early phase clearance of *L. monocytogenes* (Seki E *et al*, 2002). Torres D *et al* reported that the production of TNF α , IL-12, and NO and the expression of the costimulatory molecules CD40 and CD86, which are necessary for the control of infection, were reduced in TLR-2 (-/-) deficient macrophages and DCs stimulated by *L*.

monocytogenes and were almost abolished in the absence of MyD-88. In addition, there is a high susceptibility of MyD88 (-/-) deficient mice to in vivo infection. Thus, TLR-2 plays an important role in the control of *L. monocytogenes* infection, but other MyD-88 dependent signals may contribute to host resistance (Torres D *et al*, 2004). Machata S *et al* (2008) reported that lipidation of prelipoproteins in *L. monocytogenes* is required to promote NF-κB activation through TLR-2. Experiments using transiently expressing TLR-2 in HeLa cells and *L. monocytogenes* and *L. innocua* mutants lacking the prolipoprotein diacylglyceryl transferase (*Δlgt*) gene, it has been shown that TLR-2 dependent activation of NF-κB depends on lipidation of prolipoproteins. Studies of bone marrowderived macrophages of C57BL/6 wild-type and TLR-2 deficient mice infected with *Δlgt* strains exhibited delayed cellular immune responses directed toward the bacterium when compared to the wild type infected mice.

Cytokine production by bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMMs) in response to *L. pneumophila* infection required the TLR adapter protein MyD-88 and is reduced in the absence of TLR-2 but not in the absence of TLR-4. *In vivo* growth of *L. pneumophila* was enhanced in the lungs of TLR-2 deficient and MyD-88 (-/-) deficient mice, which resulted in a delay in bacterial clearance, whereas *L. pneumophila* dotA mutants, which are unable to replicate intracellularly, were cleared by MyD-88 (-/-) deficient mice. However, significant differences were not observed in the growth and clearance of *L. pneumophila* in the lungs of TLR-4 (-/-) deficient mice and heterozygous littermate control mice (Archer KA and Roy CR, 2006). Bone marrow-derived macrophages and DCs from TLR-2 (-/-), TLR-4 (-/-), and wild type littermate mice infection with *L. pneumophila* have revealed that the growth of the bacteria were enhanced within TLR-2 (-/-) macrophages but no difference among DCs. The production of interleukin IL-12p40 and IL-10 after infection with *L. pneumophila* was attenuated in TLR-2 (-/-) deficient macrophages compared to wild type and TLR-4 (-/-) deficient macrophages. (Akamine M *et al*, 2005). MyD-88 dependent signalling is important for secretion of early inflammatory

cytokines and host protection in response to *L. pneumophila* infection. In addition, IFNy deficient mice did not have a susceptibility phenotype as severe as the MyD-88 deficient mice and were able to control a pulmonary infection by *L. pneumophila* (Archer KA *et al,* 2009). Infection with the pathogen *L. pneumophila*, which utilizes a type IV secretion system (T4SS), induced an increased proinflammatory cytokine response compared to avirulent bacteria in which the T4SS was inactivated. This enhanced response involved NF-kB activation by TLR signalling as well as NOD1 and NOD2 detection of type IV secretion. In addition, a TLR and RIP-2 independent pathway leading to p38 and SAPK/JNK MAPK activation was found to play an equally important role in the host response to virulent *L. pneumophila*. Activation of this MAPK pathway was T4SS-dependent and coordinated with TLR signalling to mount a robust proinflammatory cytokine response to virulent *L. pneumophila* (Shin S *et al,* 2008).

P. aeruginosa flagella initially bound to the apical surface of polarized epithelial cells, where they prominently co-localized with asialoGM1 and induced TLR-5 expression and mobilized to the apical surface of the cells, and co-localized with superficial flagella. IL-8 expression in airway cells was activated by flagella through induction of Ca²⁺ fluxes, SRC, RAS, and ERK-1/2 MAPK and NFκB activation. TLR-2 (-/-) or TLR-5 (-/-) mutations have inhibited IL-8 induction by 78% and 35%, respectively. The participation of TLR-2 as well as TLR-5 was confirmed in CHO cells transfected with either human TLR-2 or TLR-5 in which flagella activated NFκB reporter to the same extent (Adamo R *et al*, 2004). *P. aeruginosa* virulence factor, exoenzyme S (*ExoS*) induces potent monocyte activation leading to the production of numerous proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines. *ExoS* activated monocytic cells via a MyD-88 pathway, using both TLR-2 and the TLR-4/MD-2/CD14 complex for cellular activation, whereas, the TLR-2 activity was localized to the N-terminal domain of ExoS while the TLR-4 activity was localized to the N-terminal domain (Epelman S *et al*, 2004). *P. aeruginosa* and Δ*fliC* mutant were used to study the role of TLR-2, TLR-4, TLR-5 and

MyD-88 in recognition of the pathogen. $\Delta fliC$ mutant infected MyD-88 (-/-) deficient mice failed to mount early cytokine and inflammatory responses or control bacterial replication, resulting in necrotizing lung injury and lethal disseminated infection. TLR-4 (-/-) and TLR-2/4(-/-) deficient mice responded to $\Delta fliC$ mutant infection with severely limited inflammatory and cytokine responses but intact bacterial clearance. However, TLR-2 (-/-) deficient mice had partially reduced cytokine responses but augmented inflammation and preserved bacterial killing. This indicates that TLR-4 and flagellin induced signals mediated most of the acute inflammatory response to P. aeruginosa and that TLR-2 has a counter-regulatory role (Skerrett SJ et al, 2007). MyD-88 dependent pathway is essential for the development of early (4-8 h) host response to P. aeruginosa lung infection, however, the development of a delayed (24-48 h) host response to P. aeruginosa is independent of MyD-88 (Power MR et al, 2006). The same group have reported recently that TRIF-deficient mouse alveolar and peritoneal macrophages showed a complete inhibition of RANTES production, severely impaired TNFa and KC (mouse equivalent of IL-8) production, and reduced NF-kB activation in response to P. aeruginosa stimulation (Power MR et al, 2007). Very recently, Ramphal R et al reported that interactions of either TLR-4 with LPS or TLR-5 with flagellin can effectively defend the lung from *P. aeruginosa* infection and the absence of a response by both results in hyper-susceptibility to this infection in mice (Ramphal R et al, 2008).

Chlamydia pneumoniae is an obligate intracellular human pathogen causing diseases such as pneumonia, bronchitis, and pharyngitis. Prebeck S *et al* (2001) reported that recognition of the Gram-negative bacterium *C. pneumoniae* depends largely on TLR-2 and only to a minor extent on TLR-4. *C. pneumoniae* stimulated maturation and cytokine secretion by bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDDC) and the purified recombinant HSP60 from *C. pneumoniae* also stimulated BMDDC in a TLR-2 and TLR-4 dependent way similar to the whole microorganism (Costa CP *et al*, 2002). Glucocorticoids synergistically enhanced nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae* induced

expression of TLR-2 through specific up-regulation of the MAPK phosphatase-1 (MKP-1) that leads to dephosphorylation and inactivation of p38 MAPK. Increased expression of TLR-2 in epithelial cells greatly enhanced the nontypeable *H. influenzae* induced expression of several key cytokines, including TNFα and IL-1β and IL-8 and thereby contributing significantly to host immune and defence response (Imasato A *et al*, 2002). Rothfuchs AG *et al* (2004) reported that *C. pneumoniae* induced IFNγ expression in bone marrow derived macrophages is controlled by a TLR-4/MyD88/IFNαβ/STAT1-dependent pathway, as well as by a TLR-4 independent pathway leading to NF-κB activation.

Porin of *Shigella dysenteriae* type-1 treatment of peritoneal macrophages showed an increase of expression of mRNA for both TLR-2 and MyD-88 and IL-12 release (Ray A *et al*, 2003). Porin of *S. dysenteriae* type 1 increased the mRNA levels for TLR-2 and TLR-6 and CD80 and also induced cell-surface expression of immunoglobulin IgM, IgG2a, and IgA in peritoneal cavity B-2 cells (Ray A and Biswas T, 2005). In addition, mRNA expression of TRAF-6, MHC-II, MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β and RANTES and intracellular expression and release of TNF α and IL-12 in presence of porin were found to be TLR-2 and NF- κ B dependent (Biswas A *et al*, 2007). *H. influenzae* type b porin induced TNF α and IL-6 production and that was eliminated in macrophages from TLR-2 or MyD-88 deficient mice. In addition, anti-TLR-2 antibodies but not anti-TLR-4 antibodies significantly reduced *H. influenzae* type b porin stimulated TNF α and IL-6 release from the human monocytic cell line THP-1 (Galdiero M *et al*, 2004).

Infection with the live vaccine strain *F. tularensis* LVS rendered cells of the murine macrophage-like cell line J774A.1 incapable of secreting TNF α or IL-1 β and mobilizing an antimicrobial activity in response to bacterial lipopeptide or *E. coli* derived LPS. A mutant of *F. tularensis* LVS defective in expression of a 23kDa protein, that is upregulated during intracellular infection, restored TNF α secretion during infection with J774A.1 cells. LPS or lipopeptide induced phosphorylation of p38 MAPK and the transcription factor c-Jun were also inhibited by *F. tularensis* LVS but not by the 23kDa

protein mutant (Telepnev M *et* al, 2003). Duenas AI *et al* (2006) reported that LPS from *F. tularensis* LVS signals through TLR-4 at higher concentrations than those required for *E. coli* LPS.

LTA from Group B Streptococcus (GBS) and S. aureus have interacted with TLR-2 and TLR-6, but not TLR-1 and NF-KB activation by LTA required the integrity of two putative Phospho Inositol-3-Kinase (PI-3-K) binding domains within TLR-2 and was inhibited by wortmannin, indicating an essential role for PI-3-K in cellular activation by LTA. However, LTA from GBS proved to be a relatively weak stimulus of phagocytes and found to have only 20% activity when compared with LTA from S. aureus. LTA from GBS is a TLR-2/TLR-6 ligand but does not contribute significantly to GBS cell wall mediated macrophage activation (Henneke P et al, 2005). GBS, the most important pathogen in neonatal bacterial meningitis, not only activates microglia, but also induces apoptosis in these cells through TLR-2 and the TLR- daptor molecule MyD-88 and subsequent activation of caspase-8, a process that involves the transcription factor family ETS (Lehnardt S et al, 2007). Exposure of macrophages to heat-killed GBS activated TLR dependent pathway, whereas live GBS activated a TLR/NOD/RLR independent pathway. Phagolysosomal membrane destruction by GBS pore-forming toxins, leading to the release of bacterial DNA into the cytosol and GBS DNA in the cytosol induced IFNB production through a pathway dependent on the activation of the serine-threonine kinase TBK-1 and phosphorylation of the transcription factor IRF-3 (Charrel-Dennis M et al, 2008). Gratz N et al (2008) reported that in mouse macrophages, the activation of MyD-88 dependent signalling by the extracellular Gram-positive human pathogen group A streptococcus (GAS; S. pyogenes) does not require TLR-2, TLR-4 and TLR-9. Instead of that, infection of macrophages by GAS causes IRF-3 dependent, MyD-88 independent production of type-I IFN and is induced also by GAS lacking *slo* and *sagA*, the genes encoding cytolysins that were shown to be required for IFN production in response to other Gram-positive bacteria.

LTA of S. aureus induced a dramatic release of cytokines, with an early appearance of TNFa and IL-1B and a delayed liberation of IL-8. The first phase of IL-8 production was induced directly by LTA, whereas the second phase was endogenously mediated by TNFa, as it was largely abrogated by neutralizing anti-TNFa antibodies in isolated human neutrophils. IL-1ß was not involved in LTA induced IL-8 generation and in addition, the late phase of IL-8 generation could also be attenuated by exogenous IL-10, probably as a consequence of its down-regulatory effects on TNFa generation. Using antibodies that neutralized the activity of TLR-2 or TLR-4, it is also showed that CD14 dependent, LTA induced neutrophil activation did not proceed through TLR-2 or TLR-4 mediated pathways (Hattar K et al, 2006). Nakayama M et al (2007) identified murinepaired Ig-like receptor-B (PIR-B), and its human orthologs Ig-like transcript -2 and Ig-like transcript 5 as novel receptors for S. aureus. In mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages, masking of PIR-B by anti-PIR mAb or genetic deletion of PIR-B shows significantly impaired recognition of S. aureus and enhanced TLR mediated inflammatory responses to the bacteria. Both type-I IFNs and IRFs are well characterized in viral infections but not in bacterial. S. aureus LTA activated IRF-2 resulting in the upregulation of IRF-1 and activation of STAT-1 and STAT-3 resulting in rapid secretion of IFNα (Liljeroos M et al, 2008).

Inhalation of *Bacillus anthracis*, a bioterrorism agent, results in a high mortality rate despite appropriate antibiotic therapy. Macrophages appear to be a key factor in *B. anthracis* pathogenesis. The burst of pro-inflammatory cytokines from macrophages could be a major cause of death in anthrax. Germination from spores to bacilli produced a substantial stimulus for the secretion of the cytokines IL-6, TNF α , IL-10, and IL-12p40 by macrophages *in vitro*. Pre-treatment of mouse macrophages with the TLR-9 ligand ISS-1018, or the TLR-7 ligands R-848 and IT-37, results in a substantial decrease in the subsequent secretion of IL-6 and TNF α in response to *B. anthracis* infection of

macrophages. In addition, the TLR-7 and TLR-9 ligands significantly decreased anthrax induced cytotoxicity in the macrophages (Sabet M *et al*, 2006).

S. pneumoniae, H. influenzae type b, and N. meningitidis, are the three principal causes of bacterial meningitis. Mogensen TH *et al* using HEK-293 cell lines overexpressing one type of TLR demonstrated that, S. pneumoniae triggered activation of the transcription factor NF-KB and expression of IL-8, only in cells expressing TLR-2 or -9. The same response was evoked by H. influenzae in cells expressing TLR-2 or -4 and by N. meningitidis in cells expressing TLR-2, -4, or -9, however, the ability of S. pneumoniae and N. meningitidis to activate TLR-9 was severely attenuated when bacteria had been heat-inactivated prior to stimulation of the cells (Mogensen TH *et al*, 2006). Expression of capsular polysaccharide by bacterial pathogens is associated with increased resistance to host clearance mechanisms, in particular by evading opsonization and uptake by professional phagocytes. Clearance of encapsulated H. influenzae required both TLR and NOD signaling pathways, whereas individual deficiencies in each of these signaling cascades did not affect clearance of nonencapsulated strains (Zola TA *et al*, 2008).

Zheng J *et al* (2008) reported that *Campylobacter jejuni* induced IL-8 secretion requires functional flagella and cytolethal distending toxin (CDT) and depends on the activation of NF-KB through TLR signalling and CDT in T-84 human intestinal epithelial cells. *Burkholderia cenocepacia* is known to induce a harmful inflammatory response in the airways of cystic fibrosis patients. Expression of both TLR-2 and TLR-4 was significantly up-regulated by *B. cenocepacia* infection, whereas TLR-5 expression remained unchanged in human bronchial epithelial cells. However, using epithelial cells from TLR-2 (-/-), TLR-4 (-/-) or TLR-2/4 (-/-) mice or cells over-expressing a functional form of TLR-5 revealed that TLR-5, but neither TLR-2 nor TLR-4, critically regulated *B. cenocepacia* induced lung epithelial inflammatory response (de C Ventura CM *et al*, 2008).

Commensal E. coli induced NF-kB DNA binding, NF-kB transcriptional activity, CCL-20 expression, and IL-8 secretion in the human IEC lines. E. coli MG1655 flagellin was necessary and sufficient to trigger this pro-inflammatory pathway via its interaction with TLR5 and the subsequent recruitment of the adaptor protein MyD-88 (Bambou JC et al, 2004). Polysaccharide-A (PSA), which is produced by the intestinal commensal B. fragilis, activates CD4+T-cells, resulting in a Th-1 response correcting the Th-2 cell skew of germ-free mice and optimization of the Th-1 cytokine IFNy in PSA stimulated DC-CD4+ T-cell co-cultures depends on both TLR-2 and antigen presentation (Wang Q et al, 2006). Pro-biotic E. coli strain Nissle 1917 has been proven to be efficacious for the treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases. Sturm A et al reported that E. coli Nissle 1917 conditioned medium inhibits cell cycling and expansion of peripheral blood but not mucosal T-cells. Heat-inactivated E. coli Nissle 1917, LPS, or CpG DNA did not alter peripheral blood T-cell cycling. E. coli Nissle 1917 conditioned medium decreased cyclin D-2, B-1, and retinoblastoma protein expression, contributing to the reduction of T-cell proliferation. Using TLR-2 knockout mice, they further demonstrated that the inhibition of peripheral blood T-cell proliferation by E. coli Nissle 1917 conditioned medium is TLR-2 dependent (Sturm A et al, 2005).

The group B coxsackieviruses are ssRNA viruses that have been implicated in viral myocarditis and their viral RNA shown to persist in cardiac muscle contributing to a chronic inflammatory cardiomyopathy. Triantafilou K *et al* reported that CBV-induced inflammatory response is mediated through TLR-8 and to a lesser extent through TLR-7 (Triantafilou K *et al*, 2005). TLR-8 and TLR-7 also reported as the host sensors for human parechovirus-1, another ssRNA virus (Triantafilou K *et al*, 2005b). Craft N *et al* (2005) reported that topical imiquimod, a synthetic TLR-7 agonist, significantly enhanced the protective antitumor effects of a live, recombinant listeria vaccine against murine melanoma. Yang K *et al* (2005) showed that IFN α , β , and λ induction through TLR-7, TLR-8, and TLR-9 were abolished in IRAK-4 (-/-) deficient blood cells, whereas IFN α , β ,

and λ were induced normally by TLR-3 and TLR-4 agonists. Cells lacking TRAF-3, a member of the TNF receptor-associated factor family, are defective in type-I IFN responses activated by different TLRs. In addition, TRAF-3 found to be associated with TRIF and IRAK-1, as well as downstream IRF-3/7 kinases TBK-1 and IKK-ε and therefore function as an important factor for IRF activation. TRAF-3 (-/-) deficient fibroblasts, even after TLR stimulation, are defective in their type-I IFN response to infection with vesicular stomatitis virus, indicating that TRAF-3 is also an important component of TLR independent viral recognition pathways (Oganesyan G et al, 2006). Hepatitis B virus (HBV) transgenic mice received a single intravenous injection of ligands specific for TLR-2, TLR-3, TLR-4, TLR-5, TLR-7, and TLR-9 have inhibited HBV replication, except for TLR-2, in the liver non-cytopathically within 24 h in a IFN α/β dependent manner (Isogawa M et al, 2005). IFN induction in pDC was triggered signal transduction pathways through TLR-7 and TLR-9 as well as by recognition of cytosolic virus-specific patterns. TLR-7 and TLR-9 ligands such as ssRNA and CpG DNA as well as synthetic derivatives are being evaluated as therapeutic immune modulators promoting Th-1 immune responses. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and measles virus infection inhibited both TLR-dependent and independent IFN responses in human pDCs (Schlender J et al, 2005). HIV type 1 protease inhibitors (PI) blocked TLR-2- and TLR-4 as well as the TNFa-mediated NF-kB activation, in a dose-dependent manner. PI pretreatment also blocked the LPS induced IL-6 promoter transactivation and TNFa secretion (Equils O et al, 2004). TLR deficient mice and genetic complementation, it was showed that murine TLR-7 and human TLR-8 mediated species-specific recognition of GU-rich single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) (Heil F et al, 2004).

Lund JM *et al* (2004) showed that TLR-7 recognized ssRNA of vesicular stomatitis virus and influenza virus. The recognition of these viruses by pDCs and B-cells through TLR-7 resulted in their activation of co-stimulatory molecules and production of cytokines. Influenza A virus (IAV) is the etiological agent of a highly contagious acute

respiratory disease that causes epidemics and considerable mortality annually. Recently it is reported that TLR-3 plays a key role in the immune response of lung epithelial cells to IAV. Le Goffic R *et al* (2006) demonstrated that the pulmonary expression of TLR-3 was constitutively and markedly up-regulated following influenza infection in mice. When compared to wild-type mice, infected TLR-3 (-/-) deficient animals displayed significantly reduced inflammatory mediators, including RANTES, IL-6, and IL-12p40/p70 as well as a lower number of CD8⁺ T-cells in the bronchoalveolar airspace. More importantly, despite a higher viral production in the lungs, mice deficient in TLR-3 had an unexpected survival advantage.

IFNα pretreatment of macrophages was required for efficient TLR-3 and TLR-4 agonist induced activation of IFNα, IFNβ, IL-28, and IL-29 genes. TLR-7/8 agonists were weakly activated IFNα, IFNβ, IL-28, and IL-29 genes, whereas TLR-2 agonist was not able to activate these genes. IFNα enhanced TLR responsiveness in macrophages by up-regulating the expression of TLR-3, TLR-4, and TLR-7. IFNα also enhanced the expression of TLR signalling molecules MyD-88, TRIF, IKK-ε, RIP-1, and IRF-7 and IRF-3 (Siren J *et al*, 2005). Fischer SF *et al* (2005) reported that stimulation with CpG-DNA resulted in a strongly increased sensitivity of TLR-9 expressing fibroblasts to apoptosis induced by staurosporine and UV-irradiation. Morris GE *et al* (2005) reported that co-culture of PBMCs with airway smooth muscle cells resulted in a marked co-operative response to TLR stimuli, and synergistic production of cytokines and chemokines. IL-1 secreted from PBMCs required for this functional activation and blocked by IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RN).

TLRs as well as the TLR associated adaptor molecule MyD-88 have been implicated in the recognition of the fungal pathogens *C. albicans, Cryptococcus neoformans* and *Pneumocystis carinii.* Phospholipomannan, present in the cell surface of *C. albicans* has been shown to be recognized by TLR-2, while TLR-4 mainly interacts with glucuronoxylomannan, the major capsular polysaccharide of *C. neoformans*. MyD-

88 has been implicated in TLR signalling of linear (1, 3)- β -D-glucan, and of β -glucan from P. carinii (Roeder A et al, 2004). Peritoneal macrophages from MyD-88 (-/-) or TLR-2 (-/-) deficient mice released significantly less TNFa, compared with wild type controls during C. neoformans infection. However, no difference in TNF α release was noted between macrophages from C3H/HeJ mice, which have a loss of function mutation in TLR-4, relative to wild type C3H/HeN controls during in vitro stimulation with C. neoformans. In addition, when MyD-88 (-/-) or TLR-2 (-/-) deficient mice were infected with low doses of the H-99 serotype A strain, all of the control animals, but none of MyD-88 (-/-) deficient and only 38% of the TLR2 (-/-) deficient animals survived (Biondo C et al, 2005). Van der Graaf CA et al (2005) reported that TLR-4 mediated pro-inflammatory cytokine induction after C. albicans stimulation, whereas recognition by TLR-2 leads mainly to antiinflammatory cytokine release and TLR-4 mediated pro-inflammatory signals are lost during germination of C. blastoconidia into hyphae. It has also been reported that the TLR-4 Asp299Gly/Thr399lle polymorphisms are associated with an increased susceptibility to Candida bloodstream infections, and it was also showed that an increased production of IL-10 by PBMCs isolated from these patients during C. albicans infection in vitro (Van der Graaf CA et al, 2006).

As a paradigm shift in TLR research, it has been reported that host Heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) induced proinflammatory cytokine production in human monocytes is mediated via the MyD-88/IRAK/NF-KB signal transduction pathway and utilizes both TLR-2 and TLR-4 to transduce its proinflammatory signal in a CD14 dependent fashion (Asea A *et al*, 2002; Vabulas RM *et al*, 2002). Human HSP60 and Gp96 are the other examples of non-pathogen derived ligands of TLRs. Gp96 provides the first example of how the innate and adaptive immune system can be stimulated simultaneously by the same molecule which is released under physiological conditions from necrotic cells (Vabulas RM *et al*, 2002). Literature evidence suggest that TLR-mediated activation of DCs and T cells by Gp96. Gp96 or its N-terminal domain activated DCs at high

concentrations (\geq 50µg/ml) but not at lower concentrations. However, preincubation of low amounts of Gp96 with TLR-2 and TLR-4 ligands at concentrations unable to activate DCs by themselves results in the production of high levels of proinflammatory cytokines, up-regulation of activation markers, and amplification of T-cell activation (Warger T *et al*, 2006). Hyaluronic acid (HA), ubiquitous in the extracellular matrix, found to be broken down into low molecular weight HA (LMW-HA) fragments at the sites of inflammation and that have been reported to activate immunocompetent cells. LMW-HA was reported to be induced activation of keratinocytes mediated through TLR-2, TLR-4, c-Fos, PKC involved signalling pathway leading to the production of BD-2. This activation of keratinocytes found to be non-inflammatory response, because there was no production of IL-8, TNF α , IL-1 β , or IL-6 (Gariboldi S *et al*, 2008).

LPS and PGN induced secretory IL-1 receptor antagonist (sIL-1Ra) gene expression in macrophages and both stimuli synergistically increased expression through distinct promoter activity (Carl VS *et al*, 2002). LPS, the mycobacterial glycolipids, and the OspC lipoprotein (TLR-2 agonist) all induced macrophages to secrete TNF α , whereas only LPS could induce NO secretion. LPS induced TNF α , MIP-1 β , and RANTES production in these cells, whereas the TLR-2 agonists induced only MIP-1 β production (Jones BW, 2001).

The IRAK family consists of two active kinases, IRAK-1 and IRAK-4, and two inactive kinases, IRAK-2 and IRAK-M. IRAK-M expression is restricted to monocytes/macrophages, whereas other IRAKs are ubiquitous. IRAK-M is induced upon TLR stimulation and negatively regulated TLR signalling. IRAK-M prevented dissociation of IRAK-1 and IRAK-4 from MyD-88 and formation of IRAK-TRAF6 complexes. IRAK-M (-/-) deficient cells exhibited increased cytokine production upon TLR/IL-1 stimulation and bacterial challenge, and IRAK-M (-/-) mice showed increased inflammatory responses to bacterial infection. Exposure of cells to LPS induces a hypo-responsive state to a second challenge with LPS that is termed LPS tolerance or endotoxin tolerance, a protection

mechanism against endotoxin shock. LPS tolerance was significantly reduced in IRAK-M (-/-) cells (Kobayashi et al, 2002). IRAK-4 (-/-) deficient animals are completely resistant to a lethal dose of LPS and severely impaired in their responses to viral and bacterial challenges (Suzuki N et al, 2002). Zhang G et al (2002) reported that Tollip suppress TLR mediated cell activation by inhibiting the activity of IRAK-1 after TLR activation. TLR cross-tolerance is inducible in the absence of IRAK-1 in peritoneal macrophages. IRAK-1-deficient macrophages respond with decreased TNFa production to a secondary TLR stimulation, but both wild type and IRAK-1 (-/-) macrophages produced increased IL-10 production. IRAK-1 (-/-) peritoneal macrophages have a defective TNFα and IL-10 production in response to LTA stimulation as well as a defective IL-10 but a normal TNFa production in response to high concentration of LPS (Berglund M et al, 2008). Flagellin from a number of Gram-negative bacteria induces cytokine and nitric oxide production by inflammatory cell types. Mizel SB and Snipes JA 2002) reported that prior exposure to flagellin results in a subsequent state of flagellin tolerance in human monocytes, THP1 cells, Jurkat cells, and COS-1 cells. LPS treatment of monocytes and THP1 cells resulted in a state of flagellin cross-tolerance but Flagellin did not induce tolerance to LPS. Flagellin-induced self-tolerance and LPS-induced cross-tolerance to flagellin is associated with block in release of IRAK from the TLR-5 complex in flagellin-tolerant cells. LPS signalling involves at least two pathways: a MyD-88 dependent cascade that is essential for production of inflammatory cytokines and a MyD-88 independent cascade that mediates the expression of IFN inducible genes. LPS tolerance by several microbial components in mouse peritoneal macrophages led to impaired activation of both the pathways. Mycoplasmal lipopeptides did not affect the MyD-88 independent pathway, but impaired the MyD-88 dependent signalling by inhibiting LPS mediated activation of IRAK-1. Pretreatment with double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), which triggers the activation of TLR-3, led to defective activation of the MyD-88 independent, but not the MyD-88 dependent, pathway. Imidazoguinoline compounds, which are recognized by TLR-7, had

no effect on the MyD-88 independent pathway, but inhibited LPS induced activation of MyD-88 dependent signalling through down-regulation of IRAK-1 expression (Sato S *et al*, 2002). Von Bernuth H *et al* (2008) reported nine children with autosomal recessive MyD-88 deficiency suffered from life-threatening, often recurrent pyogenic bacterial infections, including invasive pneumococcal disease. However, these patients were otherwise healthy, with normal resistance to other microbes. This is showing that MyD-88 dependent TLRs and IL-1Rs are therefore essential for protective immunity to a small number of pyogenic bacteria, but redundant for host defense to most natural infections in humans.

MyD-88 adaptor like (Mal) or TIRAP with TIR domain have been reported to be involved in TLR-4 signalling and activates NF-kB, Jun amino-terminal kinase (JNK) and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (Erk)-1 and -2 (Fitzgerald KA et al, 2001). In mammals, TICAM-1 dependent TLR pathways induce NF-κB and IFNβ responses. TICAM-1 activates NF-KB through two different pathways involving its interactions with TRAF-6 and RIP-1. It also activates IRF-3/7 through its interaction with TBK-1, leading to the robust up-regulation of IFNβ. Sullivan C et al (2007) recently reported the role of zebrafish (Danio rerio) TICAM-1 in activating NF-kB and zebrafish type I IFN. Zebrafish TICAM-1 activates zebrafish IFN; however, it does so in an apparently IRF-3/7 independent manner. In addition, zebrafish TICAM-1 does not interact with zebrafish TRAF-6 and NF-κB activation is dependent upon its interaction with RIP-1. Comparative genome analysis suggests that TICAM-1 and TICAM-2 evolved from a common vertebrate TICAM ancestor following a gene duplication event and that TICAM-2 was lost in teleosts following the divergence of the rayfin and lobefin fishes 450 million years ago. Macrophages from mice deficient in adaptor molecules TRIF and TRAM produced equivalent cytokines as wild-type cells, whereas responses were absent in macrophages from MyD-88 (-/-) and TIRAP/Mal (-/-) mice (Hise AG et al, 2007). TLR-2 and TLR-4 signalling involves two adaptor proteins MAL and TRAM. Recently, new insights into the

functioning of these two adapters have emerged. Mal is required by both TLRs to act as a bridge to recruit the adaptor MyD-88, leading ultimately to NF-κB activation and TRAM acts as a bridge to recruit TRIF to the TLR-4 complex and leading to activation of the transcription factor IRF-3. Mal and TRAM found to be regulated through phosphorylation and a variant of MAL in humans has been found to protect against multiple infectious diseases. Sterile alpha and HEAT/armadillo motif protein (SARM), another TIR domaincontaining adaptor, has been shown to act as an inhibitor of TRIF dependent signalling (Sheedy FJ and O'Neill LA, 2007). Although *C. elegans* SARM up-regulates immune signalling, and its disparate role as a suppressor of TLR signalling through TRIF and not MyD-88, is well-conserved from horseshoe crab (*Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda*) to human (Belinda W *et al,* 2008).

Subversion of TLR signalling by pathogenic virulent bacteria has recently been reported and found to be directly interfering with TLR function by secreting inhibitory homologs of the TIR domain and the genes encoding TIR domain containing-proteins (Tcps) were identified in *E. coli* CFT073 (TcpC) and *Brucella melitensis* (TcpB). Tcps impede TLR signalling through direct binding of MyD-88 adaptor protein (Cirl C *et al*, 2008). Adenylate cyclase toxin (*CyaA*) of *Bordetella pertussis* binds to CD11b/CD18 on macrophages and DCs and confers virulence to the bacteria by subverting innate immune responses of the host. *CyaA* modulates TLR agonist induced IL-10 and IL-12p70 production in DCs by enhancing MAPK phosphorylation and inhibiting IRF-1 and IRF-8 expression, respectively. That is mediated by elevation of intercellular cAMP concentrations (Hickey FB *et al*, 2008). CD45 is a leukocyte-specific protein tyrosine phosphatase and an important regulator of antigen receptor signalling in lymphocytes. Cross JL *et al* reported that CD45 (-/-) DCs exhibited a negative effect of CD45 on TLR-2 and -9, MyD-88 dependent cytokine production, and a positive effect on TLR-3 and -4, MyD-88 independent IFNβ secretion (Cross JL *et al*, 2008).

Doyle SE *et al* (2003) reported that IFN regulatory factor 3 (IRF-3) mediated antiviral gene programme is induced by both TLR-3 and TLR-4 ligands and they also found that TLR-3 expression is inducible by both TLR-3 and TLR-4 ligands, while TLR-4 expression is not inducible by these same stimuli. In addition, activation of viral response gene expression in primary macrophage cells is stronger and prolonged with TLR-3 stimulation compared with that of TLR-4. Using cells derived from mice deficient in the IFN- $\alpha\beta$ R (-/-), showed that both TLR-3 and TLR-4 require IFN- β autocrine or paracrine feedback to induce TLR-3 expression and activate genes required for antiviral activity. TLR-3 and TLR-4 signalling induced IFN- β to activate antiviral gene expression, while TLR-3 used multiple mechanisms to enhance and sustain the antiviral response more strongly than TLR-4.

Expression of triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1 (TREM-1) was upregulated in response to TLR activation, an effect further enhanced by GM-CSF and TNFα but inhibited by IL-10. Functionally, primary monocytes differentiated into immature DCs following activation through TREM-1 had an improved ability to elicit T-cell proliferation and production of IFNy (Bleharski JR et al, 2003). DAP-12 is an immunoglobulin tyrosine activation motif (ITAM) containing adapter that associates with receptors in myeloid and NK-cells. DAP-12 associated receptors can give activation signals leading to cytokine production; however, in some situations, DAP-12 inhibits cytokine production stimulated through TLRs and Fc receptors (FcRs). TREM-2 is responsible for the DAP-12 mediated inhibition in mouse macrophages and a chimeric receptor composed of the extra-cellular domain of TREM-2 and the cytoplasmic domain of DAP-12 inhibited the TLR and FcR induced TNFα production of DAP-12 (-/-) deficient macrophages. In wild-type macrophages, TREM-2 knockdown increased TLR induced TNFα production (Hamerman JA et al, 2006). DAP-12 deficient airway APCs display enhanced NF-KB activation and cytokine responses upon TLR stimulation or mycobacterial infection in vitro. Adoptive transfer of antigen loaded DAP-12 deficient

APCs alone could lead to over-activation of transferred transgenic or endogenous wildtype T-cells and uncontrolled Th-1 cell activation and severe immunopathology and tissue injury during intracellular viral infection *in vivo* (Divangahi M *et al*, 2007).

Murine macrophages exposed to the combination of apoptotic cells and archetypal ligands for TLR-2, -4, and -9 mount cytokine responses that differ importantly from those elicited by either class of stimulus alone. TLR ligands induced early and sustained secretion of TNFa, MIP-1a and MIP-2 with later secretion of IL-10, IL-12, and TGF_β (Lucas M et al, 2003).). Mouse Kupffer cells deficient in TLR-4 did not secrete IL-18, IL-1β, and IL-12 upon LPS stimulation. However, Kupffer cells lacking MyD-88, secreted IL-18 alone in a caspase-1-dependent and de novo synthesis-independent manner (Seki E et al, 2001). TLR-1 and TLR-2 together mediated strong activation of NF-kB driven luciferase activity in response to mycobacterial LAM. Posphatidylinositol mannosides, simple biosynthetic precursors of LAM, also activated cells through the combined actions of TLR-1 and TLR-2 (Tapping RI and Tobias PS, 2003). M. tuberculosis HSP60 preferentially induced TLR-2 without affecting TLR-4 expression on macrophages, however, interaction of HSP60 with TLR-2 resulted in significant suppression of NF-kB activation and consequently IL-12p40 levels in purified protein derivative (PPD of mycobacteria) activated macrophages. This might be playing an important role to skew the anti-PPD T-cell response towards the Th-2 type when macrophages were used as antigen presenting cells (Khan N et al, 2008). Castrillo A et al (2003) demonstrated that pathogens interfere with macrophage cholesterol metabolism through inhibition of the liver X receptors (LXR) signalling pathway. Activation of TLR-3 and TLR-4 by microbial ligands blocks the induction of LXR target genes including ABCA-1 in cultured macrophages as well as in aortic tissue in vivo. As a consequence of these transcriptional effects, TLR-3 and -4 ligands strongly inhibit cholesterol efflux from macrophages. In macrophages and dendritic cells, stimulation by the prototypical stimuli CpG-DNA (TLR-9), LPS (TLR-4) and LTA (TLR-2) resulted in

striking differences in expression of IL-12. However, these stimuli induced similar amounts of the common proinflammatory cytokine TNFα. An IL-12p40 promoter reporter construct was activated equally by CpG-DNA, LPS and LTA and examinations of the chromatin structure of the endogenous IL-12p40 promoter revealed that nucleosome remodelling contributed to differential IL-12 induction (Albrecht I *et al*, 2004).

It has been reported that TLR induced phagocytosis of bacteria depended on MyD-88 dependent signalling through IRAK-4 and p38 leading to the up-regulation of scavenger receptors and TLRs promote phagocytosis to varying degrees with TLR-9 being the strongest and TLR-3 being the weakest inducer of this process. TLR ligands not only amplify the percentage of phagocytes uptaking of *E. coli*, but also increase the number of bacteria phagocytosed by individual macrophages (Doyle SE *et al*, 2004). Peritoneal macrophages from MyD-88 (-/-) deficient mice exhibited a marked inability to kill *E. coli* (F18) or an attenuated strain of *S. typhimurium* (sseB). This defect in killing was due to diminished NADPH oxidase-mediated production of O²⁻ in response to bacteria by MyD-88 (-/-) deficient phagocytes as a consequence of defective NADPH oxidase assembly and that was resulted from impaired p38 MAPK activation and subsequent phosphorylation of p47phox (Laroux *et al*, 2005).

Hertz CJ *et al* (2003) reported that airway epithelial cells grown at air-liquid interface responded to bacterial lipopeptide induced the production of the antimicrobial peptide human beta defensin-2 (BD-2) in TLR-2 dependent way. LPS and PGN stimulated BD-2 promoter activation in a TLR-4 and TLR-2 dependent manner in IEC. A mutation in the NF-κB or AP-1 site within the BD-2 promoter abrogated this response and inhibition of JNK prevented up-regulation of BD-2 protein expression in response to LPS (Vora P *et al*, 2004). Funderburg N *et al* very recently reported that human BD-3, an innate antimicrobial peptide, can induce expression of the co-stimulatory molecules CD80, CD86, and CD40, on monocytes and myeloid DCs in a TLR dependent manner. Activation of monocytes by BD-3 is mediated by interaction with TLR-1 and TLR-2,

resulting in signalling that involved MyD-88 and results in IRAK-1 phosphorylation (Funderburg N *et al,* 2007).

Keratinocytes were found to constitutively express TLR-1, TLR-2, TLR-3, TLR-5, and TLR-9 but not TLR-4, TLR-6, TLR-7, TLR-8, or TLR-10. Inhibition experiments using monoclonal antibodies and the specific platelet activating factor receptor inhibitor CV3988 showed that NF-κB activation by *S. aureus* in keratinocytes were TLR-2 but not TLR-4 or platelet activating factor receptor dependent. The purified staphylococcal cell wall components LTA and PGN, known to signal through TLR-2, also showed NF-κB translocation in human keratinocytes, indicating a crucial role of the staphylococcal cell wall in the innate immune stimulation of human keratinocytes (Mempel M *et al*, 2003).

Polyriboinosinic polyribocytidylic acid (poly-I:C), which might reflect a natural genetic product from a variety of viruses during replication, has been identified as one of the critical stimuli for TLR-3. BALB/c mice were immunized with purified recombinant HIV-1 envelope gp-120 or influenza hemagglutinin (HA) protein together with poly-I:C, induced antigen specific CTL from naive CD8⁺ T-cells *in vivo*. However, when the same proteins were immunized with LPS, agonist of TLR-4, not induced antigen specific CTL formation (Fujimoto C *et al*, 2004). PGN signalling through TLR-2 and bacterial CpG DNA signalling through TLR-9 are functionally equivalent at synergizing with IFN γ in regulating transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP-1) expression in macrophages and required activation of the p38 MAPK mediated phosphorylation of STAT-1 on serine ⁷²⁷ (Cecil AA and Klemsz MJ, 2004).

Matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) is selectively induced through TLR-2 in human and murine monocytic cells stimulated with *B. burgdorferi*. MMP-1 was shown to be stimulated through a pathway other than TLR-2. Nuclear extracts indicated that AP-1 was reduced in TLR-2 neutralized monocytic cells, suggesting that AP-1 plays a role in the transcriptional activation of MMP-9 through TLR-2 (Gebbia JA *et al,* 2004). Mycoplasmal membrane diacylated lipoproteins initiated proinflammatory responses

through TLR-2 and TLR-6 through the activation of the transcriptional factor NF-κB and also induced apoptotic responses (Into T *et al*, 2004). Stimulation of cultured synovial fibroblasts by the TLR-2 ligand, PGN, had upregulated fourteen CC and CXC chemokine genes, which is identified by using high density oligonucleotide microarray analysis (Pierer M *et al*, 2004).

Intragastric (i.g.) and subcutaneous (s.c.) administration of probiotic and *E. coli* DNA ameliorated the severity of dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) induced colitis, whereas methylated probiotic DNA, calf thymus DNA, and DNase-treated probiotics had no effect. The colitis severity was attenuated to the same extent by i.g. delivery of nonviable gamma-irradiated or viable probiotics, while, mice deficient in MyD-88 did not respond to gamma-irradiated probiotics. The severity of DSS-induced colitis in TLR-2 (-/-) and TLR-4 (-/-) deficient mice was significantly decreased by i.g. administration of gamma-irradiated probiotics, whereas, in TLR-9 (-/-) deficient mice, gamma-irradiated probiotics had no effect (Rachmilewitz D *et al*, 2004).

TLR signalling, through the MyD-88 adaptor, found to be up-regulated transcription of the retinoic acid early inducible-1 (RAE-1) family of NKG2D ligands, but not H-60 or murine UL16-binding protein-like transcript-1. RAE-1 proteins are found on the surface of activated, but not resting, macrophages and can be detected by NKG2D on NK-cells resulting in down-regulation of this receptor both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. RAE-1-NKG2D interactions provide a mechanism by which NK-cells and infected macrophages communicate directly during an innate immune response to infection (Hamerman JA *et al*, 2004). Zanoni I *et al* reported that TLR dependent microbial stimuli typically associated with Th-1 responses confer to DCs the ability to activate NK-cells, whereas stimuli associated with Th2 responses did not have this property (Zanoni I *et al*, 2005).

Lipomannans (LM), independent of their mycobacterial origins, were potent inducers of IL-12 and apoptosis. The precursor of LM, phosphatidyl-myo-inositol dimannoside, had no activity, suggesting that the mannan core of LM was required for

the activity of LM. The specific interaction of LM with TLR-2 but not with TLR-4 suggested that these responses were mediated through the TLR-2 signalling pathway (Dao DN *et al*, 2004).

Yarovinsky F *et al* reported that a profilin-like molecule from the protozoan parasite *Toxoplasma gondii* induced potent IL-12 response in murine DCs through TLR-11 and is the first chemically defined ligand for this TLR-11 (Yarovinsky F *et al*, 2005).

Miller LS *et al* (2005) reported that TGFα, a growth and differentiation factor that is present during wound healing, increased the expression of both TLR-5 and TLR-9 on keratinocytes. In addition, TGFα regulated the function of TLR-5 and TLR-9, because activation with their respective ligands enhanced the production of IL-8 and human BDs. Expression of murine BD was upregulated by bacterial lipopeptides in wild type keratinocytes, while it was attenuated in TLR-2 (-/-) deficient keratinocytes. In addition, *S. aureus* inoculated into the tail skin from TLR-2 (-/-) deficient mice that had been grafted on the dorsal skin of syngeneic mice resulted in erosion (Sumikawa Y *et al*, 2006).

Premature newborns are highly susceptible to severe bacterial infections. This is partially due to their immature innate immune system, characterized by decreased neutrophil and monocyte activity as well as by reduced concentrations of complement factors. Foerster-Waldl E *et al* reported that very low birth weight infants have reduced TLR-4 expression was paralleled by significantly diminished *ex vivo* LPS stimulated IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF α secretion into whole blood (Foerster-Waldl E *et al*, 2005).

Martin M *et al* reported that glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3) differentially regulates TLR mediated production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Stimulation of monocytes or PBMCs with TLR-2, TLR-4, TLR-5 or TLR-9 agonists induced substantial increases in IL-10 production, while suppressing the release of proinflammatory cytokines through GSK-3 inhibition (Martin M *et al*, 2005).

Notch signaling is a well-conserved pathway involved in cell fate decisions, proliferation and apoptosis. TLR agonists such as bacterial lipopeptide, polyl:C, LPS and

CpG DNA all induced up-regulation of Notch-1 in primary and macrophage-like cell lines. Notch-1 up-regulation was dependent on the MyD-88 pathway when stimulated through TLR-2, but not TLR-4. Activated Notch-1 and expression of the Notch target genes, Hes-1 and Deltex, were detected in activated macrophages, suggesting that Notch signalling was activated upon stimulation. Inhibiting processing of Notch receptor by gammasecretase using a gamma-secretase inhibitor (GSI), the expression of Notch-1 was down-regulated to basal levels. This treatment significantly modulated expression of TNFa, IL-6, and IL-10. In addition, the amount of NO produced was significantly lower and the expression of MHC class-II was up-regulated in GSI treated cells. Treatment with GSI or silencing Notch-1 resulted in decreased translocation of NF-KB p50 into nucleus upon stimulation (Palaga T et al, 2008). SOCS-3 is a critical negative regulator of cytokine signalling and is induced by *M. bovis* BCG in mouse macrophages. *M. bovis* BCG activated the Notch-1 signalling pathway, leading to the expression of SOCS-3 and perturbation of Notch signalling in infected macrophages results in the marked reduction in the expression of SOCS-3. Enforced expression of the Notch-1 intracellular domain in RAW 264.7 macrophages was sufficient to induce the expression of SOCS-3, which can be further potentiated by *M. bovis* BCG. TLR-2 signalling was shown to play an important role in the above process and perturbation of signalling resulted in marked reduction in SOCS-3 levels and expression of the Notch-1 target gene, Hes-1. The down-regulation of MyD-88 also resulted in a significant decrease in SOCS-3 expression, implicating the role of the TLR2-MyD88 axis in *M. bovis* BCG-triggered signalling (Narayana Y and Balaji KN, 2008).

Focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is a nonreceptor protein tyrosine kinase involved in signalling downstream of integrins, linking bacterial detection, cell entry, and initiation of proinflammatory response through MAPKs and NF-κB activation. Protein-I/II from *Streptococcus mutans*, a model activator of FAK, stimulation was independent of TLR-4, TLR-2, and TLR-6. However, FAK and MyD-88 signalling pathways are interlinked and

MyD-88 dependent. In addition, LPS-induced IL-6 secretion by human and murine fibroblasts required the presence of FAK (Zeisel MB *et al*, 2005).

In human monocytic cells, both muramyldipeptide (MDP; N-acetylmuramyl-lalanyl-d-isoglutamine) MDP and diaminopimelic acid (DAP) containing desmuramylpeptides (DMPs) induced marked synergistic IL-8 secretion in combination with synthetic TLR agonists, and suppression of the mRNA expressions of NOD-1 and NOD-2, respectively, by RNAi specifically inhibited synergistic IL-8 secretion. In human DCs, synergistic Th-1 responses are induced by combined stimulations of synthetic NOD and TLR agonists (Takada H and Uehara A, 2006).

1.7 Nod-Like Receptors

The NLR family is a group of intracellular microbial sensors, which were previously identified as CATERPILLER (CARD, transcription enhancer, R (purine)binding, pyrin, lots of LRRs), shares structural similarity with a subclass of plant disease resistance (R) genes. The human NLR family contains more than 30 proteins, and specific ligands have been identified to date for only a minority of the NLRs. In general, members of this family share a tripartite domain structure that consists of the following: carboxy-terminal LRR domain, which is involved in ligand recognition; a central NOD (also known as a NACHT domain), which facilitates self-oligomerization and has ATPase activity; and an amino-terminal domain that is composed of protein-protein interaction cassettes, such as CARDs or pyrin domains. Although NLR family members that contain CARDs interact with different downstream adaptor molecules than those that contain pyrin domains, they are functionally related in that both types of molecule activate NF- κ B and caspases; in addition, mutations in both CARD-containing and pyrin-domaincontaining NLRs have been linked to inflammatory diseases (Ting JP and Davis BK, 2005; Hoffman HM et al, 2001). The NLR / CATERPILLER family can be separated in to subfamilies such as NOD, CIITA, NALPs and IPAF.

The CIITA is a transcription factor which activates the MHC Class II gene transcription. Three functional forms of CIITA are transcribed from three different promoters and the form which contain CARD domain specifically expressing in DCs. The NACHT and LRR domains are required for self association and function (Tschopp J *et al*, 2003).

The first NLRs reported to be intracellular microbial sensors were NOD-1/CARD-4 and NOD-2/CARD-15, and their activating ligands have been verified as subcomponents of peptidoglycans (PGN), namely D-g-glutamyl-meso-DAP (mDAP) and muramyl dipeptide (MDP), respectively (Girardin SE *et al*, 2003; Girardin SE *et al*, 2003b). NOD-1 and NOD-2 activate NF-kB through the recruitment and oligomerization of receptorinteracting protein-2 (RIP-2), also known as RIP-like interacting CLARP kinase (RICK) and CARD containing ICE-associated kinase (CARDIAK), which results in the activation of the IkB kinase complex (Bertin J *et al*, 1999; Ogura Y *et al*, 2001).

ICE protease (caspase-1) activating factor (IPAF), also known as CARD-12 or CLAN, having an amino terminal CARD, a central NACHT and carboxy terminal LRRs, however, it lacks the NOD domain. IPAF has been reported to associated with CARD containing proteins such as adaptor protein apoptosis associated speck like (ASC/PYCARD), NOD-2, BCL-10, NALP-1 and activates caspase-1 through inflammasome formation (Poyet JL *et al*, 2001; Geddes BJ *et al*, 2001). Neuronal Apoptosis Inhibitor Protein (NAIP) is also included in this subfamily because of high sequence similarities of the NACHT and LRR domains. The removal of LRRs makes these proteins constitutively active, of which IPAF is caspase activator and NAIP inhibits caspase activity (Poyet JL *et al*, 2001; Liston P *et al*, 1996).

The NALP subfamily, also known as PANs or PYPAFs, constitute the largest group among NLRs. This is composed of NALP-1 to NALP-14 and characterized by the presence of an amino terminal PYD, central NOD/NACHT and carboxy terminal LRRs.

However NALP-1 contains two additional domains at the carobxy terminal including a CARD and function to find domain (Tschopp J *et al,* 2003).

1.8 NLRs in inflammasomes

ASC or PYCARD is a protein that is essential for LPS-induced activation of caspase-1, because ASC knockout mice fail to process procaspase-1 or produce IL-1ß and IL-18 following LPS and ATP stimulation, which is consistent with results in Caspase-1 null mice (Mariathasan S et al, 2004; Li P et al, 1995; Kuida K et al, 1995). Structurally, ASC consists of a CARD domain at its C-terminus and a PYD at its Nterminus, making it a bi-partite adaptor molecule involved in recruiting caspase-1 into activation complexes. To date, the NLRs NALP-1, NALP-3 and IPAF have been implicated in ASC-containing, caspase-1 activating complexes, termed inflammasomes (Martinon F and Tschopp J, 2004; Martinon F et al, 2002). Following stimulation, NALP-1 is thought to assemble an inflammasome complex consisting of NALP-1, ASC, caspase-1 and caspase-5 (Martinon F et al, 2002). NALP-1 contains an N-terminal PYD, an NBD followed by LRRs and a CARD domain at its C-terminus. It is thought that the LRRs of NALP1 recognize a 'danger signal', resulting in the self-association of NALP1 and the activation of caspases-1 and -5 and subsequent processing of IL-1b. Interestingly, a murine NALP-1 variant, NALP-1b, which lacks the N-terminal PYD, seems to become activated in response to anthrax lethal toxin (Boyden ED and Dietrich WF, 2006).

The NALP-3 protein (also known as Cryopyrin) is structurally similar to NALP-1 except it lacks the C terminal CARD sequence. NALP-3 forms an inflammasome complex through association with NALP-2, ASC, Cardinal and caspase-1 (Agostini L *et al*, 2004). The importance of NALP-3 in the inflammatory process has become apparent with the discovery that mutations within the gene encoding NALP3 are responsible for three autoinflammatory disorders: Muckle-Wells syndrome (MWS), familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome (FCAS) and chronic infantile neurological cutaneous and articular syndrome (CINCA), all of which respond well to treatment with the IL-1 receptor



Fig.5 Domain structures of NLR/CATERPILLER proteins: AD-activation domain, BIR-baculovirus IAP repeat, CARD-caspase recruitment domain, CIITA-class II transactivator, FIIND-domain with function to find, LRRs-leucine rich repeats, NAD-NACHT associated domain, NAIP-neuronal apoptosis inhibitor protein, NB-ARC-nucleotide binding APAF-1, plant *R* gene products and CED-4 domain, NOD-nucleotide binding oligomerization domain, PYD-pyrin domain, WD-40- WD-40 repeat region (Tschopp J *et al*, 2003).

antagonist, validating the role of NALP-3 in the regulation of caspase-1 (Agostini L *et al*, 2004). Macrophages deficient in NALP-3, ASC or caspase-1 were unable to secrete IL-1b in response to all of these stimuli, indicating that each of these molecules is required for inflammasome activation in these conditions. It is unlikely that these various stimuli can all activate NALP-3 directly; more probably, a common intracellular 'danger signal', such as endogenously generated uric acid is activated by these stimuli to trigger NALP-3 activation (Shi Y *et al*, 2003).

IPAF, another NLR family member with a similar structure to NOD1, is the adaptor protein involved in inflammasome assembly following infection with Salmonella, because IPAF-deficient macrophages are resistant to infection by S. typhimurium (Mariathasan S *et al*, 2004). IPAF has recently been identified to be required for flagellin to activate caspase-1 and induce IL-1 β production. Salmonella strains deficient in flagellin were unable to activate caspase-1 and induce IL-1 β (Miao EA *et al*, 2006; Franchi L *et al*, 2006). The NLR responsible for detecting and activating caspase-1 in response to *F. tularensis* has yet to be identified, although NALP-3 and IPAF have not been involved (Kanneganti TD *et al*, 2006). Other NLRs implicated in caspase-1 activation are neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein-5 (NAIP-5), also known as baculoviral IAP repeat-containing protein-1 (BIRC-1), and NALP-6 (Zamboni DS *et al*, 2006). NALP-6 (also known as Pyrincontaining Apaf-1-like protein, PYPAF5) synergistically activates caspase-1 following overexpression with ASC; however, this needs to be confirmed at endogenous levels (Grenier JM *et al*, 2002).

1.9 NLRs and its ligands in Bacterial Infections and Inflammations

Researches have brought forward the essential role of cytoplasmic PRRs on recognition of internalized PAMPs and transducing signals for a pro-inflammatory reaction intended to ward off infection. NOD-1/CARD4 and NOD-2/CARD15 proteins are the two early identified members of this growing family. In the beginning of this decade, Inohara N *et al* reported that HEK-293 cells expressing traces of NOD-1 and NOD-2 have activated NF-κB in a TLR-4/MyD88 independent way when treated with LPS (Inohara N *et al*, 2001). Followed by, Girardin SE *et al* (2001) reported that *S. flexneri* infection enhanced NOD-1oligomerization and expression of dominant-negative versions of NOD-1 blocked the activation of NF-κB and JNK by *S. flexneri* as well as microinjected LPS in epithelial cells. They also showed that invasive *S. flexneri* triggers the formation of a transient complex involving NOD-1, RIP-2/RICK and the IKK complex. RIP-2 (-/-)

deficient mice exhibited a profoundly decreased ability to defend against infection by the intracellular pathogen L. monocytogenes and also resistant to the lethal effects of LPS induced endotoxic shock. RIP-2 (-/-) deficient macrophages infected with L. monocytogenes or treated with LPS have decreased activation of NF-KB, whereas dominant negative RIP-2 inhibited NF-kB activation mediated by TLR-4 and NOD-1. In addition, RIP-2 deficiency resulted in impaired IFNy production in both Th-1 and NK-cells (Chin AI et al, 2002). RIP-2 was reported to be recruited for downstream signalling of TLR-2/-3/-4 but not TLR-9. RIP-2 (-/-) deficient cells were also hypo-responsive to signalling through IL-1 and IL-18 receptors, and deficient for signalling through NOD proteins. It has also been noted that, RIP-2 (-/-) deficient T-cells showed severely reduced NF-kB activation, IL-2 production and proliferation on TCR engagement, and impaired differentiation to Th-1 cells. Thus RIP-2 seems to function as a crucial a signal transducer and integrator of signals for both the innate and adaptive immune systems (Kobayashi K et al, 2002). Girardin SE et al reported that human NOD-1 specifically detects a unique diaminopimelate-containing N-acetylglucosamine-N-acetylmuramic acid (GlcNAc-MurNAc) tripeptide motif found in Gram-negative bacterial PGN, resulting in activation of the transcription factor NF-KB pathway (Girardin SE et al, 2003). At the same time, Chamaillard M et al reported that NOD-1 mediates the recognition of PGN derived primarily from Gram-negative bacteria and the core structure recognized by NOD-1 is a dipeptide, gamma-D-glutamyl-meso-diaminopimelic acid (iE-DAP) (Chamaillard M et al, 2003). Hisamatsu T et al reported that IFNy induced NOD-1 mRNA expression and thereby augmented NOD-1 protein level in an IRF-1 dependent manner in SW480 intestinal epithelial cells (Hisamatsu T et al, 2003). Stable expression of dominant negative NOD-1 in colon epithelial cells prevented I-kB kinase and NF-kB activation in response to infection with enteroinvasive E. coli. However, dominant negative NOD-1 did not eliminate IL-1 or flagellin stimulated NF-kB activation (Kim JG et al, 2004).
Inohara N et al reported that muramyl dipeptide (MurNAc-L-Ala-D-isoGln) derived from PGN is the essential structure in bacteria recognized by NOD-2 and replacement of L-Ala for D-Ala or D-isoGln for L-isoGln eliminated the ability of muramyl dipeptide to stimulate NOD-2. PBMCs from individuals homozygous for the major disease associated L1007fsinsC NOD-2 mutation, which associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease, responded to LPS but not to synthetic muramyl dipeptide (Inohara N et al, 2003). NOD-2 is a general sensor of PGN through the recognition of MDP, activates the NF-KB pathway following intracellular stimulation. The 3020insC frameshift mutation, the most frequent NOD-2 variant associated with Crohn's disease patients, fully abrogates NOD-2 dependent detection of PGN and MDP (Girardin SE et al, 2003). Amino terminal and carboxy terminal LRRs play distinct roles in the modulation of NOD-2 activation and bacterial recognition and within the carboxy terminal LRRs, variable residues predicted to form the β -strand/ β -turn structure were found to be essential for the response to MDP (Tanabe T et al, 2004). Netea MG et al demonstrated that PBMCs from patients with 3020insC frameshift-mutation in the NOD-2 gene associated with Crohn's disease results in defective release of IL-10 after stimulation with the TLR-2 ligands, PGN and Pam3Cys-KKKK, but not with TLR-4 ligand, bacterial LPS (Netea MG et al, 2004). NOD-2 mRNA was expressed in intestinal epithelial cell lines and primary intestinal epithelial cells and the survival of S. typhimurium in CACO-2 cells stably transfected with NOD-2 expression plasmid was lower than un-transfected CACO-2 cells or mock transfectant (Hisamatsu T et al, 2003). Mutations in NOD-1 and NOD-2 are associated with a number of human inflammatory disorders, including Crohn's disease, Blau syndrome, early-onset sarcoidosis, and atopic diseases (Tattoli I et al, 2007). Chron's Disease is associated with the three main NOD-2 mutations namely R702W, G908R and 1007fs (Hugot JP et al, 2003). A NOD-2 variant from patients introduced in the mouse NOD-2 locus and that exhibited elevated NF-kB activation in response to MDP and more efficient processing and secretion of the cytokine IL-1ß (Maeda S et al, 2005). NOD-2 is required for

recognition of PGN and this leads to strong synergistic effects on TLR-2 mediated production of both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and also modulates signals transmitted through TLR-4 and TLR-3, but not through TLR-5, TLR-9, or TLR-7 (Netea MG *et al*, 2005).

Streptococcus pneumoniae, the major cause of community-acquired pneumonia and bacterial meningitis, has been shown to transiently invade epithelial and endothelial cells. Opitz B et al reported that NF-kB activation induced by S. pneumoniae depends on NOD-2 in HEK293 cells and over-expression of dominant negative constructs of IRAK-1, IRAK-2, TRAF-6, NF-KB inducing kinase, TAB-2 and TAK-1 also inhibited NOD-2 dependent NF-kB activation. In addition, in C57BL/6 mouse lung tissue in vivo as well as in the bronchial epithelial cell line BEAS-2B, NOD-1 and NOD-2 mRNA expressions were up-regulated after pneumococcal infection (Opitz B et al, 2004). Studies using highly purified PGs from eight bacteria such as E. coli, P. aeruginosa, Y. pseudotuberculosis, H. pylori, B. subtilis, L. monocytogenes, S. pneumoniae and S. aureus, have revealed that these PGs are not sensed through TLR-2, TLR-2/-1 or TLR-2/-6 and suggested PG detection occur through NOD-1/NOD-2 intracellularly (Travassos LH et al, 2004). Seroepidemiological and animal studies, as well as demonstration of viable bacteria in atherosclerotic plaques, have linked Chlamydophila pneumoniae infection to development of chronic vascular lesions and coronary heart disease. In endothelial cells infected with viable C. pneumoniae, but not with heat inactivated bacteria, activated the cell and RNAi of NOD-1 gene reduced C. pneumoniae induced IL-8 release markedly. In HEK-293 cells, over-expressed NOD-1 or NOD-2 amplified the capacity of C pneumoniae to induce NF-kB activation and heat-inactivated bacteria were able to induce a NF-kB reporter gene activity through NOD proteins when internalized, but not from the extracellular side (Opitz B et al, 2005).

In vitro analysis showed that NOD-2 expression levels did not change significantly in mononuclear cells stimulated with *M. tuberculosis* antigens. There was a variable

result for NOD-2 expression among patients, no significant differences in NOD-2 transcriptional responses were detected in patients and controls but expression was markedly increased in some patients. However, NOD-2 mRNA levels increased significantly after completion of anti-tuberculosis treatment (Lala S et al, 2007). Macrophages and DCs from NOD-2 (-/-) deficient mice were impaired in the production of proinflammatory cytokines and NO following infection with live, virulent M. tuberculosis. Mycolylarabinogalactan peptidoglycan (PGN), the cell wall core of M. tuberculosis, stimulated macrophages to release TNFa and IL-12p40 in a partially NOD-2 dependent manner, and *M. tuberculosis* PGN required NOD-2 for the optimal induction of TNFa. In addition, mice deficient for NOD-2 (-/-) and doubly deficient for TLR-2 (-/-) and NOD-2 (-/-) were similarly able to control an *M. tuberculosis* infection (Gandotra S et al, 2007). Divangahi M et al (2008) reported that analysis of the lungs after four weeks of M. tuberculosis BCG infection demonstrated that NOD-2 (-/-) mice had decreased production of type 1 cytokines and reduced recruitment of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺-T cells. Antigen specific T-cell responses in both the spleens and thoracic lymph nodes were diminished in NOD-2 (-/-) deficient mice, indicating impaired adaptive antimycobacterial immunity. In addition, bacterial burden after six months of aerosol infection with M. tuberculosis in NOD-2 (-/-) deficient mice were high and succumbed to death sooner than did wild-type controls.

Mice deficient in NOD-2 are more susceptible to *S. aureus* and increased susceptibility is due in part to defective neutrophil phagocytosis, elevated serum levels of Th-1 cytokines, and higher bacterial tissue burden (Deshmukh HS *et al*, 2009). Clearance of encapsulated *H. influenzae* required both TLR and NOD signalling pathways, whereas individual deficiencies in each of these signaling cascades did not affect clearance of non-encapsulated strains (Zola TA *et al*, 2008). Depletion of the gut microbiota suppressed tumour development in NOD-1 (-/-) deficient mice, thus highlighting a link between the commensal bacteria within the intestine and the host

innate immune NOD-1 signalling pathway in the regulation inflammation mediated colon cancer development (Chen GY *et al*, 2008).

PBMCs preincubated with NOD-2 ligands were specifically down-regulated the production of TNFα induced by the TLR-4 ligand LPS, as well as by intestinal microorganisms, whereas the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines was not modulated. PBMCs from patients with Crohn's disease having the wild type NOD-2 allele, the NOD-2 engagement led to a similar cross-tolerance to TLR-4 dependent stimulation of TNFa, however, the cross-tolerance between NOD-2 and TLR-4 was absent in the cells of five patients homozygous for the 3020insC NOD-2 mutation, leading to uninhibited release of TNFa by TLR-4 ligands and intestinal bacteria (Kullberg BJ et al, 2008). Hedl M et al (2007) very recently reported that pretreatment with MDP, a ligand for NOD-2, significantly decreased production of the proinflammatory cytokines TNFα, IL-8, and IL-1β upon NOD-2, TLR-4, and TLR-2 re-stimulation in primary human monocyte-derived macrophages from a large cohort of individuals. In addition, acute NOD-2 stimulation induced IRAK-1 activation, and that chronic MDP treatment downregulated IRAK-1 activation upon NOD-2 or TLR-4 re-stimulation and in a subset of individuals, chronic NOD-2 stimulation induced expression of the IRAK-1 inhibitory protein IRAK-M.

Synthetic peptidoglycan fragments, diaminopimelic acid (DAP)-containing desmuramylpeptides (DMP) and muramyldipeptide (MDP), induced secretion of IL-8 in a dose-dependent manner in human monocytic THP-1 cells, although high concentrations of compounds are required as compared with chemically synthesized TLR agonists mimicking like TLR-2 agonistic lipopeptide (Pam3CSSNA), TLR-4 agonistic lipid A (LA-15-PP) and TLR-9 agonistic bacterial CpG DNA. MDP or DAP-containing DMP in combination with synthetic TLR agonists synergistically induced the secretion of IL-8. NOD-1 and NOD-2 silencing through RNAi specifically inhibited the synergistic IL-8 secretion, through suppression of NF-κB activation, induced by DMP and MDP with

these TLR agonists respectively (Uehara A *et al*, 2005). The stimulation of DCs with NOD-2 agonist (MDP) and NOD-1 agonist (FK565) in combination with TLR-4 agonist (lipid A), TLR-3 agonist (polyI:C), and TLR-9 agonist (CpG DNA), but not with TLR-2 agonist (Pam3CSSNA), synergistically induced IL-12p70 and IFNγ, but not IL-18, in culture supernatants and induced IL-15 on the cell surface (Tada H *et al*, 2005). Synthesized meso-DAP itself activated human epithelial cells from various tissues, through NOD-1 to generate antibacterial factors, PGN recognition proteins and BD-2, and cytokines in specified cases, although the activities of meso-DAP were generally weaker than those of known NOD agonists. In human monocytic cells, in the presence of cytochalasin-D, meso-DAP induced slightly but significantly increased production of cytokines, although the cells did not respond to meso-DAP in the absence of cytochalasin-D (Uehara A *et al*, 2006). IFNγ primed murine macrophages induced NO production when stimulated with synthetic MDP and depends on IFNγ induced expression and dissociation from the actin cytoskeleton of NOD-2 within the cell (Toetemeyer S *et al*, 2006).

Pan Q *et al* reported that NOD-2 bound NF-κB inducing kinase (NIK) mediated induction of specific changes by the NOD-2 activator, MDP, and also revealed a role for NIK in the synergistic effect of both NOD-2 and TLR-4 pathways when activated by their respective agonists. NIK induction through NOD-2 agonist has specifically induced B-cell chemoattractant known as BLC (Pan Q *et al*, 2006). Bacteria, but not virus, primed human DCs induced IL-17 production in Th cells through NOD-2 ligand, MDP and this also enhanced obligate bacterial TLR agonist induction of IL-23 and IL-1, which promoted IL-17 expression in T-cells and thereby the development of antibacterial Th-17 cells (van Beelen AJ *et al*, 2007). Kim YG *et al* (2008) reported that macrophages or mice made insensitive to TLRs by previous exposure to microbial ligands remained responsive to NOD-1 and NOD-2 stimulation and also found that NOD-1 and NOD-2 mediated signalling and gene expression are enhanced in TLR-tolerant macrophages.

This study revealed that innate immune responses induced by bacterial infection relied on NOD-1 and NOD-2 and their adaptor RIP2/RICK in macrophages pretreated with TLR ligands but not in naive macrophages.

Kim JY *et al* (2008) reported that TAK-1 is an essential intermediate of NOD-2 signalling and found that TAK-1 deletion completely abolished MDP-NOD-2 signalling, activation of NF-κB and MAPKs, and subsequent induction of cytokines/chemokines and also MDP induced NOD-2 expression in keratinocytes. Mice with epidermis specific deletion of TAK-1 developed severe inflammatory conditions and this showing that TAK-1 and NOD-2 signalling are important for maintaining normal homeostasis of the skin.

Complexing of NOD-2 with Erbin reported to function as a negative regulator of NOD-2 and show that bacterial infection has an impact on NOD-2/Erbin complex formation within cells. Ectopic expression of increasing amounts of Erbin or short hairpin RNA-mediated knockdown of Erbin showed a negative influence of Erbin on NOD-2/MDP mediated NF-κB activation (Kufer TA *et al*, 2006). Using *S. flexneri* as a model for physiological activation of NOD-1, it has been reported that NOD-1 is recruited to the site of bacterial entry and there it colocalizes with NEMO. Signalling-inactive mutants of NOD-1 or disruption of the actin cytoskeleton interferes with this localization pattern and impacts on downstream NF-κB activation (Kufer TA *et al*, 2008).

RIP2/RICK is a kinase that has early been implicated in NOD-1 and NOD-2 signalling. Park JH *et al* showed that macrophages and mice lacking RIP2/RICK are defective in their responses to NOD-1 and NOD-2 agonists but exhibited unimpaired responses to synthetic and highly purified TLR agonists. Stimulation of macrophages with muramyl dipeptide, the NOD-2 activator, enhanced immune responses induced by LPS, IFNγ, and heat-killed *Listeria* in wild-type but not in RIP2/RICK or NOD-2-deficient macrophages (Park JH *et al*, 2007). Werts C *et al* reported that activation of both NOD-1 and NOD-2 led to substantial secretion of CCL-5 by murine macrophages and the

intraperitoneal injection of murine NOD-1 or NOD-2 agonists resulted in a rapid secretion of CCL-5 into the bloodstream (Werts C *et al*, 2007).

Other cytosolic NLRs assemble caspase-1 activating multiprotein complexes termed inflammasomes and caspase-12 reported to modulate the caspase-1 inflammasome. Caspase-12 dampens mucosal immunity to bacterial infection independent of its effects on caspase-1. Caspase-12 deficiency enhanced production of antimicrobial peptides, cytokines, and chemokines to enteric pathogens, an effect dependent on bacterial T3SS and the NOD pathway. It was also showed that caspase-12 binds to RIP-2, displacing TRAF-6 from the signalling complex, inhibiting its ubiquitin ligase activity, and thereby blunting NF-κB activation (LeBlanc PM *et al,* 2008).

Human peripheral blood NK-cells expressed NOD-2 and responded to MDP through internalization of MDP, leading to direct cell activation, including signalling through NF- κ B. MDP synergizes with IFN α and IL-12 to activate NK-cells and stimulated IFN γ secretion. Although IL-12 co-stimulation leads to a greater IFN γ response by NK-cells, higher levels of CD69 in response to MDP are induced in the presence of IFN α . However, MDP alone or in combination with either IFN α or IL-12 poorly increased NK-cell cytotoxicity (Athie-Morales V *et al*, 2008).

Increased cell surface CD-14, TLR-2, TLR-4 and intracellular TLR-3, TLR-7, TLR-8, TLR-9, NOD-1 and NOD-2 expressions were found in human monocytic THP-1 cells treated anti proteinase-3 (PR-3) and markedly promoted the release of IL-8 induced by chemically synthesized TLR and NOD ligands. The anti-PR-3 antibody mediated cell activation was significantly abolished by RNAi targeted at PR-3 mRNA and by inhibition of phospholipase-C and NF-κB (Uehara A *et al*, 2007).

Bacillus anthracis infection and anthrax lethal toxin induced IL-1 β secretion in a manner that depended on caspase-1 and NOD-2 (Hsu LC *et al,* 2008). Macrophages rendered refractory to TLR-4 and NOD-2 signalling by exposure to LPS and MDP exhibit impaired TNF α and IL-6 production in response to pathogenic *L. monocytogenes* and *Y.*

pseudotuberculosis as well as commensal bacteria including *E. coli* and *Bacteroides fragilis*. Whereas, NOD-2 null macrophages tolerant to LPS and MDP showed enhanced production of TNFα and IL-6 as well as increased NF-κB and MAPK activation in response to the dipeptide KF1B, the NOD-1 agonist. In addition, reduced tolerization of NOD-2 (-/-) deficient macrophages in response to bacteria was abolished when mutant macrophages were also rendered tolerant to the NOD-1 ligand (Kim YG *et al*, 2008). Clark NM *et al* (2008) reported that a MAP-3-K, MEKK-4, bound to RIP-2 to sequester RIP-2 from the NOD-2 signalling pathway. This MEKK-4/RIP-2 complex dissociated upon exposure to the NOD-2 agonist, MDP, allowing NOD-2 to bind to RIP-2 and activate NF-κB. Interestingly, Crohn's-disease-associated NOD-2 polymorphisms cannot compete with MEKK-4 for RIP-2 binding. MEKK-4 deficient macrophages exposed to MDP exhibited increased NF-κB activity, absent p38 activity, and hypo-responsiveness to TLR-2 and TLR-4 agonists.

A crucial part of the innate immune response is the assembly of the inflammasome, a cytosolic complex of proteins that activated caspase-1 to process the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1β and IL-18. Caspase-1 cleaves the inactive pro IL-1β and IL-18 precursors into active inflammatory cytokines in *Salmonella* infected macrophages and also mediates a pathway of proinflammatory programmed cell death termed "pyroptosis." Caspase-1 diffusely distributed in the cytoplasm and localized in discrete foci within macrophages responding to either *Salmonella* infection or intoxication by *B. anthracis* lethal toxin. *B. anthracis* lethal toxin activation of caspase-1 is known to require the inflammasome adapter NALP-1, while *Salmonella* infection activated caspase-1 through an independent pathway requiring the inflammasome adapter IPAF. Pyroptosis, caspase-1-dependent cell death, featuring DNA cleavage, cytokine activation, and, ultimately and cell lysis resulting from the formation of membrane pores between 1.1 and 2.4 nm in diameter and pathological ion fluxes (Fink SL *et al*, 2008). In the inflammasome complex, NALP-3 or NALP-1 binds to ASC and activates caspase-1

which induces IL-1 β . Infiltrated leukocytes producing IL-1 β in the anterior chamber were found after 12-hour of LPS treatment and up-regulated expression of NALP-3, ASC, caspase-1, IL-1 β , and IL-18 was also observed (Gonzalez-Benitez JF *et al*, 2008).

Live *Fusobacterium nucleatum* induced both BD-2 and -3 efficiently, whereas heat-killed bacteria induced only BD -3 at a reduced level in immortalized human gingival epithelial HOK-16B cells. Silencing of NALP-2, the most abundant intracellular PRR in HOK-16B cells, by RNAi significantly reduced the induction of BD -3 but not BD-2 and IL-8 (Ji S *et al*, 2008).

Caspase-1 activation and cytokine processing and release were late events inhibited by elevated levels of KCI and sucrose, by potassium channel blockers, and by proteasome inhibitors, suggesting that inflammasome formation requires a proteindegradation event and occurs downstream of anthrax lethal toxin mediated potassium efflux. NALP-3 inflammasome formation in anthrax lethal toxin resistant macrophages did not sensitize cells to the same, and this shows that general caspase-1 activation cannot account for sensitivity to anthrax lethal toxin and that a NALP-1b mediated event is specifically required for death (Wickliffe KE *et al*, 2008). *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* is an obligate intracellular pathogen that resides within neutrophils and can cause fever, pancytopenia, or death. ASC and Caspase-1 regulates the IFNγ during *A. phagocytophilum* infection, which plays a critical role in the control of infection. In addition, caspas-1 (-/-) and ASC (-/-) deficient mice were more susceptible than control animals to *A. phagocytophilum* infection due to the absence of IL-18 secretion and reduced IFNγ levels in the peripheral blood and also exhibited reduced CD4⁺T-cell mediated IFNγ after in vitro restimulation with *A. phagocytophilum* (Pedra JH *et al*, 2007).

Muruve DA *et al* (2008) very recently reported that internalized adenoviral DNA induces maturation of pro-IL-1 β in macrophages, which is dependent on NALP-3 and ASC, components of the inflammasome. Inflammasome activation also occurs as a result of transfected cytosolic bacterial, viral and mammalian (host) DNA, but in this case

sensing is dependent on ASC but not NALP-3 and this DNA sensing proinflammatory pathway functions independently of TLRs and IRFs.

L. monocytogenes escapes from the phagosome of macrophages and replicates within the cytosolic compartment. Cytosolic *L. monocytogenes* activates caspase 1, resulting in post-translational processing of the cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 as well as caspase 1-dependent cell death (pyroptosis) through multiple NOD-like receptors, including IPAF and NALP-3. Flagellin expression by cytosolic *L. monocytogenes* was detected through IPAF and this promoted bacterial clearance in a murine infection model (Warren SE *et al*, 2008).

Exocytosis of lysosomes from macrophages has been described as a response to microbial cytotoxins and haemolysins, as well as for releasing proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 during inflammasome activation. The mycobacterial ESX-1 secretion system, encoded in part by the Region of Difference-1, is a virulence factor necessary for phagosome escape and host cell lysis by a contact-dependent haemolysin in *M. marinum*. Recently it has been reported that ESX-1 from *M. marinum* and *M. tuberculosis* was required for Ca²⁺dependent induction of lysosome secretion from macrophages. Mycobacteria induced lysosome secretion was concurrent to release of IL-1 β and IL-18, dependent on phagocytosis of bacteria containing ESX-1. Synthesis but not release of IL-1 β and IL-18 occurred in response to dead bacilli and bacteria lacking ESX-1, indicating that only cytokine release was regulated by ESX-1 and inflammasome components caspase-1, ASC and NALP-3, but not IPAF, were also required for release of IL-1 β and IL-18 (Kool IC *et al*, 2008).

IPAF was initially identified as autocatalytic activator of procaspase-1 and caspase-1-dependent apoptosis in transfected cells in response to pro-inflammatory and apoptotic stimuli (Poyet JL *et al,* 2001). IPAF (-/-) deficient macrophages activated caspase-1 in response to TLR plus ATP stimulation but not with *S. typhimurium* (Mariathasan S *et al,* 2004). Two years later, Franchi L *et al* reported that Salmonella

strains either lacking flagellin or expressing mutant flagellin were deficient in activation of caspase-1 and in IL-1β secretion, although transcription factor NF-κB dependent production of IL-6 or the chemokine MCP-1 was unimpaired. It was found that detection of flagellin through IPAF induced caspase-1 activation independently of TLR-5 in salmonella infected and LPS tolerized macrophages (Franchi L et al, 2006). Stimulation of the IPAF pathway in macrophages after infection required a functional Salmonella pathogenicity island-1 T3SS but not the flagellar T3SS and also IPAF activation could be restored by the introduction of purified flagellin directly into the cytoplasm (Miao EA et al, 2006). Mouse macrophages lacking the NLR protein IPAF or its downstream effector caspase-1 were permissive to intracellular Legionella replication. The presence of flagellin and a competent T4SS are critical for Legionella to activate caspase-1 and a Legionella mutant lacking flagellin did not activate caspase-1. In the absence of IPAF or caspase-1 activation, the Legionella containing phagosome acquired endoplasmic reticulum-derived vesicles, avoided fusion with the lysosome, and allowed Legionella replication (Amer A et al, 2006). Similar to IPAF and caspase-1, the NLR protein NAIP-5 restricted intracellular proliferation of L. pneumophila, the causative agent of a severe form of pneumonia known as Legionnaires' disease. However, cytosolic delivery of recombinant flagellin activated caspase-1 in A/J macrophages carrying a mutant NAIP-5 allele, and in C57BL/6 (B6) macrophages congenic for the mutant NAIP-5 allele (B6-NAIP-5(A/J), but not in IPAF (-/-) deficient cells (Lamkanfi M et al, 2007). Flagellin deficient L. pneumophila replicate more efficiently in human THP-1 macrophages, primary monocyte-derived macrophages, and alveolar macrophages, and in A-549 lung epithelial cells compared with wild-type bacteria. Gene silencing of NAIP or IPAF in macrophages or of NAIP in lung epithelial cells leads to an enhanced bacterial growth, and overexpression of both molecules strongly reduces Legionella replication (Vinzing M et al, 2008).

1.10 Helicobacter pylori: History, Taxonomy, Genome and Culture

The real history of gastric pathogen H. pylori is very short and starts in 1983 when Barry Marshall and Robin Warren described the successful isolation and culture of a spiral bacterial species from the human stomach (Warren JR and Marshall BJ, 1983). However the presence of bacteria in stomach of animlas and humans were reported in the late 19th and early 20th centuries by several investigators (Bizzozero G, 1893; Pel PK, 1899; Krienitz W, 1906; Luger A, 1917). The etiological role of these bacteria in the development of peptic ulcer disease and gastric cancer was considered at the time, and patients were sometimes even treated with high doses of the antimicrobial compound bismuth. This possibility was later discarded as irrelevant, probably because of the high prevalence of these spiral bacteria in the stomachs of persons without any clinical signs. The bacteria observed in human stomachs were thus considered to be bacterial overgrowth or food contaminants until the early 1980s. At this time, Warren and Marshall performed their groundbreaking experiments, leading to the identification of a bacterium in 58 of 100 consecutive patients, with successful culture and later demonstration of eradication of the infection with bismuth and either amoxicillin or tinidazole (Marshall BJ et al, 1985a; Marshall BJ et al, 1985b; Marshall BJ et al, 1987; Marshall BJ and Warren JR, 1984). The organism was initially named "Campylobacter- like organism," "gastric Campylobacter-like organism," "Campylobacter pyloridis," and "Campylobacter pylori" and finally named Helicobacter pylori in recognition of the fact that this organism is distinct from members of the genus Campylobacter (Goodwin CS et al, 1989). Selfingestion experiments by Marshall and Morris and later experiments with volunteers demonstrated that these bacteria can colonize the human stomach, thereby inducing inflammation of the gastric mucosa. Marshall developed a transient gastritis after ingestion of *H. pylori*; the case described by Morris developed into a more persistent gastritis, which resolved after sequential therapy with first doxycycline and then bismuth

subsalicylate (Marshall BJ *et al,* 1985b; Morris A and Nicholson G, 1987; Morris AJ *et al,* 1991). Extensive research on this bacterium after the initial identification showed that gastric colonization with *H. pylori* can lead to variety of upper gastrointestinal disorders, such as chronic gastritis, peptic ulcer disease, gastric mucosa associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma, and gastric cancer. All these data generated in few decades have changed the way how the world looks for gastric pathologies and greatly advanced the treatment and curing of these pathologies. In honour of this great achievement, 2005 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine was awarded to Robin Warren and Barry Marshall for their "discovery of the bacterium *Helicobacter pylori* and its role in gastritis and peptic ulcer disease."

H. pylori belongs to ε subdivision of the Proteobacteria, order Campylobacterales, family Helicobacteraceae. H. pylori is gram-negative, measuring 2 to 4 µm in length and 0.5 to 1 µm in width, usually spiral-shaped, the bacterium can also appear as a rod, while coccoid shapes appear after prolonged in vitro culture or antibiotic treatment (Kusters JG et al, 1997). The organism has 2 to 6 unipolar, sheathed flagella of approximately 3 µm in length, which often carries a distinctive bulb at the end. The flagella confer motility and allow rapid movement in viscous solutions such as the mucus layer overlying the gastric epithelial cells (O' Toole PW et al, 2000). H. pylori is microaerophilic and prefers O₂ concentration of 2 to 5% and a CO₂ concentration of 5 to 10% for optimal growth at 37°C and neutral pH of the medium, however it can also grow at the relatively narrow pH range of 5.5 to 8.0 and temperature range of 34 to 40°C. H. pylori is a fastidious organism and requires complex media for growth. Solid media for H. pylori growth usually based on Colombia or Brucella agar supplemented with sheep blood or horse serum or, alternatively, newborn or fetal calf serum. Supplements such as βcyclodextrins or IsoVitaleX, or activated charcoal were also using to protect against the toxic effects of long-chain fatty acids (Taneera J et al, 2002). Primary isolation and routine culture often used antibiotic supplements such as Dent supplement, which

consists of vancomycin, trimethoprim, cefsoludin, and amphotericin B (Dent JC and McNulty CA, 1988), or Skirrow supplement, which consists of vancomycin, trimethoprim, polymyxin B, and amphotericin B (Skirrow MB, 1977). Liquid media usually consist of brucella, Mueller-Hinton, or brain heart infusion broth supplemented with 2 to 10% calf serum or horse serum 0.2 to 1.0% β -cyclodextrins, often together with either Dent or Skirrow supplement. Most of the commercially available tissue culture media do not support the growth of *H. pylori* without the addition of serum, with the exception of Ham's F-12 nutrient mixture (Testerman TL *et al*, 2001).

The size of the two sequenced *H. pylori* genomes is approximately 1.7 Mbp, with a G+C content of 35 to 40%. The H. pylori strain 26695 genome includes 1,587 genes, whereas the genome of strain J99 includes only 1,491 genes (Tomb JF et al, 1997; Alm RA et al, 1999; Boneca IG et al, 2003). Both genomes contain two copies of the 16S, 23S, and 5S rRNA genes. Many strains carry one or more cryptic plasmids, which do not seem to carry antibiotic resistance genes or virulence genes (Heuermann D and Haas R, 1995). H. pylori is genetically heterogeneous and this is possibly an adaptation of H. pylori to the gastric conditions of its host, as well as to the distinct patterns of the hostmediated immune response to *H. pylori* infection (Kuipers EJ et al, 2000). This high level of genetic heterogeneity thought to occur due to DNA exchanges and thereby addition or deletion of nucleotide sequences. These portions have aberrant G+C content and often carry virulence genes and the cag Pathogenecity Island (cagPAI) of H. pylori encodes 31 proteins is thought to be acquired through that way and other plasticity regions also reported in the pathogenesis of H. pylori (Santos A et al, 2003; Lehours P et al, 2004; de Jonge R et al, 2004; Suerbaum S and Achtman M, 2004). It has been reported that virulence genes, such as adhesion factor and outer membrane protein encoding genes and LPS biosynthetic enzymes display reversible phenotypic diversity through transcriptional and translational phase variation and mutation (Appelmelk BJ et al, 1999; Aspholm-Hurtig M et al, 2004; de Jonge R et al, 2004b; Mahdavi J et al, 2002).

1.11 Epidemiology and Clinical Conditions Associated with *H. pylori*

Over half of the world's population is infected with *H. pylori*, with the highest rates in developing countries (Rothenbacher D and Brenner H, 2003). Infections occur in early childhood and persist for decades in the absence of targeted antimicrobial therapy. In developing world childhood prevalence is more than developed country children. However, the colonization of *H. pylori* with increasing age increased in developed countries. Within geographical areas, the prevalence of *H. pylori* inversely correlates with socioeconomic status, in particular in relation to living conditions during childhood (Perez-Perez GI *et al*, 2004; Perez-Perez GI *et al*, 2005; Malaty HM and Graham DY, 1994). This low prevalence in developed countries might be attributed to the improved hygiene and sanitation and the active elimination of carrier ship through antimicrobial treatment. However, the prevalence of this bacterium is often considerably higher among first and second generation immigrants in western countries from the developing world (Tsai CJ *et al*, 2005).

The exact mode of transmission of *H. pylori* is not clearly known till today. New infections thought to occur through human to human contact either in oral-oral or faecaloral route or both. *H. pylori* is reported to be colonized in few hosts such as humans and some non-human primates and there has been few reports of isolation of the organism from pet animals (Brown LM *et al*, 2001; Brown LM *et al*, 2002; Dore MP *et al*, 2001; Herbarth O *et al*, 2001). Presence of *H. pylori* DNA in water sources has been reported in several studies but only one report was published on successful culture of the organism from water (Hegarty JP *et al*, 1999; Enroth H and Engstrand L, 1995; Queralt N *et al*, 2005; Lu Y *et al*, 2002). Occurrence of *H. pylori* infection among institutionalized individuals during outbreaks of gastroenteritis supports the faecal route of transmission (Laporte R *et al*, 2004). Another possible route of transmission of *H. pylori* is through the use of contaminated food (Poms RE and Tatini SR, 2001).

Although H. pylori colonized individuals are high in population, only a few percentage shows clinical symptoms of *H. pylori* associated diseases. In the infamous self ingestion experiments by Marshall developed a transient gastritis after ingestion of H. pylori, whereas the case described by Morris developed into a more persistent gastritis. Among the H. pylori positive individuals 10 to 20% develop ulcer diseases and 1 to 2% having risk of leading to gastric cancer (Ernst PB and Gold BD, 2000). The initial colonization by H. pylori to gastric mucosa invites the infiltration of neutrophils and mononuclear cells to the site of infection. The acute phase of colonization with H. pylori may be associated with transient nonspecific dyspeptic symptoms, such as fullness, nausea, and vomiting, and with considerable inflammation of both proximal and distal stomach mucosa, otherwise pangastritis. This phase is often associated with hypochlorhydria, which can last for months (Graham DY et al, 2004). If initial colonization is not cleared, it leads to chronic gastritis. In chronic gastritis, the distribution of H. pylori colonization is correlated with the acid secretion and regulation. In persons with active acid secretion, H. pylori colonize gastric antrum, where acid secreting parietal cells are scarce and this condition is associated with antrum-predominant gastritis. Individuals with impaired acid secretion have a more even distribution of bacteria in antrum and corpus, and bacteria in the corpus are in closer contact with the mucosa, leading to a corpus-predominant pangastritis (Kuipers EJ et al, 1995). H. pylori corpus gastritis is often associated with hypochlorhydria, and eradication therapy leads to increased acid secretion in these individuals (El-Omar EM et al, 1997). In addition, individuals with proinflammatory genotypes have a higher risk of corpus-predominant pangastritis, predisposing them to atrophic gastritis, intestinal metaplasia, and gastric cancer (El-Omar EM et al, 2000).

Gastric and duodenal ulcers, collectively known as peptic ulcer, are also associated with long term colonization of *H. pylori*. Gastric or duodenal ulcers are defined as mucosal defects with a diameter of at least 0.5 cm penetrating through the muscularis

mucosa. Gastric ulcers mostly occur along the lesser curvature of the stomach, in particular, at the transition from corpus to antrum mucosa. Duodenal ulcers usually occur in the duodenal bulb, which is the area most exposed to gastric acid (Veldhuyzen van Zanten, SOJ et al, 1999). Epidemiological data from different parts of the world have shown that H. pylori is associated with approximately 95% of duodenal ulcers and 85% of gastric ulcers (Kuipers EJ et al, 1995). Introduction of H. pylori eradication regimens completed the evidence for a causal relation between *H. pylori* and ulcer disease by showing that eradication of this bacterium strongly reduced the risk of recurrent ulcer disease (Rauws EAJ and Tytgat GNJ, 1990). Ulcer development in the presence of H. pylori is influenced by a variety of host and bacterial factors. Ulcers mostly occur at sites where mucosal inflammation is most severe. In subjects with decreased acid output, this usually is the gastric transitional zone between corpus and antrum, giving rise to gastric ulcer disease. If acid production is normal to high, the most severe inflammation usually is found in the distal stomach and proximal duodenum, giving rise to juxtapyloric and duodenal ulcer disease (Veldhuyzen van Zanten, SOJ et al, 1999). Complications of ulcer disease include bleeding, perforation, and stricture formation. Bleeding is the most common complication of ulcer disease and is estimated to occur in 15 to 20% of ulcers.

Non-ulcer or functional dyspepsia (NUD) is a condition with the presence of symptoms of upper gastrointestinal distress without any identifiable structural abnormality during upper gastrointestinal endoscopy. Dyspeptic symptoms may have a reflux-like character, with heartburn and regurgitation as predominant signs with early satiety and nausea or may be ulcer-like, with pain and vomiting. About 30 to 60% of patients with functional dyspepsia carry *H. pylori* (Talley NJ and Hunt RH, 1997).

Chronic *H. pylori*-induced inflammation can eventually lead to loss of the normal gastric mucosal architecture, with destruction of gastric glands and replacement by fibrosis and intestinal-type epithelium. This process of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia occurs in approximately half of the *H. pylori*-colonized population (Kuipers EJ

et al, 1995b). The risk for atrophic gastritis depends on the distribution and pattern of chronic active inflammation and areas of gland loss and intestinal metaplasia extend with time multifocally, and although they do not give rise to any specific symptoms, they increase the risk for gastric cancer by 5 to 90 fold depending on the extent and severity of atrophy (Sipponen P et al, 1985). H. pylori increases the risk of gastric cancer development through the sequence of atrophy and metaplasia and it was shown that H. pylori positive subjects develop these conditions more often than do uninfected controls (Kuipers EJ, 1998). H. pylori colonization increases the risk of gastric cancer approximately 10 fold and thus it was designated as a class I carcinogen by the WHO (IARC, 1994). As reported in clinical studies, the Mongolian gerbil model of H. pylori infection also induced atrophic gastritis and gastric cancer (Honda S et al, 1998; Rieder G et al, 2005). The risk of development of atrophy and cancer in the presence of H. pylori is again related to host and bacterial factors, which influence the severity of the chronic inflammatory response. The risk is increased in subjects colonized with cytotoxin associated gene-A (cagA) positive strains, but also in those with a genetic predisposition to higher IL-1 production in response to colonization (Parsonnet J et al, 1997; El-Omar EM et al, 2000). Gastric ulcer patients are characterized by reduced gastric acid secretion, corpus predominant pangastritis, and accelerated progression toward atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia and these individuals are reported to be at higher risk for gastric cancer than duodenal ulcer patients (Hansson LE et al, 1996).

The gastric mucosa does not normally contain lymphoid tissue, but MALT nearly always appears in response to colonization with *H. pylori*. In rare cases, a monoclonal population of B cells may arise from this tissue and slowly proliferate to form a MALT lymphoma. Almost all MALT lymphoma patients are *H. pylori* positive, and *H. pylori*-positive individuals have a significantly increased risk for the development of gastric MALT lymphoma, however, MALT lymphomas occur in less than 1% of *H. pylori* positive individuals (Eidt S *et al*, 1994; Parsonnet J *et al*, 1994; Parsonnet J and Issacson PG,

2004). It has been reported that eradication can lead to complete remission in patients with stage IE MALT lymphoma confined to the stomach (de Mascarel A *et al*, 2005; Fischbach W *et al*, 2004; Wundisch T *et al*, 2005).

H. pylori has also been linked to a variety of extragastric disorders. These include coronary heart disease, dermatological disorders such as rosacea and idiopathic urticaria, autoimmune thyroid disease and thrombocytopenic purpura, iron deficiency anemia, Raynaud's phenomenon, scleroderma, migraine, and Guillain-Barre´ syndrome. It has been hypothesized that chronic low grade activation of the coagulation cascade, accelerating atherosclerosis, and antigenic mimicry between *H. pylori* and host epitopes leading to autoimmune disorders (Gasbarrini A *et al*, 2004).

1.12 Pathogenesis and Virulence Factors of *H. pylori*

The long term colonization of *H. pylori* cause chronic inflammatory state and the intragastric distribution and severity of this process depend on a variety of factors, such as characteristics of the colonizing strain, host genetics and immune response, diet, and the level of acid production. *H. pylori* induced ulcer disease, gastric cancer, and lymphoma are all complications of this chronic inflammation; ulcer disease and gastric cancer in particular occur in those individuals and at those sites with the most severe inflammation. Infection is associated with production of proinflammatory cytokines which lead to chronic or chronic active gastritis. The activity of the gastritis is commonly considered an indicator of severity, and chronic active gastritis is associated with more severe manifestations of disease, such as peptic ulceration and neoplasia (Blaser MJ *et al*, 1995; Crabtree JE, 1998; Peek RM *et al*, 1995). *H. pylori* pathogenesis and virulence factors such as cagPAI and its effector protein cagA (Covacci A *et al*, 1993), vacuolating cytotoxin (vacA) (Cover TL, 1996), Urease (van Vliet AHM *et al*, 2001), adhesins such as blood group antigen binding adhesin (BabA), sialic acid binding adhesin (sabA and SabB) (Prinz C *et al*, 2001), adherence-associated lipoprotein (AlpA and AlpB),

Helicobacter outer membrane protein Z (HopZ), outer membrane inflammatory protein A (OipA) (Yamaoka Y *et al*, 2000) and neutrophil activating protein (Nap) (Tonello F *et al*, 1999; Namavar F *et al*, 1998), other factors associated with ulcer such as induced upon contact with epithelium gene (IceA) (Figueiredo C *et al*, 2000) and duodenal ulcer associated protein (DupA) (Lu H *et al*, 2005), LPS and flagella contributes to the outcome of the gastric pathologies independently or collectively. Many of these defined *H. pylori* virulence factors, including flagella, the stomach acid neutralizing enzyme urease and the multifunctional VacA, are found in all strains (Monack DM *et al*, 2004). However, the *cag* pathogenicity island (PAI), a 40 kb stretch of DNA-encoding homologues of components of a T4SS, positive strains are associated with severe disease (Censini S *et al*, 1996).

T4SS have been found in a number of bacterial pathogens and symbionts and are evolutionarily related to bacterial conjugation systems (Cascales E and Christie PJ, 2003). The best-studied model is the T4SS of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, a secretion system used by this promiscuous plant pathogen to deliver DNA and proteins into plant cells in a process that introduces bacterial DNA into the plant genome and causes tumour formation. *L. pneumophila* and *Bartonella henselae* are the other two pathogens which can secret the effector proteins in to the host cells through T4SS. Eighteen of the *cag* PAI-encoded proteins serve as building blocks of a T4SS apparatus, which forms a pilus, capable of penetrating the gastric epithelial cells and facilitating the translocation of CagA, peptidoglycan, and possibly other bacterial factors into host cells (Fischer W *et al*, 2001; Odenbreit S *et al*, 2001). This attachment is accomplished by a specialized adhesin of the pilus surface, the CagL protein, which binds to and activates host cell integrin β 1 for subsequent delivery of CagA across the host cell membrane (Kwok T *et al*, 2007; Backert S and Selbach M, 2008) Once delivered, CagA interacts with a large number of host proteins and has multiple effects on host signal transduction pathways,

the cytoskeleton and cell junctions (Segal ED *et al*, 1999; Asahi M *et al*, 2000; Backert S *et al*, 2000; Odenbreit S *et al*, 2000; Stein M *et al*, 2000).



Fig.6 Diagramatic representation of virulence and pathogenecity factors of *H. pylori* (source: www.wikimedia.org)

CagA localizes to the cell membrane at the point of bacterial attachment (Segal ED *et al*, 1999; Tanaka J *et al*, 2003) and colocalizes with the cell junctional proteins ZO-1 and JAM (Amieva MR *et al.*, 2003). CagA is recognized as a substrate by SRC and ABL family kinases that phosphorylate it on tyrosine residues in unique C-terminal region Glu–Pro–IIe–Tyr–Ala (EPIYA) motifs (Selbach M *et al*, 2002; Stein M *et al*, 2002; Poppe *et al*, 2007; Tammer *et al*, 2007). CagA, the effector protein of *cag*PAI, can influence the host cell machinery in phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated forms. These host cell manipulations have been identified *in vivo* and *in vitro* which include the induction of membrane dynamics, actin-cytoskeletal rearrangements and the disruption of cell-to-cell junctions as well as proliferative, pro-inflammatory and antiapoptotic nuclear responses (Blaser and Atherton, 2004; Backert and Selbach, 2008; Hatakeyama, 2008). The non-phosphorylated CagA can directly interact with multiple host cell proteins such as cell adhesion proteins E-cadherin and ZO-1, the hepatocyte growth factor receptor c-MET, the adaptor protein GRB2 and the kinase PAR1 (Mimuro *et al.*,2002; Amieva *et al.*, 2003; Churin et al., 2003; Murata-Kamiya et al., 2007; Saadat et al., 2007; Zeaiter et al., 2007). The phosphorylated CagA were reported to be binding three SH2 domain containing host cell proteins such as tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2, the carboxy-terminal SRC kinase (CSK) and the adaptor protein CRK (Higashi et al., 2004; Tsutsumi et al., 2003; Suzuki M et al., 2005; Brandt et al., 2007). CagA phosphorylation inactivates proteins controlling cell-to-matrix adhesion, which includes SHP-2-dependent dephosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase FAK (Tsutsumi et al., 2005) and CSK-dependent inactivation of SRC which leads to tyrosine dephosphorylation of the actin binding protein cortactin, vinculin and ezrin (Selbach et al., 2003; 2004; Tsutsumi et al., 2003; Moese et al., 2007) and also induce cellular elongation in vitro by causing a cell retraction defect in focal adhesions (Bourzac et al., 2007). H. pylori T4SS induces several signalling events such as the activation of epidermal growth factor receptor EGFR (Keates et al, 2007; Wallasch et al, 2002; Du Y et al, 2007) and the small Rho GTPase RAC-1 (Churin et al, 2001; Suzuki M et al, 2005; Brandt et al, 2007) and the induction of proinflammatory cytokines in epithelial cells independent of CagA phosphorylation (Odenbreit et al, 2000; Segal ED et al, 1999).

H. pylori VacA protein plays an important role in the pathogenesis of both peptic ulceration and gastric cancer (Atherton JC *et al*, 1995; Marchetti M *et al*, 1995; Ogura K *et al*, 2000; Wada A *et al*, 2004). The gene encoding *vacA* is present in virtually all of the *H. pylori* strains, which suggests that the production of VacA plays an important role in the colonization or persistence of *H. pylori* in the human stomach (Blaser and Atherton, 2004). The VacA protein is produced as a 140-kDa protoxin that is cleaved into the 95-kDa mature form when secreted. Although all strains carry a functional *vacA* gene, there is considerable variation in vacuolating activities among strains (Cover TL, 1996; Cover TL and Blaser MJ, 1992; de Bernard M *et al*, 1997). This is due to the sequence heterogeneity within the *vacA* gene at the signal region (s) and the middle region (m). The s region of the gene, which encodes the signal peptide, occurs as either an s1 or s2

type, whereas the m region, which contains the p58 cell binding domain, exists as an m1 or m2 type. Vacuolating activity is high in s1/m1 genotypes, intermediate in s1/m2 genotypes, and absent in s2/m2 genotypes. In line with this, vacA s1/m1 genotypes are more frequently associated with peptic ulceration and gastric carcinoma (Atherton JC et al, 1995; van Doorn LJ et al, 1998). Secreted VacA can be further processed into a 33kDa Nterminal fragment and a 55-kDa C-terminal fragment through proteolytic cleavage. The N-terminal protein performs an essential function in the formation of anion channels, while the C-terminal protein mediates cell binding (Ji X et al, 2000; Kim S et al, 2004; Torres VJ et al, 2005). VacA acts as a pore-forming toxin and induces both structural and functional alterations in the cells, the most prominent being mitochondrial damage, apoptosis and the formation of cytoplasmic vacuolation (Galmiche A et al, 2000; Cover TL and Blanke SR, 2005). Protein tyrosine phosphatase receptors RPTP- α and RPTP- β as well as sphingomyelin act as receptors for VacA in gastric epithelial cells (Fujikawa A et al., 2003; Yahiro K et al., 2003; Nakayama M et al., 2006; Gupta VR et al., 2008). It has also been reported that VacA can bind to other surface molecules such as heparan sulphate, RACK1, fibronectin and EGFR (Utt M et al, 2001; Seto K et al, 1998; Hennig EE et al, 2001; Hennig EE et al, 2005). The vacuoles induced by vacA contain both late endosomal and lysosomal markers, and the internalized vacA in cells forms anionselective membrane channels, and the vacuoles then arise due to swelling of the endosomal compartments (Molinari M et al, 1997; Blaser and Atherton, 2004; Cover and Blanke, 2005).

Bacterial adhesins play an important role in colonization to the host organism. *H. pylori* is also ultilize certain adhesins and outer membrane proteins to establish an infection and subsequent inflammatory processes. *H. pylori* adhesins identified so far includes BabA, SabA, SabB, AlpA, AlpB, HopZ and OipA. Lewis b antigen (Le^b) and related fucosylated ABO blood group antigens are recognized by BabA, whereas sialyl-Lewis x and sialyl-Lewis a antigens (sLe^x and sLe^a) are recognized by SabA (Ilver D *et*

al, 1998; Mahdavi J et al, 2002). The corresponding receptors for AlpA, AlpB, OipA, and HopZ are not known till today. BabA and SabA are the two well characterized adhesins of H. pylori having an important role in the pathogenesis. The 78 kDa BabA protein is encoded by the *H. pylori* gene *BabA*. BabA mediates binding to fucosylated Lewis b (Le^b) blood group antigens on the human host cells (Boren T et al, 1993; Ilver D et al, 1998). There are two distinct babA alleles, babA1 and babA2, but due to a 10-bp insertion in the 3' end of the gene, only babA2 can encode a full-sized (active) bacterial adhesion protein. The adherence of *H. pylori* to the gastric mucosa is widely assumed to play an important role in the initial colonization and long-term persistence in the human gastric mucosa. The mucins secreted by gastric mucous cells form a mucous gel layer covering the gastric mucosa. This gel layer is considered the first line of gastric mucosal defense against luminal noxious agents (Allen A et al, 1993; Ho SB et al, 2004). The gastric surface mucous cells and gland mucous cells express the secretory mucins MUC5AC and MUC6/MUC5B, respectively (Ho SB et al, 1995; Van de Bovenkamp et al, 2005). The majority of *H pylori* reside in the gastric mucus overlying the epithelium. It is reported that H pylori could be colocalized with MUC5AC gastric mucin, but not with MUC6producing cells in the glandular areas and the adhesion is predominantly toward MUC5AC specific ligands in gastric mucosa (Van den Brink GR et al, 2000). However, additional epitopes and/or adhesins must be involved, as BabA binding to Le^b-negative MUC5AC of nonsecretors also reported recently (Van de Bovenkamp et al, 2003).

It has been reported that *H. pylori babA* deletion mutant cannot bind ABO/Le^b blood group antigens but that was able to bind gastric epithelium. This has been achieved through another *H. pylori* adhesin, sabA, which binds the sialyl-Lewis x and sialyl-Lewis a antigens (sLe^x and sLe^a) (Mahdavi J *et al*, 2002). The sLe^x and sLe^a glycans are better known as the glycan binding sites for the selectin family of cell adhesion molecules and they have important roles in recruitment of white blood cells from circulation to the during inflammation (Alper J, 2001). Infection of the gastric

mucosa by *H. pylori* results in inflammatory responses, with concomitant expression of sialylated glycans and thereby utilizes these molecules for epithelial binding and colonization.

The 34-kDa OipA protein expression in *H. pylori* is strongly associated with increased in vitro and in vivo IL-8 expression in host cells and may also serve as adhesin (Yamaoka Y *et al*, 2002). Neutrophil-activating protein (Nap), have important roles in the recruitment and activation of inflammatory cells in the lamina propria and activates neutrophils and monocytes to produce ROIs by activating the plasma membrane NADPH oxidase through a signaling pathway involving the activation of heterotrimeric G proteins, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, SRC family tyrosine kinases and calcium mobilization (Satin B *et al*, 2000).

The first barrier *H. pylori* must overcome for the colonization is the low pH in the lumen of the stomach. *H. pylori* express urease enzyme, which breaks down urea to form NH₃ and CO₂ and that buffer the microenvironment and the cytosol of the bacteria (Weeks DL *et al*, 2000; Stingl K *et al*, 2002). Powerful flagella then help the bacterium to swim through the viscous mucous layer covering the gastric epithelium, where bacterial adhesins mediate a close interaction with the host cells (Montecucco C and Rappuoli R, 2001).

The cholesteryl- α -glucosides of *H. pylori* support the pathogenicity of this organism, because inhibition of the cholesterol glucosyltransferase (*Cgt*) by *O*-glycans of the human gastric mucosa suppresses growth of the bacterium. This enzyme catalyzes the first step in the biosynthesis of four unusual glycolipids such as cholesteryl- α -glucoside, cholesteryl-6-*O*-acyl- α -glucoside, cholesteryl-6-*O*-phosphatidyl- α -glucosideand cholesteryl-6-*O*-lysophosphatidyl- α -glucoside (Kawakubo M *et al*, 2004). Deletion of the *HP0421* gene in *H. pylori* resulted in the loss of cholesteryl- α -glucoside and all of its three derivatives (Lebrun A *et al*, 2006). Morphological changes of the bacterium or changes in colony variants are accompanied by alterations in the total amount of steryl

glucosides and the relative proportions of cholesteryl- α -glucoside and cholesteryl-6-*O*-acyl- α -glucoside and cholesteryl-6-*O*-phosphatidyl- α -glucoside (Shimomura H *et al,* 2004). *H. pylori* follows a cholesterol gradient and extracts the lipid from plasma membranes of epithelial cells for subsequent glucosylation. Excessive cholesterol promotes phagocytosis of *H. pylori* by antigen-presenting cells, such as macrophages and DCs, and enhances antigen specific T -cell responses. A cholesterol-rich diet during bacterial challenge leads to T-cell dependent reduction of the H. pylori burden in the stomach. However, intrinsic α -glucosylation of cholesterol abrogates phagocytosis of *H. pylori* (Wunder C *et al,* 2006).

The majority of H. pylori strains express LPS that contains fucosylated oligosaccharide antigens that are structurally and immunologically closely related to human blood group antigens. Compared to other gram-negative bacteria, the LPS of H. pylori is a poor activator of the innate immune response (Muotiala A et al, 1992; Bliss CM et al, 1998). However, It has recently been reported that H. pylori LPS stimulates NFkB and IL-8 production in both epithelial cells and immune cells (Bhattacharyya A et al, 2006; Maeda S et al, 2001). It has been reported that H pylori bind to the dimeric form of human recombinant trefoil factor family 1 (TFF-1) (Clyne M et al, 2004). Trefoil factors are small cysteine-rich proteins localized within mucin granules in mucus-secreting epithelial cells. In the gastrointestinal tract TFF1 is coexpressed with MUC5AC in foveolar cells of the stomach, TFF2 is coexpressed with MUC6 in the fundus and deep antral glands of the stomach and in Brunner's glands of the duodenum and TFF3 is coexpressed with MUC2 in goblet cells throughout the large and small bowel mucosa (Longman RJ et al, 2000). Very recently, it has been shown that H. pylori core oligosaccharide portion of LPS bound to TFF1 and to a lesser extent TFF3 and this interaction was inhibited by incubation of LPS portion with mannosidase, glucosidase, or mixed monosaccharides (Reeves EP et al, 2008). This finding attributes an important

role for *H. pylori* LPS as an adhesin that helps colonization along with the established BabA and SabA.

1.13 Immune Responses to Helicobacter pylori infection

H. pylori infection was sufficient to stimulate the immune system at the site of colonization and subsequent inflammatory process and epithelial damage, which has been seen in the active chronic gastritis. However, in most of the individuals H. pylori keeps a balanced situation of low immune reaction that was not able to eliminate organism but definitely causing tissue damage and that may help the bacterium to get sufficient nutrients to survive in a hostile situation like stomach. H. pylori infection attracts more neutrophils and monocytes to the site of infection through induction of IL-8 release and H. pylori Nap protein has also been implicated for the neutrophil activating process by inducing NADPH oxidase (Tonello F et al, 1999; Namavar F et al, 1998; Satin B et al, 2000; Naumann M and Crabtree JE, 2004). The phagocytic cells at the site of infection try to eliminate the microbes by engulfment subsequent killing by the help of of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates (ROIs and RNIs). However, H. pylori possess catalase and superoxide dismutase enzymes involved in the ROI scavenging, this might help the organism to cotrol its elimination by phagocytotic killing (McGee DJ and Mobley HL, 1999). It also produces the arginase enzyme which converts arginine to ornithine and thereby competitively inhibiting the inducible nitric oxide synthase enzyme of the host and control the production of NO. H. pylori also induce eukaryotic arginase II expression in macrophages, which might further counteract NO production by these cells (Gobert AP et al, 2002). These mechanisms might limit the availability of L-arginine at the site of infection and therby control phagocytic killing. These all are showing that H. pylori have evolved mechanisms to control the elimination by immune responses even at the level of detection.

H. pylori infection result in an induction of a Th-1 polarized response, however, that was not sufficient to eliminate the infection (Smythies LE et al, 2000). H. pylori have been reported to induce rapid maturation and activation of monocyte derived DCs, which also secreted high levels of Th-1 cytokine IL-12. cagPAI and plasticity regions of H. pylori have been implicated for this activity in addition to other unidentified factors (Guiney DG et al, 2003; Hafsi N et al, 2004; de Jonge R et al, 2004a). Transfer of unfractionated splenocytes from *H. pylori* infected mice induces gastritis, delayed-type hypersensitivity, and even metaplasia in mice and this supporting the notion that H. pylori-induced pathology being predominantly a T-cell mediated disease (Eaton KA et al, 2001). It has also been reported that protection against infection through immunization with H. pylori proteins has been achieved in antibody-deficient mice and requires an intact MHCIIrestricted CD4⁺ T-cell compartment (Ermak TH et al, 1998). H. pylori has also evolved strategies to control T-cell function, Zabaleta J et al reported that H. pylori causes a reduction in expression of the TCR-CD3ζ subunit in activated T cells (Zabaleta J et al, 2004). Induction of arginase in macrophages by H. pylori could be one mechanism reported to be crucial for immunosuppressive effects on T-cells including reduction in expression of the TCR-CD3ζ subunit (Bronte V et al, 2003). H. pylori VacA protein found to be inhibiting IL-2 production and proliferation of peripheral blood lymphocytes and that is attributed to the inhibition of translocation of the transcription factor NF-AT to the nucleus (Gebert B et al, 2003; Hogan PG et al, 2003).

Humoral immunity against *H. pylori* is evident by the presence of antibodies in serum and gastric juice of individuals infected with the bacterium but that was not enough to eliminate the infection (Mattsson A *et al*, 1998; Perez-Perez GI *et al*, 1999). However, a report correlated well with *H. pylori* antibodies in the milk of Gambian mothers and the absence of *H. pylori* infection in their breast-fed children (Thomas JE *et al*, 2004). *H. pylori* has a clear role in the development of gastric lymphoma of MALT. Gastric MALT lymphoma results from the uncontrolled polyclonal expansion of a subset

of IgM memory B cells that eventually leads to the emergence of a monoclonal tumour. This has been attributed to bacterial factors such as CpG DNA that can induce mitogenic effect on IgM memory B-cells (Bernasconi NL *et al*, 2002). *H. pylori* specific T-cells from MALT lymphoma appear to be deficient in the cytolytic mechanisms that normally ensure the deletion of activated B-cells and this inability to delete these proliferating B-cells might contribute to the uncontrolled growth in the MALT (D'Elios MM *et al*, 1999).

1.14 Host Gene Polymorphisms and Susceptibility to *H. pylori* associated Pathologies

Several studies in the past were clearly shown the influence of host genetics along with the bacterial factors in *H. pylori* related pathologies. Genetic polymorphisms can directly affect the expression levels of gene products by generation or deletion of transcription factor sites or by affecting RNA splicing and subsequent translation. Many of the pathogenic effects of *H. pylori* infection are related to chronic active inflammation, which is controlled and maintained by the complex interplay of proinflammatory and antiinflammatory mediators (Macarthur M et al, 2004). The level of gastric acid secretion and the presence of a proinflammatory response contribute significantly to the development of either duodenal ulcer disease or atrophic gastritis. The IL-1 cytokine is encoded by a gene cluster that contains the polymorphic *IL-1B* (encoding the IL-1βcytokine) and *IL-RN* (encoding the IL-1 receptor antagonist) genes. IL-1ß is a potent proinflammatory cytokine and the most potent known inhibitor of acid secretion (EI-Omar EM et al, 2000). The IL-1 gene cluster contains several polymorphisms, such as IL-1B*-31C, IL-1B*-511T, and IL-1RN*2/*2, which lead to high-level expression of IL-1β. This subsequently leads to reduced acid output, which is associated with corpus-predominant colonization by H. pylori, resulting in pangastritis, formation of atrophic gastritis, and increased risk of gastric cancer (El-Omar EM, 2001; El-Omar EM et al, 2000; El-Omar EM et al, 2003; Furuta T et al, 2002, Hwang IR et al, 2002; Rad R et al, 2003; Zambon CF et al, 2002). TNF α is also a proinflammatory cytokine, and several polymorphisms in the *TNF-A* gene

are known. The TNFA* 308A genotype is associated with increased TNFa production, which, together with IL-1, influences gastrin production and thus acid production by gastric parietal cells (Suzuki T et al, 2001). The TNF-A*308A genotype is therefore associated with H. pylori infection and increased risk of gastric cancer (EI-Omar EM et al, 2003; Ohyama I et al, 2004; Rad R et al, 2004; Yea SS et al, 2001; Zambon CF et al, 2005). Similarly, expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 is affected by the haplotypes described for the IL-10 gene. The GCC haplotype is associated with a higher expression level of IL-10 and hence favors an anti-inflammatory response, whereas the ATA haplotype results in lowered IL-10 levels and a shift toward a proinflammatory response (EI-Omar EM et al, 2003; Hamajima N et al, 2003, Lu W et al, 2005; Hellmig S et al, 2005; Wu MS et al, 2003; Zambon CF et al, 2005). The GCC haplotype is associated with colonization with more-virulent H. pylori strains, whereas the ATA haplotype is associated with increased risk of gastric cancer (Rad R et al, 2004; El-Omar EM et al, 2003). CD14*-159T genotype has bee reported to be associated with higher H. pylori infection rates (Karhukorpi J et al, 2002) Polymorphisms in the fucosyltransferase genes which affect the synthesis of Lewis antigens and FUT2 (Se) and FUT3 le/le genotypes has been reported to increase risk of H. pylori infection (Ikehara Y et al, 2001). Presence of the IL-8 -251A allele results in increased expression of IL-8 and this genotype increased the risk of gastric cancer and gastric ulcer in Japanese population and increased risk of duodenal ulcers in a Hungarian population (Gyulai Z et al, 2004; Lu W et al, 2005). Studies have shown that while single polymorphisms may increase the risk of development of gastric cancer only two- to threefold, the presence of multiple proinflammatory genotypes increases this risk substantially.

1.15 Pattern Recognition Receptors in *Helicobacter pylori* Infection

The role of innate immune response to *H. pylori* through PRRs is not completely understood till today. Few prevolus studies have reported the involvement of some TLRs

and NOD proteins in the detection of *H. pylori*. Gastric epithelial cells are reported to be not enough to provide all the TLR molecules expressed on its surface for detection of H. pylori. Smith MF et al reported that gastric epithelial cells recognize and respond to H. pylori infection at least in part through TLR-2 and TLR-5 (Smith MF et al, 2003). TLR-4 mediated recognition of bacterial LPS is a key activator of the innate immune response in epithelial cells, while H. pylori LPS is a relatively weak inducer. However, H. pylori LPS does activate NF-kB, but this is via TLR-2 rather than TLR-4 (Smith MF et al, 2003; Maeda S et al, 2001; Backhead F et al, 2003). In contrast to this, Kawahara T et al (2001) reported that H. pylori LPS activated NF-KB in association with the expression of Mitogen oxidase-1 (MOX-1), cyclooxygenase-II (COX II) and TNFα transcripts in gastric pit cells, which express more TLR-4 but no TLR-2. Immunocytochemical studies using gastric mucosal biopsies have revealed that TLR-5 and TLR-9 expression on the gastric epithelium changed to an exclusive basolateral localization without detectable expression at the apical pole in *H. pylori* gastritis, however, TLR-4 expression was highly polarized in an apical and a basolateral compartment identical to the non-inflamed mucosa (Schmausser B et al, 2004). Interestingly, Mandell L et al reported that H. pylori LPS induced cytokine production was mediated through TLR-4, but the response to the whole Helicobacter bacteria such as H. pylori, H. hepaticus, and H. felis were mediated through TLR-2 (Mandell L et al, 2004). H. pylori infection with HEK-293 cells have differentially regulated 46 genes more than 2-fold and three genes less than 2-fold, while infection with HEK-293 cells transfected with TLR-2 differentially regulated 54 genes more than 2fold and only 1 gene was repressed less than 2-fold. It was identified that 28 genes expression were dependent on the presence of TLR-2 during infection with HEK-293 cells and 8 of the selected genes showed distinct expression patterns in epithelial cell lines (Ding SZ et al, 2005). Ogawa T et al reported chemically synthesized lipid A, mimicking the natural lipid A portion of lipopolysaccharide from Helicobacter pylori strain 206-1, has a low endotoxic potency and immunobiological activities, and is recognized

by TLR-4 (Ogawa T *et al*, 2003). A study using recombinant *flaA* and *flaA* mutant of *H. pylori* revealed the less potent activity of TLR-5 mediated IL-8 secretion in epithelial cells (Gewirtz AT *et al*, 2004). A recent report attributed the *flaA* evasion of TLR-5 due to amino acids 89-96 of the N-terminal D1 domain and that may be responsible for low TLR5 mediated activity on IL-8 secretion (Andersen-Nissen E *et al*, 2005).

It has been reported that Syndecan-4 expression was induced in gastric epithelial cells and macrophages in response to infection with live *H. pylori* and purified TLR agonists. Syndecan-4, heparan sulphate proteoglycan, has been implicated in a wide variety of biological functions including the regulation of growth factor signaling, adhesion, tumorigenesis, and inflammation (Smith MF *et al*, 2006). HSP60 of *H. pylori* have been implicated for IL-8 secretion through ERK and p38 MAPK signalling linked to the TLR-2 recognition receptor in human monocytes (Zhao Y *et al*, 2007).

It has been shown that DCs from Myd88 (-/-) deficient mice have impaired adaptive immune responses during *H. pylori* infection and that was found to be through genes involving in maturation, antigen presentation and effector cell recruitment. In addition, *H. pylori* infection of Myd88 (-/-) deficient mice displayed reduced gastric inflammation, increased bacterial colonization and reduced Helicobacter-specific IgG2c/IgG1 ratios (Rad R *et al*, 2007). *H. pylori* LPS has earlier reported to be signalling through TLR-4 and Uno K *et al* affirmed this finding and showed that TLR-4 signaling initiated by *H. pylori* LPS and propagated through ERK and NF-kB activation induced TLR-2 expression in gastric epithelial and induced TLR-2 cooperated with TLR-4 to amplify iNOS induction (Uno K *et al*, 2007). Very recently, it has been reported that probiotic bacteria, *Lactobacillus bulgaricus*, and its culture supernatant prevented *H. pylori* LPS induced IL-8 production through inhibition of TLR-4 signalling (Zhou C *et al*, 2008).

NOD-1 and NOD-2 expression levels were induced in the gastric epithelium in *H. pylori* positive patients and expression of NOD-1 and NOD-2 in HEK-293 cells activated

NF-κB during *H. pylori* infection in a *cag*PAI dependent manner. However, Crohn's disease associated NOD-2 variant R702W inhibited NF-κB activation significantly and this genotype was significantly associated with gastric MALT lymphoma (Rosenstiel P *et al*, 2006). It has been reported that E266K-NOD1, but not the TLR-4 gene polymorphism (ASP/299/Gly and Thr/399/IIe) increased the risk of peptic ulceration in *H. pylori* infected patients. In addition, 251-IL-8 polymorphism was significantly associated with either gastritis or duodenal ulcer in *H. pylori* infection (Hofner P *et al*, 2007). Viala J *et al* (2004) reported that *H. pylori* PGN has been sensed by NOD-1 in epithelial cells and that required the delivery of PGN through T4SS encoded by *cag*PAI. NOD-1 appears to be implicated in the production of β-defensins (BD) from *H. pylori* infected epithelial cells and dominant-negative NOD-1 constructs were able to block *H. pylori* induced expression of a human β-defensin-reporter transgene (Boughan PK *et al*, 2006).

As the literature review has exposed the deficiency of information regarding the role of PRRs during *H. pylori* infection and also the lack of host gene polymorphism data among the *H. pylori* infected patients of this area, the present study envisaged to conduct research on the following **objectives**.

- Analysis of TLRs mRNA and protein expression in THP-1 monocytes during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of Δ*cagA*, Δ*vacA*, Δ*flaA*, Δ*cgt*, and Δ*cag*PAI to ascertain the role of these virulence and pathogenecity factors on recognition through TLRs, if any.
- 2. TLR mRNA expression in THP-1 derived DCs during *H. pylori* infection to find out any difference between these two important cell types of the immune system.
- 3. Analysis of IRAK-1 phosphorylation in THP-1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants to find out any role for CagA, VacA, FlaA, Cholesterol glucoside and *cag*PAI in TLR signalling.

- 4. Analysis of the role of few individual TLR molecules during *H. pylori* infection using stably transfected HEK293 cells, which is known to have less or no TLR expression.
- 5. Analysis of pro-inflammatory cytokines such IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, IL-18 and TNFα expression and secretion during *H. pylori* infection with THP-1 cells and HEK293 cells stably transfected with TLR molecules in comparison with HEK293 cells.
- 6. Analysis of NLRs and ASC mRNA expression and functional activation of inflammasome in THP-1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants.
- 7. Analysis of IL-1 receptor antagonist polymorphism and genotyping of *H. pylori* in colonized patients of the Calicut area.

2. Materials & Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Chemicals

Most of the chemicals used in this study were of analysis grade reagents purchased from M/S Genei (Bangaluru, India), Merck (Mumbai, India), SRL (Mumbai, India), Merck (Darmstadt, Germany), Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany) and Sigma (Taufkirschen, Germany), if not stated otherwise.

2.1.1.1 Antibiotics

Antibiotic and Antimycotic solutions for cell culture were purchased from Sigma (Taufkirschen, Germany) and Blasticidin S purchased from Invivogen (France)

2.1.1.2 Enzyme Inhibitors

Pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK, c-Src Kinase inhibitor PP2 and EGFR Kinase inhibitor AG1478 were purchased from Calbiochem, Merck (Darmstadt, Germany).

2.1.2 Clinical Specimen

42 gastric mucosal biopsy specimens collected from patients positive for Rapid Urease Test (RUT) during diagnostic upper intestinal endoscopy in the Department of Gastroenterology, Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences were used for the present investigation (Approved by the Institutional Ethics committee).

2.1.3 Custom Made PCR Primers

The following custom made oligonucleotide primers are synthesized by Genei, Bangalore, India

Human Gene		Nucleotide Sequence	Reference
	Forward	5' CTCAGCAACACTCCTAT 3'	
IL-1RN <i>H. pylori</i> Gene	Reverse	5' TCCTGGTCTGCAGGTAA 3' Nucleotide Sequence	Joos <i>et al.,</i> 2001 Reference
GImM	Forward	5' AAGCTTTTAGGGGTGTTAGGGGTTT 3'	Bickley J <i>et al,</i> 1993
	Reverse Forward	5' AAGCTTACTTTCTAACACTAACGC 3' 5' GATAACAGGCAAGCTTTTGAGG 3'	
CagA	Reverse Forward	5' CCATGAACTTTTGATCCGTTCGG 3' 5' ACAAACACACCGCAAAATCA 3'	NCBI database
VacA	Reverse Forward	5' CCTCTGCCTGCTTGAA 3' 5' GGATTGCAGCTAGGTGTTCC 3'	NCBI database
lceA1	Reverse Forward	5' ACCCATCACCATAGCCTTTT 3' 5' TGCTGCTGTTACCACAAAGG 3'	NCBI database
IceA2	Reverse	5' CAAGTCTTAACCCCCAACGA 3'	NCBI database
2.1.4 Real Time Taqman PCR Primers

The following custom made oligonucleotide primers are synthesized by MWG Biotech, Ebersberg, Germany.

Human Gene		Nucleotide Sequence	Reference
TLR1	Forward	5'CAGTGTCTGGTACACGCATGGT 3'	Zarember et al, 2002
TLR2	Reverse Forward	5'TTTCAAAAACCGTGTCTGTTAAGAGA 3' 5'GGCCAGCAAATTACCTGTGTG 3'	Zarember <i>et al,</i> 2002
TLR3	Reverse Forward	5'AGGCGGACATCCTGAACCT 3' 5'CCTGGTTTGTTAATTGGATTAACGA 3'	Zarember <i>et al,</i> 2002
TLR4	Reverse Forward	5'TGAGGTGGAGTGTTGCAAAGG 3' 5'GCAGTGAGGATGATGCCAGGAT 3'	Zarember <i>et al,</i> 2002
TLR5	Reverse Forward	5'GCCATGGCTGGGATCAGAGT 3' 5'TGCCTTGAAGCCTTCAGTTATG 3'	Zarember <i>et al,</i> 2002
TLR6	Reverse Forward	5'CCAACCACCACCATGATGAG 3' 5'GAAGAAGAACAACCCTTTAGGATAGC 3'	Zarember <i>et al,</i> 2002
TLR7	Reverse Forward	5'AGGCAAACAAAATGGAAGCTT 3' 5'TTTACCTGGATGGAAACCAGCTA 3'	Zarember <i>et al,</i> 2002
TLR8	Reverse Forward	5'TCAAGGCTGAGAAGCTGTAAGCTA 3' 5'CTTCGATACCTAAACCTCTCTAGCA 3'	Nishimura <i>et al,</i> 2005
TLR9	Reverse Forward	5'AAGATCCAGCACCTTCAGATGA 3' 5'GGACCTCTGGTACTGCTTCCA 3'	Zarember <i>et al,</i> 2002
TLR10	Reverse Forward	5'AAGCTCGTTGTACACCCAGTCT 3' 5' TGTTATGACAGCAGAGGGTGATG 3'	Zarember <i>et al,</i> 2002
GAPDH	Reverse Forward	5'GAGTTGAAAAAGGAGGTTATAGGATAAATC 3' 5'GAAGGTGAAGGTCGGAGTC 3'	Zarember <i>et al</i> , 2002
	Reverse	5'GAAGATGGTGATGGGATTTC 3'	

2.1.4.1 Real Time PCR Dual Labelled Probes

Human		Nucleotide Sequence	Reference
Gene			
TLR1	Probe	FAM- 5'TGCCCATCCAAAATTAGCCCGTTCC 3'-TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002
TLR2	Probe	FAM-5'TCCATCCCATGTGCGTGGCC 3'TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002
TLR3	Probe	FAM-5'ACCCATACCAACATCCCTGAGCTGTCAA 3'TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002
TLR4	Probe	FAM-5'TGTCTGCCTCGCGCCTGGC 3'TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002
TLR5	Probe	FAM-5'CCAGGGCAGGTGCTTATCTGACCTTAACA 3'TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002
TLR6	Probe	FAM5'TGCAACATCATGACCAAAGACAAAGAACCT3'TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002
TLR7	Probe	FAM-5'AGAGATACCGCAGGGCCTCCCG 3'TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002
TLR8	Probe	FAM-5'CCCTCAGGAAGATTAATGCTGCCTGGTT 3'TAMRA	Nishimura <i>et al,</i> 2005
TLR9	Probe	FAM-5'ACGATGCCTTCGTGGTCTTCGACAAA 3'TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002
TLR10	Probe	FAM-5' TGACCCCAGCCACAACGACACT 3'TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002
GAPDH	Probe	JOE-5'CAAGCTTCCCGTTCTCAGCC 3'TAMRA	Zarember et al, 2002

2.1.5 Applied Biosystems (AB) Taqman Gene Expression Assays

The following pre-made Gene Expression Assay reagents were purchased from Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany

Human Gene	Assay ID	Reporter Dye	NCBI Reference
NOD1	Hs00196075_m1	FAM	NM_006092.1
NOD2	Hs00223394_m1	FAM	NM_022162.1
NALP1	Hs00248187_m1	FAM	NM_033004.3
NALP2	Hs00215284_m1	FAM	NM_017852.2
NALP3	Hs00366461_m1	FAM	NM_004895.3
IPAF	Hs00368367_m1	FAM	NM_021209.3
ASC	Hs00203118_m1	FAM	NM_145183.1
IL-1β	Hs00174097_m1	FAM	NM_000576.2
IL-6	Hs00985639_m1	FAM	NM_000600.2
IL-18	Hs00155517_m1	FAM	NM_001562.2
TNFα	Hs00174128_m1	FAM	NM_000594.2

2.1.6 Antibodies

The antibodies used in this study, purchased from different vendors are listed below.

2.1.6.1 Primary Antibodies

Antibodies	Туре	Origin	Provider
α-TLR5	Monoclonal	Mouse	Imgenex, Germany
α-TLR10	Monoclonal	Mouse	Imgenex, Germany
α-phospho IRAK-1ser376	Polyclonal	Rabbit	Cell Signalling, USA
α-IRAK-M	Polyclonal	Rabbit	Cell Signalling, USA
α-Caspase-1	Polyclonal	Rabbit	Cell Signalling, USA
α-IL-1β	Polyclonal	Rabbit	Cell Signalling, USA
α-GAPDH	Polyclonal	Goat	Santa Cruz, Germany
α-HA	Monoclonal	Mouse	Cell Signalling, USA

2.1.6.2 Secondary Antibodies

Antibodies	Туре	Source	Provider
Anti Mouse	Polyclonal	Rabbit	Dako, Germany
Immunoglobulin-HRP			
Anti Goat	Polyclonal	Rabbit	Dako, Germany
Immunoglobulin-HRP			
Anti Rabbit	Polyclonal	Pig	Dako, Germany
Immunoglobulin-HRP			

2.1.7 Molecular Biology Reagents and Kits

The following are the pre-made molecular biology reagents and kits purchased from

different vendors

Technique RNA isolation	Product RNeasy Kit	Provider Qiagen, Hilden, Germany
Real Time -PCR	Taqman Universal Master Mix (20X)	Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany
RT-PCR	Reverse Transcriptase 5X First strand buffer RNase inhibitor DTT	Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany Genei, Bangalore, India
	dNTPs	Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany
Immunoprecipitation	Protein G-Sepharose	Amersham Pharmacia Freiburg, Germany
	Lysis Buffer	Roche Molecular Biochemicals Mannheim, Germany
ELISA	OptEIA [™] Human IL-1β OptEIA [™] Human IL-8 OptEIA [™] Human TNFα	BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany

2.1.8 Bacteria

2.1.8.1 Helicobacter pylori strains

Strain	Knock Down	Resistance	Source/Type	Reference
26695	Gene		Clinical isolate	ATCC 700392
P12			Clinical isolate	Schmitt and Haas, 1994
P12 ∆ <i>cagA</i>	HP0547	Cam ^R	<i>cagA</i> knock down mutant	Prof. Dr. Steffen Backert, Magdeburg, Germany
P12 ∆ <i>vacA</i>	HP0887	Kam ^R	<i>vacA</i> knock down mutant	Prof. Dr. Steffen Backert, Magdeburg, Germany
P12 <i>∆flaA</i>	HP0601	Cam ^R	<i>flaA</i> knock down mutant	Prof. Dr. Steffen Backert, Magdeburg, Germany
P12 ∆ <i>cgt</i>	HP0421	Kam ^R	Cholesterol glucosyl transferase (<i>cgt</i>) knock down mutant	Prof. Dr. Steffen Backert, Magdeburg, Germany
P12 ∆ <i>cag</i> PAI	HP0520-48	Kam ^R	<i>cag</i> PAI knock down mutant	Prof. Dr. Steffen Backert, Magdeburg, Germany

2.1.8.2 Bacterial Culture Media and Plates

H. pylori culture media and plates

BHI Culture Medium - BHI medium supplemented with 10%FCS, 1% Vitaminmix and

0.1% Vancomycin (10mg/l)

GC-Agar Base Plates - Prepared by dissolving 36g/I GC-agar base and 15g/I Peptose

Peptone (Glaxo India Ltd, Mumbai; Difco/ Becton Dickenson, Maryland, USA) in double

distilled water and sterilized by autoclaving. After cooling, the media were supplemented

with 10ml/l Vitaminmix, 100ml/l horse serum, 10mg/l vancomycin and 4mg/l

chloramphenicol or 8mg/l kanamycin before pouring to sterile petri dishes.

Vitaminmix Preparation – Prepared by mixing Solution-I and Solution-II and making up

to 1000ml using double distilled water.

Solution-I (500 ml in ddH₂O)

100 g/l Dextrose; 10 g/l L-Glutamin; 26 g/l L-Cystein; 0,1 g/l Cocarboxylase; 0,02 g/l Fe(NO₂)₂; 0,003 g/l Thiamin-HCl; 0,013 g/l p-Aminobenzoic acid; 0,250 g/l

 NAD^{+} ; 0,010 g/l Vitamin B₁₂

Solution-II (300 ml in dd. H2O + 15 ml HCI)

1,1 g/l L-Cystein; 1 g/l Adenine; 0,03 g/l Guanine-HCl; 0,150 g/l L-Arginine; 0,5 g/l Uracil

2.1.9 Eukaryotic cell lines

Cell line THP1	Origin/Type Human Monocytic leukaemia cells	Reference ATCC TIB 202
HEK293	Human Embryonic Kidney cells	ATCC CRL-1573
HEK293-TLR2	HEK293 cells stably transfected with pUNO- hTLR2, Blasticidin resistant	Invivogen, France
HEK293-TLR5	HEK293 cells stably transfected with pUNO- hTLR5, Blasticidin resistant	Invivogen, France
HEK293-TLR10-HA	HEK293 cells stably transfected with pUNO- hTLR10-HA, Blasticidin resistant	Invivogen, France

2.1.9.1 Eukaryotic Cell Culture Media

Cell line	Medium
THP1	Roswell Park Memorial Institute Media (RPMI) 1640 containing 2 mM L-glutamine, 25 mM HEPES, 10% FBS (Invitrogen, Germany) supplemented with 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution (Sigma Germany)
HEK293	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (D- MEM) containing 4.5g/L D-glucose, 4 mM L-glutamine, 110 mg/L sodium pyruvate, 10% FBS (Invitrogen, Germany) supplemented with 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution (Sigma, Germany)
HEK293-TLR2	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (D- MEM) containing 4.5g/L D-glucose, 4 mM L-glutamine, 110 mg/L sodium pyruvate, 10% FBS (Invitrogen, Germany) supplemented with 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution (Sigma, Germany) and 10 µg/ml blasticidin (Invivogen, France)
HEK293-TLR2	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (D- MEM) containing 4.5g/L D-glucose, 4 mM L-glutamine, 110 mg/L sodium pyruvate, 10% FBS (Invitrogen, Germany) supplemented with 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution (Sigma, Germany) and 10 µg/ml blasticidin (Invivogen, France)
HEK293-TLR10-HA	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (D-MEM) containing $4.5g/L$ D-glucose, 4 mM L-glutamine, 110 mg/L sodium pyruvate, 10% FBS (Invitrogen, Germany) supplemented with 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution (Sigma, Germany) and 10 µg/ml blasticidin (Invivogen, France)

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Collection and transport of Clinical Specimen

The gastric mucosal biopsy samples were collected from patients who have under gone upper gastrointestinal endoscopy in the Department of Gastroenterology, Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences, Kozhikode, Kerala, India (Approved by the institutional Ethics Committee). These samples were trasferred to sterile eppendorf tubes and transported to the Department of Biotechnology, University of Calicut in a refrigerated flask within 2h of collection.

2.2.2 Biochemical and Molecular Biological Methods

2.2.2.1 Rapid Urease Test (RUT)

Rapid urease solution was prepared using K_2HPO_4 (11 mM), NaCl (85 mM), urea (0.33 M) and phenol red (100 μ M) (Merck, India) in water and pH was adjusted to 6.8. It was then filter (0.2 μ m) sterilized and stored at 4°C. Small piece of gastric mucosal biopsy specimen from patients were incubated in 0.5 ml of the medium in a test tube and positive reaction reported by change in colour from golden yellow to pink within 6 hr and such specimens only used for the present study.

2.2.2.2 DNA Isolation from Clinical Biopsy Samples

DNA was isolated from gastric mucosal biopsies by boiling in 100 µl of sterile double distilled water for 10 minutes and cooling it on ice for 5 min. It was then centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant containing DNA was used for PCR study.

2.2.2.3 PCR for *H. pylori* genotyping

PCR was performed using 5 µl of DNA solution at a final volume of 25 µl containing 60mM Tris-HCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 25mM KCl, 250µM dNTPs, 20pM each of forward and reverse primers and 1U of *Taq* DNA polymerase (Biogene, USA) in a MJ Ressearch PTC 150 thermocycler. All negative reactions were ruled out by checking again in a larger scale (50µl) reaction. The DNA isolated from *H pylori* ATCC 700392 was used as positive control. Custom made oligonucleotide primers for *glmM* gene (Bickley *et al.*, 1993), *cagA*, *vacA*-S region, and *iceA1 and A2* of *H pylori* (Genei, Bangalore, India) were used for this study. Amplified products were separated by agarose gel (1.5%) electrophoresis and visualized using ethidium bromide staining in a gel documentation system (Alpha Imager 2200, USA)

2.2.2.4 PCR for IL1-Receptor Antagonist polymorphism

PCR reaction was performed as mentioned in the above case. The following primers flanking polymorphic variable nucleotide tandem repeats (VNTR) region were used for PCR amplification: 5' CTCAGCAACACTCCTAT 3' (forward) and 5' TCCTGGTCTGCAGGTAA 3'(reverse). Polymerase chain reaction conditions were as follows: 40 cycles at 94°C for 60 seconds, 60°C for 60 seconds, and 72°C for 45 seconds (Joos *et al.*, 2001).

2.2.2.5 RNA Isolation and DNase Digestion

The eukaryotic cell lines such as THP1 cells and HEK293 cells infected with *H. pylori* were used for the isolation of mRNA. The THP1 cells infected with *H. pylori* for the required time periods were separated from bacteria by centrifuging at 150g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant having most of the bacteria were removed carefully and the pellet washed with PBS, pH 7.4 before adding lysis buffer of RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen).

In case of HEK293 cells infected with *H. pylori*, the supernatant was carefully removed and the monolayer washed with PBS, pH 7.4 before adding 300 µl of lysis buffer directly to the wells. The cells were homogenized by pipetting for several times and then added equal amount of 70% ethanol and mixed together by repeated pipetting. Then the mixture was loaded on Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit Spin columns having a specialized silica membrane for RNA binding and subsequent isolation. The RNAs having more than 200 nucleotides only were bound to the membrane, all other small RNAs, genomic DNA and proteins were removed by centrifuging at 8000 rpm for 1 min at RT. The filtrates collected in the attached collection tube of the spin column were removed and the spin columns with bound RNAs were placed on a new collection tube. Then added 350 µl of RW1 solution of the kit to the spin columns with RNA and centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 1min at RT. The columns washed with RW1 solution were placed on a new collection tube and 80 µl of DNase solution (see below) carefully loaded to the membrane without touching the brim of the column to spread evenly on the membrane. Then the columns were incubated for 20 minutes at RT to digest the genomic DNA, if any. After DNase digestion, the spin columns with bound RNA were washed again with 350 µl of RW1 solution. In the next step, the spin columns with bound RNAs were washed with 500 µl of RP1 solution of the kit for two times by centrifuging at 8000 rpm for 1 min at RT and followed by a free run of the column at same rpm for 1 min to remove traces of residual washing solutions, if any. After that, 50 µl of RNase free water was loaded on to the membrane of each RNA bound columns and centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 1 min at RT to collect the RNA in an RNase free collection tube supplied with the kit. The RNA solutions were stored at ²20°C till further use.

2.2.2.6 Quantitative and qualitative Assessment of RNA using Nanodrop[™] Method

All the RNA preparations using RNeasy kit were analyzed spectrophotometrically using Nanodrop[™] 1000 spectrophotometer. The absorbance values of nucleotides at

230 nm, 260 nm, and 280 nm were measured by this system by loading 1 μI of the RNA solution.

A260/280 Ratio

The ratio of absorbance at 260 nm and 280 nm is used to assess the purity of DNA and RNA. A ratio of ~1.8 is generally accepted as "pure" for DNA; a ratio of ~2.0 is generally accepted as "pure" for RNA. If the ratio is appreciably lower in either case, it may indicate the presence of protein, phenol or other contaminants that absorb strongly at or near 280 nm.

A260/230 Ratio

This ratio is used as a secondary measure of nucleic acid purity. The 260/230 values for "pure" nucleic acid are often higher than the respective 260/280 values. Expected 260/230 values are commonly in the range of 2.0-2.2. If the ratio is appreciably lower than expected, it may indicate the presence of contaminants which absorb at 230 nm. EDTA, carbohydrates and phenol all have absorbance near 230 nm.

RNA preparations which have A260/280 and A260/230 values above 2.0 were used for cDNA preparation and subsequent Real Time PCR.



Fig.1 Typical spectral pattern for Nucleic Acids in Nanodrop[™]1000

2.2.2.7 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis for Checking Integrity of RNA

Native agarose gel electrophoresis found to be sufficient to analyze the integrity and overall quality of a total RNA preparation by inspection of the 28S and 18S rRNA bands. The 28S rRNA band should be approximately twice as intense as the 18S rRNA band. This 2:1 ratio (28S:18S) is a good indication that the RNA is intact. 1% agarose was prepared in 0.5M TBE buffer containing 0.1 µg/ml ethidium bromide by heating in a microwave oven. The gel solution was then poured on to the gel making tray (BioRad, Munich, Germany) and kept for 20 min at RT to form the gel. Then the samples were mixed with 6X loading dye (Fermentas, Germany) and loaded on to the gel with known molecular weight markers. Then the gel submerged in 0.5M TBE buffer were run at 5-6 V/cm until the bromophenol blue dye has migrated as far as 2/3 the length of the gel. After the run, RNA integrity on gel with ethidium bromide was visualized in a digital gel documentation system DNA Molecular Weight Marker XIVTM (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim).

2.2.2.8 Reverse Transcriptase PCR

The purified mRNAs from *H. pylori* infected cell lines were used to prepare cDNA by RT-PCR. The RT-PCR in principle synthesizing the first strand complimentary DNA from mRNA with help of Oligo dT primers, which binds to Poly A tail of all eukaryotic mRNAs, and Moloney Murine Leukaemia Virus (M-MLV) Reverse Transcriptase. The reaction mixture should contain deoxynucleotide triphosphate (dNTPs), dithiothreitol (DTT), RNase Inhibitor in 1X First strand buffer. The following table gives the details of the reaction mixture. The reaction mixture was incubated at 37°C for 1h to prepare cDNA

Materials	Volume (µl)	Final Concentration
RNAse free water	28.4	
5X First strand buffer	10.0	1x
dNTPs (25mM)	4.0	2.0mM
Oligo dT Primer (0,5µg)	1.0	25.0µM
DTT (0.1M)	5.0	25.0mM
Rnase Inhibitor (170 U/µI)	0,6	2.6 U
Reverse Transcriptase (200 U/µI)	1.0	4.0 U
RNA solution	10.0	1-5 µg
Total	50.0	

The cDNA prepared from infected cell transcriptome were stored at ⁻20°C till further use.

2.2.2.9 Taqman Real Time PCR

Reverse Transcriptase PCR is the most sensitive method widely used for the detection and quantitation of mRNA expression. RT-PCR has the advantage that it can be used to quantify mRNA from much smaller samples or even from a single cell when compared to other quantifying methods such as Northern blot analysis and RNase protection assay. The development of reagents and instrumentation to detect the real time detection of PCR product formation has made Real Time PCR as the best method of choice for gene expression studies. The Taqman Real Time PCR uses the fluorescent oligonucleotide probes labeled with one reporter dye at 5' end of the probe and quencher dye at the 3' end along with the usual sense and anti-sense primers used in PCR. These probes are designed to hybridize to an internal region of a PCR product. The probe when attached to the template or unattached, the quencher dye reduces the fluorescence from reporter dye by the mechanism of Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET), which is the inhibition of one dye caused by another without emission of a proton. When the Tagman PCR proceed, the probe annealed to the template will be removed by the exonuclease activity of Tag polymerase and this separates the reporter dye from the quencher and that increases the emission of fluorescence. DNase treated mRNA samples isolated from H. pylori infected cells were used for first strand cDNA preparation using reverse transcriptase. Tagman probes and primers prepared using Primer express software (Applied Biosystems, CA) were used for the analysis (12).

All primers were used at concentration of 100 pM for forward and reverse primers and 10 pM for probes in a 25 µl reaction volume containing Taqman Universal Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Germany). In case of Applied Biosystems Gene Expression Assays, 1µl of primer mix (20X) was mixed with cDNA solution and Taqman Master Mix in a final volume of 20 µl. The reactions were performed in Applied Biosystems sequence detection system 5700 and data analyzed using SDS software. PCR reaction parameters

were as following: 52°C for 10min for activation, 95°C for 2min as one cycle and 95°C for 15s and 58 or 60°C for 1min in 45 cycles. The fold changes in gene expression were analyzed using $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method using house keeping gene GAPDH as internal control.

 $\Delta\Delta Ct = \Delta Ct$ sample - ΔCt control



Fig.2 Diagramatic representation of Taqman Real Time PCR

Here, ΔCt sample is the C_t value for any infected cell samples normalized to the endogenous GAPDH and ΔCt control is the C_t value for the uninfected control cells also normalized to the endogenous GAPDH.



Fig.3 Real time analysis of Taqman PCR using SDS software and Ct value calculation

2.2.2.10 Immunoprecipitation

Immunoprecipitation is the technique used to isolate protein antigens using specific antibodies and a solid support. In this technique, the antibodies against a particular protein of interest are treated with crude cell lysate to precipitate as immune complexes. The immune complexes can be recovered to a solid support by using antibody bound (direct) or protein G bound (indirect) agarose beads. This method is also used to precipitate protein complexes, in which one protein antigen binds to its antibody, can be able to pull down the entire molecular complex from crude cell lysates known as co-immunoprecipitation. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) uses to precipitate the DNA binding proteins such as transcription factors to understand the protein-DNA interaction occur inside the nucleus of a cell. RNA Immunoprecipitation (RIP) is a technique using to study the RNA binding proteins,

The whole cell extract was prepared using lysis buffer containing pan protease inhibitors. Then the whole cell extracts were pre-cleared with Protein-G sepharose beads (Amersham Pharmacia, Germany) for 2 h at 4°C. After pre-clearing the beads were removed by centrifugation at 5000 rpm for 5min at 4°C. The monoclonal antibodies against human TLR-5 or TLR-10 (Imgenex, USA) were added to pre-cleared lysate in each case and incubated overnight at 4°C in a rotatory shaker at low speed. The immune complexes were precipitated using Protein-G sepharose beads by incubating for 4h at 4°C and subsequent centrifugation at 5000 rpm for 5min. The Protein-G sepharose beads bound immune complexes were washed three times with PBS, pH 7.4 and then added SDS lysis buffer (2%SDS, 10% Glycerol, 0.01% Bromophenol blue, 62.6 mM Tris-HCl, 0.1M DTT) and boiled for 5 min before using for SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis.

2

Lysis Buffer	
Tris	20mM pH 7
NaCl	150mM
EDTA	5mM
Triton X-100	1%
Glycerol	10%
Na ₃ VO ₄	1mM
Protease inhibitor cocktail	
(Roche)	

2.2.2.11 SDS- Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis and Western Blot Analysis

SDS-PAGE is using for the separation of proteins based on their size (Laemmli UK, 1970). The solution of proteins to be analyzed is first mixed with SDS, an anionic detergent which denatures secondary and non-disulfide-linked tertiary structures, and applies a negative charge to each protein in proportion to its mass. When loaded onto a gel matrix and placed in an electric field, the negatively charged protein molecules migrate towards the positively charged electrode and are separated by a molecular sieving effect. SDS binds in a ratio of approximately 1.4 g SDS per 1.0 g protein (although binding ratios can vary from 1.1-2.2 g SDS/g protein), giving an approximately uniform mass:charge ratio for most proteins, so that the distance of migration through the gel can be assumed to be directly related to only the size of the protein. Besides the

addition of SDS, proteins may optionally be briefly heated to near boiling in the presence of a reducing agent, such as DTT or 2-mercaptoethanol, which further denatures the proteins by reducing disulfide linkages, thus overcoming some forms of tertiary protein folding, and breaking up quaternary protein structure (oligomeric subunits). The denatured proteins are subsequently applied to one end of a layer of polyacrylamide gel submerged in a suitable buffer. An electric current is applied across the gel, causing the negatively-charged proteins to migrate across the gel towards the anode. Following electrophoresis, proteins in a polyacrylamide gel can be visualized by staining (e.g. Coomassie staining) or blotted onto a positively charged membrane and probed with protein-specific antibodies. With the semi-dry electro-blotting method, the gel and membrane are sandwiched between two stacks of filter paper that have been pre-wet with transfer buffer. The membrane is placed near the anode, and the gel is placed near the cathode. Proteins are transferred to the membrane when an electric current is applied. The specificity of the antibody-antigen interaction enables a single protein to be identified in the midst of a complex protein mixture that has been immobilized on a membrane. The membrane is blocked to prevent any non-specific binding of antibodies to its surface and then primary antibody is added. In order to locate it, a secondary antibody is applied which binds to all IgG antibodies from animal species in which primary antibody was generated. The secondary antibody is chemically coupled to a reporter, e.g. to an enzyme that after addition of appropriate substrate produces luminescent reaction products which allows its detection.

The protein samples prepared from THP1 infected cells were lysed in SDS buffer (2%SDS, 10% Glycerol, 0.01% Bromophenol blue, 62.6 mM Tris-HCl, 0.1M DTT) (Fermentas, St. Leon Rot, Germany) and boiled at 95°C for 5 min. Then the protein samples were separated on 6-15% SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) depending on the size of the protein of interest. Prestained Page Ruler Plus (Fermentas, St. Leon Rot, Germany) was used as standard protein markers during the

run. After the run, the gel separated proteins were blotted to poly vinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane and blocked with 5% milk powder in PBS with Tween (PBST). Then, the membrane was probed with primary antibody against protein of interest diluted in 5% BSA or Milk Powder in TBST. After washing the membrane with PBST for three times, probed secondary antibody conjugated with horse radish peroxidase at a dilution of 1:1000. Then the membrane washed three times with PBST and the protein bands were visualized using ECL Plus detection reagents (Amersham Biosciences, Germany) and Lumi-Image F1 (Roche, Germany) imaging system. Preparation, running, blotting and staining of the gels was performed according to Sambrook *et al.*, 1989 with use of Mini-Protean 3 gel system, (120 V, 1.5-2 hrs, RT) (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, USA), semi-dry blotting apparatus (0.8 mA/cm², 2 hrs, RT) (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) and buffers listed below.

Gel running buffer pH 8.3

Tris	3.20 g/l
Glycine	18.80 g/l
10% (v/v) SDS	10.00ml/l

Transfer buffer pH 8.4

Tris	3.00 g/l
Glycine	14.50 g/l
10% (v/v) SDS	10 .00ml/l
Methanol	200.00 ml/l

10xTBS buffer pH 7.4

Tris	24.20 g/l
NaCl	80.00 g/l

TBS-T buffer pH 7.4

10xTBS pH 7.4	100.00ml/l
Tween 20	1.00ml/l

To re-probe the membrane with another primary antibody, membrane was incubated in stripping buffer for 45 min at 60℃, washed extensively in TBS-T, blocked and probed again as described above.

Stripping buffer pH 6.7

1M Tris	62.50 ml/l
10% (v/v) SDS	200.00ml/l
ß-merkaptoethanol	8.33 ml/l

2.2.2.12 ELISA (Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay)

ELISA is a biochemical technique used mainly in immunology to detect the presence of an antibody or an antigen in a sample. The sample with an unknown amount of antigen is immobilized on a solid support (usually 96 well plate) either non-specifically or specifically. After the antigen is immobilized the detection antibody is added, forming a complex with the antigen. The detection antibody can be covalently linked to an enzyme, or can itself be detected by a secondary antibody which is linked to an enzyme through bioconjugation. Between each step the plate is typically washed with a mild detergent solution to remove any proteins or antibodies that are not specifically bound. After the final wash step the plate is developed by adding an enzymatic substrate to produce a visible signal, which indicates the quantity of antigen in the sample. In sandwich ELISA, proteins are immobilized on a solid support and used as capture molecules to bind the protein that is being assayed. After a wash step to remove non-specifically bound material, a secondary antibody, specific for the target protein, is added. This secondary antibody is usually conjugated to an enzyme that allows its detection by chromogenic or chemiluminescent methods. In parallel, series of dilutions of known concentration of a standard are assayed alongside and the concentration of protein is determined based on standard curve obtained from this measurement.

IL-1β, IL-8 and TNFα secreted into the cell culture supernatants during *H. pylori* infection with cells were determined by ELISA using the OptEIATM human IL-8 and TNFα kits (BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) and according to the manufacturers' instructions. For this purpose, 96-well plates were coated with 100 µl/well of a human IL-8 monoclonal antibody diluted (1:250) in Coating Buffer (0.1 NaCO₃ pH 9.5) and incubated overnight at 4℃. Wells were aspirated and washed three times with 300 µl/well of Wash Buffer (PBS-0.05% Tween 20). Plates were blocked with 200 µl/well of Assay Diluent (PBS-10% FBS) and incubated for 1 h at RT. Wells were aspirated and

washed three times with 300 μl/well of Wash Buffer. Standard and sample dilutions (1:20) in Assay Diluent were prepared. 100 μl of standard or sample was pipetted into appropriate wells and incubated for 2 hrs at RT. Wells were aspirated and washed three times with 300 μl/well of Wash Buffer. 100 μl of Working Detector (biotinylated anti-human IL-1β, IL-8 or TNFα monoclonal antibody, streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase conjugate reagent) was added to each well and incubated for 1 h at RT. Wells were aspirated and washed three times with 300 μl/well of Wash Buffer. 100 μl of Substrate Solution (tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) and hydrogen peroxide) was added to each well and incubate for 30 min at RT in the dark. The reaction was stopped by adding of 50 μl of Stop Solution (2 N H₂SO₄) to each well. The absorbance was measured at λ =450 nm with λ correction at 570 nm in a microplate reader (Spectrafluor Plus, TECAN, Crailsheim, Germany). Values were calculated from a standard curve. IL-1β, IL-8 and TNFα secreted into the cell culture supernatants during infection with *H. pylori* were quantified according to procedure described above.

2.2.3 Bacterial Culture Methods2.2.3.1 *Helicobacter pylori*

H. pylori were cultivated on GC-Agar plates supplemented with vitamix and antibiotics under microaerophilic (5% O₂, 10% CO₂ and 85% N₂) conditions prepared using Campygen (Oxoid, Hampshire, England) in an anaerobic jar at 37°C for 48h. The colonies grown on plates were resuspended in 1 ml of BHI (Oxoid, Hampshire, England) medium using a sterile wet cotton swab and spreaded on a new GC-agar-plate. Then, the used swab immersed in another 1 ml of BHI medium and spreaded on another plate and this step was repeated once more using a third GC-agar plate. All the plates were grown under the conditions mentioned earlier. The colonies grown on third plate was used for the infection assay. The knocks out mutants of H. pylori were grown on selective GC-agar plates supplemented with specific antibiotics such as Chloramphenicol or Kanamycin.

2.2.4 Eukaryotic Cell Culture Methods2.2.4.1 THP1 Monocytic Leukaemia Cell line Culture

THP1 is a human monocytic leukaemia cell line. THP1 cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) supplemented with 1% antibiotic and antimycotic solution (Sigma, Taufkirschen, Germany) in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified incubator. The cells were sub-cultured using 1/4 of the 3 days grown culture with 3/4 of the fresh medium. This method is used for maintaining continuous passage of cells, normally. Otherwise, cells cultured for the log phase of the growth were used for cryopreservation for long time storage. The cells were isolated by centrifugation at 150g for 10 min at RT and the pellet resuspended in cryopreservation medium (RPMI-1640 medium-60%, FBS-20% and DMSO-10%) and made up to 1.8 ml at a cell concentration of 2x10⁶ cells in a cryovial (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany). Then the cryovials were stored at '70°C for 24h before transferring to liquid nitrogen for long term storage.

The cells kept in liquid nitrogen were revived, when needed, by thawing the vial immediately at 37°C water bath and the vial contents were transferred to 12 ml of fresh RPMI medium taken in a 15 ml tube to wash the cells by centrifugation at 150g for 5 min. The pellet was resuspended in 2 ml cRPMI medium and then transferred to 8 ml warm media taken in a 25 cm² culture flask (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) and incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified chamber for 3 days before subculturing.

2.2.4.2 THP1 Derived Dendritic Cell Culture

THP1 cells were reported to be used as a source for preparing monotypic dendritic cells (Berges C *et al,* 2005). In this study, we have differentiated THP1 monocytes in to DCs by culturing in complete RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% FBS and supplemented with 100 µg /ml of rhIL-4 and rhGM-CSF (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ,

USA) and 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution for 5 days. After every 2 days, cultures were replenished with cytokine added medium. THP1 derived DCs were analyzed microscopically for their characteristic morphology before using for the infection assay.

2.2.4.3 HEK293 Cell Line Culture

HEK293 cells purchased from invivogen were maintained in DMEM containing 4.5g/L D-glucose, 4 mM L-glutamine, 110 mg/L sodium pyruvate, 10% FBS (Invitrogen, Germany) supplemented with 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution (Sigma, Germany) in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified incubator. The cells were grown 75% confluent within 2 days of culture in DMEM and then detached from the adherent surface by gentle tapping. The subculturing was done by adding 1/3 of the detached cells in DMEM to 2/3 of the fresh media and the mixture incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified chamber for normal passage. Otherwise, the detached cells were suspended properly in culture medium and then centrifuged to remove the supernatant. The cell pellet then dissolved in cryopreseravtive medium (DMEM-60%, FBS-20% and DMSO-10%) and made up to 1.8 ml at a cell concentration of 2x10⁶ cells in a cryovial (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany). Then the cryovials were stored at '70°C for 24h before transferring to liquid nitrogen for long term storage.

The frozen cells were thawed at 37°C immediately and the content transferred to 12 ml of fresh DMEM media in a 15 ml and washed by centrifugation at 150g for 5 min. The cell pellet was resuspended in 2 ml complete DMEM and then transferred to 3 ml warm fresh media taken in a 25cm² culture flask (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) and incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified chamber for 2 days before subculturing.

2.2.4.4 HEK293-THLR2 Cell Line Culture

HEK293 cells stably transfected with pUNO-hTLR2, Blasticidin resistant, purchased from invivogen were maintained in DMEM containing 4.5g/L D-glucose, 4 mM

L-glutamine, 110 mg/L sodium pyruvate, 10% FBS (Invitrogen, Germany) supplemented with 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution (Sigma, Germany) and 10 µg/ml Blasticidin (Invivogen) in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified incubator. The cells were grown 75% confluent within 2 days of culture in DMEM and then detached from the adherent surface by gentle tapping. The subculturing was done by adding 1/3 of the detached cells in DMEM to 2/3 of the fresh media and the mixture incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified chamber for normal passage. Otherwise, the detached cells were suspended properly in culture medium and then centrifuged to remove the supernatant. The cell pellet then dissolved in cryopreseravtive medium (DMEM-60%, FBS-20% and DMSO-10%) and made up to 1.8 ml at a cell concentration of 2x10⁶ cells in a cryovial (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany). Then the cryovials were stored at '70°C for 24h before transferring to liquid nitrogen for long term storage.

The frozen cells were thawed at 37°C immediately and the content transferred to 12 ml of fresh DMEM media in a 15 ml and washed by centrifugation at 150g for 5 min. The cell pellet was resuspended in 2 ml complete DMEM and then transferred to 3 ml warm fresh media taken in a 25cm² culture flask (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) and incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified chamber for 2 days before subculturing.

2.2.4.5 HEK293-THLR5 Cell Line Culture

HEK293 cells stably transfected with pUNO-hTLR5, Blasticidin resistant, purchased from invivogen were maintained in DMEM containing 4.5g/L D-glucose, 4 mM L-glutamine, 110 mg/L sodium pyruvate, 10% FBS (Invitrogen, Germany) supplemented with 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution (Sigma, Germany) and 10 µg/ml Blasticidin (Invivogen) in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified incubator. The cells were grown 75% confluent within 2 days of culture in DMEM and then detached from the

adherent surface by gentle tapping. The subculturing was done by adding 1/3 of the detached cells in DMEM to 2/3 of the fresh media and the mixture incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified chamber for normal passage. Otherwise, the detached cells were suspended properly in culture medium and then centrifuged to remove the supernatant. The cell pellet then dissolved in cryopreseravtive medium (DMEM-60%, FBS-20% and DMSO-10%) and made up to 1.8 ml at a cell concentration of 2x10⁶ cells in a cryovial (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany). Then the cryovials were stored at '70°C for 24h before transferring to liquid nitrogen for long term storage.

The frozen cells were thawed at 37°C immediately and the content transferred to 12 ml of fresh DMEM media in a 15 ml and washed by centrifugation at 150g for 5 min. The cell pellet was resuspended in 2 ml complete DMEM and then transferred to 3 ml warm fresh media taken in a 25cm² culture flask (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) and incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified chamber for 2 days before subculturing.

2.2.4.6 HEK293-THLR10-HA Cell Line Culture

HEK293 cells stably transfected with pUNO-hTLR10-HA, Blasticidin resistant, purchased from invivogen were maintained in DMEM containing 4.5g/L D-glucose, 4 mM L-glutamine, 110 mg/L sodium pyruvate, 10% FBS (Invitrogen, Germany) supplemented with 1% Antibiotic and Antimycotic solution (Sigma, Germany) and 10 µg/ml Blasticidin (Invivogen) in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified incubator. The cells were grown 75% confluent within 2 days of culture in DMEM and then detached from the adherent surface by gentle tapping. The subculturing was done by adding 1/3 of the detached cells in DMEM to 2/3 of the fresh media and the mixture incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified chamber for normal passage. Otherwise, the detached cells were suspended properly in culture medium and then centrifuged to

remove the supernatant. The cell pellet then dissolved in cryopreseravtive medium (DMEM-60%, FBS-20% and DMSO-10%) and made up to 1.8 ml at a cell concentration of 2x10⁶ cells in a cryovial (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany). Then the cryovials were stored at '70°C for 24h before transferring to liquid nitrogen for long term storage.

The frozen cells were thawed at 37°C immediately and the content transferred to 12 ml of fresh DMEM media in a 15 ml and washed by centrifugation at 150g for 5 min. The cell pellet was resuspended in 2 ml complete DMEM and then transferred to 3 ml warm fresh media taken in a 25cm² culture flask (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) and incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C in a humidified chamber for 2 days before subculturing.

2.2.5 Infection Assay

2.2.5.1 Helicobacter pylori infection with THP1 Cells

THP1 cells maintained in complete RPMI supplemented with Antibiotic and Antimycotic cells were washed with fresh RPMI media to remove the residual before using for the infection assay. The washed cells were suspended in cRPMI without antibiotics and antimycotics and aliquoted to 12 well or 6 well plates (Greiner-Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) at a concentration of 5x10⁵ cells/ml and 1x10⁶ cells/ml, respectively, and incubated for atleast 5h before infection.

The *H. pylori* grown on the third plate (see section 2.2.2.1) were resuspended in Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS), pH 7.4 using a sterile wet cotton swab ((Raucotupf, Lohmann & Rascher, Rengsdorf, Germany) and the bacterial concentration was measured using Absorbance at 550nm using a spectrophotometer with reference to the known growth curve measurement. This was also cross checked with colonies grown on GC-Agar plates after serial dilution of the bacterial suspension. The THP1 cells grown in cRPMI without antibiotics and antimycotics were infected with *H. pylori* at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) =1:50. The uninfected cells were added with equal amount of PBS as control. The infected cells and uninfected control cells after required time of incubation were harvested from tissue culture plates and centrifuged at 150g for 5 min at 4°C, this process keeps most of the bacteria in the supernatant. Supernatant was saved after centrifugation at 3000 g for 10 min to remove the bacteria and stored at -80°C for measuring secreted cytokines by ELISA. Otherwise, removed the bacteria rich supernatant completely and the cells pellet were lysed using respective lysis buffer used in the RNA isolation or SDS-PAGE methods.

2.2.5.2 Helicobacter pylori infection with THP1 derived DCs

THP1 derived DCs maintained in complete RPMI supplemented with 100 μ g /ml of rhIL-4 and rhGM-CSF (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ, USA) and Antibiotic and Antimycotic were washed with fresh RPMI media to remove the residual before using for the infection assay. The washed cells were suspended in cRPMI without antibiotics and antimycotics and aliquoted to 12 well plates at a concentration of 2x10⁵ cells/ml and incubated for atleast 5h before infection.

The infection of DCs with *H. pylori* and cell isolation by centrifugation were done as in the case of THP1 cells as described above. The cell pellet was lysed in lysis buffer of Qiagen RNeasy Kit and used for RNA isolation.

2.2.5.3 *Helicobacter pylori* infection with HEK293 cell lines (HEK293, HEK293 TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10-HA)

HEK293 cell lines maintained in DMEM supplemented with Antibiotic and Antimycotic or/and Blasticidin were harvested by gently tapping the tissue culture flask. The cells harvested were washed with antibiotic and antimycotic free DMEM and the pellet resuspended in fresh medium. The cells were then subcultured in the antibiotic and

antimycotic free media in 6 well culture plates and when it reaches 70-80% confluent cultures used for infection assay with *H. pylori*.

The infections with *H. pylori* were done as in the case of THP1 cells as described above. The cells after infection were harvested by removing the overlaying medium. Then the cells were washed with fresh warm DMEM. In the case of analysis of cytokine secretion analysis, supernatant was saved after centrifugation at 3000 g for 10 min to remove the bacteria and stored at -80°C for measuring secreted cytokines by ELISA. The *H. pylori* infected monolayer were lysed using respective lysis buffer used in the RNA isolation or SDS-PAGE methods by directly adding to the well.

2.2.6 Inhibitor Assay

THP1 cells maintained in complete RPMI supplemented with 1% antibiotic and antimycotic cells were washed with fresh RPMI media to remove the residual before using for the infection assay. The washed cells were suspended in cRPMI without antibiotics and antimycotics and aliquoted to 6 well plates at a concentration of 1×10^6 cells/mI and incubated for atleast 5h before infection.

The THP1 cells were treated with Src-kinase inhibitor PP2 (20 μ M), EGFR-kinase inhibitor AG1478 (20 μ M) and pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK (20 μ M) in DMSO and control cells with equivalent amount of DMSO alone for 30 min before infecting with *H. pylori* to study the influence on cytokine release from infected cells.

2.2.7 Statistical Analysis

All the data were expressed as mean \pm SD and the level of significance was analysed by the method of paired T-test using the software SPSS-11.5 (SPSS Inc. USA)



3. Results

3.1 THP1cells infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants

THP1 cells cultured in complete RPMI-1640 medium were used for the infection with H.pylori and isogenic mutants. The cells were analyzed under phase contrast microscope after 6h of infection with H. pylori and isogenic mutants at MOI (multiplicity of infection) of 1:50. The uninfected cells were monotypic and rounded in shape under phase contrast microscopic examination at a magnification of 40x. It has been reported that U937 macrophage cell lines have formed homotypic cellular aggregates during infection with H. pylori and that correlated with the expression of ICAM-1 and receptor LFA-1 and depended on cagPAI status (Moese S et al, 2002). H. pylori strains are also reported to be exhibiting haemagglutination properties (Valkonen KH et al, 1997). In the present study, we have analyzed the morphological features of THP1 cells after 6 h of infection with *H. pylori* wild type and isogenic mutants of $\Delta cagA$, $\Delta vacA$, $\Delta flaA$, Δcgt and $\Delta cagPAI$. Infection of THP-1 cells with *H. pylori* wild type and isogenic mutants resulted in the aggregate formation of THP1 cells. However, *\(\Delta cagPAI\)* infected cells, which showed the least induction of aggregate formation and the aggregates found to be small in size when compared to the aggregate induction by wild type and other isogenic mutants studied (Fig.1).

3.2 TLR mRNA expression in THP-1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants

Toll like receptors are one of the major molecules of the innate immune system for detecting different molecular patterns of the invading microorganisms. The active involvements of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as TLRs are paving way for a successful adaptive immunity to ward off the infection. TLR molecule engagement with ligands will induce different cellular signalling pathways to produce inflammatory mediators at the site of infection (Takeda Y *et al*, 2003). These molecules are capable of regulating the normal cellular events of the epithelial cells and attracting the immune



Figure.1 THP1 monocytic leukaemia cells (A) infected with *H. pylori* wild type (B) and isogenic mutants of $\triangle cagA$ (C), $\triangle vacA$ (D), $\triangle flaA$ (E), $\triangle cgt$ (F) and $\triangle cagPAI$ (G) at 6h of infection (MOI - 1:50). Magnification – 40x

cells to the site of infection. Although epithelial cells forms the natural barrier against infection, the combined activities of immune cells such as phagocytosis, antigen presentation and production of soluble mediators like antibodies, cytokines and chemokines making the removal of microorganisms or containing of infection at particular sites only. H. pylori is a gastric pathogen and a known causative factor for gastritis, peptic ulcer and gastric cancer. It has been reported earlier that H. pylori is able to colonize the gastric epithelium for long period even after the successful initiation of adaptive immune responses (Smythies LE et al, 2000; Guiney DG et al, 2003; Hafsi N et al, 2004; de Jonge R et al, 2004). It has also been reported that TLR-2 and TLR-5 mRNA expressions were increased during H. pylori infection in the epithelial cells and initiated signalling pathways that enhanced activation of NFkB (Smith MF et al, 2004; Maeda S et al, 2001; Backhead F et al, 2003). TLR-1 to 10 mRNA expression dynamics during H. pylori infection with human THP-1 monocytes and THP-1 derived DCs were analyzed in this study at the mRNA level and TLR-5 and TLR-10 at the protein level. THP-1 cell is one of the best systems to study all the 10 TLR molecules as it is reported to be expressing all TLRs constitutively (Zarember KA and Godowski PJ, 2002). The THP-1 cells maintained in complete RPMI 1640 medium were used for infection assays with H. pylori strain P12 and its isogenic mutants such as $\triangle cagA$, $\triangle vacA$, $\triangle flaA$, $\triangle cgt$ and Δcag PAI. The dynamics of mRNA expression of TLR-1 to TLR-10 were determined by Tagman Quantitative RT-PCR relative to the expression of house keeping gene GAPDH. TLR expression pattern in THP1 cells at MOI of 1:50 of *H. pylori* and mutant strains were analyzed after 6h and 24h of infection in both cell types.

TLR-1, TLR-2 and TLR-6 have been phylogenetically grouped as one of the five subfamilies among TLRs and reported to be detecting lipopeptides, lipoproteins and peptidoglycans (PGN) molecules in general (Takeda Y *et al*, 2003; Ozinsky A *et al*, 2000). The present study revealed that TLR-1 and TLR-2 mRNA expression have moderately increased after 6h and 24h of infection with *H. pylori* wild type when

compared to uninfected cells. $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$ isogenic mutant strains were the least inducers of TLR-1 and TLR-2 mRNAs in THP-1 cells. TLR-6 mRNA expression was more than 10 fold after 6h and increased to 15 fold after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* when compared to uninfected control cells. $\Delta flaA$, $\Delta vacA$, Δcgt and $\Delta cagPAI$ isogenic mutants were not potent inducers of TLR-6 mRNA expression in THP-1 cells at 6 h of infection when compared to wild type and $\Delta cagA$ isogenic mutant. However, Δcgt and $\Delta cagPAI$ isogenic mutants have induced similar level of TLR-6 mRNA expression induced by wild type strain after 24h of infection with THP-1 cells (Fig.2,3 and Table.1,2)..

The second subfamily of TLRs includes TLR-7, TLR-8 and TLR-9 and all are known to be activated upon binding with nucleic acid ligands (Coban C et al, 2005, Diebold S et al, 2004; Heil F et al, 2004). TLR-7 mRNA expressions in THP-1 cells have been increased to 30 fold after 6h and 70 fold after 24h of infection with H. pylori when compared to uninfected control cells. TLR-7 is the highly induced molecule among all the TLRs in THP-1 cells analyzed during infection with *H. pylori*. $\triangle cagA$ isogenic mutant strain has increased TLR-7 mRNA expression higher than wild type strain (34 fold), though not significantly, after 6h of infection. No further increase in the TLR-7 mRNA expression was noted even after 24h of infection. However, wild type strain induced TLR-7 mRNA expression has elevated to 72 fold after 24h of infection when compared to uninfected control cells. Δcaq PAI, Δcqt , and $\Delta vacA$ isogenic mutant strains were found to be less potent than wild type strain on inducing TLR-7 mRNA expression. *AflaA* isogenic mutant was the least inducer of TLR-7 mRNA expression in THP-1 cells among all the mutant strains tested and the expression was increased to 4 fold after 6h and this level was reduced to 2 fold after 24h of infection. TLR-8 mRNA expression was induced more than 15 and 12 fold in THP-1 cells by *H. pylori* wild type and $\triangle cagA$ isogenic mutant, respectively. All the other isogenic mutants strains were found to be less potent to induce



TLR-8 mRNA expression after 6h of infection with THP-1 cells. However, *\(\Delta\)cgt* and

Table.1										
	TLR1	±SD	TLR2	±SD	TLR3	±SD	TLR4	±SD	TLR5	±SD
HP wt	1.76	0.49	4.40*	0.30	13.73*	1.08	1.74	0.61	3.83*	0.34
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	1.39	0.19	3.03*#	0.21	4.11*#	0.36	1.72	0.39	2.11*#	0.18
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	1.08	0.06	1.76#	0.11	2.28*#	0.13	1.31	0.13	1.13#	0.11
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	1.10	0.01	2.24#	0.09	1.87#	0.02	0.78	0.04	1.14#	0.18
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	1.96	0.60	3.48*	0.47	11.29*	0.44	1.52	0.36	3.31*	0.26
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	1.64	0.20	3.85*	0.27	9.53*#	0.63	1.82	0.18	3.11*	0.46
Mock	1.00	0.39	1.00	0.25	1.00	0.21	1.00	0.26	1.00	0.21
	TLR6	±SD	TLR7	±SD	TLR8	±SD	TLR9	±SD	TLR10	±SD
HP wt	11.63*	1.25	29.65*	3.20	15.14*	1.03	2.38*	0.16	10.05*	1.08
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	8.63*#	1.01	34.29*	4.04	12.04*#	1.27	1.00#	0.13	6.72*	0.39
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	3.41*#	0.30	6.96*#	0.61	2.26*#	0.20	1,27#	0.11	1.94*#	0.17
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	2.00#	0.27	4.72*#	0.56	2.17#	0.30	0.54#	0.27	1.14#	0.17
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	4.60*#	0.40	8.31*#	0.89	2.91*#	0.28	1.60#	0.12	6.09*	0.60
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	5.19*#	0.40	13.34*#	1.70	2.78#	0.38	0.75#	0.12	2.30#	0.00
Mock	1.00	0.11	1.00	0.20	1.00	0.15	1.00	0.23	1.00	0.20

Figure.2 Fold changes of TLR mRNA expression in THP1 cells after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions of TLRs were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*



Table.2										
	TLR1	±SD	TLR2	±SD	TLR3	±SD	TLR4	±SD	TLR5	±SD
HP wt	6.68*	0,78	2.73*	0.15	32.89*	2.58	3.16*	0.18	11.31*	1.22
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	1.74#	0,42	1.10#	0.18	14.72*#	1.01	1.30#	0.30	3.41*#	0.37
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	2.08#	0,29	0.67#	0.18	9.38*#	0.55	1.34#	0.13	2.73*#	0.30
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	1.05#	0,24	0.46*#	0.03	2.19*#	0.19	0.91#	0.13	1.51#	0.25
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	7.23*	0,49	2.32*#	0.18	16.14*#	1.42	3.73*	0.30	4.57*#	0.27
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	5.71*	0,45	2.75*	0.21	8.18*#	0.64	2.62#	0.23	2.89*#	0.25
Mock	1.00	0,01	1.00	0.06	1.00	0.22	1.00	0.01	1.00	0.15
	TLR6	±SD	TLR7	±SD	TLR8	±SD	TLR9	±SD	TLR10	±SD
HP wt	14.42*	1.13	72.50*	2.84	32.67*	1.28	7.41*	0.72	36.50*	3.22
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	8.81*#	0.95	35.26*#	1.73	28.24*#	2.77	6.27*#	0.74	23.43*	0.92
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	4.92*#	0.29	15.56*#	0.92	7.57*#	0.59	1.69#	0.28	13.08*#	0.77
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	3.46*#	0.31	2.23*#	0.09	3.58*#	0.18	1.35#	0.17	5.28*#	0.21
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	13.35*	0.92	20.60*#	2.01	20.70*#	2.23	1.86*#	0.20	9.40*#	0.93
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	15.66*	1.53	23.74*#	2.32	16.27*#	1.27	3.79*#	0.30	10.73*#	1.05
Mock	1.00	0.12	1.00	0.16	1.00	0.13	1.00	0.10	1.00	0.12

Figure.3 Fold changes of TLR mRNA expression in THP1 cells after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions of TLRs were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*

 Δ *cag*PAI isogenic mutants have induced TLR-8 mRNA expression to 20 and 16 fold after 24h of infection, respectively, when compared to uninfected THP1 cells. Δ *flaA* and Δ *vacA* isogenic mutants have induced 3.5 and 7.5 fold after 24h of infection and become the least inducers of TLR8 mRNA expression in THP1 cells among the strains tested (Fig.2, 3 and Table.1,2)..

TLR-3, the sole member of third subfamily, is known to be detecting double stranded RNAs (Takeda Y *et al*, 2003). *H. pylori* wild type, Δcgt , Δcag PAI and $\Delta cagA$ mutants have increased TLR-3 mRNA expression to 14, 11, 9.5 and 4 folds, respectively, after 6h of infection in THP-1 cells. The fold changes of TLR-3 mRNA expression were 33, 16 and 15 after 24h of infection with wild type, Δcgt and $\Delta cagA$ isogenic mutants of *H. pylori*, respectively. However, Δcag PAI strain did not make significant change in mRNA expression from the above level even after 24h of infection. It is observed that, $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$ isogenic mutants were the least inducers of TLR-3 mRNA expression in THP1 cells when compared to uninfected cells (Fig.2, 3 and Table.1,2).

TLR-4 constitutes the sole member of fourth subfamily of TLRs. TLR-4 has less specificity towards *H. pylori* LPS and hence it has been reported that this receptor having less role in the detection of *H. pylori* infection (Takeda Y *et al*, 2003). In this study, TLR-4 mRNA expression was one of the least induced TLRs after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutant strains. TLR-5 known to detect flagellin of bacteria and it is grouped as another subfamily in the 'star phylogeny'. *H. pylori* flagellin-A has been reported to have less affinity with TLR-5 and the site responsible for TLR5 evasion mapped to amino acids 89-96 of the N-terminal D1 domain and that may be the reason for its poor response in TLR-5 mediated IL-8 secretion from epithelial cells (Andersen-Nissen E *et al*, 2005; Gewirtz AT *et al*, 2004). However, other factors from *H. pylori* that can activate TLR-5 mediated signalling and gene expression were not known. Infection of *H. pylori* with THP-1 cells have increased TLR-5 mRNA expression moderately after 6h and reached 11 fold after 24h of when compared to uninfected control cells, indicating

that some factors from *H. pylori* are involved in the mRNA level expression of TLR-5. Δ *flaA* and Δ *vacA* isogenic mutants are the least inducers of TLR-5 mRNA expression in THP1 cells (Fig.2, 3 and Table.1,2).

TLR-10, which is known as the orphan receptor among TLRs, is grouped with the subfamily including TLR-1, TLR-2 and TLR-6 due to structural similarity (Takeda Y *et al*, 2003). The ligand for TLR-10 has not been reported. No data is available in the literature on microbes that inducing TLR-10 mRNA expression. The present study revealed that *H. pylori* infection of THP-1 cells has increased the mRNA level expression of TLR-10 in THP-1 cells after 6h and continued to increase even after 24h. The enhancement of TLR-10 mRNA expression was 10 and 36.5 fold after 6 and 24h of infection with THP-1 cells by *H. pylori* wild type. $\Delta cagA$, Δcgt , $\Delta cagPAI$ and $\Delta vacA$ isogenic mutants were also induced TLR-10 mRNA expression in THP-1 cells significantly after 24h, although not at the level exhibited by *H. pylori* wild type. $\Delta flaA$ isogenic mutant found to be the least inducer of TLR-10 mRNA expression as in the case of other TLRs analyzed in the present study (Fig.2, 3 and Table.1,2).

All the isogenic mutant strains tested were less active in inducing TLR expression than wild type strain and this is an important finding of the present study. The genes which are important for virulence and pathogenecity of *H. pylori* such as *cagA, vacA, flaA, cag*PAI and *cgt* acting even at the first level of detection of the innate immune system namely TLRs.

3.3 Immunoprecipiation and Western blot analysis of TLR-5 and TLR-10 from THP1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and Δ *flaA* mutant

The protein level expressions of TLR-5 and TLR-10 were studied using whole cell extract immunoprecipitation and Western blot. *H. pylori* wild type and Δ *flaA* isogenic mutant, the least inducer of TLR mRNA expression, were used to infect THP-1 cells to study the variation in protein level expression. After 6h of infection, the whole cell extract of THP-1 cells was prepared for immunoprecipitation of TLR-5 and TLR-10 protein

molecules. The whole cell extract were pre-cleared with Protein-G sepharose for 2 h and the TLRs were precipitated using appropriate antibodies by incubating for overnight on a rotatory shaker at 4°C. SDS lysis buffer was added to Protein-G bound immunecomplexes and boiled for 5 min. The immunoprecipitated proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blot method. TLR-5 was found to be moderately increased in expression at protein level as similar to mRNA expression after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* when compared to uninfected control cells. TLR-10 was highly expressed at the protein level in *H. pylori* infected cells which correlated with mRNA expression as shown earlier (Fig.4). $\Delta flaA$ mutant of *H. pylori* was a least inducer of TLR-5 and TLR-10 proteins in THP1 monocytes after 6h of infection when compared to wild type strain. These results clearly ascertain that *H. pylori* virulence and pathogenecity factors have an important role on quantitative and qualitative properties of TLR molecules and that will be a determining factor for successful adaptive immune response.

3.4 TLR mRNA Expression in THP1 monocyte derived Dendritic Cells during Infection with *H. pylori* and $\Delta flaA$ isogenic mutant

THP-1 derived DCs represent monotypic DCs and reported to be function as antigen presenting cells to activate T cells when matured through stimulation (Berges C *et al*, 2005). In this study, THP-1 derived immature DCs were generated and the characteristics were analyzed under phase contrast microscope. The cells exhibited the formation of a ruffled and lobular cytoplasm with spikes and semicircular extrusions (Fig.5). These THP1 derived DCs were used to study mRNA expression of TLRs during infection with *H. pylori* and $\Delta flaA$ isogenic mutant. Similar to THP1 cells, the THP-1 derived immature DCs also expressed mRNAs of all the 10 TLRs. *H. pylori* wild type and $\Delta flaA$ isogenic mutant, the least inducer of TLR mRNA expression, were used for the infection to study the differences in mRNA level expression in infected THP-1 cells and THP1 derived immature DCs. TLR-3, TLR-7 and TLR-10 were prominently expressed in



Figure.4 Western blot analysis of immunoprecipitated TLR-5 and TLR-10 proteins from THP1 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic Δ*flaA* mutant for 6h (**lane.1** -*H. pylori* wild type infected, **lane.2**-isogenic *flaA* mutant infected and **lane.3**-uninfected control). The histogram shows the corresponding fold changes of mRNA level expression analyzed by Taqman Real Time PCR method.



Figure.5 THP1 monocytic leukaemia cells (A) and THP1 derived Dendritic Cells (B). Magnification – 40x




Figure.6 Fold changes of TLR mRNA expression in THP1-DCs after 6h and 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutant of *flaA*. The mRNA expressions of TLRs were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*

THP1-derived dendritic cells after 6h and 24 h of infection with *H. pylori* when compared to uninfected control cells. TLR-2 expression was moderately increased after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* but found to be decreased after 24h of infection. TLR-1, TLR-4, TLR-5, TLR-6, TLR-8 and TLR-9 mRNA expressions in THP-1 derived DCs were not induced after 6h of infection with *H. pylori*. However, the expression levels of above TLRs, except TLR6 and TLR-9, reached 5, 4, 8, and 6 folds, respectively, after 24h of infection. Δ *flaA* isogenic mutant strain which was found to be the least inducer of TLRs mRNA expression in THP-1 cells and also in THP-1 derived immature DCs (Fig. 6 and Table 3, 4).

3.5 TLR mRNA expression in HEK293 cells stably transfected with TLR-2, TLR-5 and TLR-10, respectively, during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants

Previous studies have shown the involvement of TLR-2 and TLR-5 in H. pylori infection with gastric epithelial cells (Smith MF et al, 2004; Maeda S et al, 2001; Backhead F et al, 2003). Among all TLR molecules mRNA expression in THP-1 cells the TLR-10 is considered as a promising molecule due to its high expression at mRNA and protein level. Further to confirm the above findings HEK-293 cells stably transfected with TLR-2 (HEK293-TLR-2 cells), TLR-5 (HEK293-TLR-5 cells) and TLR-10 (HEK293-TLR-10 cells) were used for *H. pylori* infection. In the previous experiments, it was observed that TLR-2 mRNA expression during *H. pylori* infection with human THP-1 cells was increased moderately after 6h. HEK-293-TLR2 cells infected with H. pylori for 6h have also exhibited moderate increase of TLR-2 mRNA expression when compared to uninfected control. As observed in THP-1 cells, $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$ isogenic mutant strains were the least inducers of TLR-2 mRNAs in HEK-293-TLR2 cells among all the strains tested. THP-1 cells infected with H. pylori after 6h have also induced an increase in TLR-5 mRNA expression. After 6 h of infection of HEK293-TLR-5 cells with H. pylori an increase in the TLR5 mRNA expression was observed similar to that of THP1 cells. H. *pylori* wild type and $\Delta cagA$ isogenic mutant strain have induced 5 and 3 fold increases in







Table.5

e.J						
	TLR2	±SD	TLR5	±SD	TLR10	±SD
HP wt	3.95*	0.19	5.35*	0.21	4.11*	0.28
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	4.11*	0.16	3.01*	0.30	1.35#	0.17
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	2.24*#	0.30	1.16#	0.23	1.06#	0.16
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	2.21*#	0.15	1.11#	0.04	0.98#	0.07
HP ΔCGT	3.01*	0.33	1.15#	0.04	2.42*#	0.18
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	2.90*	0.39	0.73*#	0.13	1.64#	0.23
Mock	1.00	0.18	1.00	0.15	1.00	0.13

Figure. 7. Fold changes of TLR-2, TLR-5 and TLR-10 mRNA expression in HEK293-TLR-2, HEK293-TLR-5 and HEK293-TLR-10 cell lines, respectively, after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using $2^{-\Delta\Delta CI}$ method. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori* TLR-5 mRNA expression, respectively, in HEK-293-TLR-5 cells after 6h of infection. $\Delta flaA$, $\Delta vacA$, Δcgt and Δcag PAI isogenic mutants have not shown the induction of TLR-5 mRNA expression in HEK-293-TLR-5 cells after 6h of infection. An increase In the TLR-10 mRNA expression was noted in THP1 cells during *H. pylori* infection. HEK-293-TLR-10 cells infected with *H. pylori* have also exhibited an increase in the TLR-10 mRNA expression to 4 fold level after 6 h of infection. Infection of Δcgt isogenic mutant infection resulted an increase of 2.5 fold of TLR-10 mRNA expression in HEK-293-TLR-10 cells. However, $\Delta cagA$, $\Delta flaA$, $\Delta vacA$ and Δcag PAI isogenic mutants were not able to increase TLR-10 mRNA expression more than two folds in HEK-293-TLR-10 cells after 6h of infection (Fig.7 and Table 5).

3.6 Induction of phosphorylation of IRAK-1 (ser376) in THP-1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants

TLR receptor ligand binding activates the MyD-88 interaction to the cytoplasmic tail of these receptors through its TIR domain and that in turn recruits IRAK-4 and thereby induces association of IRAK-1. TRAF-6 also gets recruited to the above complex and this module induces phosphorylation of few Threonine molecules in the IRAK-1 that activates the massive autophosphorylation of IRAK-1 (Kollewe C *et al*, 2004). Phosphorylated IRAK-1 and TRAF-6 dissociates from the complex and bind to cell membrane protein TAB-1 (TAK1 binding protein-1) and subsequent binding of TAK-1 (transforming growth facor- β -activated kinase) and TAB-2. IRAK-1 ubiquitinylation and degradation take place quickly and the remaining complex leaves to cytoplasm. There it associates with ubiquitin ligases such as UBC-13 (ubiquitin conjugating enzyme 13) and UEV-1a (ubiquitin conjugating enzyme E2 variant-1) and this leads to ubiquitinylation and degradation of TRAF-6. This activates TAK-1 and phosphorylation of IKK (inhibitor of κ B kinase) complex (IKK α , IKK β and IKK γ) and MAPK. The IKK complex then phosphorylates I κ B (inhibitor of κ B) and leads to ubiquitinylation and degradation. This



Figure.8 Western blot analysis of phospho IRAK-1 (Ser 376) from THP1 cells infected with *H. pylori* and mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI for 15 min, 45 min, 120 min and 240 min. (**Iane.1** -*H. pylori* wild type, **Iane.2** Δ*cagA*, **Iane.3**-Δ*vacA*, **Iane.4** Δ*flaA*, **Iane.5** Δ*cgt*, **Iane.6** Δ*cag*PAI and **Iane.7** uninfected control). Western blot analysis for house keeping gene GAPDH was used as loading control, represented by GAPDH concentration in THP1 cells at 45 min of infection with *H. pylori*.

ultimately frees NF κ B (Nuclear factor κ B) to translocate to nucleus and induction of transcription of pro-inflammatory genes (Akira S and Takeda K, 2004).

In this study, the ser-376 phosphorylation of IRAK-1 induced by *H. pylori* infection in THP-1 monocytes at various time points was analyzed by Western blot. Analysis of IRAK-1 phosphorylation at various time points can be very useful to understand the initiation of TLR signalling and subsequent ubiquitinylation and degradation ensures the continuation of down stream signalling. It was observed that *H. pylori* wild type induced phosphorylation of IRAK-1 at 15 min and reached the peak level at 45 min. The reduction of phosphorylation was observed at 120 min and lost almost completely after 240 min of infection in THP1 cells (Fig.8). The $\Delta cagA$, $\Delta vacA$, $\Delta flaA$, Δcgt and $\Delta cagPAI$ isogenic mutants induced very less psophorylation of IRAK-1. This clearly shows that low level of induction of TLR mRNAs and proteins can regulate the downstream signalling of TLRs in THP-1 cells.

3.7 IRAK-M, a TLR signalling negative regulator, expression in THP-1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants

The IRAK family consists of two active kinases, IRAK-1 and IRAK-4, and two inactive kinases, IRAK-2 and IRAK-M. IRAK-M expression is restricted to monocytes/macrophages, whereas other IRAKs are ubiquitous. IRAK-M is induced upon TLR stimulation and negatively regulates TLR signalling. IRAK-M prevented dissociation of IRAK-1 and IRAK-4 from MyD88 and formation of IRAK-TRAF6 complexes (Kobayashi K *et al*, 2002). IRAK-M (-/-) deficient cells exhibited increased cytokine production upon TLR/IL-1 stimulation and bacterial challenge, and IRAK-M(-/-) mice showed increased inflammatory responses to bacterial infection. Endotoxin tolerance, a protection mechanism against endotoxin shock, was significantly reduced in IRAK-M (-/-) cells. Recent study showed that LPS tolerance was associated with decreased IRAK-1 and elevated IRAK-M expression (van't Veer C *et al*, 2007). No significant change in the expression of IRAK-M protein in THP-1 cells when infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic

150



Figure.9 Western blot analysis of IRAK-M from THP1 cells infected with *H. pylori* and mutants of *cagA, vacA, flaA, cgt and cag*PAI for 15 min, 45 min, 120 min and 240 min. (**Iane.1** -*H. pylori* wild type, **Iane.2** Δ*cagA*, **Iane.3**-Δ*vacA*, **Iane.4** Δ*flaA*, **Iane.5** Δ*cagt*, **Iane.6** Δ*cag*PAI and **Iane.7** uninfected control). Western blot analysis for house keeping gene GAPDH was used as loading control, represented by GAPDH concentration in THP1 cells at 45 min of infection with *H. pylori*.

mutant strains was noted in Western blot at various time points such as15 min, 45 min, 120 min and 240 min. This indicatess that IRAK-M protein is not elevated to counter the high IRAK-1 phosphorylation during *H. pylori* infection and hence IRAK-M was not involved in the low level phosphorylation of IRAK-1 in isogenic mutants infected cells (Fig. 9).

3.8NLRs and ASC/PYCARD expression in THP-1 monocytic cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants

Nod-like Receptors are the cytoplasmic pattern recognition receptors for detecting microbial pathogen associated molecular patterns and transducing signals to mount a pro-inflammatory reaction. NLR family of proteins are recognized with a modular organization of a carboxy-terminal leucine rich repeats (LRR), central Nucleotide binding domain (NOD/NACHT) and an amino-terminal CARD domain, pyrin domain or BIR domain for protein-protein interaction (Tschopp J et al, 2003). These proteins are able to form the high molecular weight structures called 'inflammasome' and recruit caspase1 that leads to proteolytic activation of pro IL-1 β and pro IL-18 (Martinon F and Tschopp J, 2004; Martinon F et al, 2002). NOD-1 and NOD-2 proteins among NLRs are reported to detect molecular patterns from bacteria. NOD-1 senses PGN containing mesodiaminopimelic acid from Gram negative bacteria and NOD-2 found to detect muramyl dipeptide of PGN present in both Gram negative and positive bacteria (Girardin SE et al, 2003; Girardin SE et al. 2003b). The other members of NLRs include NALPs (NACHT, LRR and Pyrin domain containing proteins), IPAF (ICE protease activating factor) and NAIPs (Neuronal apoptosis inhibitor proteins). In the present study, NOD-1, NOD-2, NALP-1, NALP-2, NALP-3, IPAF and ASC mRNA expressions during infection with H. *pylori* and isogenic mutants were analyzed.

Infection of THP-1 monocytes with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants have not significantly changed the mRNA level expression of NOD-1 and NOD-2 after 6h and it was found to be down-regulated after 24h when compared to uninfected control cells.

152



HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	0.97	0.20	0.86#	0.08	0.33#	0.04	0.76	0.11
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	0.51*#	0.09	1.04	0.18	0.28#	0.03	0.60*	0.11
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	0.85	0.11	0.90	0.12	0.65#	0.08	0.59#	0.07
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	0.62#	0.08	0.61#	0.06	1.10	0.25	0.72	0.03
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	0.45*#	0.08	0.91	0.11	0.81*#	0.11	0.58	0.09
Mock	1.00	0.13	1.00	0.13	1.00	0.13	1.00	0.15
	NALP3	±SD	IPAF	±SD	ASC	±SD		
HP wt	2.25*	0.11	1.71*	0.05	0.21*	0.02		
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	2.30*	0.18	3.08*#	0.13	0.22*	0.01		
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	2.13*	0.27	1.20#	0.11	0.24*	0.03		
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	1.79	0.25	0.90#	0.12	0.36*	0.03		
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	1.84*	0.16	3.87*#	0.30	0.38*	0.01		
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	1.48#	0.06	1.08	0.10	0.43*	0.01		
Mock	1.00	0.13	1.00	0.04	1.00*	0.08		

Figure. 10 Fold changes of NLRs and ASC mRNA expression in THP1 cells after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions of TLRs were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = H. pylori



	0.04	0.01	0.52	0.0-	01	0.01	0.0-	0.01
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	0.34*	0.01	0.14*	0.01	0.76	0.05	0.31*#	0.01
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	0.26*#	0.01	0.76	0.03	0.53	0.01	0.54*	0.01
HP ACGT	0.08*	0.01	0.50	0.04	1.79*#	0.11	0.33*	0.04
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	0.09*	0.01	0.96	0.12	1.92*#	0.13	0.41*	0.01
Mock	1.00	0.03	1.00	0.10	1.00	0.15	1.00	0.03
	NALP3	±SD	IPAF	±SD	ASC	±SD		
HP wt	0.51*	0.05	8.69*	0.85	0.24*	0.03		
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	0.39*	0.03	5.02*	0.37	0.26*	0.01		
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	0.16*#	0.01	3.20*#	0.31	0.37*	0.05		
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	0.36*#	0.03	4.35*	0.04	0.25*	0.02		
HP ΔCGT	0.38*	0.03	6.19*	0.61	0.35*	0.03		
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	0.49*	0.01	10.77*	1.16	0.25*	0.03		
Mock	1.00	0.07	1.00	0.13	1.00	0.12		

Figure. 11 Fold changes of NLRs and ASC mRNA expression in THP1 cells after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions of TLRs were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using $2^{-\Delta Ct}$ method. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = H. pylori

NALP-1 and NALP-2 mRNAs expression in THP-1 cells were also not significantly changed after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. NALP-3 mRNA expression in THP1 cells have been increased above 2 folds during infection with *H. pylori* wild type, $\Delta cagA$ and $\Delta vacA$ isogenic mutant after 6h of infection. However, the fold changes of mRNA expression of NALP-3 in THP-1 cells were down regulated after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. It has been reported that, detection of flagellin through IPAF induces activation of caspase-1 and IL-1 β independently of TLR-5 in salmonella-infected and LPS-tolerized macrophages (Franchi L *et al*, 2006). IPAF mRNA expression in THP-1 cells were significantly increased above 3 folds during infection with $\Delta cagA$ and $\Delta cagA$, $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$, respectively. ASC mRNA expression in THP-1 cells were reached 11, 9, 6, 5, 4 and 3 after 24h of infection with $\Delta cagPAI$, wild type, Δcgt , $\Delta cagA$, $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$, respectively. ASC mRNA expression in THP-1 cells have down regulated significantly after 6h and 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants after 6h, 7).

3.9 Interleukin 1β and IL-18 gene expression, Caspase-1 activation and Interleukin 1β processing and secretion from THP1 monocytic cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants

IL-1β and IL-18 are proinflammatory cytokines important in the host defence against infection and in the pathogenesis of various inflammatory disorders. Both IL-1β and IL-18 are synthesized as inactive cytoplasmic precursors that are proteolytically processed to biologically active mature forms in response to various proinflammatory stimuli by caspase-1 (Yu HB and Finlay BB, 2008). Although the intracellular signalling pathways leading to caspase-1 activation remain poorly defined, studies have suggested involvement of members of the NLRs in the regulation of caspase-1 activation. The N-terminal regions of NALP-3 and NALP-1 comprise a pyrin domain, whereas NOD-1, NOD-2 and IPAF contain a caspase-recruitment domain. The pyrin and caspase-recruitment domains of NALP-3 and IPAF associate with those of ASC, an adaptor

molecule that interacts with the caspase recruitment domain of pro-caspase-1. NALP-3 NALP-1 and IPAF can form an endogenous multiprotein complex 'inflammasome' containing ASC and caspase-1, that promotes caspase-1 activation and processing of pro- IL-1 β . ASC is critical for caspase-1 activation and secretion of mature IL-1 β and IL-18 in response to several purified microbial components as well as intracellular bacteria (Martinon F and Tschopp J, 2004; Martinon F *et al*, 2002).

As analysis of functional status of inflammasome formation, IL-1ß processing and secretion along with the IL-1ß mRNA expression were analyzed. IL-1ß mRNA expressions was increased to 12, 24, 15, 16, 29 and 8 folds in THP-1 cells after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* wild type and isogenic mutants $\triangle cagA$, $\triangle vacA$, $\triangle flaA$, $\triangle cgt$ and Δcag PAI, respectively. The level of IL-1 β mRNA expressions has subsequently been increased to 55, 50, 44, 39, 32 and 30 folds after 24h of infection with H. pylori and isogenic mutants, respectively. IL-18 mRNA expressions were not significantly changed after 6h of infection with H. pylori and isogenic mutants. However, IL-18 mRNA expression was significantly down-regulated after 24h of infection with H. pylori and isogenic mutants (Fig.12, 13 and Table 8, 9). The intracellular IL-1 β in THP-1 cells during infection with H. pylori and isogenic mutants were analyzed by Western blot. The protein level of IL-1 β was not changed significantly, during the infection of *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants with THP-1 cells, after 8h (Fig.14). To answer the question, whether caspase-1 activation involved in the processing of Pro- IL-1 β in THP-1 cells, analysis were performed using antibody that detect the Pro-caspase-1 and p20 fragment of activated caspase-1. It was observed that Pro-caspase-1 cleavage was inhibited during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutant strains $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta flaA$. On the contrary, Pro-caspase-1 cleavage was not inhibited in the case of $\triangle cagA$, $\triangle cgt$ and $\triangle cagPAI$ infected cells (Fig.15). However, there was no significant change in the process of Pro-IL-1ß cleavage to mature IL-1ß in THP-1 cells during infection with H. pylori and all isogenic mutants tested. This clearly reflects the severe derangement of inflammasome

156





Figure. 12 Fold changes of IL-1 β and IL-18 mRNA expression in THP1 cells after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Cl} method. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*

0.04

1.00

0.08

1.00

Mock



Figure. 13 Fold changes of IL-1 β and IL-18 mRNA expression in THP1 cells after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Cl} method. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylor*

-	-	-	-	-	-	-	WB-Anti-GAPDH
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
-000-000	8159	(Bepd)	delağı	iqueli	esalé	in sold	WB- Anti-Mature IL-1β
- Second	Manual Manual	microsoft anticipite	innead Site and	Alexandra (Standis)	ine di	ininité	
10250	maring	(maintain)			weers	Section?	
	-	-	and set of			فتستنا	WB- Anti-Pro- IL-1β

Figure.14 Western blot analysis of Pro-IL-1β and mature form of IL-1β from THP1 cells infected with *H. pylori* and mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI for 8h (**lane.1** -*H. pylori* wild type, **lane.2** Δ*cagA*, **lane.3**-Δ*vacA*, **lane.4** Δ*flaA*, **lane.5** Δ*cgt*, **lane.6** Δ*cag*PAI and **lane.7** uninfected control (Mock)). Western blot analysis for house keeping gene GAPDH was used as loading control.



Figure.15 Western blot analysis of Pro-Caspase-1 and the Caspasw-1 p20 subunit from THP1 cells infected with *H. pylori* and mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI for 8h (lane.1 uninfected control (Mock), lane.2 -*H. pylori* wild type, lane.3 Δ*cagA*, lane.4-Δ*vacA*, lane.5 Δ*flaA*, lane.6 Δ*cgt*, and lane.7 Δ*cag*PAI). Western blot analysis for house keeping gene GAPDH was used as loading control.



	Table.10	
	(pg/ml)	±SD
HP wt	26.76*	1.32
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	34.87*#	1.32
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	30.23*	1.32
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	26.32*	2.65
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	22.55*	3.28
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	14.72*#	1.14
Mock	8.13	0.66

Figure. 16 Concentration of IL-1 β secreted from THP1 cells after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA, vacA, flaA, cgt and cag*PAI. IL-1 β concentration in the culture supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.005 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.005 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = H. pylori

mediated caspase-1 activation and mature IL-1ß formation during *H. pylori* infection in

THP-1 cells.

The secretion of mature IL-1 β from THP-1 cells after infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants was analyzed. The level of IL-1 β secretions was not high, although

 $\Delta cagA$ and $\Delta vacA$ isogenic mutants infected cells significantly increased the secretion of IL-1 β than wild type infected cells. The other isogenic mutants such as $\Delta flaA$, Δcgt , $\Delta cagPAI$ infected THP-1 cells secreted less amounts of IL-1 β than wild type infected cells and $\Delta cagPAI$ exerted the least induction of IL-1 β secretion (Fig.16 and Table 10).

3.10 Effect of Src Kinase inhibitor PP2, Pan-caspase Inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK and EGFR Kinase inhibitor-AG1478 on Interleukin 1 beta secretion from THP1 monocytic cells during infection with *H. pylori* P12 and isogenic mutants

H. pylori use the type IV secretion system to inject cagA protein to the cytoplasm of host cells during infection. cagA being phosphorylated within the host cells and initiate the cytoskeletal rearrangements leading to hummingbird or scattered phenotype. c-SRC and ABL family kinase are responsible for caqA phosphorylation within the host cell and PP2, c-Src kinase inhibitor, specifically blocks cytoskeletal rearrangements and thereby hummingbird or scattered phenotype in epithelial cells (Selbach M et al, 2002; Stein M et al, 2002; Poppe et al, 2007; Tammer et al, 2007). The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR; ErbB1) belongs to the ErbB group of receptor tyrosine kinases, which also include ErbB2, ErbB3, and ErbB4. The EGFR is a 170-kDa transmembrane glycoprotein that normally plays an important role in cell proliferation, differentiation, and growth; however, abnormal expression of the EGFR has been described in many human tumors and has been implicated in the development and prognosis of malignancies (Zhang H et al, 2007). H. pylori infection with MKN-1, ST42, and MKN-28 gastric epithelial tumour cells results in the activation of HB-EGF gene expression and EGFR tyrosine phosphorylation, which enhanced IL-8 production (Wallasch C et al, 2002). H. pylori induce increased production of EGFR through various signal transduction pathways, including those mediated by the EGFR and AP-1 (Ashktorab H et al, 2007). Incubation of gastric epithelial cells with H. pylori causes a time and concentration dependent induction of DNA fragmentation, cleavage of BID, release of cytochrome c and a concomittant sequential activation of caspase-9, caspase-8, caspase-6, and caspase-3 but no effect on caspase-1 and -7 were observed in an earlier study (Potthoff A et al, 2002).

H. pylori is known to regulate some of the host cellular signalling mechanisms and thereby able to change the phenotype of the cells and that may be a reason for causing MALT lymphoma and gastric cancer. The inhibitory effect of *H. pylori* on IL-1β production and secretion in THP-1 cells was not reported earlier. In the present study, H. pylori induced high level of IL-1ß mRNA expression in THP-1 cells; however, the secreted levels determined by ELISA were below 50pg/ml during infection with H. pylori and isogenic mutants. The influence of known H. pylori induced kinase activities in host cells and apoptosis on IL-1ß processing and secretion by treating the cells with specific inhibitors, such as c-Src kinase inhibitor-PP2, EGFR kinase inhibitor-AG1478 and pancaspase inhibitor-Z-VAD-FMK, thirty minutes prior to infection with H. pylori wild type was investigated. The IL-1ß secretion from THP1 cells, treated with inhibitors as stated above, after 8h, 24h and 32h of infection with H. pylori wild type was measured. c-Src inhibitor-PP2 treated cells had secreted significantly higher amount of IL-1ß early after 8h of infection, whereas, levels of IL-1ß remain unchanged in cells treated with EGFR kinase inhibitor-AG1478, pan-caspase inhibitor-Z-VAD-FMK and wild type H. pylori treated cells. It was also observed that a significant level of increase in secretion of IL-1ß after 24h of infection with wild type strain. Pan-caspase inhibitor treated cells infected with H. pylori also secreted higher IL-1ß at 24h of infection. However EGFR kinase inhibitor treated cells infected with H. pylori had not enhanced IL-1ß secretion after 24h of infection. c-Src kinase inhibitor treated cells infected with H. pylori continued to increase the IL-1ß secretion after 24h of infection. Pan-caspase inhibitor treated cells infected with H. pylori P12 have secreted slightly higher amount than the untreated cells infected with H. pylori after 32h of infection. On the contrary, EGFR kinase inhibitor treated cells infected with *H. pylori* had down-regulated the secretion of IL-1β after 32 h of infection. However, c-Src kinase inhibitor treated cells continued to enhance IL-1ß secretion even after 32h of infection (Fig.17).



Figure. 17 Concentration of IL-1 β secreted from THP1 cells infected with *H. pylori* wild type and THP1 cells pre-treated with pan caspase inhibitor (Z-VAD-FMK-20µM), SRC inhibitor (PP2-20µM) and EGFR kinase inhibitor (AG1478-20µM) infected with *H. pylori* wild type after 8h, 24h and 32h of infection. IL-1 β concentration in the culture supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.005 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.005 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with inhibitor treated cells infected with *H. pylori*. HP = *H. pylori*

3.11 Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and TNFα mRNA expression, TNFα and chemokine IL-8 secretion from THP1 monocytic cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants

H. pylori infection has been reported to be inducing pro-inflammatory changes through the secretion of mediators such as cytokines and chemokines. Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TNF α and chemokine IL-8 were reported to be increased in the gastric tissues of *H. pylori* infected patients. There are no reports regarding the influence of *H. pylori* virulence and pathogenecity factors on cytokine and chemokine gene expression and secretion during infection. In this study, the IL-6 and TNF α gene

expression in THP1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants Δ*cagA*, Δ*vacA*, Δ*flaA*, Δ*cgt* and Δ*cag*PAI were analyzed. The IL-6 mRNA expression in THP1 cells remain unchanged during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants Δ*vacA*, Δ*flaA*, Δ*cag*PAI, whereas, Δ*cagA* and Δ*cgt* mutants have induced 3.2 and 3.8 fold changes in IL-6 mRNA expression after 6h of infection, respectively. IL-6 mRNA expression levels were increased to 22, 14, 11 and 16 folds in THP1 cells infected with *H. pylori* wild type and isogenic mutants Δ*vacA*, Δ*flaA*, Δ*cag*PAI after 24h of infection. Δ*cagA* and Δ*cgt* mutant strains continued to increase IL-6 mRNA expression and this was found to be 33 and 32 folds, respectively, after 24h of infection. TNFα mRNA expressions in THP1 cells were observed to be 6, 8, 6, 8, 8 and 6 folds, respectively, after 6h of infection with wild type, Δ*cagA*, Δ*vacA*, Δ*flaA*, Δ*cgt* and Δ*cag*PAI. A decrease in the expression TNFα mRNA was noted with all strains tested except for Δ*cag*PAI infected cells (Fig.18, 19 and Table 12, 13).

The secretion of TNF α and IL-8 from THP1 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants after 24h were analyzed by ELISA. *H. pylori* wild type and Δcgt mutant infected THP1 cells have secreted significantly high amount of TNF α after 24h of infection. Although, $\Delta cagA$ mutant infected cells also secreted significant amount of TNF α after 24h of infection but it was less than that of wild type strain. However, $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta flaA$ mutant infected cells were secreted TNF α almost 5 times less than wild type infected cells and $\Delta cagPAI$ mutant was the least inducer of TNF α secretion. IL-8 secretion from THP1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants were also analyzed. *H. pylori* wild type and isogenic mutants $\Delta cagA$, $\Delta vacA$ and Δcgt infected THP1 cells secreted almost similar amounts of IL-8 after 24h of infection and $\Delta flaA$ mutant infected cells secreted significantly less amount than wild type infected cells. In this case also $\Delta cagPAI$ was the least inducer of IL-8 from infected THP1 cells (Fig.20 and Table 14).

164



Figure. 18 Fold changes of TNF α and IL-6 mRNA expression in THP1 cells after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Cl} method. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*



Figure. 19 Fold changes of TNF α and IL-6 mRNA expression in THP1 cells after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Cl} method. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*





Figure. 20 Concentrations of TNF α and IL-8 secreted from THP1 cells after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA, vacA, flaA, cgt and cag*PAI. TNF α and IL-8 concentrations in the culture supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.005 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.005 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*

2.20

10.61

0.46

0.26

8,213*#

4,460*#

68.5

11,090*

16.7

14.4

300

307

115.06*#

550.93*

54.57*#

1,47

HP AFlaA

HP $\triangle CGT$

Mock

HP *ACag***PAI**

3.12 IRAK1 (ser376) phosphorylation and IL-1beta, IL-6, IL-18, TNFalpha and IL-8 gene expression and secretion in HEK293, HEK293-TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10-HA cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants

HEK293 cells are reported to be having less or no expression of TLR molecules and which gives a clear background for studying the effect of individual TLR molecules through gene overexpression mechanism. In the present investigation, the analysis of TLR2, TLR5 and TLR10 expression and signalling initiation through IRAK1ser376 phosphorylation in HEK293-TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10 were performed. The role of some individual TLR molecules over-expressed in HEK293 cells and their involvement in IRAK1ser376 phosphorylation and subsequent pro-inflammatory gene expression during infection with *H. pylori* P12 and isogenic mutants were analyzed.

HEK293-TLR2 cells have induced IRAK1ser376 phosphorylation when infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants almost with the same intensity as shown by western blot (Fig. 21). This reveals that the ligand responsible for TLR-2 induction is not significantly affected by mutations in the virulence or pathogenecity genes tested. In concordance with IRAK-1 phoshorylation, TNFα mRNA expression was also significantly increased in cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants (Fig.23). TNFα secretions from HEK293-TLR2 cells were also significantly increased during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants (Fig.24). The IL-1β mRNA expressions were also increased in HEK293-TLR2 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants (Fig.22). However, IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expressions were significantly down-regulated during infection *H. pylori* (Fig.22, 23 and and Table 15, 16). The IL-8 secretion from HEK293-TLR2 cells were also significantly enhanced during *H. pylori* infection (Fig.24 and and Table 17).

IRAK1 phosphorylation is increased in HEK293-TLR5 cells during *H. pylori* infection and found to be of similar intensity except in the case of $\triangle cag$ PAI mutant (Fig.21).

168



Figure.21 Western blot analysis of phospho IRAK-1 (Ser 376) from HEK293-TLR2 (A), HEK293-TLR5 (B), HEK293-TLR10-HA (C) and HEK293 (D) cells infected with *H. pylori* and mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI for 2h. (**Iane.1** -*H. pylori* wild type, **Iane.2** Δ*cagA*, **Iane.3**-Δ*vacA*, **Iane.4** Δ*flaA*, **Iane.5** Δ*cgt*, **Iane.6** Δ*cag*PAI and **Iane.7** uninfected control). Western blot analysis for house keeping gene GAPDH was used as loading control.

TNF α mRNA expression was also significantly increased in HEK293-TLR5 cells during *H. pylori* infection and the lowest induction was found in Δcag PAI mutant infected cells. IL-1 β , IL-18 and IL-6 mRNA expressions were down-regulated in HEK293-TLR5 cells during *H. pylori* infection (Fig.25, 26 and and Table 18, 19). TNF α secretion was not significantly enhanced during *H. pylori* infection in HEK293-TLR5 cells. IL-8 secretions from HEK293-TLR5 cells were significantly high during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. However $\Delta flaA$ infected cells was the least inducer of IL-8 among all the mutants tested (Fig.27 and and Table 20). HEK293-TLR10 cells infected with *H. pylori* have significantly increased IRAK1 phosphorylation when compared to other isogenic mutants infected cells and uninfected cells, of which $\Delta f | aA$ and $\Delta vacA$ mutants infected cells were least inducers of phosphorylation (Fig.21). In concordance with IRAK1 phosphoryaltion, TNF α mRNA expressions were significantly increased in HEK293-TLR10 cells infected with *H. pylori* when compared to other isogenic mutants infected cells. TNF α secretions were significantly increased in *H. pylori* wild type, $\Delta cagA$, and $\Delta cagPAI$ infected cells in comparison with $\Delta f | aA$, $\Delta vacA$ and Δcgt infected cells (Fig.30). However, IL-1 β , IL-18 and IL-6 mRNA expressions were downregulated in HEK293-TLR10 cells during *H. pylori* infection (Fig. 28, 29 and Table 21, 22). IL-8 secretions were also significantly increased in HEK293-TLR10 cells during infection with *H. pylori* (Fig. 30 and Table 23).

HEK293 wild type cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants have not shown any signal for phospho IRAK-1 in western blot analysis (Fig.21). This is confirms the less or no expression of TLR molecules in HEK293 cell lines. IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expressions were down-regulated in HEK293 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. However, TNF α mRNA expressions in HEK293 cells were significantly increased during *H. pylori* infection and secreted double amount of TNF α in *H. pylori* infected cells. IL-8 secretions were also significantly increased in HEK293 during *H. pylori* infection (Figure. 22, 23, 24 and Table 15, 16, 17). TNF α and IL-8 expression and its secretions increased during *H. pylori* infection in HEK293 cells and that was substantially enhanced in stably transfected HEK293-TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10 cells. In addition to the above HEK293-TLR2 cells exhibited increased expression of IL-1 β mRNA in *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants infection. This reflects the essential role of different TLR molecules for a pro-inflammatory change during *H. pylori* infection.

170





l able.15									
HEK293-TI	LR2	HEK293		HEK293-TLR2		HEK29	3		
IL-1β	±SD	IL-1β	±SD	IL-18	±SD	IL-18	±SD		
5.35*	0.48	0.78	0.03	0.36	0.02	0.60	0.04		
8.33*#	0.65	0.21*#	0.03	0.58#	0.04	0.65	0.06		
4.28*#	0.42	1.77	0.19	0.39	0.04	0.61	0.03		
5.73*#	0.39	2.02*#	0.10	0.46	0.04	1.21	0.18		
4.53*#	0.44	0.70*	0.07	0.50	0.04	0.11*#	0.01		
6.10*	0.65	0.58*	0.07	0.62	0.12	0.21*#	0.01		
1.00	0.04	1.00	0.08	1.00	0.20	1.00	0.11		
	HEK293-TH IL-1β 5.35* 8.33*# 4.28*# 5.73*# 4.53*# 6.10* 1.00	HEK293-TLR2IL-1β±SD5.35*0.488.33*#0.654.28*#0.425.73*#0.394.53*#0.446.10*0.651.000.04	TabiHEK293-TLR2HEK293IL-1β±SDIL-1β5.35*0.480.788.33*#0.650.21*#4.28*#0.421.775.73*#0.392.02*#4.53*#0.440.70*6.10*0.650.58*1.000.041.00	Table.15HEK293-TLR2HEK293IL-1β±SD1.21β±SD5.35*0.480.780.038.33*#0.650.21*#0.034.28*#0.421.770.195.73*#0.392.02*#0.104.53*#0.440.70*0.076.10*0.650.58*0.071.000.041.000.08	Table.15HEK293-TLR2HEK293HEK293-TIL-1β±SDIL-1β±SDIL-185.35*0.480.780.030.368.33*#0.650.21*#0.030.58#4.28*#0.421.770.190.395.73*#0.392.02*#0.100.464.53*#0.440.70*0.070.506.10*0.650.58*0.070.621.000.041.000.081.00	Table.15HEK293-TLR2HEK293HEK293-TLR2IL-1 β ±SDIL-1 β ±SDIL-185.35*0.480.780.030.360.028.33*#0.650.21*#0.030.58#0.044.28*#0.421.770.190.390.045.73*#0.392.02*#0.100.460.044.53*#0.440.70*0.070.500.046.10*0.650.58*0.070.620.121.000.041.000.081.000.20	Table.15HEK293-TLR2HEK293HEK293-TLR2HEK293IL-1β±SDIL-1β±SDIL-1810005.35*0.480.780.030.360.020.608.33*#0.650.21*#0.030.58#0.040.654.28*#0.421.770.190.390.040.615.73*#0.392.02*#0.100.460.041.214.53*#0.440.70*0.070.500.040.11*#6.10*0.650.58*0.070.620.120.21*#1.000.041.000.081.000.201.00		

Figure. 22 Fold changes of IL-1 β and IL-18 mRNA expression in HEK293-TLR2 cells in comparison with HEK293 wild type cells (black bar) after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA, vacA, flaA, cgt and cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta Cl$} method. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*





	ΤΝFα	±SD	ΤΝFα	±SD	IL-6	±SD	IL-6	±SD
HP wt	479.30*	14.05	33.82*	3.32	0.94	0.16	0.69*	0.05
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	430.50*	29.56	40.50*	2.38	0.86	0.04	0.96#	0.07
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	143.01*#	12.62	9.81*#	0.38	0.73*	0.08	0.74	0.01
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	291.02*#	28.45	13.83*#	0.68	0.67*	0.04	0.83	0.16
HP ΔCGT	198.08*#	11.67	2.82*#	0.25	0.51*	0.08	0.05*#	0
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	303.38*#	11.86	9.06*#	1.07	0.66*	0.08	0.11*#	0
Mock	1.00	0.16	1.00	0.08	1.00	0.11	1.00	0.08

Figure. 23 Fold changes of TNF α and IL-6 mRNA expression in HEK293-TLR2 cells in comparison with HEK293 wild type cells (black bar) after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA, vacA, flaA, cgt and cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta Cl$} method. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*





			Table.17					
	HEK293-TLR2		HEK293		HEK293-TI	R2	HEK293	
	TNFα (pg/ml)	±SD	TNFα (pg/ml)	±SD	IL-8 (pg/ml)	±SD	IL-8 (pg/ml)	±SD
HP wt	55.56*	0.67	16.32*	1.37	21,325*	308	891*	28
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	32.56*#	0.49	11.64#	1.13	20,474*#	158	924*	21
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	47.82*#	1.34	10.35#	0.23	21,233*	156	1608*#	10
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	37.40*#	0.49	10.68#	0.22	20,935*	220	928*	17
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	37.18*#	5.40	11.64#	1.13	21,230*	277	1391*#	11
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	51.37*	1.13	14.38	0.45	20,046*#	405	445*#	27
Mock	9.44	0.18	8.90	1.82	394	24	74	7

Figure. 24 Concentrations of TNF α and IL-8 secreted from HEK293-TLR2 cells in comparison with HEK293 wild type cells (black bar) after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. TNF α and IL-8 concentrations in the culture supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.005 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.005 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = H. pylori





Figure. 25 Fold changes of IL-1β and IL-18 mRNA expression in HEK293-TLR5 cells in comparison
with HEK293 wild type cells (black bar) after 6h of infection with H. pylori and isogenic mutants of
cagA, vacA, flaA, cgt and cagPAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR
relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using 2 ^{-ΔΔCt} method. The values were expressed as mean
± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software.
* = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when
compared to <i>H. pylori</i> wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = <i>H. pylori</i>

0.19

0.10

0.07

0.07

0.08

0.43#

0.51#

0.35

0.47#

1.00

0.08

0.08

0.01

0.07

0.18

0.61

1.21

0.11*#

0.21*#

1.00

0.03 0.18

0.01

0.01

0.11

HP ∆*VacA*

HP ∆*FlaA*

 $\mathbf{HP} \ \Delta \mathbf{CGT}$

Mock

HP ∆*Cag*PAI

0.58*

0.83

0.69

0.62*

1.00

0.07

0.06

0.03

0.07

0.10

1.77

2.02*#

0.70*

0.58*

1.00





				Table.19				
	HEK293-TLR5		HEK293		HEK293-TLR5		HEK293	
	TNFα	±SD	TNFα	±SD	IL-6	±SD	IL-6	±SD
HP wt	57.68*	4.52	33.82*	3.32	0.86	0.03	0.69*	0.05
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	44.78*#	4.38	40.50*	2.38	0.92	0.07	0.96#	0.07
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	21.55*#	1.48	9.81*#	0.38	0.53*#	0.10	0.74	0.01
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	21.18*#	1.45	13.83*#	0.68	0.65#	0.04	0.83	0.16
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	10.96*#	1.18	2.82*#	0.25	0.28*#	0.03	0.05*#	0
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	7.33*#	0.78	9.06*#	1.07	0.40*	0.08	0.11*#	0
Mock	1.00	0.10	1.00	0.08	1.00	0.13	1.00	0.08

Figure. 26 Fold changes of TNF α and IL-6 mRNA expression in HEK293-TLR5 cells in comparison with HEK293 wild type cells (black bar) after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta Cl$} method. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to H. pylori wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = H. pylori





			l able.20					
	HEK293-TL	R5	HEK293		HEK293-TLR5		HEK293	6
	TNFα (pg/ml)	±SD	TNFα (pg/ml)	±SD	IL-8 (pg/ml)	±SD	IL-8 (pg/ml)	±SD
HP wt	15.25*	2.37	16.32*	1.37	6,924*	351	891*	28
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	11.69	1.30	11.64#	1.13	6,846*	80	924*	21
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	12.71	1.29	10.35#	0.23	5,488*#	87	1608*#	10
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	11.37	0.37	10.68#	0.22	5,221*#	24	928*	17
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	10.73	0.18	11.64#	1.13	6,030*#	187	1391*#	11
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	12.94*	1.00	14.38	0.45	6,641*	44	445*#	27
Mock	9.22	0.85	8.90	1.82	644	25	74	7

Figure. 27 Concentrations of TNF α and IL-8 secreted from HEK293-TLR5 cells in comparison with HEK293 wild type cells (black bar) after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. TNF α and IL-8 concentrations in the culture supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.005 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.005 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = H. pylori





	IL-1β	±SD	IL-1β	±SD	IL-18	±SD	IL-18	±SD
HP wt	0.80	0.08	0.78	0.03	0.86	0.07	0.60	0.04
HP ∆ <i>CagA</i>	0.44#	0.03	0.21*#	0.03	0.68	0.06	0.65	0.06
HP ∆ <i>VacA</i>	0.55#	0.04	1.77	0.19	0.56	0.06	0.61	0.03
HP ∆ <i>FlaA</i>	0.64#	0.09	2.02*#	0.10	0.43*	0.03	1.21	0.18
HP ∆ <i>CGT</i>	0.51*#	0.09	0.70*	0.07	0.42*	0.04	0.11*#	0.01
HP ∆ <i>Cag</i> PAI	0.55#	0.08	0.58*	0.07	0.72	0.03	0.21*#	0.01
Mock	1.00	0.13	1.00	0.08	1.00	0.15	1.00	0.11

Figure. 28 Fold changes of IL-1 β and IL-18 mRNA expression in HEK293-TLR10 cells in comparison with HEK293 wild type cells (black bar) after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA, vacA, flaA, cgt and cag*PAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Cl} method. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = H. pylori





Figure. 29 Fold changes of TNFα and IL-6 mRNA expression in HEK293-TLR10 cells in comparison with HEK293 wild type cells (black bar) after 6h of infection with H. pylori and isogenic mutants of cagA, vacA, flaA, cgt and cagPAI. The mRNA expressions were analysed by Taqman Real Time PCR relative to the house keeping gene GAPDH using $2^{-\Delta\Delta CI}$ method. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. = P \leq 0.05 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P \leq 0.05 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = *H. pylori*

1.07

0.08

0.52#

1.00

0.05*#

0.11*#

1.00

0.06

0.16

0

0.08

2.82*#

9.06*#

1.00

1.30

0.13

HP ACagPAI

Mock

16.56*#

1.00





Figure. 30 Concentrations of TNF α and IL-8 secreted from HEK293-TLR10 cells in comparison with HEK293 wild type cells (black bar) after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt* and *cag*PAI. TNF α and IL-8 concentrations in the culture supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. The values were expressed as mean ± SD and the significance of difference were analysed by paired samples T-test using SPSS software. * = P≤0.005 when compared to the uninfected mock cells to the infected cells. # = P≤0.005 when compared to *H. pylori* wild type infected cells with isogenic mutant infected cells. HP = H. pylori

1.82

258

28

74

7

Mock

10.62

1.29

8.90

3.13 IL-1 Receptor Antagonist (IL-RN) gene polymorphism among the *H pylori* colonized patients

Several studies in the past were clearly shown the influence of host genetics along with the bacterial factors in *H. pylori* related pathologies. Genetic polymorphisms can directly affect the expression levels of gene products by generation or deletion of transcription factor sites or by affecting RNA splicing and subsequent translation. Many of the pathogenic effects of *H. pylori* infection are related to chronic active inflammation, which is controlled and maintained by the complex interplay of proinflammatory and antiinflammatory mediators (Macarthur M et al, 2004). The IL-1 cytokine is encoded by a gene cluster that contains the polymorphic *IL-1B* (encoding the IL-1βcytokine) and *IL-RN* (encoding the IL-1 receptor antagonist) genes. IL-1β is a potent proinflammatory cytokine and the most potent known inhibitor of acid secretion (EI-Omar EM et al. 2000). The IL-1 gene cluster contains several polymorphisms, such as IL-1B*-31C, IL-1B*-511T, and IL-1RN*2/*2, which lead to high-level expression of IL-1β. This subsequently leads to reduced acid output, which is associated with corpus-predominant colonization by H. pylori, resulting in pangastritis, formation of atrophic gastritis, and increased risk of gastric cancer (El-Omar EM, 2001; El-Omar EM et al, 2000; El-Omar EM et al, 2003; Furuta T et al, 2002, Hwang IR et al, 2002; Rad R et al, 2003; Zambon CF et al, 2002). IL-1 Receptor Antagonist (IL-1RN) is structurally related to IL-1 (Carter DB et al., 1990; Eisenberg SP et al., 1990; Eisenberg SP et al., 1991) but specifically blocks the binding

Eisenberg SP *et al.*, 1990; Eisenberg SP *et al.*, 1991) but specifically blocks the binding of IL-1 α and IL-1 β to cell surface receptors without itself activating target cells (Arend WP *et al.*,1998; Dripps DP *et al.*, 1991). IL-1 stimulates the synthesis of IL-8, which is a potent chemotactic agent for neutrophils, and it also induces release of neutrophil elastase. IL-1 promotes the adhesion of neutrophils and other cells by enhancing the expression of adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and L-selectin (Abdelaziz MM *et al.*, 1995; Tsang YT *et al.*, 1997). The IL-1RN gene showing polymorphism by
penta allelic 86 bp tandem repeat in intron 2, of which allele 2 (IL-





Figure. 31 PCR amplification of *H. pylori* genes *Glm* (a) *VacA* –S region (b) *CagA* (c) *lceA1* (d) *lceA2* (e) and host *IL-1RN* gene polymorphism (f) from gastric mucosal biopsies collected from dyspepsia patients. The PCR product were electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose gel along with 100bp DNA ladder and visualized by ethidium bromide staining.

*1RN*2/*2*) associated with enhanced IL-1 β production and proinflammatory responses more severe and more prolonged than those of other *IL-1RN* genotypes (Hurme M and Helminen M, 1998; Hwang IR *et al.*, 2002). Among population *IL-1RN*2/*2* homozygous individuals are a distinct minority in every population examined to date, most of them are either homozygous for allele 1 (*IL-1RN*1/*1*), which contains four tandem repeats, or heterozygous for IL-1RA*1 and allele 2 (*IL-1RN 1/2*), which contains two repeats (Tarlow JK *et al.*, 1993; Bioque G *et al.*, 1995; Jeremias J *et al.*, 2000). *IL-1RN*2/*2* genotype may be beneficial in the immune defense against infection by promoting a prolonged Th1 cell-mediated immune response. The T helper cell response towards H pylori is generally considered to be of the Th1 phenotype, leading to a cell-mediated immune response (Ernst PB, 1999; Shimoyama T and Crabtree JE, 1998). But prolonged Th1 cell mediated immunity is a causing factor for inflammatory conditions. There is increasing evidence that the H pylori induced Th1 response contributes to cancer development (Ernst PB and Gold BD, 2000).

The analysis pertaining to *IL-1RN* allele polymorphism and genotyping of virulence genes such as *CagA*, *VacA* and *IceA1* and *A2* were done in 42 patients colonized with *H pylori*, as confirmed by RUT and *GImM* gene by PCR. *VacA* S1/*CagA*/*IL-1RN*2*-allele combination was found to be high risk factors for inflammatory changes in gastric mucosa of patients leading to metaplasia and later to gastric cancer. *IL-RN*2*/*2 allele were found in 43% (18/42), *IL-RN*1*/*1 allele in 21% (9/42) and heterozygous allele *IL-RN *1*/*2 in 36% (15/42) of patients analysed by PCR amplification using specific primers for VNTR region of the intron 2 which yielded 240bp (two repeats) and 412bp (four repeats) product for *IL-RN*2*/*2 and *IL-RN*1*/*1 allele respectively (Fig.31). The high risk *VacA* S1/*CagA*/*IL-RN*1*/*1 allele in 3 patients (7%) and *VacA* S1/*CagA*/*IL-RN *1*/*2 allele in 7 patients (16%).

Table.24IceA genotype pattern in association with Vac s1, CagA and IL-1RNallele in H pylori infected patients

Bacterial and	k			
Host genes	No. of patients	IceA pattern (No.)		
Vs1C-IL-1RN*2/*2	6	A1A2 (4)	A1 (2)	A2 (0)
Vs1-IL-1RN*2/*2	8	A1A2 (1)	A1 (6)	A2 (1)
Vs1C-IL-1RN*1/*2	7	A1A2 (1)	A1 (4)	A2 (2)
Vs1-IL-1RN*1/*2	6	A1A2 (4)	A1 (1)	A2 (1)
Vs1C-IL-1RN*1/*1	3	A1A2 (0)	A1 (2)	A2 (1)
Vs1-IL-1RN*1/*1	3	A1A2 (0)	A1 (2)	A2 (1)
Vs2C-IL-1RN*2/*2	0	0	0	0
Vs2-IL-1RN*2/*2	4	A1A2 (1)	A1 (2)	A2 (1)
Vs2C-IL-1RN*1/*2	2	A1A2 (1)	A1 (1)	A2 (0)
Vs2-IL-1RN*1/*2	0	0	0	0
Vs2C-IL-1RN *1/*1	2	A1A2 (1)	A1 (1)	A2 (0)
Vs2-IL-1RN*1/*1	1	A1A2 (0)	A1 (0)	A2 (1)

IceA1 and *IceA2* are two different genes, which are present at the same genomic locus among various strains. *IceA1* expression is up regulated by contact with epithelium and in some populations this phenotype is associated with peptic ulcer. In this study, we have analyzed the *IceA1* and *IceA2* status along with *VacA* S, *CagA* and IL-1RA status among patients (Fig.31). Among these patients, 81% infected with *IceA1* genotype, whereas only 19% exhibited *IceA2* genotype. In this group of patients 31% (13/42) were infected with both *IceA1* and *IceA2* genotypes of *H pylori*. The association with *VacA* S1/*CagA*/IL-1RN allele has been given in table-27. Both *IceA1* and *IceA2* status were observed in all four cases of ulcer diagnosed endoscopically (3 duodenal ulcer and 1 antral ulcer), however, two DU and one AU are also associated with *VacA* S1genotype, while remaining DU is infected with *VacA* S2 genotype. *H pylori* infected patient with antral ulcer was also associated with *CagA* genotype. IL-RA allele polymorphisms in two DU were IL-RA1/2 type (heterozygous) and IL-RA*2 in the remaining DU and AU (Table.27)

4. Discussion

4.0 Discussion

Helicobacter pylori is the causative factor for gastritis, gastric ulcer and MALT lymphoma and gastric cancer in humans. This bacterium finds its niche as the acid coated gastric epithelium and survives there with its special mechanisms. In most of the individulals colonized H. pylori keeps a balanced situation of low immune reaction that was not able to eliminate organism but definitely causing tissue damage and which help the bacterium to get sufficient nutrients to survive in the unfavourable environment of the stomach. It is known that over half of the world's population is infected with H. pylori, with the highest rates in developing countries (Rothenbacher D and Brenner H, 2003). Infections occur in early childhood and persist for decades in the absence of targeted antimicrobial therapy. The exact mode of transmission of *H. pylori* is not clearly known till today. New infections thought to occur through human to human contact either in oraloral or faecal-oral route or both. H. pylori is reported to be colonized in few hosts such as humans and some non-human primates and there exists a few reports of isolation of the organism from pet animals (Brown LM et al, 2001; Brown LM et al, 2002; Dore MP et al, 2001; Herbarth O et al, 2001). Although H. pylori colonized individuals are high in population, only a few percentage shows clinical symptoms of H. pylori associated diseases. Among the H. pylori positive individuals 10 to 20% develop ulcer diseases and 1 to 2% having risk of developing gastric cancer or MALT lymphoma (Ernst PB and Gold BD, 2000; Parsonnet J and Issacson PG, 2004). Gastric ulcer patients are characterized by reduced gastric acid secretion, corpus predominant pangastritis, and accelerated progression toward atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia such individuals are reported to be at higher risk for gastric cancer than are duodenal ulcer patients (Hansson LE et al, 1996). Chronic H. pylori-induced inflammation can eventually lead to loss of the normal gastric mucosal architecture, with destruction of gastric glands and replacement by fibrosis and intestinal-type epithelium. This process of atrophic gastritis and intestinal

metaplasia occurs in approximately half of the *H. pylori*-colonized population (Kuipers EJ *et al,* 1995b). The risk of development of atrophy and cancer in the presence of *H. pylori* is again related to host and bacterial factors, which influence the severity of the chronic inflammatory response. The risk is not only increased in individuals colonized with cytotoxin associated gene (cagA) positive strains, but also in those with a genetic predisposition to higher IL-1 production in response to colonization (Parsonnet J *et al,* 1997; El-Omar EM *et al,* 2000).

H. pylori induced ulcer disease, gastric cancer, and lymphoma are complications of chronic inflammation; ulcer disease and gastric cancer in particular occur in those individuals and at those sites with the most severe inflammation. Infection is associated with production of proinflammatory cytokines which lead to chronic or chronic active gastritis. The activity of the gastritis is commonly considered an indicator of severity, and chronic active gastritis is associated with more severe manifestations of disease, such as peptic ulceration and neoplasia (Blaser MJ et al, 1995; Crabtree JE, 1998; Peek RM et al, 1995). The cag pathogenicity island (PAI), a 40 kb stretch of DNA-encoding homologues of components of a T4SS, positive strains are associated with severe disease conditions (Censini S et al, 1996). H. pylori pathogenesis and virulence factors such as cagPAI and its effector protein cagA (Covacci A et al, 1993), vacuolating cytotoxin (vacA) (Cover TL, 1996), Urease (van Vliet AHM et al, 2001), adhesins such as blood group antigen binding adhesin (BabA), sialic acid binding adhesin (sabA and SabB) (Prinz C et al, 2001), adherence-associated lipoprotein (AlpA and AlpB), Helicobacter outer membrane protein Z (HopZ), outer membrane inflammatory protein A (OipA) (Yamaoka Y et al, 2000) and neutrophil activating protein (Nap) (Tonello F et al, 1999; Namavar F et al, 1998), other factors associated with ulcer such as induced upon contact with epithelium gene (IceA) (Figueiredo C et al, 2000) and duodenal ulcer associated protein (DupA) (Lu H et al, 2005), LPS and flagella contributes to the outcome of the gastric pathologies independently or collectively. The cholesteryl- α -

glucosides of *H. pylori* support the pathogenicity of this organism, because inhibition of the cholesterol glucosyltransferase (*Cgt*) by *O*-glycans of the human gastric mucosa suppresses growth of the bacterium (Kawakubo M *et al*, 2004). Intrinsic α -glucosylation of cholesterol abrogates phagocytosis of *H. pylori* and subsequent T-cell activation (Wunder C *et al*, 2006). Many of these defined *H. pylori* virulence factors, including flagella, the stomach acid neutralizing enzyme urease and the multifunctional VacA, are found in all strains (Monack DM *et al*, 2004).

The components of innate immunity such as PRRs play an important role on detecting PAMPs on microbes and orchestrating the adaptive immunity against infection. Toll like receptors constitute a major component of the innate immune system by detecting molecules like lipopolysaccharides (LPS), lipoprotein, lipotheichoic acid, peptidoglycan, lipoarabinomannan (LAM), flagellin, CpG containing DNA, single and double stranded RNA of viruses, HSP60, Porins, Zymosan, Glycolipids are known examples of PAMPs (Janeway CA and Medzhitov R, 2002; Takeda Y *et al*, 2003).. PAMPs recognition by PRRs leads to different signalling events that ultimately exert the expression of many effector molecules of the immune system. The recognition in phagocytic cells leads to the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates (ROI & RNI) and increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules which act as second stimuli for T-cells activation. PRRs also signals the production of immune mediators such as chemokines, cytokines, leukotrienes, prostaglandins and anti-microbial peptides, which ultimately determines the recruitment of leukocytes at the site of infection and the production of successful adaptive immunity to eliminate the infection.

Gastric epithelial cells do not express all ten TLR molecules in humans. The invading immune cells are capable of providing the missing receptors for detecting important molecular patterns of many bacteria. *H. pylori* infection attracts more neutrophils and monocytes to the site of infection through induction of IL-8 release and *H. pylori* Nap protein has also been implicated for the neutrophil activating process by

inducing NADPH oxidase (Tonello F *et al*, 1999; Namavar F *et al*, 1998; Satin B *et al*, 2002; Naumann M and Crabtree JE, 2004). The phagocytic cells at the site of infection try to eliminate the microbes by engulfment and subsequent killing by the help of ROIs and RNIs. However, *H. pylori* possess catalase and superoxide dismutase enzymes involved in the ROI scavenging, which might help the organism to evade its elimination by phagocytotic killing (McGee DJ and Mobley HL, 1999). It also produces the arginase enzyme which converts arginine to ornithine and thereby competitively inhibiting the inducible nitric oxide synthase enzyme of the host and control the production of NO. *H. pylori* also induce eukaryotic arginase II expression in macrophages, which might further counteract NO production by these cells (Gobert AP *et al*, 2002). These mechanisms might limit the availability of L-arginine at the site of infection and thereby control phagocytic killing.

The role of innate immune response to *H. pylori* through PRRs is not completely understood till today. A few studies have reported the involvement of some TLRs in the detection of *H. pylori*. Smith MF *et al* reported that gastric epithelial cells recognize and respond to H. pylori infection at least in part through TLR-2 and TLR-5 (Smith MF *et al*, 2004). TLR-4 mediated recognition of bacterial LPS is a key activator of the innate immune response in epithelial cells, while *H. pylori* LPS is a relatively weak inducer. However, *H. pylori* LPS activates NF-kB through TLR-2 rather than TLR-4 (Smith MF *et al*, 2004; Maeda S *et al*, 2001; Backhead F *et al*, 2003). In the present study, the THP1 monocytic leukaemic cell line reported to be expressing all ten TLRs (Zarember KA and Godowski PJ, 2002), THP-1 derived DCs, HEK293 cells having less or no TLR expression and HEK293 cells stably transfected with TLR2, TLR5 and TLR10 have been used to delineate the role of *H. pylori* virulence genes on TLR detection and signalling through in vitro infection assays involving wild type strain and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cqt* and *cag*PAI.

4.1 Toll like receptors Expression and IRAK-1 phosphorylation during *H pylori* infection in THP-1 cells, THP-1-DCs, HEK-293, HEK293-TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10 cells

The complete profile of TLR-1 to 10 mRNA expression pattern during H. pylori infection is not available. Hence one of the objectives of the present study was to analyze the TLR-1 to 10 mRNA expressions in human monocytic THP1 cell line during H. pylori infection. The mRNA expressions of genes give a rough idea of their involvement in cellular activities at a particular event. The higher expression of mRNA of a particular gene attributes to higher turn over or continuous signal transduction of particular pathway that regulate the gene expression. TLRs are involving in the recognition of PAMPs present on microbes or invading organisms and subsequent signalling to activate the pro-inflammatory changes to control infection. Several known ligands from different sources have been reported to bind TLRs and transducing signals. Smith MF et al (2004) reported that gastric epithelial cells recognize and respond to H. *pylori* infection at least in part through TLR-2 and TLR-5. *H. pylori* LPS activates NF-κB, through TLR-2 rather than TLR-4 (Smith MF et al, 2004; Maeda S et al, 2001; Backhead F et al, 2003). In contrast to this, Kawahara T et al reported that H. pylori LPS activated NF- κ B in association with the expression of Mitogen oxidase-1 (MOX-1), cyclooxygenase-II (COX II) and TNFα transcripts in gastric pit cells, which express more TLR-4 but no TLR-2 (Kawahara T et al, 2003).

The infection of THP-1 cells with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants of *cagA*, *vacA*, *flaA*, *cgt*, and *cag*PAI at a MOI of 1:50 for 6 and 24h have revealed that virulence factors of *H. pylori* significantly altering the quantitative expression of TLR mRNAs. TLR-1 mRNA expression after 6h was not significantly changed during *H. pylori* infection. However, this level was significantly increased with the infection by wild type, Δcgt and Δcag PAI after 24h of infection (Fig.3). Some investigations have shown that Lipoproteins in which the N-terminal cysteine is triacylated are recognized by TLR-2 in combination with TLR-1. Similarly, diacylated lipoproteins are recognized by TLR-2 in combination

with TLR-6 (Takeda Y et al, 2003; Ozinsky A et al, 2000). CagA, VacA and FlaA proteins of *H. pylori* are required for the increase in cellular mRNA expression of TLR-1 in THP-1 cells. It has been reported that LTA from Group B Streptococcus (GBS) and S. aureus have interacted with TLR-2 and TLR-6, but not TLR-1 (Henneke P et al, 2005). TLR-2 expression has been significantly increased by wild type strain but $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta flaA$ mutants showed no significant change after 6 and 24h of infection. However, the mRNA expression level after 6h of infection was reduced by half after 24h of infection with H. pylori wild type. This may be due to the overall control mechanisms of expression of TLR-2 molecules in THP-1 cells or due to tolerance as reported earlier in the case of TLR-4 and TLR-5 mediated detection of LPS and flagellin, respectively (Mizel SB et al, 2002). In addition, *H. pylori* LPS found to be the ligand for TLR-2 (Smith MF et al, 2004; Maeda S et al, 2001; Backhead F et al, 2003). The above observation has been confirmed by analyzing the TLR-2 mRNA expression in HEK293-TLR2 cells by showing increased expression of TLR-2 by *H. pylori* infection. This experiment demonstrated that $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta flaA$ mutants were the least inducer of TLR-2 mRNA expressions. Hence, it can be assumed that TLR-2 lignad (s) from H. pylori may need the virulence factor VacA and FlaA for maximum potency and which may be mediated through the changes exerted by VacA on host cells or changes in surface properties of H. pylori by FlaA molecules, since H. pylori FlaA is a UDP-GlcNAc-inverting 4,6-dehydratase enzyme catalyzes the first step in the biosynthetic pathway of a pseudaminic acid derivative, which is implicated in protein glycosylation (Ishiyama N et al, 2006).

TLR-3 binds known lignad dsRNA from virus and induces IRF-3/7 dependent upregulation of Type-I IFNs (Oganesyan G *et al*, 2006). However, there are only few reports on bacteria dependent Type-I IFNs production. Gratz N *et al* (2008) reported that in mouse macrophages, extracellular Gram-positive human pathogen group A streptococcus (GAS; *S. pyogenes*) causes IRF-3 dependent, MyD-88 independent production of type-I IFN and which is also induced by GAS lacking *slo* and *sagA*, the

genes encoding cytolysins that were shown to be required for IFN production in response to other Gram-positive bacteria (Gratz N *et al*, 2008). THP-1 monocyte infection with *H. pylori* significantly increased the TLR-3 mRNA expression after 6h and continued to increase even after 24h. This shows the important role for TLR-3 in the detection of *H. pylori.* Among the iosgenic mutant studied, $\Delta flaA$ demonstrated least significant change in TLR-3 mRNA expression after 6h and 24h of infection in THP-1 cells. All the other mutants significantly increased the TLR-3 mRNA expression but found to be less potent than wild type strain.

The data regarding the involvement of TLR-4 in H. pylori infection are contradictory. H. pylori LPS activates NF-kB, through TLR-2 rather than TLR-4 (Smith MF et al, 2004; Maeda S et al, 2001; Backhead F et al, 2003). In contrast to this, Kawahara T et al (2003) reported that H. pylori LPS activated NF-KB in association with the expression of Mitogen oxidase-1 (MOX-1), cyclooxygenase-II (COX II) and TNFa transcripts in gastric pit cells, which express TLR-4 without TLR-2 (Kawahara T et al, 2003). Mandell L et al reported that the purified form of H. pylori LPS induced cytokine production was mediated through TLR-4, but the response to Helicobacters such as H. pylori, H. hepaticus, and H. felis was mediated through TLR-2 (Mandell L et al, 2004). THP-1 cells have not significantly increased TLR-4 mRNA expression after 6h of infection with H. pylori. However, there was a significant increase in TLR-4 mRNA expression after 24h of infection with the wild type and Δcqt . On the contrary, other mutants clearly reduced TLR-4 mRNA expression compared to wild type strain. This indicates that H. pylori up-regulate TLR-4 at the late phase of infection, where TLR-2 found to be down-regulated from the initial phase of infection (Fig.2, 3). This would suggest that TLR-4 up-regulation might be occurred due to the LPS released from the bacteria lysis at the late phase of the infection. LPS on the surface of *H. pylori* may have special features which inhibit the interaction with TLR-4, conversely it is able to bind with TLR-2 and induce signal transduction.

Bacterial flagellins are the known ligands for TLR-5. A study using recombinant flaA and Δ flaA mutant of H. pylori revealed the less influence of TLR-5 mediated IL-8 secretion in epithelial cells (Gewirtz AT et al, 2004). A recent report showed the site responsible for low TLR-5 mediated activity to amino acids 89-96 of the N-terminal D1 domain of H. pylori flaA (Andersen-Nissen E et al, 2005). THP-1 cells infected with H. pylori have up-regulated the TLR-5 mRNA expression significantly. Among the mutants tested, $\Delta flaA$ has no significant influence on TLR-5 expression compared to uninfected cells. However, other mutants were less potent than the wild type on inducing TLR-5 mRNA expression. In this study, we found that TLR-5 mRNA expression in THP-1 cells was moderately increased after H. pylori infection. This finding was confirmed at the protein level by western blot analysis of immunoprecipitated TLR-5 from THP-1 cells infected with *H. pylori* wild type and $\Delta f laA$ mutant. This data strongly suggest the involvement of TLR-5 in H. pylori detection and pro-inflammatory changes. In the experiment using HEK293-TLR5 cells infected with H. pylori revealed that wild type and *AcagA* mutant up-regulated the TLR-5 mRNA expression significantly, leading to suggest the involvement of TLR-5 in *H. pylori* infection.

TLR-6 binds to ligands such as diacyl lipopeptides from mycoplasma, LTA from Gram positive bacteria and zymosan from fungi (Takeuchi O *et al*, 2001; Schwander R *et al*, 1999; Ozinsky A *et al*, 2000). THP-1 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants significantly up-regulated mRNA expression of TLR6, except in the case of $\Delta flaA$ mutant. The wild type strain induced the up-regulation of TLR-6 expression significantly compared to other mutant strains after 6h of infection. However, Δcgt and Δcag PAI mutants have up-regulated TLR-6 to the level of wild type after 24h of infection. Ozinsky A *et al* (2000) reported that TLR-2 and TLR-6 heterodimer detect the PGNs while TLR-2 homodimer detects bacterial lipopeptide. They also showed that the cytoplasmic domain of TLR-2 can form functional pairs with TLR-6 or TLR-1, and this interaction led to cytokine induction. Ray A and Biswas T (2005) observed that porin of *S. dysenteriae*

type 1 increased the mRNA levels for TLR-2 and TLR-6 and CD80 and also induced cellsurface expression of immunoglobulin IgM, IgG2a, and IgA in peritoneal cavity B-2 cells. Mycoplasmal membrane diacylated lipoproteins initiated proinflammatory responses through TLR-2 and TLR-6 through the activation of NF-κB and also induced apoptotic responses (Into T *et al,* 2004).

TLR-7 and -8- are involved in the binding of synthetic compounds imidazoquinoline and ssRNA from viruses. TLR-7 also binds synthetic compounds Loxoribine and Bropirimine (Heil F et al, 2003; Heil F et al, 2004; Hemmi H et al, 2002; Jurk M et al, 2002). IFN induction in pDC was triggered by signal transduction pathways through TLR-7 and TLR-9 as well as by recognition of cytosolic virus-specific patterns (Schlender J et al, 2005). No reports are available in the literature showing that bacterial products can bind and induce TLR-7 and -8- mRNA expression. The present study shows that THP-1 cells infected with H. pylori very significantly up-regulated the TLR-7 mRNA expression even after 6h of infection and reached more than 70 fold in case of wild type infected cells compared to uninfected cells. $\Delta cagA$ mutant have exhibited an increase in the TLR-7 mRNA expression after 6h when compared to wild type infected cells. However, after 24h of infection, TLR-7 mRNA expression level reached almost double in wild type infected cells when compared $\Delta cagA$ mutant infected cells. $\Delta flaA$ mutant was the least inducer of TLR-7 mRNA expression. Triantafilou K et al (2005) reported that group B coxsackievirus induced inflammatory response is mediated through TLR-8 and to a lesser extent through TLR-7. TLR-8 and TLR-7 also function as the host sensors for human parechovirus-1, a ssRNA virus (Triantafilou K et al, 2005b). Both type-I IFNs and IRFs are well characterized in viral infections but not in bacterial. S. aureus LTA activated IRF-2 resulted in the up-regulation of IRF-1 and activation of STAT-1 and STAT-3 yielded rapid secretion of IFNa. (Liljeroos M et al, 2008). Interestingly, THP-1 cells infected with H. pylori have up-regulated TLR-8 mRNA expression significantly after 6h of infection and continued even after 24h. Δ*flaA* mutant

has also significantly up-regulated TLR-8 mRNA expression but weakly after 24h of *H. pylori* infection.

CpG DNA is the known and well studied ligand for TLR-9. LPS has induced cytokine production from DCs in a MyD-88 dependent pathway and also induced functional maturation of MyD-88 (-/-) deficient DCs, including up-regulation of costimulatory molecules and enhancement of APC activity. However, MyD-88 (-/-) deficient DCs could not mature in response to bacterial DNA, the ligand for TLR-9, indicating that MyD-88 is differentially required for signalling of TLR family (Kaisho T et al, 2001). Schmausser B et al (2004) reported that immunocytochemical studies using gastric mucosal biopsies have revealed TLR-5 and TLR-9 expression on the gastric epithelium changed to exclusive basolateral localization without detectable expression at the apical pole in *H. pylori* gastritis. Although the level of mRNA expression was very low, the wild type significantly up-regulated the TLR-9 mRNA expression in THP-1 cells after 6h of infection. Other mutants studied have not significantly changed the mRNA expression after 6h of infection. $\Delta cagA$ and $\Delta cagPAI$ significantly increased the TLR-9 mRNA expression only after 24h of infection, whereas the wild type infected cells continued to up-regulate TLR-9 expression from 6h onwards. This indicates that the H. pylori induced TLR-9 expression moderately increased during H. pylori infection and the virulence factors such as VacA, FlaA and CG were found to be essential for upregulation of TLR-9 expression. M. tuberculosis infected TLR9 (-/-) but not TLR2 (-/-) deficient mice displayed defective mycobacteria-induced IL-12p40 and IFNy responses in vivo, whereas, TLR2/9 (-/-) mice displayed markedly enhanced susceptibility to infection in association with combined defects in proinflammatory cytokine production (Bafica A et al, 2005).

TLR-10 is known as orphan receptor among TLRs. The ligand for TLR-10 is not known till today. No published data is available describing TLR-10 involvement in any infectious and inflammatory process. Normal and neoplastic human B-cells express a

distinct TLR repertoire including TLR-9 and TLR-10 and such expression is increased upon engagement of the antigen receptor complex or ligand with TLR-9 (Bourke E et al, 2003). It has also been reported that TLR-10 is a functional receptor, which can form homodimers and heterodimers with TLR-1 and TLR-2, transducing signals in MyD-88 dependent pathway (Hasan U et al, 2005). THP-1 cells express low levels of TLR-10 mRNA. Infections of THP-1 cells with H. pylori have very significantly increased the TLR-10 mRNA expression after 6 and 24h. All the mutants used in this study have also significantly increased the TLR-10 mRNA expression in THP-1 cells after 24h of infection. As observed in other TLR molecules expression, $\Delta flaA$ found to be the least inducer of TLR-10 mRNA expression. The mRNA level expression during H. pylori infection was checked at the protein level by western blot of immunoprecipitated TLR-10 from THP-1 cells infected with *H. pylori* wild type and Δ*flaA* mutant. Western blot analysis revealed the high level expression of TLR-10 protein during H. pylori infection. This observation was again confirmed at the mRNA level in HEK293-TLR10 cells infected with H. pylori. In this experiment, H. pylori wild type significantly increased the TLR-10 mRNA expression after 6h of infection. However, among the mutants Δcgt only increased TLR-10 mRNA expression significantly in HEK293-TLR10 cells although not to the level induced by wild type. This attributes that TLR-10 is playing an important role in the detection of *H. pylori* infection and is the first report on TLR-10 mRNA and protein which can be induced by a bacterium.

THP-1 derived DCs were also used in this study to understand the differential expression of TLRs compared to THP-1 monocytes. LTA and CpG DNA were additive in induction of TNFα, IL-6 and NO in RAW-264 macrophages, peritoneal macrophages and DCs. In contrast, LTA suppressed IL12p40 secretion induced by CpG DNA in RAW-264 cells and peritoneal macrophages but not in DCs. These findings indicated that the consequences of interaction of innate immune cells with microbial pattern depend on the responding cell type and might be differential for certain effector mechanisms (Dalpke

AH *et al*, 2002). Infection of THP1-DCs with wild type *H. pylori* and $\Delta flaA$ revealed that TLR-3, TLR-7 and TLR-10 are the three main TLRs very significantly induced in the THP1-DCs during *H. pylori* infection. TLR-1, TLR-2, TLR-5 and TLR-8 mRNA expressions were significantly increased, although the induction was moderate in THP1-DCs during *H. pylori* infection. TLR-6 and TLR-9 mRNA expressions were very weak in THP1-DCs even after 24h of infection with *H. pylori*. TLR-2 expression was moderately increased after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* but found to be decreased after 24h of infection. TLR-8 were drastically down-regulated in THP-1 derived DCs in comparison with THP-1 cells during *H. pylori* wild type infection. $\Delta flaA$ mutant was again found to be a weak inducer of TLR mRNA expression. This affirms the earlier findings that TLR expression can be varied in different cell types during the infection with same bacterium

The TLR family members are capable of recognizing several classes of pathogens and orchestrating appropriate innate and adaptive immune responses. The role of TLRs in innate immunity to *H. pylori* infection was poorly understood. The present study focused to examine the role of all ten known TLRs expression in THP-1 cells and in particular the role of few individual TLRs by stably transfected in HEK293 cells. mRNA expression has revealed that TLR-3, TLR-6, TLR-7, TLR-8 and TLR-10 transcripts were very significantly up-regulated after 6h and 24h of infection in THP-1 cells. TLR-2 and TLR-9 were weakly up-regulated by *H. pylori* in THP-1 cells after 6h of infection. However, TLR-1 and TLR-9 mRNA expressions were moderately up-regulated after 24h of infection. Among the mutants studied, $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$ found to be the least inducers of TLR mRNA expression in THP-1 cells. Infection of *H. pylori* with HEK293-TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10 cell lines have also revealed the similar pattern of the aforementioned TLRs and the role of *H. pylori* virulence factors in the establishment of pathogenesis.

IRAK1 phosphorylation is an important event in the downstream signaling after activation of TLRs through ligand binding. Initial phosphorylation of two threonine residues of IRAK1 by IRAK4 induces massive autophosphorylation and dissociation from the MyD88 adapter complex to induce further downstream signaling that allows NFkB activation and pro-inflammatory gene expression (Kollewe C et al, 2004; Akira S and Takeda K, 2004). The IRAK-1 phosphorylation is a critical step in the signalling of TLR proteins. After analysing mRNA expressions of all ten TLRs qualitative changes in the TLR signalling during *H. pylori* infection were also studied. It has been revealed that *H.* pylori virulence and pathogenecity factors such as CagA, VacA, FlaA, Cgt and cagPAI status are essential for IRAK-1 massive phosphorylation in THP-1 cells. IRAK-M level, negative regulator of TLR signalling, was also examined. It was found that IRAK-M levels were not changed significantly in THP-1 cells after infection with *H. pylori*. HEK293-TLR2 cells infected with H. pylori and mutants have induced a low level IRAK-1 phosphorylation. In HEK293-TLR5 cells infection, Δcag PAI mutants did not induce IRAK-1 phosphorylation at all, however, wild type, $\Delta cagA$, $\Delta vacA$ and even $\Delta flaA$ induced low level of IRAK-1 phosphorylation. Interestingly, HEK293-TLR10 cells had induced massive IRAK-1 phosphorylation during infection with *H. pylori* wild type strain, whereas very low level of phosphorylation was noted with $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$ mutants. HEK293 cells having no or less TLR expression did not activate IRAK-1 phosphorylation during H. pylori infection. This implies that H. pylori induce IRAK-1 massive phosphorylation through TLR molecules in a host cell type dependent mechanism.

4.2 Nod like receptors Expression and Functional Activation of Inflammasome for IL-1β maturation and secretion during *H pylori* infection with THP-1 monocytes

Nod-like Receptors are the cytoplasmic pattern recognition receptors for detecting microbial molecular patterns and transducing signals to mount a pro-inflammatory reaction. NLR family of proteins are recognized with a modular organization of a Cterminal leucine rich repeats (LRR), central Nucleotide binding domain (NACHT) and an

N-terminal CARD domain, pyrin domain or Bir domain for protein-protein interaction (Tschopp J et al, 2003). These proteins are able to form the high molecular weight structures called 'inflammasome' and recruit caspase1 that leads to proteolytic activation of pro IL-1 β and pro IL-18 (Martinon F and Tschopp J, 2004; Martinon F *et al*, 2002). The mRNA expressions of NLRs molecules were not up-regulated more than 2 fold in THP-1 cells during H. pylori infection, except IPAF. The mRNA expression of IPAF was significantly increased by Δcgt , $\Delta cagA$ and wild type after 6h of infection. However, wild type and isogenic mutants infected cells have significantly increased the IPAF expression after 24h. The *AvacA* mutant was the least inducer of IPAF in *H. pylori* infected THP-1 cells. This reveals that IPAF might be playing an important role in the intracellular detection of H. pylori or its derived molecules in THP-1 cells. It has been reported that NLRs such as NALP-1, NALP-3 and IPAF forms ASC-containing inflammasomes, which activates Pro-caspase-1 to process Pro-IL-1ß to mature form (Martinon F and Tschopp J, 2004; Martinon F et al, 2002). ASC or PYCARD is a protein that is essential for LPS-induced activation of caspase-1, because ASC knockout mice fail to process procaspase-1 or produce IL-1ß and IL-18 following LPS and ATP stimulation, which is consistent with the results obtained in Caspase-1 null mice (Mariathasan S et al, 2004; Li P et al, 1995; Kuida K et al, 1995). However, ASC mRNA expression was very significantly down-regulated in THP-1 cells infected with H. pylori. This might have seroius implications on the inflammsome Pro-IL-1ß and Pro-IL-18 processing and subsequent secretion. ASC was found to be essential for the secretion of IL-1β/IL-18, but dispensable for IL-6, TNFa and IFNy production, in macrophages infected with L. monocytogenes. Activation of caspase-1 was abolished in ASC deficient macrophages, whereas activation of NF-kB and p38 was unaffected. In contrast, secretion of IL-1β, IL-6, and TNFa was reduced in TLR2-deficient macrophages infected with L. monocytogenes (Oezoeren N et al, 2006). The secretory forms of these cytokines, IL-1β and IL-18, are synthesized as biologically inactive precursor molecules

inside cells and are cleaved by the enzyme caspase-1 to the biologically active mature forms that are released from cells. IL-1 β is synthesized by multiple cells including monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, hepatocytes, and tissue macrophages throughout the body (Arend WP *et al*, 2008). Western blot analysis had revealed that mature IL-1 β were not significantly changed in THP-1 cells during infection with *H. pylori*. However, western blot analysis had shown that Δcag PAI, $\Delta cagA$ and Δcgt mutants were able to atleast activate Pro-caspase-1 cleavage to active caspase-1, this step is necessary for Pro-IL-1 β cleavage to form mature IL-1 β . The above data would suggest that inflammasome components expression and functional process have been severely deranged in THP-1 cells during infection with *H. pylori*.

IL-1β lack signal peptides, or leader sequences, and are not released from cells by the usual mechanism of vesicular transport form the Golgi apparatus. The secretion of IL-1 β from THP-1 cells infected with *H. pylori* found to be very less amount and $\Delta cagA$ mutant infected cells have significantly increased the secretion when compared wild type and other mutant infected cells. This is showing that CagA molecule is some way inhibiting the secretion of IL-1β. It has been reported that SRC family tyrosine kinase inhibited the neurotransmitter release from neuronal cells (Ohnishi H et al, 2001). CagA is recognized as a substrate by SRC and ABL family kinases that phosphorylate it on tyrosine residues in unique C-terminal region EPIYA motifs (Selbach M et al, 2002; Stein M et al, 2002; Poppe et al, 2007; Tammer et al, 2007). The role of SRC in IL-1β secretion was examined by specifically inhibiting the SRC activity using the inhibitor PP2. Additional inhibitors such as pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK and EGFR kinase inhibitor AG1478 were also used to check whether these enzymes are involved in the processing and secretion of IL-1β. It was observed that PP2 treated THP-1 cells had significantly increased the IL-1ß secretion even after 8h of infection and continued up to 32h. This would suggest that CagA protein and SRC kinase are involved in the processing and secretion stage of IL-1β. The earlier reported role of IL-1β on inhibition

gastric acid secretion and pangastritis formation may be due to the release of Pro- IL-1 β from dead cells and cleaved by some non-specific proteases to mature form.

4.3 Pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine expression and secretion in relation to TLR Expression and Signalling during *H. pylori* infection with THP-1 monocytes

Immune mediators such as IL-1 β , IL-8 and TNF α proteins and gene polymorphisms have been implicated in the *H. pylori* associated pathologies (EI-Omar EM *et al*, 2000; Rad R *et al*, 2003; EI-Omar EM *et al*, 2003; Gyulai Z *et al*, 2004). The involvements of innate immune receptors such as TLRs role in cytokine and chemokine gene expression have not been studied extensively. In this study, attempts were made to analyze the pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8 IL-18 and TNF α gene expression and secretion in THP-1 cells in relation to TLR expression and signalling during *H. pylori* infection. The particular role of few TLRs on inducing the above mentioned cytokine and chemokine genes have also been analyzed using HEK293-TLR2, HEK-TLR5 and HEK-TLR10 cell lines infected with *H. pylori*.

Three decades ago, TNFα and TNFβ or lymphotoxins (LT) were identified as products of lymphocytes and macrophages that caused the lysis of cells, especially tumor cells (Granger GA *et al*, 1969; Carswell EA *et al*, 1975). TNF secretion can be induced by conserved structural elements common to microbial pathogens, including cell wall moieties such as PGN, LPS, and CpG DNA motifs on binding with TLRs (Aderem A and Ulevitch RJ, 2000). TLRs transcriptionally induce proinflammatory cytokines, including TNF, through the convergence of NF-kB and NF-AT activating pathways, and enhance translational efficiency by a mechanism targeting consensus 39-untranslated AU-rich elements (ARE) in mRNA (Dumitru CD et al., 2000). The ARE is common to many cytokine mRNAs and is bound by tristetraprolin (TTP), a zinc finger–containing protein that accelerates the turnover of ARE-containing mRNAs (Carballo E et al,1998). TTP is induced by TNF as a negative feedback loop that limits TNF activity. Therapeutics to inhibit TNF have been developed which control previously recalcitrant inflammatory

conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease (Maini RN and Taylor PC, 2000; Papadakis KA and Targan SR, 2000). THP-1 cells infected with H. pylori and isogenic mutants had significantly increased the mRNA expression of TNFa after 6h of infection. However, the level of mRNA expression of TNF α has been significantly decreased in $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta flaA$ mutants after 24h of infection when compared to wild type infected cells. TNFα secretion from THP-1 cells after 24h of infection was also analyzed. The data showed that $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta flaA$ mutants significantly reduced the secretion of TNFa from THP-1 cells after 24h of infection when compared to wild type infected cells which correlated with mRNA expressions after 24h. In addition, *\(\Delta cagPAI\)* mutant also reduced TNFa secretion from THP-1 cells when compared to wild type infected cells. However, secretion of TNFa secretion from THP-1 cells infected with $\Delta vacA$, $\Delta flaA$, and $\Delta cagPAI$ significantly increased in comparison with uninfected cells. This suggests that VacA and FlaA molecules, which have previously been shown to induce significantly less TLR expression and signalling, may be partially responsible for the induction of TNFa secretion from THP-1 cells during infection with H. pylori. TLR expression and signalling might be playing an important role along with other signal transduction pathways in TNFα gene expression and secretion during *H. pylori* infection. It has been reported that activation of all four MAP kinase pathways showed a dramatic synergistic effect on TNF reporter gene expression. The MAP kinases appear to target unknown *cis*-element(s) in the TNF promoter and ARE in the 3'-UTR (Zhu W et al, 1999).

The IL-1 β and IL-18 are activated by inflammasome and have similarity in receptor structure and signal transduction. The receptors for IL-1 are IL-1 receptor-I (IL-1R-I), IL-1R-II and the IL-1R accessory protein (IL-1RAcP). IL-18 has IL-18 receptor and the IL-18R accessory protein (IL-18RAcP). IL-1 β is synthesized as 31 kDa biologically inactive precursor molecules inside cells and are cleaved by the enzyme caspase-1 to the biologically active 17 kDa mature form that are released from cells. It is synthesized by multiple cells including monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, hepatocytes, and

tissue macrophages throughout the body. IL-1ß lack signal peptides, or leader sequences, and are not released from cells by the usual mechanism of vesicular transport form the Golgi apparatus (Arend WP et al, 2008). IL-18 is produced by monocytes/macrophages in the presence of different microbial components and plays a major role in the innate immune responses to pathogens. IL-18 is particularly important for the clearance of intracellular pathogens and viruses (Gracie JA et al, 2003). The IL-1β mRNA expressions in THP-1 cells were significantly increased after 6h of H. pylori infection. In addition, $\Delta cagA$ and Δcgt mutants infected cells had very significantly increased the IL-1ß mRNA expression when compared to wild type infected cells. This may be due to direct involvement of CagA and Cholesterol glucosides on transcriptional regulation of IL-1 β during the early phase of infection. However, the wild type strain exhibited more mRNA expression of IL-1ß after 24h of infection with THP-1 cells. This type of increase in IPAF mRNA expression by $\triangle cagA$ and $\triangle cgt$ mutants has been observed in the previous experiments describing the NLR expression. This suggests that CagA and cholesterol glucoside of H. pylori may be involved at the transcriptional regulation of host genes. Although H. pylori induced IL-1B mRNA expression significantly, the production, processing and secretion of IL-1ß at the protein level have been significantly deranged in *H. pylori* infection. In addition, CagA mutant and inhibition of SRC through PP2 treatment and subsequent infection resulted in the increase of IL-1ß secretion significantly.

IL-18 was originally identified as an IFNγ inducing factor (IGIF), which circulated during endotoxemia in mice primed with *Propionibacterium acnes* (67). Like IL-1β, IL-18 is synthesized as a 23 kDa biologically inactive precursor peptide, which is subsequently cleaved by caspase-1 (68). Pro-IL-18 is expressed in macrophages, DCs, Kupffer cells, keratinocytes, chondrocytes, synovial fibroblasts, and osteoblasts (Arend WP, 2008). THP-1 monocyte is also expressing IL-18 mRNA and infection with *H. pylori* has not significantly increased the mRNA expression after 6h of infection. However, the IL-18

mRNA expression was significantly down-regulated after 24h of infection of *H. pylori* with THP-1 cells. IL-18 secretion as analysed by ELISA (data not shown) after 24h infection was negligible since no detectable any amount was present in the supernatant collected from THP-1 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. Hence it can be assumed from the above data, IL-18 expression and secretion are not playing important role in THP-1 cells during *H. pylori* infection.

IL-6 is traditionally considered an activator of acute phase responses and a lymphocyte stimulatory factor (Kishimoto T et al, 1995). IL-6 belongs to a family of cytokines that promote cellular responses through a receptor complex consisting of at least one subunit of the signal-transducing glycoprotein gp130 (Heinrich PC et al, 2003). Many of the biological activities assigned to IL-6 are mediated through naturally occurring soluble IL-6 receptors (IL-6R). This soluble receptor forms an agonistic complex with IL-6 that binds gp130 to trigger cellular responses. Regulation of this activity is termed "IL-6 trans-signaling" (Jones SA and Rose-John S, 2002; Jones SA et al, 2005). In contrast to the ubiquitous expression of gp130, the cognate IL-6R exhibits a highly defined pattern of expression and is largely confined to hepatocytes and leukocytes (Jones SA et al, 2001). The mRNA expression of IL-6 in THP-1 cells during H. pylori infection was studied and it was found that $\triangle cagA$ and $\triangle cgt$ infected cells significantly increased the expression after 6 of infection. However, after 24h of infection not only the mutants but also the wild type increased the mRNA expression of IL-6 and the induction by $\Delta caqA$ and $\triangle cgt$ were more than wild type. $\triangle vacA$, $\triangle flaA$ and $\triangle cagPAI$ infected cells were the least inducers of IL-6 mRNA expression in THP-1 cells among the strains tested. As seen in the case of IL-1ß and IPAF, CagA and Cholesterol glucosides are directly involving in the regulation of mRNA expression and that continued even in the late phase of infection.

Interleukin-8 (IL-8) is a potent neutrophil-activating chemokine, central to the immunopathogenesis of *H. pylori* induced tissue injury (Crabtree J and Lindley I, 1994)

and high tissue expression is dependent on the presence of a complete *cag*PAI (Nilsson *et al*, 2003). In gastric cell lines, co-culture with *H. pylori* induces IL-8 via activation of NF- κ B a transcriptional regulator (Sharma *et al*, 1998; Nozawa *et al*, 2002). In the present study, the IL-8 secretion from THP-1 cells after 24h of infection with *H. pylori* was analyzed. *H. pylori* wild type strain induced very high level of IL-8 secretion from THP-1 monocytes. However, $\Delta flaA$ and Δcag PAI mutants significantly reduced IL-8 secretion to 74% and 40%, respectively, in comparison with wild type. It can be concluded that reduced TLR expression and signalling by $\Delta flaA$ and Δcag PAI mutants may be one of the reasons for the reduced IL-8 expression and secretion in THP-1 cells.

4.4 Pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine expression and secretion in relation to TLR Expression and Signalling during *H. pylori* infection with HEK293, HEK293-TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10 cells

HEK293 cells are having less or no TLR expression and therefore an ideal cell line to study the role of individual TLRs during a particular infection or inflammatory process. We have used HEK293 cells and HEK293 cells stably transfected with TLR-2, TLR-5 and TLR-10. In this study, we analyzed the mRNA level expression of TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-18 and IL-6 after 6h infection of *H. pylori* with HEK293, HEK293-TLR2, HEK293-TLR5 and HEK293-TLR10 cells. HEK293 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants up-regulated IL-8 secretion and TNF α mRNA expression and secretion significantly when compared to uninfected cells. However, the mRNA expression of IL-1 β , IL-18 and IL-6 were not increased during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. The role of TLR-2, TLR-5 and TLR-10 in pro-inflammatory gene expression and secretion was also studied by infecting stably transfected TLRs in HEK293 cells.

HEK293-TLR2 cells substantially enhanced the mRNA expression and secretion of TNFα in comparison with HEK293 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. IL-8 secretion from HEK293-TLR2 cells during *H. pylori* infection was reached more than 20 fold of the secretion exhibited by HEK293 cells. The TNFα mRNA expression was highly induced in HEK293-TLR2 cells when compared to HEK293 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. HEK293-TLR2 cells secreted 3.5 to 5 times TNFα than by HEK293 cells. This enhancement of TNF α expression and secretion in HEK293-TLR2 cells may be due to the increased signal transduction through TLR-2 activation. IL-1β mRNA expression was increased in HEK293-TLR2 cells in comparison with HEK293 cells during infection with H. pylori and isogenic mutants. However, IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expression increased only below two folds in both cell lines and no further enhancement was noted during H. pylori infection. This supports the earlier findings that TLR-2 is involved in *H. pylori* infection mediated pro-inflammatory changes. In the present study, IL-1β, IL-8 and TNFα expressions were enhanced in HEK293-TLR2 cells in comparison with HEK293 cells during *H. pylori* infection. $\triangle cagA$ and $\triangle cagPAI$ mutants infected HEK293-TLR2 cells have exhibited a significant level of reduction in IL-8 secretion when compared to wild type strain. $\triangle cagA$, $\triangle vacA$, $\triangle flaA$ and $\triangle cgt$ infected HEK293-TLR2 cells have shown significant reduction in TNFa mRNA expression and secretion when compared to the wild type strain. However, TNFa mRNA expression change was not significantly in $\triangle cagA$ infected cells (Fig.23,24). IL-1 β mRNA expression has significantly reduced in HEK293-TLR2 cells infected with $\Delta vacA$, $\Delta flaA$ and Δcgt mutants, on the contrary, $\Delta cagA$ infected cells significantly increased the expression when compared to wild type strain (Fig 22, 23, 24).

HEK293-TLR5 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants enhanced IL-8 secretion almost seven folds when compared to infected HEK293 cells. TNF α mRNA expression increased in HEK293-TLR5 cells in comparison with HEK293 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. However, this enhancement was not as high as exhibited by HEK293-TLR2 and HEK293-TLR10 cell lines infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. TNF α secretion from HEK293-TLR5 was almost similar to the HEK293 cells secretion. This implies that TLR-5 signalling during *H. pylori* infection is not playing much role on inducing TNF α expression. IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA

H. pylori. Δ *vacA*, Δ *flaA* and Δ *cgt* mutants infected cells have significantly reduced the IL-8 secretion from HEK293-TLR5 cells when compared to the wild type strain (Fig.25, 26, 27).

The present study revealed the fact that TLR-10 is highly expressed during *H. pylori* infection. The involvement of TLR-10 on cytokine gene expression and secretion has not been studied earlier. HEK293-TLR10 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants have significantly increased the IL-8 secretion, which was observed to be more than 5-7 folds in comparison with HEK293 cells, suggesting that TLR-10 has increased the IL-8 expression and secretion through its signalling. TNF α mRNA expression has significantly increased in HEK293-TLR10 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. However, TNF α secretion from HEK293-TLR10 in comparison with HEK293 cells was significantly increased in wild type, $\Delta cagA$ and Δcag PAI infected cells only. IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expressions in HEK293-TLR10 cells were increased not more than two fold in HEK293-TLR10 cells in comparison with HEK293 cells during *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants infection. This indicates that TLR-10 is a functional receptor and enhancing the IL-8 and TNF α secretion significantly, but not IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expression significantly, but not IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expression.

4.5 IL-1 Receptor Antagonist polymorphism and genotyping of *CagA, VacA, IceA1* and *A2* among a group of patients colonized with *H. pylori*

The host genetic background in relation to colonization of *H pylori* was analyzed in the present study. Gastric mucosal biopsy samples collected from patients who have tested positive for rapid urease test under routine endoscopic examination were included as the subjects. The presence of *H pylori* infection was further confirmed by PCR amplification for *GImM* gene. 42 *H pylori* positive samples diagnosed by above method were further analyzed for genotying of *VacA* S, *CagA* and *IceA1* and *IceA2*. *VacA* S region was very important in determining the vacoulating action of *VacA* protein of *H*

pylori. VacA S1 is found to be more toxic than VacA S2, which is having an additional 27 bp nucleotide sequence probably affecting the hydrophobic characteristic of mature protein and its secretion. This showed that 74% of patients are infected with VacA S1 genotype and associated with 3 peptic ulcer diseases and 29 NUDs, in which one sample is infected with both VacA S1 and S2. But there is no significant change was observed in this patient to discuss the importance of this co-existence as reported in few earlier studies (Rahman M et al., 2003). CagA gene is a marker of cag pathogenecity island found in certain H pylori strains and a crucial virulence factor associated with peptic ulcer diseases and gastric cancer in various studies (Rugge M et al., 1999; Miehlke S et al., 2000, Van Doorn LJ et al., 1998). CagA genotype was also analyzed among this group of patients infected with H pylori. VacA S1/CagA genotype is more virulent due to the synergistic effect of these toxic proteins on the host system. Among the patients 45% found to be infected with CagA genotype, of which 79% associated with VacA S1 genotype and thereby increasing the severity of toxic effects. The only patient having antral ulcer is associated with more virulent VacA S1/CagA genotype. This genotype is present in 13 other NUDs showing these patients are at more risk for developing ulcers and gastric cancer in later stages if the infection persists.

Host genetic background is also implicated as a putative factor on determining the severity of *H. pylori* associated diseases. Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist (*IL-1 RN*) gene is reported to be associated with inflammatory conditions due to its polymorphic region within the second intron containing 2–6 tandem repeats of an 86 bp sequence. In which, the *IL-RN*2/*2* genotype has been associated with proinflammatory responses more severe and more prolonged than those of other *IL-RN* genotypes (Hurme M and Helminen M, 1998). This analysis of *IL-RN* gene polymorphism using specific primers differentiating the alleles among patients was performed. The pro-inflammatory *IL-RN*2/*2* allele was present in 43% of patients. *IL-RN*1/*1* allele was present in the

remaining 21% of patients. The high risk *VacA* S1/*CagA*/IL-1RA*2-allele were present in 14% of patients studied and *VacA* S1/*CagA*/ *IL-RN*1/*1* allele in 7% patients, while *VacA* S1/*CagA*/ *IL-RN *1/*2* allele in 16% of patients. The host pro-inflammatory factors along with bacterial virulence factors may increase the risk for pathological changes leading to gastric cancer among this group of patients. The highest prevalence of gastric abnormalities were reported in patients with both host and bacterial high-risk genotype such as *VacA* S1/*CagA*/ *IL-RN*2/*2* /*IL-1B-511T* (Rad R *et al.,* 2003).

IceA was identified following transcriptional up regulation on contact with gastric epithelial cells (Peek RM et al., 1998). IceA exists as two distinct genotypes, iceA1 and iceA2, and only iceA1 mRNA is induced following adherence in vitro. H pylori iceA1 demonstrates strong homology to a restriction endonuclease nlaIIIR in Neisseria lactamica (Xu Q et al., 2002), and in vivo carriage of H pylori iceA1 strains has been reported to be associated with peptic ulceration and enhanced acute neutrophilic infiltration. It has been reported that *IceA1* genotype is the predominant in the East Asia, while *iceA2* genotype is predominant in the USA and Columbia (Yamaoka Y et al., 1999). The present study examined the *lceA1* and *lceA2* genotypes along with the highrisk host and bacterial factors. Although the protein product of *lceA1* and *lceA2* has no significant homology to known proteins and its structure reveals patterns of repeated protein cassettes. IceA1 strains have been reported to be associated with peptic ulceration and enhanced acute neutrophilic infiltration, while iceA2 strains are more prevalent among patients with asymptomatic gastritis and non-ulcer dyspepsia. Further analysis revealed that 81% and 19% infected with IceA1 and IceA2 genotype, respectively, and among these 31% patients infected with both strains. IceA1 and IceA2 strains were present in all four peptic ulcer patient samples included in the study. Kidd et al. reported that the vacA S1b, m1 and iceA1 were closely linked to gastric cancer and 40% of patients in their study had infected with *iceA1 and iceA2* strains, although higher prevalence of gastric cancer patients infected with iceA1/VacA S1genotype observed in

South African population. Further studies are needed to establish the synergistic effect of VacS1/CagA+/IL-1RA*2/IceA1/IceA2 combination on establishing gastric pathologies in *H pylori* infected patients.

5. Conclusion

5.0 Conclusion

- 1. THP-1 cell is one of the best model systems to study all ten TLR molecules as it is expressing these molecules constitutively (Zarember KA and Godowski PJ, 2002). The THP-1 cells maintained in complete RPMI 1640 medium were used for infection assays with *H. pylori* strain P12 and its isogenic mutants such as $\Delta cagA$, Δ vacA, Δ flaA, Δ cgt and Δ cagPAI. The dynamics of mRNA level expression of TLR-1 to TLR-10 were determined by Tagman Quantitative RT-PCR relative to expression of house keeping gene GAPDH. TLR expression pattern at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) 1:50 of *H. pylori* and isogenic mutant strains were analyzed at 6h and 24h after infection. Quantitative RT-PCR data showed that TLR-3, TLR-5, TLR-6, TLR-7, TLR-8 and TLR-10 were highly expressed in THP1 cells after infection with H. pylori wild type. TLR-1 and TLR-9 mRNA expressions were induced moderately, whereas TLR-2 and TLR-4 were at very low level after 24h of infection. All the isogenic mutants used in this study were less potent on inducing TLR mRNA expression in comparison with wild type strain. Of which, $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$ mutants were shown to be the least inducer of TLR mRNA expression in THP-1 cells.
- 2. THP-1 derived DCs represent monotypic DCs and function as antigen presenting cells to activate T cells when matured through stimulation (Berges C *et al*, 2005). THP1 derived DCs were used to study mRNA expression of TLRs during infection with *H. pylori* and $\Delta flaA$ isogenic mutant. TLR-3, TLR-7 and TLR-10 were prominently expressed in THP-1 derived DCs during infection with *H. pylori*. $\Delta flaA$ mutant was again found to be the least inducer of TLR mRNA expression. Taken together the data obtained in THP-1 and THP-1 derived DCs showed that there exists differential induction of TLRs in different populations of immune cells during *H. pylori* infection.
- 3. The protein level expressions of TLR-5 and TLR-10 were studied using whole cell extract immunoprecipitation and Western blot. *H. pylori* wild type and $\Delta flaA$

isogenic mutant, the least inducer of TLR mRNA expression, were used to infect THP-1 cells to study the variation in protein level expression. TLR-5 was found to be moderately increased in expression at protein level as similar to mRNA expression after 6h of infection with *H. pylori* when compared to uninfected control cells. TLR-10 was highly expressed at the protein level in *H. pylori* infected cells which correlated with mRNA expression as shown in Fig.4 of the results. $\Delta flaA$ mutant of *H. pylori* was a least inducer of TLR-5 and TLR-10 proteins in THP1 monocytes after 6h of infection when compared to wild type strain. These results clearly ascertain that *H. pylori* virulence and pathogenecity factors have an important role on quantitative and qualitative properties of TLR molecules and that will be the determining factors for successful adaptive immune response.

4. HEK-293 cells stably transfected with TLR-2 (HEK293-TLR-2 cells), TLR-5 (HEK293-TLR-5 cells) and TLR-10 (HEK293-TLR-10 cells) were used for H. pylori infection. HEK-293-TLR2 cells infected with H. pylori for 6h have also exhibited moderate increase of TLR-2 mRNA expression when compared to uninfected control. $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$ isogenic mutant strains were the least inducers of TLR-2 mRNAs in HEK-293-TLR2 cells. *H. pylori* wild type and *\(\Delta\)cagA* isogenic mutant strain have induced 5 and 3 fold increases in TLR-5 mRNA expression, respectively, in HEK-293-TLR-5 cells after 6h of infection. $\Delta flaA$, $\Delta vacA$, Δcgt and Δcaq PAI isogenic mutants have not shown the induction of TLR-5 mRNA expression in HEK-293-TLR-5 cells after 6h of infection. HEK-293-TLR-10 cells infected with H. pylori have also exhibited an increase in the TLR-10 mRNA expression to 4 fold level after 6 h of infection. Infection of Δcgt isogenic mutant infection resulted an increase of 2.5 fold of TLR-10 mRNA expression in HEK-293-TLR-10 cells. However, $\Delta flaA$, $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta cagPAI$ isogenic mutants were not able to increase TLR-10 mRNA expression more than two folds in HEK-293-TLR-10 cells after 6h of infection.

- 5. The IRAK-1 phosphorylation is a critical step in the signalling of TLR proteins. After analysing mRNA expressions of all ten TLRs, gualitative changes in the TLR signalling during H. pylori infection were also studied. It has been revealed that H. pylori virulence and pathogenecity factors such as CagA, VacA, FlaA, Cgt and cagPAI status are essential for IRAK-1 massive phosphorylation in THP-1 cells. IRAK-M level, negative regulator of TLR signalling, was also examined. It was found that IRAK-M levels were not changed significantly in THP-1 cells after infection with *H. pylori*. HEK293-TLR2 cells infected with *H. pylori* and mutants have induced a low level IRAK-1 phosphorylation. In HEK293-TLR5 cells infection, Δcgt and $\Delta cagPAI$ mutants did not induce IRAK-1 phosphorylation at all, however, wild type, $\Delta cagA$, $\Delta vacA$ and even $\Delta flaA$ induced low level of IRAK-1 phosphorylation. Interestingly, HEK293-TLR10 cells had induced massive IRAK-1 phosphorylation during infection with H. pylori, whereas very low level of phosphorylation was noted with $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta vacA$ mutants. HEK293 cells having no or less TLR expression did not activated IRAK-1 phosphorylation during H. pylori infection. This implies that *H. pylori* induce IRAK-1 massive phosphorylation through TLR molecules in a host cell type dependent mechanism.
- 6. Nod-like Receptors are the cytoplasmic pattern recognition receptors for detecting microbial molecular patterns and transducing signals to mount a pro-inflammatory reaction. NLR family of proteins are recognized with a modular organization of a C-terminal leucine rich repeats (LRR), central Nucleotide binding domain (NACHT) and an N-terminal CARD domain, pyrin domain or Bir domain for protein-protein interaction (Tschopp J *et al*, 2003). These proteins are able to form the high molecular weight structures called 'inflammasome' and recruit caspase1 that leads to proteolytic activation of pro IL-1 β and pro IL-18 (Martinon F and Tschopp J, 2004; Martinon F *et al*, 2002). Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD (ASC) or PYCARD is a protein that is essential for LPS-

induced activation of caspase-1, because ASC knockout mice fail to process procaspase-1 or produce IL-1 β and IL-18 following LPS and ATP stimulation, which is consistent with results in Caspase-1 null mice(Mariathasan S *et al*, 2004; Li P *et al*, 1995; Kuida K *et al*, 1995). NLRs such as NOD-1, NOD-2, NALP-1, NALP-2, NALP-3, IPAF and inflammsome adaptor ASC mRNA expression molecules were not up-regulated more than 2 fold in THP-1 cells during *H. pylori* infection, except IPAF. IPAF was significantly increased by Δcgt , $\Delta cagA$ and wild type in the descending order after 6h of infection. However, wild type and isogenic mutants infected cells have significantly increased the IPAF expression after 24h. The $\Delta vacA$ mutant was the least inducer of IPAF in *H. pylori* infected THP-1 cells. This reveals that IPAF might be playing an important role in the intracellular detection of *H. pylori* or its derived molecules in THP-1 cells.

7. IL-1ß and IL-18 are proinflammatory cytokines important in the host defence against infection and in the pathogenesis of various inflammatory disorders. Both IL-1ß and IL-18 are synthesized as inactive cytoplasmic precursors that are proteolytically processed to biologically active mature forms in response to various proinflammatory stimuli by caspase-1 (Yu HB and Finlay BB, 2008). Although the intracellular signalling pathways leading to caspase-1 activation remain poorly defined, studies have suggested involvement of members of the NLRs in the regulation of caspase-1 activation. NALP-3 NALP-1 and IPAF can form an endogenous multiprotein complex 'inflammasome' containing ASC and caspase-1, that promotes caspase-1 activation and processing of pro- IL-1β. ASC is critical for caspase-1 activation and secretion of mature IL-1ß and IL-18 in response to several purified microbial components as well as intracellular bacteria (Martinon F and Tschopp J, 2004; Martinon F et al, 2002). The IL-1ß mRNA expression was high during H. pylori and isogenic mutants infection of THP-1 cells and IL-18 mRNA expression was significantly down-regulated. The protein

level expression of mature IL-1 β was not changed significantly, after 8h of infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. Pro-caspase-1 cleavage was inhibited during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutant strains $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta flaA$. On the contrary, Pro-caspase-1 cleavage was not inhibited in the case of $\Delta cagA$, Δcgt and $\Delta cagPAI$ infected cells (Fig.15). However, there was no significant change in the process of Pro-IL-1 β cleavage to mature IL-1 β in THP-1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and all isogenic mutants tested. The level of IL-1 β secretions was very low, although $\Delta cagA$ and $\Delta vacA$ isogenic mutants infected cells. The other isogenic mutants such as $\Delta flaA$, Δcgt , $\Delta cagPAI$ infected cells. The other isogenic mutants of IL-1 β than wild type infected THP-1 cells secreted less amounts of IL-1 β than wild type infected cells and $\Delta cagPAI$ exerted the least induction of IL-1 β secretion. This implicates that inflammasome mediated Pro IL-1 β processing was severly deranged in THP-1 cells during *H. pylori* infection.

8. The influence of known *H. pylori* induced kinase activities in host cells and apoptosis on IL-1β processing and secretion by treating the cells with specific inhibitors, such as c-SRC kinase inhibitor-PP2, EGFR kinase inhibitor-AG1478 and pan-caspase inhibitor-Z-VAD-FMK, thirty minutes prior to infection with *H. pylori* wild type was investigated. The IL-1β secretion from THP1 cells, treated with inhibitors as stated above, after 8h, 24h and 32h of infection with *H. pylori* wild type was measured. c-SRC inhibitor-PP2 treated cells had secreted significantly higher amount of IL-1β after 8h of infection, whereas, levels of IL-1β remain unchanged in cells treated with EGFR kinase inhibitor-AG1478, pancaspase inhibitor-Z-VAD-FMK and wild type *H. pylori* treated cells. This suggests that c-SRC is involved in the retardation of IL-1β secretion during *H. pylori* infection.
9. Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TNFa and chemokine IL-8 were reported to be increased in the gastric tissues of *H. pylori* infected patients. There are no reports regarding the influence of *H. pylori* virulence and pathogenecity factors on cytokine and chemokine gene expression and secretion during infection. In this study, the IL-6 and TNFa gene expression in THP1 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants $\triangle cagA$, $\triangle vacA$, $\triangle flaA$, $\triangle cgt$ and $\Delta cagPAI$ were analyzed. TNF secretion can be induced by conserved structural elements common to microbial pathogens, including cell wall moieties such as PGN, LPS, and CpG DNA motifs on binding with TLRs (Aderem A and Ulevitch RJ, 2000). TLRs transcriptionally induce proinflammatory cytokines, including TNF, through the convergence of NF-kB and NF-AT activating pathways, and enhance translational efficiency by a mechanism targeting consensus 39untranslated AU-rich elements (ARE) in mRNA (Dumitru CD et al., 2000). THP-1 cells infected with H. pylori and isogenic mutants had significantly increased the mRNA expression of TNFa after 6h of infection. However, the level of mRNA expression of TNF α has been significantly decreased in $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta flaA$ mutants after 24h of infection when compared to wild type infected cells. TNFa secretion from THP-1 cells after 24h of infection was also analyzed. The data showed that $\Delta vacA$ and $\Delta flaA$ mutants significantly reduced the secretion of TNF α from THP-1 cells after 24h of infection when compared to wild type infected cells and that correlated with mRNA expressions after 24h. In addition, *\(\Delta cagPAI\)* mutant also reduced TNFa secretion from THP-1 cells when compared to wild type infected cells. These data suggests that VacA and FlaA molecules, which have previously been shown to induce significantly less TLR expression and signalling, may be partially responsible for the induction of TNF α secretion from THP-1 cells during infection with *H. pylori*.

- 10. IL-6 is traditionally considered an activator of acute phase responses and a lymphocyte stimulatory factor (Kishimoto T et al, 1995). IL-6 belongs to a family of cytokines that promote cellular responses through a receptor complex consisting of at least one subunit of the signal-transducing glycoprotein gp130 (Heinrich PC et al, 2003). Many of the biological activities assigned to IL-6 are mediated through naturally occurring soluble IL-6 receptors (IL-6R). This soluble receptor forms an agonistic complex with IL-6 that binds gp130 to trigger cellular responses. Regulation of this activity is termed "IL-6 trans-signaling" (Jones SA and Rose-John S, 2002; Jones SA et al, 2005). The mRNA expression of IL-6 in THP-1 cells during *H. pylori* infection was studied and it was found that $\Delta cagA$ and $\triangle cgt$ infected cells significantly increased the expression after 6 of infection. However, after 24h of infection not only the mutants but also the wild type increased the mRNA expression of IL-6 and the induction by $\triangle cagA$ and $\triangle cgt$ were more than wild type. $\Delta vacA$, $\Delta flaA$ and $\Delta cagPAI$ infected cells were the least inducers of IL-6 mRNA expression in THP-1 cells.
- 11. Interleukin-8 (IL-8) is a potent neutrophil-activating chemokine, central to the immunopathogenesis of *H. pylori* induced tissue injury (Crabtree J and Lindley I, 1994) and high tissue expression is dependent on the presence of a complete *cag*PAI (Nilsson *et al*, 2003). In gastric cell lines, co-culture with *H. pylori* induces IL-8 via activation of NF-kB a transcriptional regulator (Sharma *et al*, 1998; Nozawa *et al*, 2002). *H. pylori* wild type strain induced very high level of IL-8 secretion from THP-1 monocytes. However, $\Delta flaA$ and Δcag PAI mutants infection with THP-1 cells significantly reduced IL-8 secretion to 74% and 40%, respectively, in comparison with wild type. It can be concluded that reduced TLR expression and signalling by $\Delta flaA$ and Δcag PAI mutants may be one of the reasons for the reduced IL-8 expression and secretion in THP-1 cells.

218

- 12. HEK293-TLR2 cells substantially enhanced the mRNA expression and secretion of TNFα in comparison with HEK293 cells when infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. IL-8 secretion from HEK293-TLR2 cells during *H. pylori* infection was reached more than 20 fold of the secretion by HEK293 cells. TNFα and IL-1β mRNA expressions were significantly induced in HEK293-TLR2 cells when compared to HEK293 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. However, IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expression were increased not more than two folds in both cell lines during *H. pylori* infection.
- 13. HEK293-TLR5 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants enhanced IL-8 secretion almost seven folds when compared to infected HEK293 cells. Δ*vacA*, Δ*flaA* and Δ*cgt* mutants infected cells have significantly reduced the IL-8 secretion from HEK293-TLR5 cells when compared to the wild type strain. TNFα mRNA expression increased in HEK293-TLR5 cells in comparison with HEK293 cells during infection with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants, however, this enhancement was not enough to make changes in TNFα secretion when compared to HEK293 cells. IL-1β, IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expressions were not increased in HEK293 cells during infection. It can be concluded from the above data that TLR-5 signalling is not enough to induce enhanced IL-1β, IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expressions and TNFα secretion in HEK293 cells.
- 14. The present study disclosed the fact that TLR-10 is highly expressed during *H. pylori* infection. HEK293-TLR10 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants have significantly increased the IL-8 secretion, which was observed to be more than 5-7 folds in comparison with HEK293 cells. TNFα mRNA expression has significantly increased in HEK293-TLR10 cells infected with *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants. However, TNFα secretion from HEK293-TLR10 in comparison with HEK293 cells was significantly increased in wild type, Δ*cagA* and Δ*cag*PAI

219

infected cells only. IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expressions in HEK293-TLR10 cells were increased not more than two fold in HEK293-TLR10 cells in comparison with HEK293 cells during *H. pylori* and isogenic mutants infection. This indicates that TLR-10 is a functional receptor and enhancing the IL-8 and TNF α secretion significantly, but not IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-18 mRNA expression, during infection with *H. pylori*.

15. In vivo analysis of high risk host and bacterial genotypes using 42 biopsy samples from patients colonized with *H. pylori* revealed that *VacA* S1/*CagA*/*IL-1RN*2*/*2-allele in 14%, *VacA* S1/*CagA*/*IL-RN*1*/*1 allele in 7%, and *VacA* S1/*CagA*/*IL-RN *1*/*2 allele in 16% of patients. *IceA1* and *IceA2* status were observed in all four cases of gastric ulcer diagnosed endoscopically (3 duodenal ulcer and 1 antral ulcer), however, two DU and one AU are also associated with *VacA* S1genotype, while remaining DU is infected with *VacA* S2 genotype. Of the 42 samples studied, 81% infected with *IceA1* genotype, whereas only 19% exhibited *IceA2* genotypes of *H pylori*.

6. Bibliography

Abdelaziz MM, Devalia JL, Khair OA, Calderon M, Sapsford RJ, Davies RJ (1995). The effect of conditioned medium from cultured human bronchial epithelial cells on eosinophil and neutrophil chemotaxis and adherence in vitro. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 13: 728-737.

Adamo R, Sokol S, Soong G, Gomez MI, Prince A (2004). Pseudomonas aeruginosa flagella activate airway epithelial cells through asialoGM1 and toll-like receptor 2 as well as toll-like receptor 5. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* 30:627-634.

Aderem A and Underhill D (1999). "Mechanisms of Phagocytosis in Macrophages". *Annual Review of Immunology* 17: 593-623.

Aderem A and Hume DA (2000). How Do You See CG? Cell 103: 993–996.

Aderem A and Ulevitch RJ (2000). Toll-like receptors in the induction of the innate immune response. *Nature* 406: 782–787.

Agrawal S, Agrawal A, Doughty B, Gerwitz A, Blenis J, Van Dyke T, Pulendran B (2003). Cutting edge: different Toll-like receptor agonists instruct dendritic cells to induce distinct Th responses via differential modulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase-mitogen-activated protein kinase and c-Fos. *J Immunol.* 171: 4984-4989.

Agostini L, Martinon F, Burns K, McDermott MF, Hawkins PN, Tschopp J (2004). NALP3 forms an IL-1b-processing inflammasome with increased activity in Muckle-Wells autoinflammatory disorder. *Immunity* 20: 319–325

Ahmad-Nejad P, Haecker H, Rutz M, Bauer S, Vabulas RM, Wagner H (2002). Bacterial CpG-DNA and lipopolysaccharides activate Toll-like receptors at distinct cellular compartments. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32, 1958–1968.

Akamine M, Higa F, Arakaki N, Kawakami K, Takeda K, Akira S, Saito A (2005). Differential roles of Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in in vitro responses of macrophages to Legionella pneumophila. *Infect Immun.* 73: 352-361.

Akhtar M, Watson JL, Nazli A, McKay DM. .. Bacterial DNA evokes epithelial IL-8 productionby a MAPK-dependent, NF-kappaB-independent pathway (2003). *FASEB J* 17: 1319-1321,

Akira S and Takeda K. Toll like receptor signaling (2004). *Nat. Rev. Immunol* 4: 499-511.

Albrecht I, Tapmeier T, Zimmermann S, Frey M, Heeg K, Dalpke A (2004). Toll-like receptors differentially induce nucleosome remodelling at the IL-12p40 promoter. *EMBO Rep* 5:172-177.

Alexopoulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA (2001). Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF- \Box B by Toll-like receptor 3. *Nature* 413: 732–738.

Alexopoulou L, Thomas V, Schnare M, Lobet Y, Anguita J, Schoen RT, Medzhitov R, Fikrig E, Flavell RA (2002). Hyporesponsiveness to vaccination with Borrelia burgdorferi OspA in humans and in TLR1- and TLR2-deficient mice. *Nat Med* 8:878-84.

Aliprantis AO, Yang R, Mark MR, Suggett S, Devaux B, Radolf JD, Klimpel GR, Godowski P, Zychlinsky A (1999). Cell activation and apoptosis by bacterial lipoproteins through Toll-like receptor 2. *Science* 285: 736–739.

Alm RA, Ling LS, Moir DT, King BL, Brown ED, Doig PC, Smith DR, Noonan B, Guild BC, deJonge BL, Carmel G, Tummino PJ, Caruso A, Uria-Nickelsen M, Mills DM, Ives C, Gibson R, Merberg D, Mills SD, Jiang Q, Taylor DE, Vovis GF, Trust TJ (1999). Genomic-sequence comparison of two unrelated isolates of the human gastric pathogen *Helicobacter pylori*. *Nature* 397: 176–180

Allen A, Flemstrom G, Garner A, Kivi laakso E (1993). Gastroduodenal mucosal protection. *Physiol Rev* 73: 823-857.

Alper J .Searching for medicine's sweet spot (2001). Science 291: 2338–2343.

Amer A, Franchi L, Kanneganti TD, Body-Malapel M, Ozören N, Brady G, Meshinchi S, Jagirdar R, Gewirtz A, Akira S, Núñez G (2006).Regulation of Legionella phagosome maturation and infection through flagellin and host Ipaf. *J Biol Chem* 46:35217-35223.

Amieva, M.R., Salama, N.R., Tompkins, L.S., and Falkow, S (2002). *Helicobacter pylori* enter and survive within multivesicular vacuoles of epithelial cells. *Cell Microbiol* 4: 677–690.

Amieva, M.R., Vogelmann, R., Covacci, A., Tompkins, L.S., Nelson, W.J., and Falkow, S (2003). Disruption of the epithelial apical-junctional complex by *Helicobacter pylori* CagA. *Science* 300: 1430–1434.

Andersen-Nissen E, Smith KD, Strobe KL, Barrett SL, Cookson BT, Logan SM, Aderem A (2005). Evasion of Toll like receptor 5 by flagellated bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 102: 9247-9252.

Andersen-Nissen E, Smith KD, Bonneau R, Strong RK, Aderem A (2007). A conserved surface on Toll-like receptor 5 recognizes bacterial flagellin. *J Exp Med* 204:393-403.

An H, Yu Y, Zhang M, Xu H, Qi R, Yan X, Liu S, Wang W, Guo Z, Guo J, Qin Z, Cao X (2002). Involvement of ERK, p38 and NF-kappaB signal transduction in regulation of TLR2, TLR4 and TLR9 gene expression induced by lipopolysaccharide in mouse dendritic cells. *Immunology* 106: 38-45

Appelmelk BJ, Martin SL, Monteiro MA, Clayton CA, McColm AA, Zheng P, Verboom T, Maaskant JJ, van den Eijnden DH, Hokke CH, Perry MB, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CM, Kusters JG (1999). Phase variation in *Helicobacter pylori* lipopolysaccharide due tochanges in the lengths of poly(C) tracts in 3-fucosyltransferase genes. *Infect Immun* 67: 5361–5366.

Archer KA, Alexopoulou L, Flavell RA, Roy CR (2009). Multiple MyD88-dependent responses contribute to pulmonary clearance of *Legionella pneumophila*. *Cell Microbiol* 11:21-36.

Archer KA and Roy CR (2006). MyD88-dependent responses involving toll-like receptor 2 are important for protection and clearance of Legionella pneumophila in a mouse model of Legionnaires' disease. *Infect Immun* 74: 3325-3333.

Arend WP, Palmer G, Gabay C (2008). IL-1, IL-18, and IL-33 families of cytokines. *Immunol Rev* 223: 20-38.

Arend, W. P., Malyak M, Guthridge CJ, Gabay C (1998). Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist: role in biology. *Annu Rev Immunol* 16: 27-55.

Argueta JG, Shiota S, Yamaguchi N, Masuhiro Y, Hanazawa S (2006). Induction of Porphyromonas gingivalis GroEL signaling via binding to Toll-like receptors 2 and 4. *Oral Microbiol Immunol* 21: 245-251.

Asai Y, Ohyama Y, Gen K, Ogawa T (2001).Bacterial fimbriae and their peptides activate human gingival epithelial cells through Toll-like receptor 2. *Infect Immun* 69: 7387-95.

Asahi M, Azuma T, Ito S, Ito Y, Suto H, Nagai Y, Tsubokawa M, Tohyama Y, Maeda S, Omata M, Suzuki T, Sasakawa C (2000). *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein can be tyrosine phosphorylated in gastric epithelial cells. *J Exp Med* 191: 593–602.

Asea A, Rehli M, Kabingu E, Boch JA, Bare O, Auron PE, Stevenson MA, Calderwood SK (2002). Novel signal transduction pathway utilized by extracellular HSP70: role of toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR4. *J Biol Chem*. 277:15028-34.

Ashktorab H, Daremipouran M, Wilson M, Siddiqi S, Lee EL, Rakhshani N, Malekzadeh R, Johnson AC, Hewitt SM, Smoot DT (2007). Transactivation of the EGFR by AP-1 is induced by Helicobacter pylori in gastric cancer. *Am J Gastroenterol* 102: 2135-46.

Aspholm-Hurtig M, Dailide G, Lahmann M, Kalia A, Ilver D, Roche N, Vikstrom S, Sjostrom R, Linden S, Backstrom A, Lundberg C, Arnqvist A, Mahdavi J, Nilsson UJ, Velapatino B, Gilman RH,

Gerhard M, Alarcon T, Lopez-Brea M, Nakazawa T, Fox JG, Correa P, Dominguez-Bello MG, Perez-Perez GI, Blaser MJ, Normark S, Carlstedt I, Oscarson S, Teneberg S, Berg DE, and Boren T (2004). Functional adaptation of BabA, the H. pylori ABO blood group antigen binding adhesin. *Science* 305: 519–522.

Atherton JC, Cao P, Peek RM, Tummuru MK, Blaser MJ, Cover TL (1995). Mosaicism in vacuolating cytotoxin alleles of *Helicobacter pylori*. Association of specific vacA types with cytotoxin production and peptic ulceration. *J. Biol. Chem* 270:17771–17777

Athié-Morales V, O'Connor GM, Gardiner CM (2008). Activation of human NK cells by the bacterial pathogen-associated molecular pattern muramyl dipeptide. *J Immunol* 180: 4082-4089.

Bachmann M, Horn K, Poleganov MA, Paulukat J, Nold M, Pfeilschifter J, Muehl H (2006). Interleukin-18 secretion and Th1-like cytokine responses in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells under the influence of the toll-like receptor-5 ligand flagellin. *Cell Microbiol* 8: 289-300

Backert S and Selbach M (2008). Role of type IV secretion in *Helicobacter pylori* pathogenesis. *Cell Microbiol* 10:1573–1581.

Backert S, Ziska E, Brinkmann V, Zimny-Arndt U, Fauconnier A, Jungblut PR, Naumann M, Meyer TF (2000). Translocation of the *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein in gastric epithelial cells by a type IV secretion apparatus. *Cell Microbiol* 2:155–164.

Backhed F, Rokbi B, Torstensson E, Zhao Y, Nilsson C, Seguin D, Normark S, Buchan AM, Richter-Dahlfors A (2003). Gastric mucosal recognition of Helicobacter pylori is independent of Toll-like receptor 4. *J Infect Dis* 187: 829–836.

Bafica A, Scanga CA, Feng CG, Leifer C, Cheever A, Sher A (2005). TLR9 regulates Th1 responses and cooperates with TLR2 in mediating optimal resistance to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *J Exp Med* 202: 1715-1724.

Bainbridge BW and Darveau RP (2001). Porphyromonas gingivalis lipopolysaccharide: an unusual pattern recognition receptor ligand for the innate host defense system. *Acta Odontol Scand*. 59:131-8

Bambou JC, Giraud A, Menard S, Begue B, Rakotobe S, Heyman M, Taddei F, Cerf-Bensussan N, Gaboriau-Routhiau V (2004). In vitro and ex vivo activation of the TLR5 signaling pathway in intestinal epithelial cells by a commensal Escherichia coli strain. *J Biol Chem* 279:42984-42992.

Bartz H, Avalos NM, Baetz A, Heeg K, Dalpke AH (2006). Involvement of suppressors of cytokine signaling in toll-like receptor-mediated block of dendritic cell differentiation. *Blood.* 108:4102-4108.

Bauer S, Kirschning CJ, Häcker H, Redecke V, Hausmann S, Akira S, Wagner H, Lipford GB (2001). Human TLR9 confers responsiveness to bacterial DNA via species-specific CpG motif recognition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:9237-9242.

Begue B, Dumant C, Bambou JC, Beaulieu JF, Chamaillard M, Hugot JP, Goulet O, Schmitz J, Philpott DJ, Cerf-Bensussan N, Ruemmele FM (2006).Microbial induction of CARD15 expression in intestinal epithelial cells via toll-like receptor 5 triggers an antibacterial response loop. *J Cell Physiol* 209: 241-252.

Belinda LW, Wei WX, Hanh BT, Lei LX, Bow H, Ling DJ (2008). SARM: a novel Toll-like receptor adaptor, is functionally conserved from arthropod to human. *Mol Immunol* 45:1732-1742.

Bell JK, Mullen GED, Leifer CA, Mazzoni A, Davies DR, Segal DM (2003). Leucine-rich repeats and pathogen recognition in Toll-like receptors. *Trends Immunol* 24: 528–533.

Belvin MP and Anderson KV (1996). A conserved signaling pathway: the *Drosophila* toll-dorsal pathway. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev.Biol* 12:393–416.

Berges C, Naujokat C, Tinapp S, Wieczorek H, Hoeh A, Sadeghi M, Opelz G, Daniel V (2005). A cell line model for the differentiation of human dendritic cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 333: 896-907.

Berglund M, Thomas JA, Hörnquist EH, Hultgren OH (2008).Toll-like receptor crosshyporesponsiveness is functional in interleukin-1-receptor-associated kinase-1 (IRAK-1)-deficient macrophages: differential role played by IRAK-1 in regulation of tumour necrosis factor and interleukin-10 production. *Scand J Immunol* 67: 473-479

Bernasconi NL, Traggiai E, Lanzavecchia A (2002). Maintenance of serological memory by polyclonal activation of B cells. *Science* 298: 2199–2202.

Bertin J, Nir W, Fischer CM, Tayber OV, Errada PR, Grant JR, Keilty JJ, Gosselin ML, Robison KE, Wong GHW, Glucksmann MA, DiStefano PS (1999). Human CARD4 protein is a novel CED4/Apaf-1 member that activates NF-kB. *J Biol Chem* 274:12955–12958.

Bhattacharyya A, Pathak S, Datta S, Chattopadhyay S, Basu J, Kundu M (2002). Mitogenactivated protein kinases and nuclear factor-kappaB regulate Helicobacter pylori-mediated interleukin-8 release from macrophages. *Biochem J* 368: 121–129.

Bickley J, Owen RJ, Fraser AG, Pounder RE (1993). Evaluation of the polymerase chain reaction for detecting the urease C gene of *Helicobacter pylori* in gastric biopsy samples and dental plaque. *J Med Microbiol* 39:338–344.

Bin LH, Xu LG, Shu HB (2003). TIRP, a novel Toll/interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) domaincontaining adapter protein involved in TIR signaling. *J Biol Chem* 278: 24526–24532.

Biondo C, Midiri A, Messina L, Tomasello F, Garufi G, Catania MR, Bombaci M, Beninati C, Teti G, Mancuso G (2005). MyD88 and TLR2, but not TLR4, are required for host defense against Cryptococcus neoformans. *Eur J Immunol* 35: 870-878

Bioque G, Crusius JB, Koutroubakis I, Bouma G, Kostense PJ, Meuwissen SG, Pena AS (1995). Allelic polymorphism in IL-1b and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RA) genes in inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 102:379–383.

Biswas A, Banerjee P, Mukherjee G, Biswas T (2007). Porin of Shigella dysenteriae activates mouse peritoneal macrophage through Toll-like receptors 2 and 6 to induce polarized type I response. *Mol Immunol* 44:812-820.

Bizzozero G (1893). Ueber die schlauchförmigen Dru⁻sen des Magendarmkanals und die Beziehungen ihres Epithels zu dem Oberfla⁻chenepithel der Schleimhaut. Dritte mitteilung. *Archiv Mikroskopische Anat* 43: 82–152.

Blaser MJ and Atherton JC (2004). *Helicobacter pylori* persistence: biology and disease. *J Clin Invest* 113: 321–333.

Blaser MJ, Perezperez GI, Kleanthous H, Cover TL, Peek RM, Chyou PH, Stemmermann GN, Nomura A (1995). Infection with *Helicobacter pylori* strains possessing *cagA* is associated with an increased risk of developing adenocarcinoma of the stomach. *Cancer Res* 55: 2111–2115.

Bleharski JR, Kiessler V, Buonsanti C, Sieling PA, Stenger S, Colonna M, Modlin RL (2003). A role for triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1 in host defense during the early-induced and adaptive phases of the immune response. *J Immunol* 170: 3812-3818.

Bliss CM, Golenbock DT, Keates S, Linevsky JK, Kelly CP (1998). *Helicobacter pylori* lipopolysaccharide binds to CD14 and stimulates release of interleukin-8, epithelial neutrophil-activating peptide 78, and monocyte chemotactic protein 1 by human monocytes. *Infect Immun* 66:5357–5363.

Boneca IG, Dussurget O, Cabanes D, Nahori MA, Sousa S, Lecuit M, Psylinakis E, Bouriotis V, Hugot JP, Giovannini M, Coyle A, Bertin J, Namane A, Rousselle JC, Cayet N, Prévost MC, Balloy V,

Chignard M, Philpott DJ, Cossart P, Girardin SE (2007). A critical role for peptidoglycan Ndeacetylation in Listeria evasion from the host innate immune system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:997-1002.

Boneca IG, de Reuse H, Epinat JC, Pupin M, Labigne A, Moszer I (2003). A revised annotation and comparative analysis of *Helicobacter pylori* genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res* 31:1704–1714.

Boren T, Falk P, Roth KA, Larson G, Normark S (1993). Attachment of *Helicobacter pylori* to human gastric epithelium mediated by blood group antigens. *Science* 262:1892–1895.

Boughan PK, Argent RH, Body-Malape M, Park J, Ewings KE, Bowie AG, Ong SJ, Cook SJ, Sorensen OE, Manzo BA, Inohara N, Klein NJ, Nunez G Atherton JC, Bajaj-Elliott M (2006). Nucleotide-binding Oligomerization Domain-1 and Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Critical regulators of β -defensins during *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *J Biol Chem* 281:11637-11648.

Bourke E, Bosisio D, Golay J, Polentarutti N, Mantovani A (2003). The toll-like receptor repertoire of human B lymphocytes: inducible and selective expression of TLR9 and TLR10 in normal and transformed cells. *Blood* 102:956-63.

Bourzac KM, Botham CM, Guillemin K (2007). *Helicobacter pylori* CagA induces AGS cell elongation through a cell retraction defect that is independent of Cdc42, Rac1, and Arp2/3. *Infect Immun* 75: 1203–1213.

Bouskra D, Brézillon C, Bérard M, Werts C, Varona R, Boneca IG, Eberl G (2008).

Lymphoid tissue genesis induced by commensals through NOD1 regulates intestinal homeostasis. *Nature* 456:507-510.

Boyden ED and Dietrich WF (2006) Nalp1b controls mouse macrophage susceptibility to anthrax lethal toxin. *Nat Genet* 38: 240–244.

Brandt S, Shafikhani S, Balachandran P, Jin S, Hartig R, Koenig W, Engel J, Backert S (2007). Use of a novel coinfection system reveals a role for Rac1, H-Ras, and CrkII phosphorylation in *Helicobacter pylori*-induced host cell actin cytoskeletal rearrangements. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 50: 190–205.

Bronte V, Serafini P, Mazzoni A, Segal DM, Zanovello P (2003). L-arginine metabolism in myeloid cells controls T-lymphocyte functions. *Trends Immunol* 24: 301–306.

Brown LM, Thomas TL, Ma JL, Chang YS, You WC, Liu WD, Zhang L, Gail MH (2001). *Helicobacter pylori* infection in rural China: exposure to domestic animals during childhood and adulthood. *Scand J Infect Dis* 33:686–691.

Brown LM, Thomas TL, Ma JL, Chang YS, You WC, Liu WD, Zhang L, Pee D, Gail MH (2002). *Helicobacter pylori* infection in rural China: demographic, lifestyle and environmental factors. *Int J Epidemiol* 31:638–645.

Bulut Y, Faure E, Thomas L, Karahashi H, Michelsen KS, Equils O, Morrison SG, Morrison RP, Arditi M (2002). Chlamydial heat shock protein 60 activates macrophages and endothelial cells through Toll-like receptor 4 and MD2 in a MyD88-dependent pathway. *J Immunol* 168: 1435–1440.

Burnet FM (1941). The Production of Antibodies. 1st ed. Melbourne: Macmillan.

Burnet FM (1959). The clonal selection theory of acquired immunity. Cambridge: The University Press.

Burns K, Martinon F, Esslinger C, Pahl H, Schneider P, Bodmer J, Di Marco F, French L, Tschopp J (1998). MyD88, an adapter protein involved in interleukin-1 signaling. *J Biol Chem* 273: 12203-12209

Cabral ES, Gelderblom H, Hornung RL, Munson PJ, Martin R, Marques AR (2006). *Borrelia burgdorferi* lipoprotein-mediated TLR2 stimulation causes the down-regulation of TLR5 in human monocytes. *J Infect Dis* 193:849-859.

Caramalho I, Lopes-Carvalho T, Ostler D, Zelenay S, Haury M, Demengeot J (2003). Regulatory T cells selectively express toll-like receptors and are activated by lipopolysaccharide. *J Exp Med* 197:403-411.

Carballo E, Lai WS,Blackshear PJ (1998). Feedback inhibi- tion of macrophage tumor necrosis factor-a production by tristetra- prolin. *Science* 281, 1001–1005.

Cario E, Rosenberg IM, Brandwein SL, Beck PL, Reinecker HC, Podolsky DK (2000). Lipopolysaccharide activates distinct signaling pathways in intestinal epithelial cell lines expressing Toll-like receptors. *J Immunol* 164:966-972.

Carl VS, Brown-Steinke K, Nicklin MJ, Smith MF (2002). Toll-like receptor 2 and 4 (TLR2 and TLR4) agonists differentially regulate secretory interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene expression in macrophages. *J Biol Chem* 277:17448-17456.

Carmody RJ and Chen YH (2007). Nuclear Factor-κB: Activation and Regulation during Toll-Like Receptor Signaling. *Cell Mol Immunol* 4: 31-41.

Carswell EA, Old LJ, Kassel RL, Green S, Fiore N, Wil-liamson B (1975). An endotoxin-induced serum factor that causes Lymphocyte in vitro cytotoxicity: specific release of lymphotoxinnecrosis of tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 72: 3666–3670.

Carter DB, Deibel MR, Dunn CJ, Tomich CSC, LaBorde AL, Slightom JL, Berger AE, Bienkowski MJ, Sun FF, McEwan RN, Harris PKW, Yem AW, Wasak GA, Chosay JG, Sieu LC, Hardee MM, Zurcher-Neely HA, Reardon IM, Heinrikson RL, Truesdell SE, Shelly JA, Eessalu TE, Taylor BM, Tracey DE (1990). Purification, cloning, expression and biological characterization of an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein. *Nature* 344: 633–638.

Cascales E and Christie PJ (2003) The versatile bacterial type IV secretion systems. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 1: 137–149.

Castrillo A, Joseph SB, Vaidya SA, Haberland M, Fogelman AM, Cheng G, Tontonoz P (2003). Crosstalk between LXR and toll-like receptor signaling mediates bacterial and viral antagonism of cholesterol metabolism. *Mol Cell* 12:805-16.

Cecil AA and Klemsz MJ (2004). p38 activation through Toll-like receptors modulates IFNgamma-induced expression of the Tap-1 gene only in macrophages. *J Leukoc Biol* 75:560-568

Censini S, Lange C, Xiang Z, Crabtree JE, Ghiara P, Borodovsky M, Rappuoli R, Covacci A (1996). *cag*, a pathogenicity island of *Helicobacter pylori*, encodes type I-specific and diseaseassociated virulence factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93: 14648–14653.

Chamaillard M, Hashimoto M, Horie Y, Masumoto J, Qiu S, Saab L, Ogura Y, Kawasaki A, Fukase K, Kusumoto S, Valvano MA, Foster SJ, Mak TW, Nuñez G, Inohara N (2003). An essential role for NOD1 in host recognition of bacterial peptidoglycan containing diaminopimelic acid. *Nat Immunol* 4:702-707.

Charrel-Dennis M, Latz E, Halmen KA, Trieu-Cuot P, Fitzgerald KA, Kasper DL, Golenbock DT (2008). TLR-independent type I interferon induction in response to an extracellular bacterial pathogen via intracellular recognition of its DNA. *Cell Host Microbe* 4:543-54.

Chen GY, Shaw MH, Redondo G, Núñez G (2008). The innate immune receptor Nod1 protects the intestine from inflammation-induced tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* 68(24):10060-10067.

Chin AI, Dempsey PW, Bruhn K, Miller JF, Xu Y, Cheng G (2002). Involvement of receptorinteracting protein 2 in innate and adaptive immune responses. *Nature* 416:190-194 Choi KS, Scorpio DG, Dumler JS (2004). Anaplasma phagocytophilum ligation to toll-like receptor (TLR) 2, but not to TLR4, activates macrophages for nuclear factor-kappa B nuclear translocation. *J Infect Dis* 189:1921-1925.

Chuang TH and Ulevitch RJ (2000). Cloning and characterization of a sub-family of human Tolllike receptors: hTLR7, hTLR8 and hTLR9. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 11:372–378.

Chuang TH and Ulevitch RJ (2001). Identification of hTLR10: a novel human Toll like receptor preferentially expressed in immune cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1518:157–61

Churin Y, Al-Ghoul L, Kepp O, Meyer TF, Birchmeier W, Naumann M (2003). *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein targets the c-Met receptor and enhances the motogenic response. *J Cell Biol* 162: 249–255.

Churin Y, Kardalinou K, Meyer TF, Naumann M (2001). Pathogenicity island-dependent activation of Rho GTPases Rac1 and Cdc42 in *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Mol Microbiol* 40: 815–823.

Cirl C, Wieser A, Yadav M, Duerr S, Schubert S, Fischer H, Stappert D, Wantia N, Rodriguez N, Wagner H, Svanborg C, Miethke T (2008) Subversion of Toll-like receptor signaling by a unique family of bacterial Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domain-containing proteins. *Nat Med* 14:399-406.

Clark NM, Marinis JM, Cobb BA, Abbott DW (2008). MEKK4 sequesters RIP2 to dictate NOD2 signal specificity. Curr Biol. 18:1402-1408.

Clyne M, Dillon P, Daly S, O'Kennedy R, May FEB, Westley BR, Drumm B (2004). *Helicobacter pylori* interacts with the human single-domain trefoil protein TFF1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:7409–7414.

Coban C, Ishii KJ, Kawai T, Hemmi H, Sato S, Uematsu S, Yamamoto M, Takeuchi O, Itagaki S, Kumar N, Horii T, Akira S (2005). Toll-like receptor 9 mediates innate immune activation by the malaria pigment hemozoin. *J. Exp. Med.* 201:19–25.

Coelho PS, Klein A, Talvani A, Coutinho SF, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Silva JS, Canizzaro H, Gazzinelli RT, Teixeira MM (2002).. Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored mucin-like glycoproteins isolated from *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes induce *in vivo* leukocyte recruitment dependent on MCP-1 production by IFNy primed macrophages. *J Leukoc Biol* 71: 837–844

Collins C, Shi C, Russell JQ, Fortner KA, Budd RC (2008). Activation of gamma delta T cells by Borrelia burgdorferi is indirect via a TLR- and caspase-dependent pathway. *J Immunol*181:2392-2398.

Costa CP, Kirschning CJ, Busch D, Dürr S, Jennen L, Heinzmann U, Prebeck S, Wagner H, Miethke T (2002). Role of chlamydial heat shock protein 60 in the stimulation of innate immune cells by Chlamydia pneumoniae. *Eur J Immunol* 32:2460-70.

Covacci A, Censini S, Bugnoli M, Petracca R, Burroni D, Macchia G, Massone A, Papini E, Xiang Z, Figura N, Rappuoli R (1993). Molecular characterization of the 128-kDa immunodominant antigen of *Helicobacter pylori* associated with cytotoxicity and duodenal ulcer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 90:5791–5795.

Cover TL and Blaser MJ (1992). Purification and characterization of the vacuolating toxin from *Helicobacter pylori*. *J Biol Chem* 267:10570–10575.

Cover TL (1996). The vacuolating cytotoxin of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Mol Microbiol* 20:241–246. Cover TL and Blanke SR (2005). *Helicobacter pylori* VacA, a paradigm for toxin multifunctionality. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 3: 320–332.

Crabtree J and Lindley I (1994). Mucosal interleukin-8 and *Helicobacter pylori*-associated gastroduodenal disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 1 (Suppl.): S33–S38.

Crabtree JE (1998). Role of cytokines in pathogenesis of *Helicobacter pylori*-induced mucosal damage. *Dig Dis Sci* 43:S46–S55.

Craft N, Bruhn KW, Nguyen BD, Prins R, Lin JW, Liau LM, Miller JF (2005). The TLR7 agonist imiquimod enhances the anti-melanoma effects of a recombinant Listeria monocytogenes vaccine. *J Immunol* 175:1983-1990.

Cross JL, Kott K, Miletic T, Johnson P (2008). CD45 regulates TLR-induced proinflammatory cytokine and IFN-beta secretion in dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 180:8020-8029.

Dalpke AH, Frey M, Morath S, Hartung T, Heeg K (2002). Interaction of lipoteichoic acid and CpG-DNA during activation of innate immune cells. *Immunobiology*. 206:392-407.

Dalpke A, Zimmermann S, Heeg K (2002). CpG DNA in the prevention and treatment of infections. *BioDrugs* 16:419-431.

Dalpke AH, Eckerle S, Frey M, Heeg K (2003). Triggering of Toll-like receptors modulates IFNgamma signaling: involvement of serine 727 STAT1 phosphorylation and suppressors of cytokine signaling. *Eur J Immunol* 33:1776-1787.

Dao DN, Kremer L, Guérardel Y, Molano A, Jacobs WR, Porcelli SA, Briken V (2004).

Mycobacterium tuberculosis lipomannan induces apoptosis and interleukin-12 production in macrophages. *Infect Immun* 72:2067-2074.

Darrah PA, Monaco MC, Jain S, Hondalus MK, Golenbock DT, Mosser DM (2004). Innate immune responses to Rhodococcus equi. *J Immunol* 173:1914-1924

da Silva Correia J, Miranda Y, Leonard N, Ulevitch R (2007). SGT1 is essential for Nod1 activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:6764-6769.

de Bernard M, Arico B, Papini E, Rizzuto R, Grandi G, Rappuoli R, Montecucco C (1997). *Helicobacter pylori* toxin VacA induces vacuole formation by acting in the cell cytosol. *Mol. Microbiol* 26:665–674.

de C Ventura GM, Le Goffic R, Balloy V, Plotkowski MC, Chignard M, Si-Tahar M (2008). TLR 5, but neither TLR2 nor TLR4, is involved in lung epithelial cell response to Burkholderia cenocepacia. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 54:37-44.

de Jonge R, Kuipers EJ, Langeveld SC, Loffeld RJ, Stoof J, van Vliet AH, Kusters JG (2004a). The Helicobacter pylori plasticity region locus jhp0947–jhp0949 is associated with duodenal ulcer disease and interleukin- 12 production in monocyte cells. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 41:161–167.

de Jonge R, Pot RG, Loffeld RJ, van Vliet AH, Kuipers EJ, Kusters JG (2004b). The functional status of the Helicobacter pylori sabB adhesion gene as a putative marker for disease outcome. *Helicobacter* 9:158–164.

D'Elios MM, Amedei A, Manghetti M, Costa F, Baldari CT, Quazi AS, Telford JL, Romagnani S, del Prete G (1999). Impaired T-cell regulation of B-cell growth in Helicobacter pylori-related gastric low-grade MALT lymphoma. *Gastroenterology* 117: 1105–1112

de Mascarel A, Ruskone-Fourmestraux A, Lavergne-Slove A, Megraud F, Dubus P, Merlio JP (2005). Clinical, histological and molecular follow-up of 60 patients with gastric marginal zone lymphoma of mucosaassociated lymphoid tissue. *Virchows Arch* 446: 219–224.

Dent JC and McNulty CA (1988). Evaluation of a new selective medium for *Campylobacter pylori*. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 7: 555–558.

Deshmukh HS, Hamburger JB, Ahn SH, McCafferty DG, Yang SR, Fowler VG (2009). The Critical Role of NOD2 in Regulating the Immune Response to Staphylococcus aureus. *Infect Immun* 77: 1376-1382.

De Trez C, Pajak B, Brait M, Glaichenhaus N, Urbain J, Moser M, Lauvau G, Muraille E (2005). TLR4 and Toll-IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter-inducing IFN-beta, but not MyD88, regulate Escherichia coli-induced dendritic cell maturation and apoptosis in vivo. *J Immunol* 175:839-846.

Diebold S, Kaisho T, Hemmi H, Akira S, Sousa CR (2004). Innate Antiviral Responses by Means of TLR7-Mediated Recognition of Single-Stranded RNA. *Science* 303: 1529–1531.

Dinarello CA (1996). Biologic basis for interleukin-1 in disease. *Blood* 87:2095–2147.

Ding SZ, Torok AM, Smith MF, Goldberg JB (2005). Toll-like receptor 2-mediated gene expression in epithelial cells during Helicobacter pylori infection. *Helicobacter* 10:193-204.

Divangahi M, Yang T, Kugathasan K, McCormick S, Takenaka S, Gaschler G, Ashkar A, Stampfli M, Gauldie J, Bramson J, Takai T, Brown E, Yokoyama WM, Aoki N, Xing Z (2007). Critical negative regulation of type 1 T cell immunity and immunopathology by signaling adaptor DAP12 during intracellular infection. *J Immunol* 179:4015-26.

Divangahi M, Mostowy S, Coulombe F, Kozak R, Guillot L, Veyrier F, Kobayashi KS, Flavell RA, Gros P, Behr MA (2008). NOD2-deficient mice have impaired resistance to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection through defective innate and adaptive immunity. *J Immunol* 181:7157-65.

Dobrovolskaia MA, Medvedev AE, Thomas KE, Cuesta N, Toshchakov V, Ren T, Cody MJ, Michalek SM, Rice NR, Vogel SN (2003). Induction of in vitro reprogramming by Toll-like receptor (TLR)2 and TLR4 agonists in murine macrophages: effects of TLR "homotolerance" versus "heterotolerance" on NF-kappa B signaling pathway components. *J Immunol* 170:508-19.

Dore MP, Sepulveda AR, El-Zimaity H, Yamaoka Y, Osato MS, Mototsugu K, Nieddu AM, Realdi G, Graham DY (2001). Isolation of Helicobacter pylori from sheep—implications for transmission to humans. *Am. J. Gastroenterol* 96:1396–1401.

Doyle SE, O'Connell RM, Miranda GA, Vaidya SA, Chow EK, Liu PT, Suzuki S, Suzuki N, Modlin RL, Yeh WC, Lane TF, Cheng G (2004). Toll-like receptors induce a phagocytic gene program through p38. *J Exp Med* 199: 81-90.

Doyle SE, O'Connell R, Vaidya SA, Chow EK, Yee K, Cheng G (2003). Toll-like receptor 3 mediates a more potent antiviral response than Toll-like receptor 4. *J Immunol* 170:3565-71.

Drennan MB, Nicolle D, Quesniaux VJ, Jacobs M, Allie N, Mpagi J, Frémond C, Wagner H, Kirschning C, Ryffel B (2004). Toll-like receptor 2-deficient mice succumb to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *Am J Pathol* 164:49-57.

Dripps DP, Brandhuber BJ, Thompson RC, Eisenberg SP (1991). Interleukin-1 (IL-1) receptor antagonist binds to the 80-kDa IL-1 receptor but does not initiate IL-1 signal transduction *J Biol Chem* 266: 10331-39.

Dueñas AI, Orduña A, Crespo MS, García-Rodríguez C (2004). Interaction of endotoxins with Toll-like receptor 4 correlates with their endotoxic potential and may explain the proinflammatory effect of Brucella spp. LPS. *Int Immunol* 16:1467-1475.

Dueñas AI, Aceves M, Orduña A, Díaz R, Sánchez Crespo M, García-Rodríguez C (2006). *Francisella tularensis* LPS induces the production of cytokines in human monocytes and signals via Toll-like receptor 4 with much lower potency than E. coli LPS. *Int Immunol* 18:785-95.

Dumitru CD, Ceci JD, Tsatsanis C, Kontoyiannis D, Stamatakis K, Lin JH, Patriotis C, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG, Kollias G, Tsichlis PN (2000). TNF-a induction by LPS is regulated posttranscriptionally via a Tpl2/ERK-dependent pathway. *Cell* 103: 1071–1083.

Dunne A, Ejdeback M, Ludidi PL, O'Neill LA, Gay NJ (2003). Structural complementarity of Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domains in Toll-like receptors and the adaptors Mal and MyD88. *J Biol Chem* 278: 41443–41451.

Dunne A and O'Neill LA (2003) The interleukin-1 receptor/Toll-like receptor superfamily: signal transduction during inflammation and host defense. *Sci STKE* 2003(171):re3.

Du X, Poltorak A, Wei Y, Beutler B (2000). Three novel mammalian toll-like receptors: gene structure, expression, and evolution. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 11:362–71

Du Y, Danjo K, Robinson PA, Crabtree JE (2007). In-CellWestern analysis of *Helicobacter pylori*-induced phosphorylation of extracellular-signal related kinase via the transactivation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Microbes Infect* 9: 838–846.

Dzhagalov I, Chambon P, He YW (2007). Regulation of CD8+ T lymphocyte effector function and macrophage inflammatory cytokine production by retinoic acid receptor gamma. *J Immunol* 178: 2113-21.

Eaton KA, Mefford M, Thevenot T (2001). The role of T cell subsets and cytokines in the pathogenesis of Helicobacter pylori gastritis in mice. *J. Immunol* 166:7456–7461.

Eidt S, Stolte M, Fischer R (1994). *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis and primary gastric non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. *J Clin Pathol* 47:436–439.

Eisenberg SP, Brewer MT, Verderber E, Heimdal PL, Brandhuber BJ,Thompson RC (1991). Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist is a member of the interleukin 1 gene family: evolution of a cytokine control mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88: 5232–5236.

Eisenberg SP, Evans RJ, Arend WP, Verderber E, Brewer MT, Hannum CH, Thompson RC (1990). Primary structure and functional expression from complementary DNA of a human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Nature* 343: 341–346.

El-Omar EM, Oien K, El-Nujumi A, Gillen D, Wirz A, Dahill S, Williams C, Ardill JES, McColl KEL (1997). *Helicobacter pylori* infection and chronic acid hyposecretion. *Gastroenterology* 113:15–24.

El-Omar EM, Carrington M, Chow WH, McColl KE, Bream JH, Young HA, Herrera J, Lissowska J, Yuan CC, Rothman N, Lanyon G, Martin M, Fraumeni JF, Rabkin CS. 2000. Interleukin-1 polymorphisms associated with increased risk of gastric cancer. *Nature* 404:398 402.

El-Omar EM (2001). The importance of interleukin 1beta in *Helicobacter pylori* associated disease. *Gut* 48:743–747.

El-Omar EM, Rabkin CS, Gammon MD, Vaughan TL, Risch HA, Schoenberg JB, Stanford JL, Mayne ST, Goedert J, Blot WJ, Fraumeni JF, Chow WH (2003). Increased risk of noncardia gastric cancer associated with proinflammatory cytokine gene polymorphisms. *Gastroenterology* 124:1193–1201.

Enroth H and Engstrand L (1995). Immunomagnetic separation and PCRfor detection of *Helicobacter pylori* in water and stool specimens. *J Clin Microbiol* 33:2162–2165.

Epelman S, Stack D, Bell C, Wong E, Neely GG, Krutzik S, Miyake K, Kubes P, Zbytnuik LD, Ma LL, Xie X, Woods DE, Mody CH (2004).Different domains of Pseudomonas aeruginosa exoenzyme S activate distinct TLRs. *J Immunol* 173: 2031-40.

Equils O, Shapiro A, Madak Z, Liu C, Lu D (2004). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 protease inhibitors block toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR4-Induced NF-kappaB activation. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 48:3905-11.

Ermak TH, Giannasca PJ, Nichols R, Myers GA, Nedrud J, Weltzin R, Lee CK, Kleanthous H, Monath TP (1998). Immunization of mice with urease vaccine affords protection against Helicobacter pylori infection in the absence of antibodies and is mediated by MHC class II-restricted responses. *J Exp Med* 188: 2277–2288.

Ernst PB (1999). Review article: the role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of gastric cancer. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 13(suppl 1):13–18.

Ernst PB and Gold BD (2000). The disease spectrum of *Helicobacter pylori*: the immunopathogenesis of gastroduodenal ulcer and gastric cancer. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 54:615–640.

Erridge C, Pridmore A, Eley A, Stewart J, Poxton IR (2004). Lipopolysaccharides of Bacteroides fragilis, Chlamydia trachomatis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa signal via toll-like receptor 2. *J Med Microbiol* 53:735-740.

Espevik T, Latz E, Lien E, Monks B, Golenbock DT (2003). Cell distributions and functions of Toll-like receptor 4 studied by fluorescent gene constructs. *Scand J Infect Dis* 35:660-664

Figueiredo C, Quint WG, Sanna R, Sablon E, Donahue JP, Xu Q, Miller GG, Peek RM, Blaser MJ, van Doorn LJ (2000). Genetic organization and heterogeneity of the iceA locus of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Gene* 246:59–68.

Fink SL, Bergsbaken T, Cookson BT (2008). Anthrax lethal toxin and Salmonella elicit the common cell death pathway of caspase-1-dependent pyroptosis via distinct mechanisms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 105: 4312-7.

Fischer SF, Rehm M, Bauer A, Höfling F, Kirschnek S, Rutz M, Bauer S, Wagner H, Häcker G (2005). Toll-like receptor 9 signaling can sensitize fibroblasts for apoptosis. *Immunol Lett* 97:115-22.

Fischer W, Puls J, Buhrdorf R, Gebert B, Odenbreit S, Haas R (2001). Systematic mutagenesis of the *Helicobacter pylori* cag pathogenecity island: essential genes for CagA translocation in host cells and induction of interleukin-8. *Mol Microbiol* 42:1337–1348.

Fischbach W, Goebeler-Kolve ME, Dragosics B, Greiner A, Stolte M (2004). Long term outcome of patients with gastric marginal zone B cell lymphoma of mucosa associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) following exclusive Helicobacter pylori eradication therapy: experience from a large prospective series. *Gut* 53:34–37.

Fitzgerald KA, Palsson-McDermott EM, Bowie AG, Jefferies CA, Mansell AS, Brady G, Brint E, Dunne A, Gray P, Harte MT, McMurray D, Smith DE, Sims JE, Bird TA, O'Neill LAJ (2001). Mal (MyD88-adaptor-like) is required for Toll-like receptor-4 signal transduction. *Nature* 413: 78–83.

Fitzgerald KA, Rowe DC, Barnes BJ, Caffrey DR, Visintin A, Latz E, Monks B, Pitha PM, Golenbock DT (2003). LPS–TLR4 signaling to IRF-3/7 and NF-κB involves the Toll adapters TRAM and TRIF. *J Exp Med* 198:1043–1055.

Fleer A and Krediet TG (2007). Innate Immunity: Toll-Like Receptors and Some More, A Brief History, Basic Organization and Relevance for the Human Newborn. *Neonatology* 92:145–157.

Foerster-Waldl E, Sadeghi K, Tamandl D, Gerhold B, Hallwirth U, Rohrmeister K, Hayde M, Prusa AR, Herkner K, Boltz-Nitulescu G, Pollak A, Spittler A (2005). Monocyte toll-like receptor 4 expression and LPS-induced cytokine production increase during gestational aging. *Pediatr Res* 58:121-124.

Forsdyke DR (1995). The Origins of the Clonal Selection Theory of Immunity. *FASEB. Journal* 9:164-66

Fortune SM, Solache A, Jaeger A, Hill PJ, Belisle JT, Bloom BR, Rubin EJ, Ernst JD (2004). Mycobacterium tuberculosis inhibits macrophage responses to IFN-gamma through myeloid differentiation factor 88-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *J Immunol* 172:6272-6280

Foster N, Lea SR, Preshaw PM, Taylor JJ (2007). Pivotal advance: vasoactive intestinal peptide inhibits up-regulation of human monocyte TLR2 and TLR4 by LPS and differentiation of monocytes to macrophages. *J Leukoc Biol* 81:893-903.

Franchi L, Amer A, Body-Malapel M, Kanneganti TD, Ozören N, Jagirdar R, Inohara N, Vandenabeele P, Bertin J, Coyle A, Grant EP, Núñez G (2006). Cytosolic flagellin requires Ipaf for activation of caspase-1 and interleukin 1beta in salmonella-infected macrophages. *Nat Immunol* 7:576-582.

Franchi L, Stoolman J, Kanneganti TD, Verma A, Ramphal R, Núñez G (2007). Critical role for Ipaf in Pseudomonas aeruginosa-induced caspase-1 activation. *Eur J Immunol* 37:3030-9.

Frendéus B, Wachtler C, Hedlund M, Fischer H, Samuelsson P, Svensson M, Svanborg C (2001). Escherichia coli P fimbriae utilize the Toll-like receptor 4 pathway for cell activation. *Mol Microbiol* 40:37-51.

Fujikawa A, Shirasaka D, Yamamoto S, Ota H, Yahiro K, Fukada M, Shintani T, Wada A, Aoyama N, Hirayama T, Fukamachi H, Noda M (2003). Mice deficient in protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type Z are resistant to gastric ulcer induction by VacA of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Nat Genet* 33: 375–381.

Fujimoto C, Nakagawa Y, Ohara K, Takahashi H (2004). Polyriboinosinic polyribocytidylic acid [poly(I:C)]/TLR3 signaling allows class I processing of exogenous protein and induction of HIV-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Int Immunol* 16:55-63.

Fukata M, Breglio K, Chen A, Vamadevan AS, Goo T, Hsu D, Conduah D, Xu R, Abreu MT (2008). The myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88) is required for CD4+ T cell effector function in a murine model of inflammatory bowel disease. *J Immunol* 180:1886-94.

Funderburg N, Lederman MM, Feng Z, Drage MG, Jadlowsky J, Harding CV, Weinberg A, Sieg SF (2007). Human -defensin-3 activates professional antigen-presenting cells via Toll-like receptors 1 and 2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:18631-18635.

Furuta T, El-Omar EM, Xiao F, Shirai N, Takashima M, Sugimura H (2002). Interleukin 1beta polymorphisms increase risk of hypochlorhydria and atrophic gastritis and reduce risk of duodenal ulcer recurrence in Japan. *Gastroenterology* 123:92–105.

Galdiero M, Galdiero M, Finamore E, Rossano F, Gambuzza M, Catania MR, Teti G, Midiri A, Mancuso G (2004). Haemophilus influenzae porin induces Toll-like receptor 2-mediated cytokine production in human monocytes and mouse macrophages. *Infect Immun* 72:1204-1209.

Galmiche A, Rassow J, Doye A, Cagnol S, Chambard JC, Contamin S, de Thillot V, Just I, Ricci V, Solcia E, Obberghen EV, Boquet P (2000). The N-terminal 34 kDa fragment of *Helicobacter pylori* vacuolating cytotoxin targets mitochondria and induces cytochrome *c* release. *EMBO J* **19**: 6361–6370.

Gandotra S, Jang S, Murray PJ, Salgame P, Ehrt S (2007). Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain protein 2-deficient mice control infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Infect Immun* 75:5127-5134.

Gariboldi S, Palazzo M, Zanobbio L, Selleri S, Sommariva M, Sfondrini L, Cavicchini S, Balsari A, Rumio C (2008). Low molecular weight hyaluronic acid increases the self-defense of skin epithelium by induction of beta-defensin 2 via TLR2 and TLR4. *J Immunol* 181:2103-10.

Gasbarrini A, Carloni E, Gasbarrini G, Chisholm SA (2004). *Helicobacter pylori* and extragastric diseases—other Helicobacters. *Helicobacter* 9 (Suppl. 1):57–66.

Gebbia JA, Coleman JL, Benach JL (2004). Selective induction of matrix metalloproteinases by Borrelia burgdorferi via toll-like receptor 2 in monocytes. *J Infect Dis* 189:113-9.

Gebert B, Fischer W, Weiss E, Hoffmann R, Haas R (2003). *Helicobacter pylori* vacuolating cytotoxin inhibits T lymphocyte activation. *Science* 301: 1099–1102

Geddes BJ, Wang L, Huang W, Lavellee M, Manji GA, Brown M, Jurman M, Cao J, Morgenstern J, Merriam S, Glucksmann MA, DiStefano PS, Bertin J ((2001). Human CARD12 is a novel CED4/Apaf-1 family member that induces apoptosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 284: 77-82.

Gehring AJ, Rojas RE, Canaday DH, Lakey DL, Harding CV, Boom WH (2003). The Mycobacterium tuberculosis 19-kilodalton lipoprotein inhibits gamma interferon-regulated HLA-DR and Fc gamma R1 on human macrophages through Toll-like receptor 2. *Infect Immun* 71:4487-4497.

Geijtenbeek TB, Van Vliet SJ, Koppel EA, Sanchez-Hernandez M, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CM, Appelmelk B, Van Kooyk Y (2003). Mycobacteria target DC-SIGN to suppress dendritic cell function. *J Exp Med* 197: 1-5.

Geisel J, Kahl F, Müller M, Wagner H, Kirschning CJ, Autenrieth IB, Frick JS (2007). IL-6 and maturation govern TLR2 and TLR4 induced TLR agonist tolerance and cross-tolerance in dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 179: 5811-8.

Gewirtz AT, Yu Y, Krishna US, Israel DA, Lyons SL and Peek RM (2004). *Helicobacter pylori* flagellin evades toll like receptor 5 mediated innate immunity. *J Infect Dis* 189:1914-1920.

Girardin SE, Tournebize R, Mavris M, Page AL, Li X, Stark GR, Bertin J, DiStefano PS, Yaniv M, Sansonetti PJ, Philpott DJ (2001). CARD4/Nod1 mediates NF-kappaB and JNK activation by invasive Shigella flexneri. *EMBO Rep* 2:736-742.

Girardin SE, Boneca IG, Carneiro LA, Antignac A, Jéhanno M, Viala J, Tedin K, Taha MK, Labigne A, Zähringer U, Coyle AJ, DiStefano PS, Bertin J, Sansonetti PJ, Philpott DJ (2003a). Nod1 detects a unique muropeptide from gram-negative bacterial peptidoglycan. *Science* 300:1584-1587.

Girardin SE, Boneca IG, Viala J, Chamaillard M, Labigne A, Thomas G, Philpott DJ, Sansonetti PJ (2003b). Nod2 is a general sensor of peptidoglycan through muramyl dipeptide (MDP) detection. *J Biol Chem* 278:8869-8872.

Gobert, AP, Cheng Y, Wang J, Boucher J, Iyer RK, Cederbaum SD, Casero RA, Newton JC, Wilson KT (2002). *Helicobacter pylori* induces macrophage apoptosis by activation of arginase II. *J Immunol* 168: 4692–4700.

Godaly G and Young DB (2005). Mycobacterium bovis bacille Calmette Guerin infection of human neutrophils induces CXCL8 secretion by MyD88-dependent TLR2 and TLR4 activation. *Cell Microbiol* 7:591-601.

González-Benítez JF, Juárez-Verdayes MA, Rodríguez-Martínez S, Cancino-Diaz ME, García-Vázquez F, Cancino-Diaz JC (2008). The NALP3/Cryopyrin-inflammasome complex is expressed in LPS-induced ocular inflammation. *Mediators Inflamm* 2008:614345.

Goodwin CS, Armstrong JA, Chilvers T, Peters M, Colins MD, Sly L, McConnell W, Harper WES (1989). Transfer of *Campylobacter pylori* and *Campylobacter mustelae* to *Helicobacter* gen. nov. as *Helicobacter pylori* comb. nov. and *Helicobacter mustelae* comb. nov., respectively. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* 39:397–405.

Gracie JA, Robertson SE, McInnes IB (2003). Interleukin-18. *J Leukoc Biol* 73:213–224.

Graham DY, Opekun AR, Osato MS, El-Zimaity HM, Lee CK, Yamaoka Y, Qureshi WA, Cadoz M, Monath TP (2004). Challenge model for Helicobacter pylori infection in human volunteers. *Gut* 53:1235–1243.

Gratz N, Siller M, Schaljo B, Pirzada ZA, Gattermeier I, Vojtek I, Kirschning CJ, Wagner H, Akira S, Charpentier E, Kovarik P (2008). Group A streptococcus activates type I interferon production and MyD88-dependent signaling without involvement of TLR2, TLR4, and TLR9. *J Biol Chem* 283:19879-19887.

Grenier JM, Wang L, Manji GA, Huang W, Al-Garawi A, Kelly R, Carlson A, Merriam S, Lora JM, Briskin M, DiStefano PS, Bertin J (2002). Functional screening of five PYPAF family members identifies PYPAF5 as a novel regulator of NF-kB and caspase-1. *FEBS Lett* 530: 73–78.

Guiney DG, Hasegawa P, Cole SP (2003). *Helicobacter pylori* preferentially induces interleukin 12 (IL-12) rather than IL-6 or IL-10 in human dendritic cells. *Infect Immun* 71: 4163–4166

Gupta VR, Patel HK, Kostolansky SS, Ballivian RA, Eichberg J, Blanke SR (2008). Sphingomyelin functions as a novel receptor for *Helicobacter pylori* VacA. *PLoS Pathog* 4: e1000073.

Gyulai Z, Klausz G, Tiszai A, Lenart Z, Kasa IT, Lonovics J, Mandi Y (2004). Genetic polymorphism of interleukin-8 (IL-8) is associated with Helicobacter pylori-induced duodenal ulcer. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 15:353–358.

Haecker G, Suttner K, Harada H, Kirschnek S (2006). TLR-dependent Bim phosphorylation in macrophages is mediated by ERK and is connected to proteasomal degradation of the protein. *Int Immunol* 18:1749-1757.

Häcker H, Vabulas RM, Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Akira S, Wagner H (2000). Immune cell activation by bacterial CpG-DNA through myeloid differentiation marker 88 and tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor (TRAF)6. *J Exp Med* 192:595-600.

Hafsi N, Voland P, Schwendy S, Rad R, Reindl W, Gerhard M, Prinz C (2004). Human dendritic cells respond to Helicobacter pylori, promoting NK cell and Th1-effector responses in vitro. *J Immunol* 173: 1249–1257.

Hajjar AM, O'Mahony DS, Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Aderem A, Klebanoff SJ, Wilson CB (2001). Cutting edge: functional interactions between toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR1 or TLR6 in response to phenol-soluble modulin. *J Immunol* 166:15-19.

Hajishengallis G, Sojar H, Genco RJ, DeNardin E (2004). Intracellular signaling and cytokine induction upon interactions of Porphyromonas gingivalis fimbriae with pattern-recognition receptors. *Immunol Invest* 33:157-172.

Hajishengallis G, Wang M, Bagby GJ, Nelson S (2008). Importance of TLR2 in early innate immune response to acute pulmonary infection with Porphyromonas gingivalis in mice. *J Immunol* 181:4141-4149.

Hajishengallis G, Wang M, Liang S, Triantafilou M, Triantafilou K (2008). Pathogen induction of CXCR4/TLR2 cross-talk impairs host defense function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:13532-13537.

Hamajima N, Katsuda N, Matsuo K, Saito T, Hirose K, Inoue M, Zaki TT, Tajima K, Tominaga S (2003). High anti-*Helicobacter pylori* antibody seropositivity associated with the combination of IL-8-251TT and IL-10-819TT genotypes. *Helicobacter* 8:105–110.

Hamerman JA, Ogasawara K, Lanier LL (2004). Cutting edge: Toll-like receptor signaling in macrophages induces ligands for the NKG2D receptor. *J Immunol* 172:2001-2005.

Hamerman JA, Jarjoura JR, Humphrey MB, Nakamura MC, Seaman WE, Lanier LL (2006). Cutting edge: inhibition of TLR and FcR responses in macrophages by triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells (TREM)-2 and DAP12. *J Immunol* 177:2051-5.

Hansson LE, Nyre'n O, Hsing AW, Bergstroem R, Josefsson S, Chow WH, Fraumeni JF, Adami HO (1996). The risk of stomach cancer in patients with gastric or duodenal ulcer disease. *N Engl J Med* 335: 242–249.

Hapfelmeier S, Stecher B, Barthel M, Kremer M, Müller AJ, Heikenwalder M, Stallmach T, Hensel M, Pfeffer K, Akira S, Hardt WD (2005). The Salmonella pathogenicity island (SPI)-2 and SPI-1 type III secretion systems allow Salmonella serovar typhimurium to trigger colitis via MyD88-dependent and MyD88-independent mechanisms. *J Immunol* 174:1675-85.

Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT (2005). "Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages". *Nature Immunology* 6: 1023-32

Hasan U, Chaffois C, Gaillard C, Saulnier V, Merck E, Tancredi S, Guiet C, Briere F, Vlach J, Lebecque S, Trinchieri G, Bates EEM (2005). Human TLR10 is a functional receptor, expressed by B cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cells, which activates gene transcription through MyD88. *J Immunol* 174: 2942-2950.

Hatakeyama M (2008). SagA of CagA in *Helicobacter pylori* pathogenesis. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 11: 30–37.

Hattar K, Grandel U, Moeller A, Fink L, Iglhaut J, Hartung T, Morath S, Seeger W, Grimminger F, Sibelius U (2006). Lipoteichoic acid (LTA) from Staphylococcus aureus stimulates human neutrophil cytokine release by a CD14-dependent, Toll-like-receptor-independent mechanism: Autocrine role of tumor necrosis factor-[alpha] in mediating LTA-induced interleukin-8 generation. *Crit Care Med* 34:835-841.

Hayashi EA, Akira S, Nobrega A (2005). Role of TLR in B cell development: signaling through TLR4 promotes B cell maturation and is inhibited by TLR2. *J Immunol* 174:6639-6647.

Hayashi F, Smith KD, Ozinsky A, Hawn TR, Yi EC, Goodlett DR, Eng JK, Akira S, Underhill DM, Aderem A (2001). The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Toll-like receptor-5. *Nature* 410: 1099–1103.

Haziot A, Hijiya N, Gangloff SC, Silver J, Goyert SM (2001). Induction of a novel mechanism of accelerated bacterial clearance by lipopolysaccharide in CD14-deficient and Toll-like receptor 4-deficient mice. *J Immunol* 166:1075-1078.

Hedl M, Li J, Cho JH, Abraham C (2007). Chronic stimulation of Nod2 mediates tolerance to bacterial products. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:19440-19445.

Hegarty JP, Dowd MT, Baker KH (1999). Occurrence of Helicobacter pylori in surface water in the United States. *J Appl Microbiol* 87:697–701.

Heil F, Ahmad-Nejad P, Hemmi H, Hochrein H, Ampenberger F, Gellert T, Dietrich H, Lipford G, Takeda K, Akira S, Wagner H, Bauer S (2003). The Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7)-specific stimulus loxoribine uncovers a strong relationship within the TLR7, 8 and 9 subfamily. *Eur J Immunol* 33: 2987–2997

Heil F, Hemmi H, Hochrein H, Ampenberger F, Kirschning C, Akira S, Lipford G, Wagner H, Bauer S (2004). Species-Specific Recognition of Single-Stranded RNA via Toll-like Receptor 7 and 8. *Science* 303: 1526–1528.

Heinrich PC, Behrmann I, Haan S, Hermanns HM, Mueller-Newen G, Schaper F (2003). Principles of interleukin (IL)-6-type cytokine signalling and its regulation. *Biochem J* 374: 1–20.

Hellmig S, Hampe J, Folsch UR, Schreiber S (2005). Role of IL-10 promoter haplotypes in Helicobacter pylori associated gastric inflammation. *Gut* 54:888-898.

Hemmi H, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Kaisho T, Sato S, Sanjo H, Matsumoto M, Hoshino K, Wagner H, Takeda K, Akira S (2000). A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. *Nature* 408: 740–745.

Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Sanjo H, Hoshino K, Horiuchi T, Tomizawa H, Takeda K, Akira S (2002). Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signalingpathway. *Nature Immunol* 3:196–200.

Henneke P, Morath S, Uematsu S, Weichert S, Pfitzenmaier M, Takeuchi O, Müller A, Poyart C, Akira S, Berner R, Teti G, Geyer A, Hartung T, Trieu-Cuot P, Kasper DL, Golenbock DT (2005). Role of lipoteichoic acid in the phagocyte response to group B streptococcus. *J Immunol* 174: 6449-55.

Hennig EE, Butruk E, Ostrowski J (2001). RACK1 protein interacts with *Helicobacter pylori* VacA cytotoxin: the yeast two-hybrid approach. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 289: 103–110.

Hennig EE, Godlewski MM, Butruk E, Ostrowski J (2005). *Helicobacter pylori* VacA cytotoxin interacts with fibronectin and alters HeLa cell adhesion and cytoskeletal organization *in vitro*. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 44: 143–150.

Herbarth O, Krumbiegel P, Fritz GJ, Richter M, Schlink U, Muller DM, Richter T (2001). Helicobacter pylori prevalences and risk factors among school beginners in a German urban center and its rural county. *Environ Health Perspect* 109:573–577.

Hertz CJ, Wu Q, Porter EM, Zhang YJ, Weismüller KH, Godowski PJ, Ganz T, Randell SH, Modlin RL (2003). Activation of Toll-like receptor 2 on human tracheobronchial epithelial cells induces the antimicrobial peptide human beta defensin-2. *J Immunol* 171: 6820-6826.

Heuermann D, and Haas R (1995). Genetic organization of a small cryptic plasmid of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Gene* 165:17–24.

Hickey FB, Brereton CF, Mills KH (2008). Adenylate cycalse toxin of Bordetella pertussis inhibits TLR-induced IRF-1 and IRF-8 activation and IL-12 production and enhances IL-10 through MAPK activation in dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 84:234-43.

Higashi H, Nakaya A, Tsutsumi R, Yokoyama K, Fujii Y, Ishikawa S, Higuchi M, Takahashi A, Kurashima Y, Teishikata Y, Tanaka S, Azuma T, Hatakeyama M (2004). *H. pylori* CagA induces Ras independent morphogenetic response through SHP-2 recruitment and activation. *J Biol Chem* 279: 17205–17216.

Higgins SC, Lavelle EC, McCann C, Keogh B, McNeela E, Byrne P, O'Gorman B, Jarnicki A, McGuirk P, Mills KH (2003). Toll-like receptor 4-mediated innate IL-10 activates antigen-specific regulatory T cells and confers resistance to Bordetella pertussis by inhibiting inflammatory pathology. *J Immunol* 171: 3119-3127.

Hirschfeld M, Weis JJ, Toshchakov V, Salkowski CA, Cody MJ, Ward DC, Qureshi N, Michalek SM, Vogel SN (2001). Signaling by Toll-like receptor 2 and 4 agonists results in differential gene expression in murine macrophages. *Infect Immun* 69: 1477–1482.

Hisamatsu T, Suzuki M, Podolsky DK (2003). Interferon-gamma augments CARD4/NOD1 gene and protein expression through interferon regulatory factor-1 in intestinal epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 278:32962-32968.

Hisamatsu T, Suzuki M, Reinecker HC, Nadeau WJ, McCormick BA, Podolsky DK (2003). CARD15/NOD2 functions as an antibacterial factor in human intestinal epithelial cells. *Gastroenterology* 124: 993-1000.

Hise AG, Daehnel K, Gillette-Ferguson I, Cho E, McGarry HF, Taylor MJ, Golenbock DT, Fitzgerald KA, Kazura JW, Pearlman E. Innate immune responses to endosymbiotic Wolbachia bacteria in Brugia malayi and Onchocerca volvulus are dependent on TLR2, TLR6, MyD88, and Mal, but not TLR4, TRIF, or TRAM. *J Immunol* 2007 178:1068-76.

Hoebe K, Du X, Georgel P, Janssen E, Tabeta K, Kim SO, Goode J, Lin P, Mann N, Mudd S, Crozat K, Sovath S, Han J, Beutler B (2003). Identification of *Lps2* as a key transducer of MyD88-independent TIR signalling. *Nature* 424: 743–748.

Hoffman HM, Mueller JL, Broide DH, Wanderer AA, Kolodner RD (2001). Mutation of a new gene encoding a putative pyrin-like protein causes familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome and Muckle–Wells syndrome. *Nature Genet* 29: 301–305.

Hoffmann JA, Kafatos FC, Janeway CA, Ezekowitz RAB (1999). Phylogenetic perspectives in innate immunity. *Science* 284:1313–18

Hofner P, Gyulai Z, Kiss ZF, Tiszai A, Tiszlavicz L, Tóth G, Szőke D, Molnár B, Lonovics J, Tulassay Z, Mándi Y (2007). Genetic polymorphisms of NOD1 and IL-8, but not polymorphisms of TLR4 genes, are associated with Helicobacter pylori-induced duodenal ulcer and gastritis. *Helicobacter* 12:124-31.

Hogan PG, Chen L, Nardone J, Rao A (2003) Transcriptional regulation by calcium, calcineurin, and NFAT. *Genes Dev* 17: 2205–2232.

Honda S, Fujioka T, Tokieda M, Satoh R, Nishizono A, Nasu M (1998). Development of Helicobacter pylori-induced gastric carcinoma in Mongolian gerbils. *Cancer Res* 58: 4255–4259.

Horng T, Barton GM, Flavell RA, Medzhitov R (2002). The adaptor molecule TIRAP provides signaling specificity for Toll-like receptors. *Nature* 420: 329–333.

Ho SB, Shekels LL, Toribara NW, Kim YS, Lyftogt C, Cherwitz DL, Niehans GA (1995). Mucin gene expression in normal, preneoplastic, and neoplastic human gastric epithelium. *Cancer Res* 55: 2681-2690.

Ho SB, Takamura K, Anway R, Shekels LL, Toribara NW, Ota H (2004). The adherent gastric mucous layer is composed of alternating layers of MUC5AC and MUC6 mucin proteins. *Dig Dis Sci* 49: 1598-1606.

Hsu LC, Ali SR, McGillivray S, Tseng PH, Mariathasan S, Humke EW, Eckmann L, Powell JJ, Nizet V, Dixit VM, Karin M (2008). A NOD2-NALP1 complex mediates caspase-1-dependent IL-1beta secretion in response to Bacillus anthracis infection and muramyl dipeptide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:7803-8.

Huang LY, Aliberti J, Leifer CA, Segal DM, Sher A, Golenbock DT, Golding B (2003). Heat-killed Brucella abortus induces TNF and IL-12p40 by distinct MyD88-dependent pathways: TNF, unlike IL-12p40 secretion, is Toll-like receptor 2 dependent. *J Immunol* 171:1441-1446.

Hugot JP, Zouali H, Lesage S (2003). Lessons to be learned from the NOD2 gene in Crohn's disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 15:593-597.

Hurme M and Helminen M (1998). Resistance to human cytomegalovirus infection may be influenced by genetic polymorphisms of the tumour necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist genes. *Scand J Infect Dis* 30:447–449.

Hwang IR, Kodama T, Kikuchi S, Sakai K, Peterson LE, Graham DY, Yamaoka Y (2002). Effect of interleukin 1 polymorphisms on gastric mucosal interleukin 1beta production in Helicobacter pylori infection. *Gastroenterology* 123:1793–1803.

International Agency for Research on Cancer (1994). IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, vol. 61: schistosomes, liver flukes and *Helicobacter pylori*. *International Agency for Research on Cancer*, Lyon, France.

Ikehara Y, Nishihara S, Yasutomi H, Kitamura T, Matsuo K, Shimizu N, Inada K, Kodera Y, Yamamura Y, Narimatsu H, Hamajima N, Tatematsu M (2001). Polymorphisms of two fucosyltransferase genes (Lewis and Secretor genes) involving type I Lewis antigens are associated with the presence of anti-Helicobacter pylori IgG antibody. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 10:971–977.

Ilver D, Arnqvist A, Ogren J, Frick IM, Kersulyte D, Incecik ET,Berg DE, Covacci A, Engstrand L, Boren T (1998). *Helicobacter pylori* adhesin binding fucosylated histo-blood group antigens revealed by retagging. *Science* 279: 373–377.

Imasato A, Desbois-Mouthon C, Han J, Kai H, Cato AC, Akira S, Li JD (2002). Inhibition of p38 MAPK by glucocorticoids via induction of MAPK phosphatase-1 enhances nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae-induced expression of toll-like receptor 2. *J Biol Chem* 277: 47444-47450.

Inohara N, Ogura Y, Chen FF, Muto A, Nuñez G (2001). Human Nod1 confers responsivenessto bacterial lipopolysaccharides. *J Biol Chem* 276: 2551-2554.

Inohara N, Ogura Y, Fontalba A, Gutierrez O, Pons F, Crespo J, Fukase K, Inamura S, Kusumoto S, Hashimoto M, Foster SJ, Moran AP, Fernandez-Luna JL, Nuñez G (2003). Host recognition of bacterial muramyl dipeptide mediated through NOD2. Implications for Crohn's disease. *J Biol Chem* 278: 5509-5512.

Inohara A, Chamaillard M, McDonald C, Núñez G (2005). NOD-LRR proteins: role in hostmicrobial interactions and inflammatory disease. *Annu Rev Biochem* 74: 355–383.

Into T, Kiura K, Yasuda M, Kataoka H, Inoue N, Hasebe A, Takeda K, Akira S, Shibata K (2004). Stimulation of human Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR6 with membrane lipoproteins of Mycoplasma

fermentans induces apoptotic cell death after NF-kappa B activation. Cell Microbiol 6:187-199.

Ishiyama N, Creuzenet C, Miller WL, Demendi M, Anderson EM, Harauz G, Lam JS, and Berghuis AM (2006). Structural Studies of FlaA1 from *Helicobacter pylori* Reveal the Mechanism for Inverting 4,6-Dehydratase Activity. *J Biol Chem* 281: 24489–24495

Isogawa M, Robek MD, Furuichi Y, Chisari FV (2005). Toll-like receptor signaling inhibits hepatitis B virus replication in vivo. *J Virol* 79: 7269-7272.

Janeway CA Jr (1989). Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* 1:1–13.

Janeway CA and Medzhitov R (2002). Innate immune recognition. *Ann Rev Immunol* 20: 197-216.

Jang S, Uematsu S, Akira S, Salgame P (2004). IL-6 and IL-10 induction from dendritic cells in response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis is predominantly dependent on TLR2-mediated recognition. *J Immunol* 173: 3392-3397.

Janssens S and Beyaert R (2003). Functional diversity and regulation of different interleukin 1 receptor associated kinase (IRAK) family members. *Mol Cell* 11: 293-302.

Jeremias J, Ledger WJ, Witkin SS (2000). Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist gene polymorphism in women with vulvar vestibulitis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 182:283–285.

Ji S, Shin JE, Kim YS, Oh JE, Min BM, Choi Y. TLR2 and NALP2 mediate induction of human beta-defensins by Fusobacterium nucleatum in gingival epithelial cells. *Infect Immun* 2008 Dec 22. [Epub ahead of print].

Ji X, Fernandez T, Burroni D, Pagliaccia C, Atherton JC, Reyrat RM, Rappuoli R, Telford JL (2000). Cell specificity of *Helicobacter pylori* cytotoxin is determined by a short region in the polymorphic midregion. *Infect Immun* 68: 3754–3757.

John B and Crispe IN (2005). TLR-4 regulates CD8+ T cell trapping in the liver. *J Immunol.* 175:1643-1650.

Johnson GB, Brunn GJ, Kodaira Y, Platt JL (2002). Receptor-mediated monitoring of tissue wellbeing via detection of soluble heparan sulfate by Toll-like receptor 4. *J Immunol* 168: 5233–5239.

Jones BW, Heldwein KA, Means TK, Saukkonen JJ, Fenton MJ (2001). Differential roles of Tolllike receptors in the elicitation of proinflammatory responses by macrophages. *Ann Rheum Dis* 60: Suppl 3:iii6-12.

Jones SA, Horiuchi S, Topley N, Yamamoto N, Fuller GM (2001). The soluble interleukin-6 receptor: mechanisms of production and implications in disease. *FASEB J* 15: 43–58.

Jones SA and Rose-John S (2002). The role of soluble receptors in cytokine biology: the agonistic properties of the sIL-6R/IL-6 complex. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1592: 251–263.

Jones SA, Richards PJ, Scheller J, Rose-John S (2005). IL-6 *trans*-signalling: the in vivo consequences. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* 25: 241–253.

Joos L, McIntyre L, Ruan J, Connett J E, Anthonisen N R, Weir T D, Paré P D, Sandford A J (2001). Association of IL-1 and IL-1 receptor antagonist haplotypes with rate of decline in lung function in smokers. *Thorax* 56:863-66.

Jurk M, Heil F, Vollmer J, Schetter C, Krieg AM, Wagner H, Lipford G, Bauer S (2002). Human TLR or TLR8 independently confer responsiveness to the antiviral compound R-848. *Nature Immunol* 3: 499.

Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Hoshino K, Akira S (2001). Endotoxin-induced maturation of MyD88-deficient dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 166: 5688-5694.

Kanakaraj P, Schafer PH, Cavender DE, Wu Y, Ngo K, Grealish PF, Wadsworth SA, Peterson PA, Siekierka JJ, Harris CA, Fung-Leung W (1998). Defective interleukin (IL)-18-mediated natural killer and T helper cell type 1 responses in IL-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK)-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* 187, 2073–2079.

Kang D, Gopalkrishnan RV, Wu Q, Jankowsky E, Pyle AM, Fisher PB (2002). Mda-5: an interferon-inducible putative RNA helicase with double stranded RNA-dependent ATPase activity and melanoma growth suppressive properties. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99: 637–642

Kanneganti TD, Ozören N, Body-Malapel M, Amer A, Park JH, Franchi L, Whitfield J, Barchet W, Colonna M, Vandenabeele P, Bertin J, Coyle A, Grant EP, Akira S, Núñez G (2006). Bacterial RNA and small antiviral compounds activate caspase-1 through cryopyrin/Nalp3. *Nature* 440:233-236.

Karhukorpi J, Yan Y, Niemela S, Valtonen J, Koistinen P, Joensuu T,Saikku P, Karttunen R (2002). Effect of CD14 promoter polymorphism and H. pylori infection and its clinical outcomes on circulating CD14. *Clin Exp Immunol* 128:326–332.

Kawahara T, Kuwano Y, Teshima-Kondo S, Kawai T, Nikawa T, Kishi K, Rokutan K (2001). Tolllike receptor 4 regulates gastric pit cell responses to Helicobacter pylori infection. *J Med Invest* 48:190-197.

Kawai T and Akira S (2006). TLR signaling. *Cell Death Differ* 13: 816-825.

Kawakubo M, Ito Y, Okimura Y, Kobayashi M, Sakura K, Kasama S, Fukuda MN, Fukuda M, Katsuyama T, Nakayama J(2004). Natural Antibiotic Function of a Human Gastric Mucin Against *Helicobacter pylori* Infection. *Science* 305: 1003–1006.

Kawasaki K, Akashi S, Shimazu R, Yoshida T, Miyake K, Nishijima M (2000). Mouse Toll-like receptor 4–MD-2 complex mediates lipopolysaccharide-mimetic signal transduction by taxol. *J Biol Chem* 275: 2251–2254.

Keates S, Keates AC, Katchar K, Peek RM, Kelly CP (2007). *Helicobacter pylori* induces upregulation of the epidermal growth factor receptor in AGS gastric epithelial cells. *J Infect Dis* 196: 95–103.

Khan N, Alam K, Mande SC, Valluri VL, Hasnain SE, Mukhopadhyay S (2008). Mycobacterium tuberculosis heat shock protein 60 modulates immune response to PPD by manipulating the surface expression of TLR2 on macrophages. *Cell Microbiol* 10:1711-1722.

Kim JG, Lee SJ, Kagnoff MF (2004). Nod1 is an essential signal transducer in intestinal epithelial cells infected with bacteria that avoid recognition by toll-like receptors. *Infect Immun* 72:1487-95.

Kim JY, Omori E, Matsumoto K, Núñez G, Ninomiya-Tsuji J (2008). TAK1 is a central mediator of NOD2 signaling in epidermal cells. *J Biol Chem* 283:137-44.

Kim S, Chamberlain AK, Bowie JU (2004). Membrane channel structure of Helicobacter pylori vacuolating toxin: role of multiple GXXXG motifs in cylindrical channels. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 101:5988–5991.

Kim YG, Park JH, Daignault S, Fukase K, Núñez G (2008). Cross-tolerization between Nod1 and Nod2 signaling results in reduced refractoriness to bacterial infection in Nod2-deficient macrophages. *J Immunol* 181: 4340-4346.

Kim YG, Park JH, Shaw MH, Franchi L, Inohara N, Núñez G (2008). The cytosolic sensors Nod1 and Nod2 are critical for bacterial recognition and host defense after exposure to Toll-like receptor ligands. *Immunity* 28:246-257.

Kimoto M, Nagasawa K, Miyake K (2003). Role of TLR4/MD-2 and RP105/MD-1 in innate recognition of lipopolysaccharide. *Scand J Infect Dis* 35:568-572.

Kishimoto T, Akira S, Narazaki M, Taga T (1995). Interleukin-6 family of cytokines and gp130. *Blood* 86: 1243–1254.

Kobayashi K, Hernandez LD, Galán JE, Janeway CA, Medzhitov R, lavell RA (2002). IRAK-M Is a Negative Regulator of Toll-like Receptor Signaling. *Cell* 110: 191-202

Kobayashi K, Hernandez LD, Galán JE, Janeway CA, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA (2002). IRAK-M is a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor signaling. *Cell* 110:191-202.

Kobayashi K, Inohara N, Hernandez LD, Galán JE, Núñez G, Janeway CA, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA (2002). RICK/Rip2/CARDIAK mediates signalling for receptors of the innate and adaptive immune systems. *Nature* 416: 194-199.

Kollewe C, Mackensen AC, Neumann D, Knop J, Cao P, Li S, Wesche H, Martin MU (2004). Sequential autophosphorylation steps in the interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase-1 regulate its availability as an adapter in interleukin-1 signaling. *J Biol Chem* 279: 5227-5236.

Koo IC, Wang C, Raghavan S, Morisaki JH, Cox JS, Brown EJ (2008). ESX-1-dependent cytolysis in lysosome secretion and inflammasome activation during mycobacterial infection. *Cell Microbiol* 10:1866-878.

Krienitz W (1906). Ueber das auftreten von mageninhalt bei carcinoma ventriculi. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr* 22: 872.

Kufer TA, Kremmer E, Banks DJ, Philpott DJ (2006). Role for erbin in bacterial activation of Nod2. *Infect Immun* 74: 3115-3124.

Kufer TA, Kremmer E, Adam AC, Philpott DJ, Sansonetti PJ (2008). The pattern-recognition molecule Nod1 is localized at the plasma membrane at sites of bacterial interaction. *Cell Microbiol* 10: 477-486.

Kuida K, Lippke JA, Ku G, Harding MW, Livingston DJ, Su MS, Flavell RA (1995). Altered cytokine export and apoptosis in mice deficient in interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. *Science* 267, 2000–2002

Kuipers EJ (1998). Review article: relationship between *Helicobacter pylori*, atrophic gastritis and gastric cancer. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 12: 25–36.

Kuipers EJ, Uyterlinde AM, Pena AS, Hazenberg HJ, Bloemena E,Lindeman J, Klinkenberg-Knol EC, Meuwissen SG (1995b). Increase of *Helicobacter pylori*-associated corpus gastritis during acid suppressive therapy: implications for long-term safety. *Am J Gastroenterol* 90:1401–1406.

Kuipers EJ, Thijs JC, Festen HP (1995a). The prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* in peptic ulcer disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 9 (Suppl.2):59–69.

Kuipers EJ, Uyterlinde AM, Pena AS, Roosendaal R, Pals G, Nelis GF, Festen HP, Meuwissen SG (1995b). Long-term sequelae of *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis. *Lancet* 345:1525–1528.

Kuipers EJ, Israel DA, Kusters JG, Gerrits MM, Weel J, van Der Ende A, van Der Hulst RW, Wirth HP, Hook-Nikanne J, Thompson SA, Blaser MJ (2000). Quasispecies development of *Helicobacter pylori* observed in paired isolates obtained years apart from the same host. *J Infect Dis* 181:273–282.

Kullberg BJ, Ferwerda G, de Jong DJ, Drenth JP, Joosten LA, Van der Meer JW, Netea MG (2008). Crohn's disease patients homozygous for the 3020insC NOD2 mutation have a defective NOD2/TLR4 cross-tolerance to intestinal stimuli. *Immunology* 123: 600-605.

Kulka M, Alexopoulou L, Flavell RA, Metcalfe DD (2004). Activation of mast cells by doublestranded RNA: evidence for activation through Toll-like receptor 3. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 114:174-82.

Kumar A, Zhang J, Yu FS (2006). Toll-like receptor 2-mediated expression of beta-defensin-2 in human corneal epithelial cells. *Microbes Infect* 8: 380-389.

Kurt-Jones EA, Popova L, Kwinn L, Haynes LM, Jones LP, Tripp RA, Walsh EE, Freeman MW, Golenbock DT, Anderson LJ, Finberg RW (2000). Pattern recognition receptors TLR4 and CD14 mediate response to respiratory syncytial virus. *Nature Immunol* 1: 398–401

Kurt-Jones EA, Mandell L, Whitney C, Padgett A, Gosselin K, Newburger PE, Finberg RW (2002). Role of toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) in neutrophil activation: GM-CSF enhances TLR2 expression and TLR2-mediated interleukin 8 responses in neutrophils. *Blood* 100:1860-1868.

Kusters JG, Gerrits MM, Van Strijp JA, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CM (1997). Coccoid forms of *Helicobacter pylori* are the morphologic manifestation of cell death. *Infect Immun* 65: 3672–3679.

Kwok T, Zabler D, Urman S, Rohde M, Hartig R, Wessler S, Koenig W, Backert S (2007). *Helicobacter* exploits integrin for type IV secretion and kinase activation. *Nature* 449: 862–866.

Laemmli UK (1970). "Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4". *Nature* 227: 680–685.

Lala S, Dheda K, Chang JS, Huggett JF, Kim LU, Johnson MA, Rook GA, Keshav S, Zumla A (2007). The pathogen recognition sensor, NOD2, is variably expressed in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. *BMC Infect Dis* 7:96-106.

Lamkanfi M, Amer A, Kanneganti TD, Muñoz-Planillo R, Chen G, Vandenabeele P, Fortier A, Gros P, Núñez G (2007). The Nod-like receptor family member Naip5/Birc1e restricts Legionella pneumophila growth independently of caspase-1 activation. *J Immunol* 178: 8022-8027.

Laporte R, Pernes P, Pronnier P, Gottrand F, Vincent P (2004). Acquisition of *Helicobacter pylori* infection after outbreaks of gastroenteritis: prospective cohort survey in institutionalised young people. **BMJ** 329: 204–205.

Laroux FS, Romero X, Wetzler L, Engel P, Terhorst C (2005). Cutting edge: MyD88 controls phagocyte NADPH oxidase function and killing of gram-negative bacteria. *J Immunol* 175: 5596-5600.

LeBlanc PM, Yeretssian G, Rutherford N, Doiron K, Nadiri A, Zhu L, Green DR, Gruenheid S, Saleh M (2008). Caspase-12 modulates NOD signaling and regulates antimicrobial peptide production and mucosal immunity. *Cell Host Microbe* 3:146-157.

Lebrun A, Wunder C, Hildebrand J, Churin Y, Zaehringer U, Lindner B, Meyer TF, Heinz E, Warnecke D (2006).. Cloning of a Cholesterol- α -glucosyltransferase from *Helicobacter pylori*. *J Biol Chem* 281: 27765–27772

Le Goffic R, Balloy V, Lagranderie M, Alexopoulou L, Escriou N, Flavell R, Chignard M, Si-Tahar M (2006). Detrimental contribution of the Toll-like receptor (TLR)3 to influenza A virus-induced acute pneumonia. *PLoS Pathog* 2(6):e53.

Legrand-Poels S, Kustermans G, Bex F, Kremmer E, Kufer TA, Piette J (2007). Modulation of Nod2-dependent NF-kappaB signaling by the actin cytoskeleton. *J Cell Sci* 120: 1299-1310.

Lehnardt S, Wennekamp J, Freyer D, Liedtke C, Krueger C, Nitsch R, Bechmann I, Weber JR, Henneke P (2007). TLR2 and caspase-8 are essential for group B Streptococcus-induced apoptosis in microglia. *J Immunol* 179: 6134-6143.

Lehours P, Menard A, Dupouy S, Bergey B, Richy F, Zerbib F, Ruskone-Fourmestraux A, Delchier JC, Megraud F (2004). Evaluation of the association of nine *Helicobacter pylori* virulence factors with strains involved in low-grade gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma. *Infect Immun* 72: 880–888.

Liljeroos M, Vuolteenaho R, Rounioja S, Henriques-Normark B, Hallman M, Ojaniemi M (2008). Bacterial ligand of TLR2 signals Stat activation via induction of IRF1/2 and interferon-alpha production. *Cell Signal* 20:1873-1881.

Li P, Allen H, Banerjee S, Franklin S, Herzog L, Johnston C, McDowell J, Paskind M, Rodman L, Salfeld J, Towne E, Tracey D, Wardwell S, Wei F, Wong W, Kamen R, Seshadri T (1995). Mice deficient in IL-1b-converting enzyme are defective in production of mature IL-1b and resistant to endotoxic shock. *Cell* 80: 401–411

Li X, Commane M, Burns C, Vithalani K, Cao Z, Stark GR (1999). Mutant cells that do not respond to interleukin-1 (IL-1) reveal a novel role for IL-1 receptor associated kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* 19: 4643–4652

Liamson B (1975). Lymphocyte in vitro cytotoxicity: specific release of like materials from tuberculin-sensitive lymphoid cells. *Nature* 221: 1155–1157.

Liston P, Roy N, Tamai K, Lefebvre C, Baird S, Cherton-Horvat G, Farahani R, McLean M, Ikeda J, Mackenzie A, Korneluk RG (1996). Suppression of apoptosis in mammalian cells by NAIP and a related family of IAP genes. *Nature* 379: 349-353.

Liu PT, Stenger S, Li H, Wenzel L, Tan BH, Krutzik SR, Ochoa MT, Schauber J, Wu K, Meinken C, Kamen DL, Wagner M, Bals R, Steinmeyer A, Zügel U, Gallo RL, Eisenberg D, Hewison M, Hollis BW, Adams JS, Bloom BR, Modlin RL (2006). Toll-like receptor triggering of a vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial response. *Science* 31:1770-1773.

Livak KJ and Schmittgen TD (2001). Analysis of Relative gene expression data uisng real time quantitative PCR and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. *Methods* 25: 402-408.

Longman RJ, Douthwaite J, Sylvester PA, Poulsom R, Corfield AP, Thomas MG, Wright NA (2000). Coordinated localisation of mucins and trefoil peptides in the ulcer associated cell lineage and the gastrointestinal mucosa. *Gut* 47: 792–800.

Lord KA, Hoffman-Liebermann B, Liebermann DA (1990). Nucleotide sequence and expression of a cDNA encoding *MyD88*, a novel myeloid differentiation primary response gene induced by IL6. **Oncogene** 5: 1095–1097

Lu H, Hsu PI, Graham DY, Yamaoka Y (2005). Duodenal ulcer promoting gene of Helicobacter pylori. *Gastroenterology* 128: 833–848.

Lu W, Pan K, Zhang L, Lin D, Miao X, You W (2005). Genetic polymorphisms of interleukin (IL)-1B, IL-1RN, IL-8, IL-10 and tumor necrosis factor alpha and risk of gastric cancer in a Chinese population. *Carcinogenesis* 26:631–636.

Lu Y, Redlinger TE, Avitia R, Galindo A, Goodman K (2002). Isolation and genotyping of *Helicobacter pylori* from untreated municipal wastewater. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 68:1436–1439.

Lucas M, Stuart LM, Savill J, Lacy-Hulbert A (2003). Apoptotic cells and innate immune stimuli combine to regulate macrophage cytokine secretion. *J Immunol* 171: 2610-2615.

Luger A (1917). Ueber spirochaeten und fusiforme bazillen im darm, mit einer beitrag zur frage der lamblien-enteritis. *Wiein Klin Wochenschr* 52:1643–1647.

Lund JM, Alexopoulou L, Sato A, Karow M, Adams NC, Gale NW, Iwasaki A, Flavell RA (2004). Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by Toll-like receptor 7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:5598-5603.

Macarthur M, Hold GL, El-Omar EM (2004). Inflammation and cancer. II. Role of chronic inflammation and cytokine gene polymorphisms in the pathogenesis of gastrointestinal malignancy. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 286: G515–G520.

Machata S, Tchatalbachev S, Mohamed W, Jänsch L, Hain T, Chakraborty T (2008). Lipoproteins of Listeria monocytogenes are critical for virulence and TLR2-mediated immune activation. *J Immunol* 181: 2028-2035.

Maeda S, Akanuma M, Mitsuno Y, Hirata Y, Ogura K, Yoshida H, Shiratori Y, Omata M (2001). Distinct mechanism of Helicobacter pylorimediated NF-kappa B activation between gastric cancer cells and monocytic cells. *J Biol Chem* 276: 44856–44864.

Maeda S, Hsu LC, Liu H, Bankston LA, Iimura M, Kagnoff MF, Eckmann L, Karin M (2005). Nod2 mutation in Crohn's disease potentiates NF-kappaB activity and IL-1beta processing. *Science* 307: 734-738.

Mahdavi J, Sonden B, Hurtig M, Olfat FO, Forsberg L, Roche N, Angstrom J, Larsson T, Teneberg S, Karlsson KA, Altraja S, Wadstrom T, Kersulyte D, Berg DE, Dubois A, Petersson C, Magnusson KE, Norberg T, Lindh F, Lundskog BB, Arnqvist A, Hammarstrom L, Boren T (2002). *Helicobacter pylori* SabA adhesin in persistent infection and chronic inflammation. *Science* 297: 573–578.

Malaty HM and Graham DY (1994). Importance of childhood socioeconomic status on the current prevalence of Helicobacter pylori infection. *Gut* 35: 742–745.

Maini RN and Taylor PC (2000). Anti-cytokine therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. **Annu Rev Med** 51: 207–229.

Mandell L, Moran AP, Cocchiarella A, Houghton J, Taylor N, Fox JG, Wang TC, Kurt-Jones EA (2004). Intact gram-negative *Helicobacter pylori, Helicobacter felis, and Helicobacter hepaticus* bacteria activate innate immunity via toll-like receptor 2 but not toll-like receptor 4. *Infect Immun* 72: 6446-6454.

Marchetti M, Arico B, Burroni D, Figura N, Rappuoli R, Ghiara P (1995). Development of a mouse model of Helicobacter pylori infection that mimics human disease. *Science* 267:1655–1658.

Mariathasan S, Newton K, Monack DM, Vucic D, French DM, Lee WP, Roose-Girma M, Erickson S, Dixit VM (2004). Differential activation of the inflammasome by caspase-1 adaptors ASC and Ipaf. *Nature* 430: 213–218.

Mariathasan S, Weiss DS, Newton K, McBride J, O'Rourke K, Roose-Girma M, Lee WP, Weinrauch Y, Monack DM, Dixit VM (2006). Cryopyrin activates the inflammasome in response to toxins and ATP. *Nature* 440: 228–232

Marshall BJ and Warren JR (1984). Unidentified curved bacilli in the stomach of patients with gastritis and peptic ulceration. *Lancet* i: 1311–1315.

Marshall BJ, Armstrong JA, McGechie DB, Glancy RJ (1985a). Attempt to fulfil Koch's postulates for pyloric *Campylobacter*. *Med J Austr* 142:436–439.

Marshall BJ, McGechie DB, Rogers PA, Glancy RJ (1985b). Pyloric campylobacter infection and gastroduodenal disease. *Med J Austr* 142:439–444.

Marshall BJ, Armstrong JA, Francis GJ, Nokes NT, Wee SH (1987). Antibacterial action of bismuth in relation to *Campylobacter pyloridis* colonization and gastritis. *Digestion* 37(Suppl. 2):16–30.

Martin M, Rehani K, Jope RS, Michalek SM (2005). Toll-like receptor-mediated cytokine production is differentially regulated by glycogen synthase kinase 3. *Nat Immunol* 6:777-784.

Martinon F, Agostini L, Meylan E, Tschopp J (2004). Identification of bacterial muramyldipeptide as activator of the NALP3/cryopyrin inflammasome. *Curr Biol* 14: 1929-1934.

Martinon F and Tschopp J (2004). Inflammatory caspases: linking an intracellular innate immune system to autoinflammatory diseases. *Cell* 117: 561–574.

Martinon F, Burns K, Tschopp J (2002). The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-1b. *Mol Cell* 10: 417–426

Martinon F, Pétrilli V, Mayor A, Tardivel A, Tschopp J (2006). Gout-associated uric acid crystals activate the NALP-3 inflammasome. *Nature* 440: 237–241.

Mashima R, Saeki K, Aki D, Minoda Y, Takaki H, Sanada T, Kobayashi T, Aburatani H, Yamanashi Y, Yoshimura A (2005). FLN29, a novel interferon- and LPS-inducible gene acting as a negative regulator of toll-like receptor signaling. *J Biol Chem* 280:41289-41297.

Massari P, Henneke P, Ho Y, Latz E, Golenbock DT, Wetzler LM (2002). Cutting edge: Immune stimulation by neisserial porins is toll-like receptor 2 and MyD88 dependent. *J Immunol* 168:1533-15337.

Matsumoto M, Funami K, Tanabe M, Oshiumi H, Shingai M, Seto Y, Yamamoto A, Seya T (2003). Subcellular localization of Toll-like receptor 3 in human dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 171: 3154–3162.

Mattsson A, Tinnert A, Hamlet A, Lönroth H, Bölin I, Svennerholm AM (1998). Specific antibodies in sera and gastric aspirates of symptomatic and asymptomatic Helicobacter pyloriinfected subjects. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 5: 288–293.

McCurdy JD, Olynych TJ, Maher LH, Marshall JS (2003). Cutting edge: distinct Toll-like receptor 2 activators selectively induce different classes of mediator production from human mast cells. *J Immunol* 170:1625-1629.

McDonald C, Inohara N, Núñez G (2005). Peptidoglycan signaling in innate immunity and inflammatory disease. *J Biol Chem* 280: 20177–20180.

McGee DJ and Mobley HL (1999). Mechanisms of Helicobacter pylori infection: bacterial factors. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 241: 155–180

Means TK, Wang S, Lien E, Yoshimura A, Golenbock DT, Fenton MJ (1999). Human toll-like receptors mediate cellular activation by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *J Immunol* 163:3920-3927.

Means TK, Jones BW, Schromm AB, Shurtleff BA, Smith JA, Keane J, Golenbock DT, Vogel SN, Fenton MJ (2001). Differential effects of a Toll-like receptor antagonist on Mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced macrophage responses. *J Immunol* 166:4074-82.

Medvedev AE, Piao W, Shoenfelt J, Rhee SH, Chen H, Basu S, Wahl LM, Fenton MJ, Vogel SN (2007). Role of TLR4 tyrosine phosphorylation in signal transduction and endotoxin tolerance. *J Biol Chem* 282:16042-16053.

Medzhitov R, Preston-Hurlburt P, Janeway CA (1997). A human homologue of the *Drosophila* Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. *Nature* 388:394–397.

Medzhitov R, Preston-Hurlburt P, Kopp E, Stadlen A, Chen C, Ghosh S, Janeway CA (1998). MyD 88 is an adapter protein in the hToll/IL-1 receptor family signaling pathways. *Mol Cell* 2: 253-258.

Medzhitov R and Janeway CA (2000). Innate immune recognition: mechanisms and pathways. *Immunol Rev* 173: 89–97.

Mempel M, Voelcker V, Köllisch G, Plank C, Rad R, Gerhard M, Schnopp C, Fraunberger P, Walli AK, Ring J, Abeck D, Ollert M (2003). Toll-like receptor expression in human keratinocytes: nuclear factor kappaB controlled gene activation by Staphylococcus aureus is toll-like receptor 2 but not toll-like receptor 4 or platelet activating factor receptor dependent. *J Invest Dermatol* 121:1389-1396.

Miao EA, Alpuche-Aranda CM, Dors M, Clark AE, Bader MW, Miller SI, Aderem A (2006). Cytoplasmic flagellin activates caspase-1 and secretion of interleukin 1beta via Ipaf. Nat Immunol 7:569-575.

Miao EA, Ernst RK, Dors M, Mao DP, Aderem A (2008). Pseudomonas aeruginosa activates caspase 1 through lpaf. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:2562-2567.

Miao EA, Alpuche-Aranda CM, Dors M, Clark AE, Bader MW, Miller SI, Aderem A (2006). Cytoplasmic flagellin activates caspase-1 and secretion of interleukin 1b via Ipaf. *Nat Immunol* 7: 569–575

Michelsen KS, Aicher A, Mohaupt M, Hartung T, Dimmeler S, Kirschning CJ, Schumann RR (2001). The role of toll-like receptors (TLRs) in bacteria-induced maturation of murine dendritic cells (DCS). Peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acid are inducers of DC maturation and require TLR2. *J Biol Chem* 276: 25680-25686.

Miehlke S, Kirsch C, Agha-Amiri K, Gunther T, Lehn N, Malfertheiner P, Stolte M, Ehninger G, Bayerdorffer E (2000). The *Helicobacter pylori* vacA s1, m1 genotype and cagA are associated with gastric carcinoma in Germany. *Int J Cancer* 87: 322-327.

Miller LS, Sørensen OE, Liu PT, Jalian HR, Eshtiaghpour D, Behmanesh BE, Chung W, Starner TD, Kim J, Sieling PA, Ganz T, Modlin RL (2005). TGF-alpha regulates TLR expression and function on epidermal keratinocytes. *J Immunol* 174: 6137-6143.

Mimuro H, Suzuki T, Tanaka J, Asahi M, Haas R, Sasakawa C (2002). Grb2 is a key mediator of *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein activities. *Mol Cell* 10: 745–755.

Mizel SB and Snipes JA (2002). Gram-negative flagellin-induced self-tolerance is associated with a block in interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase release from toll-like receptor 5. *J Biol Chem* 277: 22414-22420.

Moese S, Selbach M, Meyer TF, Backert S (2002). *cag+ Helicobacter pylori* induces homotypic aggregation of macrophage-like cells by up-regulation and recruitment of intracellular adhesion molecule 1 to the cell surface. *Infect Immun* 70: 4687–4691.

Moese S, Selbach M, Brinkmann V, Karlas A, Haimovich B, Backert S, Meyer TF (2007). The Helicobacter pylori CagA protein disrupts matrix adhesion of gastric epithelial cells by dephosphorylation of vinculin. *Cell Microbiol* 9:1148-1161.

Mogensen TH, Paludan SR, Kilian M, Ostergaard L (2006). Live Streptococcus pneumoniae, Haemophilus influenzae, and Neisseria meningitidis activate the inflammatory response through Tolllike receptors 2, 4, and 9 in species-specific patterns. *J Leukoc Biol* 80:267-77.

Monack DM, Mueller A, Falkow S (2004). Persistent bacterial infections: the interface of the pathogen and the host immune system. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2: 747–765.

Mookherjee N, Wilson HL, Doria S, Popowych Y, Falsafi R, Yu JJ, Li Y, Veatch S, Roche FM, Brown KL, Brinkman FS, Hokamp K, Potter A, Babiuk LA, Griebel PJ, Hancock RE (2006). Bovine and human cathelicidin cationic host defense peptides similarly suppress transcriptional responses to bacterial lipopolysaccharide. *J Leukoc Biol* 80: 1563-1574.

Molinari M, Galli C, Norais N, Telford JL, Rappuoli R, Luzio JP, Montecucco C (1997). Vacuoles induced by *Helicobacter pylori* toxin contain both late endosomal and lysosomal markers. *J Biol Chem* 272: 25339–25344.

Montecucco C and Rappuoli R (2001). Living dangerously: how *Helicobacter pylori* survives in the human stomach. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2: 457–466.

Moors MA, Li L, Mizel SB (2001). Activation of interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase by gramnegative flagellin. *Infect Immun* 69: 4424-4429.

Morris A and Nicholson G (1987). Ingestion of *Campylobacter pyloridis* causes gastritis and raised fasting gastric pH. *Am J Gastroenterol* 82:192–199.

Morris AJ, Ali MR, Nicholson GI, Perez-Perez GI, Blaser MJ (1991). Long-term follow-up of voluntary ingestion of Helicobacter pylori. *Ann Intern Med* 114: 662–663.

Morris GE, Whyte MK, Martin GF, Jose PJ, Dower SK, Sabroe I (2005). Agonists of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 activate airway smooth muscle via mononuclear leukocytes. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 171: 814-22.

Muotiala A, Helander IM, Pyhala L, Kosunen TU, Moran AP (1992). Low biological activity of *Helicobacter pylori* lipopolysaccharide. *Infect Immun* 60: 1714–1716.

Murata-Kamiya N, Kurashima Y, Teishikata Y, Yamahashi Y, Saito Y, Higashi H, Aburatani H, Akiyama T, Peek RM, Azuma T, Hatakeyama M (2007). *Helicobacter pylori* CagA interacts with E-cadherin and deregulates the beta-catenin signal that promotes intestinal transdifferentiation in gastric epithelial cells. *Oncogene* 26: 4617–4626.

Murphy KM, Travers P, Walport M (2007). Janeway's Immunobiology, 7th Edition, Garland Science

Muruve DA, Pétrilli V, Zaiss AK, White LR, Clark SA, Ross PJ, Parks RJ, Tschopp J (2008). The inflammasome recognizes cytosolic microbial and host DNA and triggers an innate immune response. *Nature* 452:103-107.

Muzio M, Ni J, Feng P, Dixit VM (1997). IRAK (Pelle) family member IRAK-2 and MyD88 as proximal mediators of IL-1 signaling. *Science* 278: 1612–1615.

Nagai Y, Kobayashi T, Motoi Y, Ishiguro K, Akashi S, Saitoh S, Kusumoto Y, Kaisho T, Akira S, Matsumoto M, Takatsu K, Miyake K (2005). The radioprotective 105/MD-1 complex links TLR2 and TLR4/MD-2 in antibody response to microbial membranes. *J Immunol* 174: 7043-7049.

Nahori MA, Fournié-Amazouz E, Que-Gewirth NS, Balloy V, Chignard M, Raetz CR, Saint Girons I, Werts C (2005). Differential TLR recognition of leptospiral lipid A and lipopolysaccharide in murine and human cells. *J Immunol* 175: 6022-6031.

Nakayama M, Hisatsune J, Yamasaki E, Nishi Y, Wada A, Kurazono H, Sap J, Yahiro K, Moss J, Hirayama T (2006). Clustering of *Helicobacter pylori* VacA in Lipid Rafts, Mediated by Its Receptor, Receptor-Like Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase ß, Is Required for Intoxication in AZ-521 Cells. *Infect Immun* 74: 6571-6580.

Nakayama M, Kimura M, Wada A, Yahiro K, Ogushi K, Niidome T, Fujikawa A, Shirasaka D, Aoyama N, Kurazono H, Noda M, Moss J, Hirayama T (2007). *Helicobacter pylori* VacA activates the p38/activating transcription factor 2-mediated signal pathway in AZ-521 cells. *J Biol Chem* 279: 7024–7028.

Nakayama M, Underhill DM, Petersen TW, Li B, Kitamura T, Takai T, Aderem A (2007). Paired Ig-like receptors bind to bacteria and shape TLR-mediated cytokine production. *J Immunol* 178:4250-4259.

Namavar F, Sparrius M, Veerman ECI, Appelmelk BJ, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CMJE (1998). Neutrophil-activating protein mediates adhesion of *Helicobacter pylori* to sulfated carbohydrates on highmolecular-weight salivary mucin. *Infect Immun* 66:444–447.

Narayana Y and Balaji KN (2008). NOTCH1 up-regulation and signaling involved in Mycobacterium bovis BCG-induced SOCS3 expression in macrophages. *J Biol Chem* 283:12501-12511.

Naumann M and Crabtree JE (2004). Helicobacter pylori-induced epithelial cell signalling in gastric carcinogenesis. *Trends Microbiol* 12: 29–36.

Netea MG, Kullberg BJ, Joosten LA, Sprong T, Verschueren I, Boerman OC, Amiot F, van den Berg WB, Van der Meer JW (2001). Lethal Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium endotoxemia is mediated through different pathways. *Eur J Immunol* 31: 2529-38.

Netea MG, Kullberg BJ, de Jong DJ, Franke B, Sprong T, Naber TH, Drenth JP, Van der Meer JW (2004). NOD2 mediates anti-inflammatory signals induced by TLR2 ligands: implications for Crohn's disease. *Eur J Immunol* 34:2052-2059.

Netea MG, Ferwerda G, de Jong DJ, Jansen T, Jacobs L, Kramer M, Naber TH, Drenth JP, Girardin SE, Kullberg BJ, Adema GJ, Van der Meer JW (2005). Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-2 modulates specific TLR pathways for the induction of cytokine release. *J Immunol* 174:6518-6523.

Netea MG, Azam T, Lewis EC, Joosten LA, Wang M, Langenberg D, Meng X, Chan ED, Yoon DY, Ottenhoff T, Kim SH, Dinarello CA (2006). Mycobacterium tuberculosis induces interleukin-32 production through a caspase- 1/IL-18/interferon-gamma-dependent mechanism. *PLoS Med* 3(8):e277.

Nilsson C, Sillen A, Eriksson L, Strand ML, Enroth H, Normark S, Falk P, Engstrand L (2003). Correlation between *cag* pathogenecity island composition and *Helicobacter pylori*-associated gastroduodenal disease. *Infect Immun* 71: 6573–6581

Nozawa Y, Nishihara K, Peek RM, Nakano M, Uji T,Ajioka H, Matsuura N, Miyake H (2002). Identification of a signaling cascade for interleukin-8 production by *Helicobacter pylori* in human gastric epithelial cells. *Biochem Pharmacol* 64: 21–30.

O'Connor W Jr, Harton JA, Zhu X, Linhoff MW, Ting JP (2003). Cutting edge: CIAS1 /cryopyrin /PYPAF1 /NALP3/CATERPILLER 1.1 is an inducible inflammatory mediator with NF-kappa B suppressive properties. *J Immunol* 171: 6329-33.

Odenbreit S, Gebert B, Puls J, Fischer W, Haas R (2001). Interaction of Helicobacter pylori with professional phagocytes: role of the cag pathogenicity island and translocation, phosphorylation and processing of CagA. *Cell Microbiol* 3: 21–31.

Odenbreit S, Puls J, Sedlmaier B, Gerland E, Fischer W, Haas R (2000). Translocation of *Helicobacter pylori* CagA into gastric epithelial cells by type IV secretion. *Science* 287: 1497–1500.

Oezoeren N, Masumoto J, Franchi L, Kanneganti T, Body-Malapel M, Ertuerk I, Jagirdar R, Zhu L, Inohara N, Bertin J, Coyle A, Grant EPand Nunez G (2006). Distinct Roles of TLR2 and the Adaptor ASC in IL-1β/IL-18 Secretion in Response to *Listeria monocytogenes*. *J Immunol* 176: 4337-4342.

Oganesyan G, Saha SK, Guo B, He JQ, Shahangian A, Zarnegar B, Perry A (2006). Critical role of TRAF3 in the Toll-like receptor-dependent and -independent antiviral response. *Nature* 439: 208-211.

Ogawa T, Asai Y, Sakai Y, Oikawa M, Fukase K, Suda Y, Kusumoto S, Tamura T (2003). Endotoxic and immunobiological activities of a chemically synthesized lipid A of *Helicobacter pylori* strain 206-1. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 36:1-7.

Ogura K, Maeda S, Nakao M, Watanabe T, Tada M, Kyutoku T, Yoshida H, Shiratori Y, Omata M (2000). Virulence factors of *Helicobacter pylori* responsible for gastric diseases in Mongolian gerbil. *J Exp Med* 192: 1601–1610.

Ogura Y, Inohara N, Benito A, Chen FF, Yamaoka S, Núñez G (2001). Nod2, a Nod1/Apaf-1 family member that is restricted to monocytes and activates NF-kB. *J Biol Chem* 276: 4812–4818.

Ohyama I, Ohmiya N, Niwa Y, Shirai K, Taguchi A, Itoh A, Hirooka Y, Wakai K, Hamajima N, Mori N, Goto H (2004). The association between tumour necrosis factor-alpha gene polymorphism and the susceptibility to rugal hyperplastic gastritis and gastric carcinoma. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 16: 693–700.

Okamura Y, Watari M, Jerud ES, Young DW, Ishizaka ST, Rose J, Chow JC, Strauss JF (2001). The extra domain A of fibronectin activates Toll-like receptor 4. *J Biol Chem* 276: 10229–10233.

O'Neill LAJ (2004). After the Toll rush. Science 303: 1481–1482.

Ohnishi H, Yamamori S, Ono K, Aoyagi K, Kondo S and Takahashi M (2001). A src family tyrosine kinase inhibits neurotransmitter release from neuronal cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98: 10930-10935.

Onishi S, Honma K, Liang S, Stathopoulou P, Kinane D, Hajishengallis G, Sharma A (2008). Toll-like receptor 2-mediated interleukin-8 expression in gingival epithelial cells by the Tannerella forsythia leucine-rich repeat protein BspA. *Infect Immun* 76:198-205.

Opitz B, Schröder NWJ, Spreitzer I, Michelsen KS, Kirschning CJ, Hallatschek W, Zähringer U, Hartung T, Göbel UB, Schumann RR (2001). Toll-like receptor-2 mediates *Treponema* glycolipid and lipoteichoic acid-induced NFB translocation. *J Biol Chem* 276: 22041–22047.

Opitz B, Püschel A, Schmeck B, Hocke AC, Rosseau S, Hammerschmidt S, Schumann RR, Suttorp N, Hippenstiel S (2004). Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain proteins are innate immune receptors for internalized Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Biol Chem* 279:36426-36432.

Opitz B, Förster S, Hocke AC, Maass M, Schmeck B, Hippenstiel S, Suttorp N, Krüll M (2005). Nod1-mediated endothelial cell activation by Chlamydophila pneumoniae. *Circ Res* 96:319-326.

Opitz B, Püschel A, Beermann W, Hocke AC, Förster S, Schmeck B, van Laak V, Chakraborty T, Suttorp N, Hippenstiel S (2006). Listeria monocytogenes activated p38 MAPK and induced IL-8 secretion in a nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain 1-dependent manner in endothelial cells. *J Immunol* 176: 484-490.

O'Toole PW, Lane MC, Porwollik S (2000). *Helicobacter pylori* motility. *Microbes Infect* 2:1207–1214.

Oshiumi H, Sasai M, Shida K, Fujita T, Matsumoto M, Seya T (2003). TIR-containing adapter molecule (TICAM)-2: a bridging adapter recruiting to Toll-like receptor 4 TICAM-1 that induces interferon-β. *J Biol Chem* 278: 49751–49762.

Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Fontenot JD, Hajjar AM, Smith KD, Wilson CB, Schroeder L, Aderem A (2000) The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between Toll-like receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97: 13766–13771.

Palaga T, Buranaruk C, Rengpipat S, Fauq AH, Golde TE, Kaufmann SH, Osborne BA (2008). Notch signaling is activated by TLR stimulation and regulates macrophage functions. *Eur J Immunol* 38:174-183.

Palazzo M, Balsari A, Rossini A, Selleri S, Calcaterra C, Gariboldi S, Zanobbio L, Arnaboldi F, Shirai YF, Serrao G, Rumio C (2007). Activation of enteroendocrine cells via TLRs induces hormone, chemokine, and defensin secretion. *J Immunol* 178: 4296-4303.

Pan Q, Kravchenko V, Katz A, Huang S, li M, Mathison JC, Kobayashi K, Flavell RA, Schreiber RD, Goeddel D, Ulevitch RJ (2006). NF-kappa B-inducing kinase regulates selected gene expression in the Nod2 signaling pathway. *Infect Immun* 74: 2121-2127.

Papadakis KA and Targan SR (2000). Role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Annu Rev Med* 51: 289-298.

Park JH, Kim YG, McDonald C, Kanneganti TD, Hasegawa M, Body-Malapel M, Inohara N, Núñez G (2007). RICK/RIP2 mediates innate immune responses induced through Nod1 and Nod2 but not TLRs. *J Immunol* 178: 2380-2386.

Parsonnet J, Hansen S, Rodriguez L, Gelb AB, Warnke RA, Jellum E, Orentreich N, Vogelman HJ, Friedman GD (1994). *Helicobacter pylori* infection and gastric lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* 330: 1267–1271.

Parsonnet J, Friedman GD, Orentreich N, Vogelman H (1997). Risk for gastric cancer in people with CagA positive or CagA negative *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Gut* 40: 297–301.

Parsonnet J and Isaacson PG (2004). Bacterial infection and MALT lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* 350:213–215.

Pathak SK, Basu S, Bhattacharyya A, Pathak S, Kundu M, Basu J (2005). Mycobacterium tuberculosis lipoarabinomannan-mediated IRAK-M induction negatively regulates Toll-like receptordependent interleukin-12 p40 production in macrophages. *J Biol Chem* 280: 42794-42800.

Paul-Clark MJ, Sorrentino R, Bailey LK, Sriskandan S, Mitchell JA (2008). Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria synergize with oxidants to release CXCL8 from innate immune cells. *Mol Med* 14: 238-246.

Pedra JH, Sutterwala FS, Sukumaran B, Ogura Y, Qian F, Montgomery RR, Flavell RA, Fikrig E (2007). ASC/PYCARD and caspase-1 regulate the IL-18/IFN-gamma axis during Anaplasma phagocytophilum infection. *J Immunol* 179: 4783-4791.

Peek RM, Miller GG, Tham KT, Perezperez GI, Zhao XM, Atherton JC, Blaser MJ (1995). Heightened inflammatory response and cytokine expression in vivo to cagA(1) *Helicobacter pylori* strains. *Lab Investis* 73: 760–770.

Peek RM, Thompson SA, Donahue JP, Tham KT, Atherton JC, Blaser MJ, Miller GG (1998). Adherence to gastric epithelial cells induces expression of *Helicobacter pylori* gene, *iceA*, that is associated with clinical outcome. *Proc Assoc Phys* 110:531-44.

Peiser M, Koeck J, Kirschning CJ, Wittig B, Wanner R (2008). Human Langerhans cells selectively activated via Toll-like receptor 2 agonists acquire migratory and CD4+T cell stimulatory capacity. *J Leukoc Biol* 83: 1118-1127.

Pel PK (1899). Diseases of the stomach. De Erven Bohn, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. (In Dutch.)

Perera PY, Mayadas TN, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Zaks-Zilberman M, Goyert SM, Vogel SN (2001). CD11b/CD18 acts in concert with CD14 and Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 to elicit full lipopolysaccharide and taxol-inducible gene expression. *J Immunol* 166: 574-581.

Perez-Perez GI, Peek RM, Atherton JC, Blaser MJ, Cover TL (1999). Detection of anti-VacA antibody responses in serum and gastric juice samples using type s1/m1 and s2/m2 *Helicobacter pylori* VacA antigens. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 6: 489–493.

Perez-Perez GI, Rothenbacher D, Brenner H (2004). Epidemiology of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Helicobacter* 9 (Suppl. 1): 1–6.

Perez-Perez GI, Olivares AZ, Foo FY, Foo S, Neusy AJ, Ng C, Holzman RZ, Marmor M, Blaser MJ (2005). Seroprevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* in New York City populations originating in East Asia. *J.Urban Health* 82: 510–516.

Picard C, Puel A, Bonnet M, Ku C, Bustamante J, Yang K, Soudais C, Dupuis S, Feinberg J, Fieschi C, Elbim C, Hitchcock R, Lammas D, Davies G, Al-Ghonaium A, Al-Rayes H, Al-Jumaah S, Al-Hajjar S, Al-Mohsen IZ, Frayha HH, Rucker R, Hawn TR, Aderem A, Tufenkeji H, Haraguchi S, Day NK, Good RA, Gougerot-Pocidalo M, Ozinsky A, Casanova J (2003). Pyogenic bacterial infections in humans with IRAK-4 deficiency. *Science* 299: 2076–2079.

Pierer M, Rethage J, Seibl R, Lauener R, Brentano F, Wagner U, Hantzschel H, Michel BA, Gay RE, Gay S, Kyburz D (2004). Chemokine secretion of rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts stimulated by Toll-like receptor 2 ligands. *J Immunol* 172: 1256-1265.

Ploetz SG, Lentschat A, Behrendt H, Ploetz W, Hamann L, Ring J, Rietschel ET, Flad HD, Ulmer AJ (2001). The interaction of human peripheral blood eosinophils with bacterial lipopolysaccharide is CD14 dependent. *Blood* 97: 235-241.

Poltorak A, He X, Smirnova I, Liu M, Van Huffel C, Du X, Birdwell D, Alejos E, Silva M, Galanos C,

Freudenberg M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Layton B, Beutler B (1998). Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in *Tlr4* gene. *Science* 282: 2085–2088.

Poms RE and Tatini SR (2001). Survival of Helicobacter pylori in ready-to-eat foods at 4 degrees C. *Int J Food Microbiol* 63: 281–286.

Poppe M, Feller SM, Römer G, Wessler S (2007). Phosphorylation of *Helicobacter pylori* CagA by c-Abl leads to cell motility. **Oncogene** 26: 3462–3472.

Potthoff A, Ledig S, Martin J, Jandl O, Cornberg M, Obst B, Beil W, Manns MP, Wagner S (2002). Significance of the caspase family in Helicobacter pylori induced gastric epithelial apoptosis. *Helicobacter* 7: 367-77.

Power MR, Marshall JS, Yamamoto M, Akira S, Lin TJ (2006). The myeloid differentiation factor 88 is dispensable for the development of a delayed host response to Pseudomonas aeruginosa lung infection in mice. *Clin Exp Immunol* 146: 323-329.

Power MR, Li B, Yamamoto M, Akira S, Lin TJ (2007). A role of Toll-IL-1 receptor domaincontaining adaptor-inducing IFN-beta in the host response to Pseudomonas aeruginosa lung infection in mice. *J Immunol* 178: 3170-3176.

Poyet J, Srinivasula SM, Tnani M, Razmara M, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Alnemri ES (2001). Identification of IPAF, human caspase-1 activating protein related to Apaf-1. *J Biol Chem* 276: 28309-28313,

Prebeck S, Kirschning C, Dürr S, da Costa C, Donath B, Brand K, Redecke V, Wagner H, Miethke T (2001). Predominant role of toll-like receptor 2 versus 4 in Chlamydia pneumoniae-induced activation of dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 167: 3316-23.

Pridmore AC, Wyllie DH, Abdillahi F, Steeghs L, van der Ley P, Dower SK, Read RC (2001). A lipopolysaccharide-deficient mutant of Neisseria meningitidis elicits attenuated cytokine release by human macrophages and signals via toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 but not via TLR4/MD2. *J Infect Dis* 183: 89-96.

Prinz C, Schoniger M, Rad R, Becker I, Keiditsch E, Wagenpfeil S, Classen M, Rosch T, Schepp W, Gerhard M (2001). Key importance of the *Helicobacter pylori* adherence factor blood group antigen binding adhesion during chronic gastric inflammation. *Cancer Res* 61:1903–1909.

Queralt N, Bartolome R, Araujo R (2005). Detection of *Helicobacter pylori* DNA in human faeces and water with different levels of faecal pollution in the north-east of Spain. *J Appl Microbiol* 98: 889–895.

Rachmilewitz D, Katakura K, Karmeli F, Hayashi T, Reinus C, Rudensky B, Akira S, Takeda K, Lee J, Takabayashi K, Raz E (2004). Toll-like receptor 9 signaling mediates the anti-inflammatory effects of probiotics in murine experimental colitis. *Gastroenterology* 126:520-528.

Rad R, Prinz C, Neu B, Neuhofer M, Zeitner M, Voland P, Becker I, Schepp W, Gerhard M (2003). Synergistic effect of Helicobacter pylori virulence factors and interleukin-1 polymorphisms for the development of severe histological changes in the gastric mucosa. *J Infect Dis* 188: 272–281.

Rad R, Dossumbekova A, Neu B, Lang R, Bauer S, Saur D, Gerhard M, Prinz C (2004). Cytokine gene polymorphisms influence mucosal cytokine expression, gastric inflammation, and host specific colonisation during *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Gut* 53:1082–1089.

Rad R, Brenner L, Krug A, Voland P, Mages J, Lang R, Schwendy S, Reindl W, Dossumbekova A, Ballhorn W, Wagner H, Schmid RM, Bauer S, Prinz C (2007). Toll-like receptor-dependent activation of antigen-presenting cells affects adaptive immunity to Helicobacter pylori. *Gastroenterology* 133:150-163.

Raffatellu M, Chessa D, Wilson RP, Dusold R, Rubino S, Bäumler AJ (2005). The Vi capsular antigen of Salmonella enterica serotype Typhi reduces Toll-like receptor-dependent interleukin-8 expression in the intestinal mucosa. *Infect Immun* 73: 3367-3374.

Rahman M, Mukhopadhyay AK, Nahar S, Datta S, Ahmad MM, Sarker S, Masud IM, Engstrand L, Albert MJ, Nair GB, Berg DE (2003). DNA-level characterization of *Helicobacter pylori* strains from patients with overt disease and with benign infections in Bangladesh. *J Clin Microbiol* 41: 2008-14.

Ramphal R, Balloy V, Jyot J, Verma A, Si-Tahar M, Chignard M (2008). Control of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in the lung requires the recognition of either lipopolysaccharide or flagellin. *J Immunol* 181: 586-592.

Rassa JC, Meyers JL, Zhang Y, Kudaravalli R, Ross SR (2002). Murine retroviruses activate B cells via interaction with Toll-like receptor 4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99: 2281–2286.

Rauws EAJ and Tytgat GNJ (1990). Cure of duodenal ulcer associated with eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Lancet* 335:1233–1235.

Ray A, Chatterjee NS, Bhattacharya SK, Biswas T (2003). Porin of Shigella dysenteriae enhances mRNA levels for Toll-like receptor 2 and MyD88, up-regulates CD80 of murine macrophage, and induces the release of interleukin-12. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 39:213-219.

Ray A and Biswas T (2005). Porin of Shigella dysenteriae enhances Toll-like receptors 2 and 6 of mouse peritoneal B-2 cells and induces the expression of immunoglobulin M, immunoglobulin G2a and immunoglobulin A. *Immunology* 114: 94-100.

Reeves EP, Ali T, Leonard P, Hearty S, O'kennedy R, May FEB, Westley BR, Josenhans C, Rust M, Suerbaum S,Smith A, Drumm B, Clyne M (2008). *Helicobacter pylori* Lipopolysaccharide Interacts With TFF1 in a pH-Dependent Manner. *Gastroenterology* 135: 2043-2054.

Renn CN, Sanchez DJ, Ochoa MT, Legaspi AJ, Oh CK, Liu PT, Krutzik SR, Sieling PA, Cheng G, Modlin RL (2006). TLR activation of Langerhans cell-like dendritic cells triggers an antiviral immune response. *J Immunol* 177:298-305.

Rieder G, Merchant JL, Haas R (2005). Helicobacter pylori cag-type IV secretion system facilitates corpus colonization to induce precancerous conditions in Mongolian gerbils. *Gastroenterology* 128:1229–1242.

Robinson RT, Khader SA, Locksley RM, Lien E, Smiley ST, Cooper AM (2008). Yersinia pestis evades TLR4-dependent induction of IL-12(p40)2 by dendritic cells and subsequent cell migration. *J Immunol* 181:5560-5567.

Rocha-de-Souza CM, Berent-Maoz B, Mankuta D, Moses AE, Levi-Schaffer F (2008). Human mast cell activation by Staphylococcus aureus: interleukin-8 and tumor necrosis factor alpha release and the role of Toll-like receptor 2 and CD48 molecules. *Infect Immun* 76:4489-4497.

Rock FL, Hardiman G, Timans JC, Kastelein RA, Bazan JF (1998). A family of human receptors structurally related to Drosophila Toll. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95:588-593.

Roeder A, Kirschning CJ, Rupec RA, Schaller M, Weindl G, Korting HC (2004). Toll-like receptors as key mediators in innate antifungal immunity. *Med Mycol* 42:485-498.

Rosenstiel P, Hellmig S, Hampe J, Ott S, Till A, Fischbach W, Sahly H, Lucius R, Fölsch UR, Philpott D, Schreiber S (2006). Influence of polymorphisms in the NOD1/CARD4 and NOD2/CARD15 genes on the clinical outcome of Helicobacter pylori infection. *Cell Microbiol* 8:1188-1198.

Rosenstiel P, Sina C, End C, Renner M, Lyer S, Till A, Hellmig S, Nikolaus S, Fölsch UR, Helmke B, Autschbach F, Schirmacher P, Kioschis P, Hafner M, Poustka A, Mollenhauer J, Schreiber S (2007). Regulation of DMBT1 via NOD2 and TLR4 in intestinal epithelial cells modulates bacterial recognition and invasion. *J Immunol* 178:8203-8211.

Rothenbacher D and Brenner H (2003). Burden of *Helicobacter pylori* and *H. pylori*-related diseases in developed countries: recent developments and future implications. *Microbes Infect* 5: 693–703.
Rothfuchs AG, Trumstedt C, Wigzell H, Rottenberg ME (2004). Intracellular bacterial infectioninduced IFN-gamma is critically but not solely dependent on Toll-like receptor 4-myeloid differentiation factor 88-IFN-alpha beta-STAT1 signaling. *J Immunol* 172: 6345-6353.

Roura-Mir C, Wang L, Cheng TY, Matsunaga I, Dascher CC, Peng SL, Fenton MJ, Kirschning C, Moody DB (2005). Mycobacterium tuberculosis regulates CD1 antigen presentation pathways through TLR-2. *J Immunol* 175:1758-1766.

Ruckdeschel K, Pfaffinger G, Haase R, Sing A, Weighardt H, Häcker G, Holzmann B, Heesemann J (2004). Signaling of apoptosis through TLRs critically involves toll/IL-1 receptor domaincontaining adapter inducing IFN-beta, but not MyD88, in bacteria-infected murine macrophages. *J Immunol* 173:3320-3328.

Rugge M, Busatto G, Cassaro M, Shiao YH, Russo V, Leandro G, Avellini C, Fabiano A, Sidoni A, Covacci A (1999). Patients younger than 40 years with gastric carcinoma: *Helicobacter pylori* genotype and associated gastritis phenotype. *Cancer* 85: 2506-2511.

Saadat I, Higashi H, Obuse C, Umeda M, Murata-Kamiya N, Saito Y, Lu H, Ohnishi N, Azuma T, Suzuki A, Ohno S, Hatakeyama M (2007). *Helicobacter pylori* CagA targets PAR1/MARK kinase to disrupt epithelial cell polarity. *Nature* 447: 330–333.

Sabet M, Cottam HB, Guiney DG (2006). Modulation of cytokine production and enhancement of cell viability by TLR7 and TLR9 ligands during anthrax infection of macrophages. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 47:369-379.

Saitoh S and Miyake K (2006). Mechanism regulating cell surface expression and activation of Toll-like receptor 4. *Chem Rec* 6: 311-319.

Santos A, Queiroz DM, Menard A, Marais A, Rocha GA, Oliveira CA, Nogueira AM, Uzeda M, Megraud F (2003). New pathogenecity marker found in the plasticity region of the *Helicobacter pylori* genome. *J Clin Microbiol* 41:1651–1655.

Satin B, Giudice GD, Bianca VD, Dusi S, Laudanna C, Tonello F, Kelleher D, Rappuoli R, Montecucco C, Rossi F (2000). The neutrophil-activating protein (HP-NAP) of Helicobacter pylori is a protective antigen and a major virulence factor. *J Exp Med* 191: 1467–1476.

Sato S, Takeuchi O, Fujita T, Tomizawa H, Takeda K, Akira S (2002). A variety of microbial components induce tolerance to lipopolysaccharide by differentially affecting MyD88-dependent and - independent pathways. *Int Immunol* 14:783-791.

Schlender J, Hornung V, Finke S, Günthner-Biller M, Marozin S, Brzózka K, Moghim S, Endres S, Hartmann G, Conzelmann KK (2005). Inhibition of toll-like receptor 7- and 9-mediated alpha/beta interferon production in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells by respiratory syncytial virus and measles virus. *J Virol* 79:5507-5515.

Schmausser B, Andrulis M, Endrich S, Lee SK, Josenhans C, Müller-Hermelink HK, Eck M (2004). Expression and subcellular distribution of toll-like receptors TLR4, TLR5 and TLR9 on the gastric epithelium in Helicobacter pylori infection. *Clin Exp Immunol* 136:521-526.

Schroeder NW, Opitz B, Lamping N, Michelsen KS, Zähringer U, Göbel UB, Schumann RR (2000). Involvement of lipopolysaccharide binding protein, CD14, and Toll-like receptors in the initiation of innate immune responses by Treponema glycolipids. *J Immunol* 165:2683-2693.

Schwandner R, Dziarski R, Wesche H, Rothe M, Kirschning CJ (1999). Peptidoglycan- and lipoteichoic acid-induced cell activation is mediated by toll-like receptor 2. *J Biol Chem* 274:17406-17409.

Schwandner R, Dziarski R, Wesche H, Rothe M, Kirschning CJ (1999).. Peptidoglycan- and lipoteichoic acid-induced cell activation is mediated by Toll-like receptor 2. *J Biol Chem* 274: 17406–17409.

Segal ED, Cha J, Lo J, Falkow S, Tompkins LS (1999). Altered states: involvement of phosphorylated CagA in the induction of host cellular growth changes by *Helicobacter pylori*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96: 14559–14564.

Seki E, Tsutsui H, Nakano H, Tsuji N, Hoshino K, Adachi O, Adachi K, Futatsugi S, Kuida K, Takeuchi O, Okamura H, Fujimoto J, Akira S, Nakanishi K (2001). Lipopolysaccharide-induced IL-18 secretion from murine Kupffer cells independently of myeloid differentiation factor 88 that is critically involved in induction of production of IL-12 and IL-1beta. *J Immunol* 166:2651-2657.

Seki E, Tsutsui H, Tsuji NM, Hayashi N, Adachi K, Nakano H, Futatsugi-Yumikura S, Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Akira S, Fujimoto J, Nakanishi K (2002).. Critical roles of myeloid differentiation factor 88-dependent proinflammatory cytokine release in early phase clearance of Listeria monocytogenes in mice. *J Immunol* 169:3863-3868.

Selbach M, Moese S, Hauck CR, Meyer TF and Backert S (2002). Src is the kinase of the *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *J Biol Chem* 277: 6775–6778.

Selbach M, Moese S, Hurwitz R, Hauck CR, Meyer TF, Backert S (2003). The *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein induces cortactin dephosphorylation and actin rearrangement by c-Src inactivation. *EMBO J* 22: 515–528.

Selbach M, Moese S, Backert S, Jungblut PR, Meyer TF (2004). The *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein induces tyrosine dephosphorylation of ezrin. *Proteomics* 4: 2961–2968.

Seto K, Hayashi-Kuwabara Y, Yoneta T, Suda H, Tamaki H (1998). Vacuolation induced by cytotoxin from *Helicobacter pylori* is mediated by the EGF receptor in HeLa cells. *FEBS Lett* 431: 347–350.

Sharma SA, Tummuru MK, Blaser MJ, Kerr LD (1998). Activation of IL-8 gene expression by *Helicobacter pylori* is regulated by transcription factor nuclear factorkappa B in gastric epithelial cells. *J Immunol* 160: 2401–2407.

Shimomura H, Hayashi S, Yokota K, Oguma K, Hirai Y (2004). Alteration in the composition of cholesteryl glucosides and other lipids in Helicobacter pylori undergoing morphological change from spiral to coccoid form. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett* 237: 407–413

Shimoyama T and Crabtree JE (1998). Bacterial factors and immune pathogenesis in Helicobacter pylori infection. *Gut* 43(suppl 1):S2–5.

Shin S, Case CL, Archer KA, Nogueira CV, Kobayashi KS, Flavell RA, Roy CR, Zamboni DS (2008).Type IV secretion-dependent activation of host MAP kinases induces an increased proinflammatorycytokine response to Legionella pneumophila. *PLoS Pathog* 4:e1000220.

Sheedy FJ and O'Neill LA (2007). The Troll in Toll: Mal and Tram as bridges for TLR2 and TLR4 signaling. *J Leukoc Biol* 82: 196-203.

Shen H and Iwasaki A (2006). A crucial role for plasmacytoid dendritic cells in antiviral protection by CpG ODN-based vaginal microbicide. *J Clin Invest* 116: 2237-2243.

Shi Y, Evans JE, Rock KL (2003). Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. *Nature* 425: 516–521

Shoenfelt JL and Fenton MJ (2006). TLR2- and TLR4-dependent activation of STAT1 serine phosphorylation in murine macrophages is protein kinase C-delta-independent. *J Endotoxin Res*12: 231-240.

Silverstein AM. A history of immunology. New York: Academic Press, 1989.

Sing A, Reithmeier-Rost D, Granfors K, Hill J, Roggenkamp A, Heesemann J (2005). A hypervariable N-terminal region of Yersinia LcrV determines Toll-like receptor 2-mediated IL-10 induction and mouse virulence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:16049-16054.

Sipponen P, Kekki M, Haapakoski J, Ihamaki T, Siurala M (1985). Gastric cancer risk in chronic atrophic gastritis: statistical calculations of cross-sectional data. *Int J Cancer* 35:173–177.

Sirén J, Pirhonen J, Julkunen I, Matikainen S (2005). IFN-alpha regulates TLR-dependent gene expression of IFN-alpha, IFN-beta, IL-28, and IL-29. *J Immunol* 174:1932-1937.

Skerrett SJ, Wilson CB, Liggitt HD, Hajjar AM (2007). Redundant Toll-like receptor signaling in the pulmonary host response to Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 292: L312-322.

Skirrow MB (1977). Campylobacter enteritis: a "new" disease. **Br Med J** 2: 9–11.

Slack JL, Schooley K, Bonnert TP, Mitcham JL, Qwarnstrom EE, Sims JE, Dower SK (2000). Identification of two major sites in the type I interleukin-1 receptor cytoplasmic region responsible for coupling to pro-inflammatory signaling pathways. *J Biol Chem* 275: 4670–4678

Smiley ST, King JA, Hancock WW (2001). Fibrinogen stimulates macrophage chemokine secretion through Toll-like receptor 4. *J Immunol* 167: 2887–2894.

Smith MF Jr, Mitchell A, Li G, Ding S, Fitzmaurice AM, Ryan K, Crowe S, Goldberg JB (2003). Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR5, but not TLR4, are required for Helicobacter pylori-induced NF-kappa B activation and chemokine expression by epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 278: 32552-32560.

Smith MF Jr, Novotny J, Carl VS, Comeau LD (2006). Helicobacter pylori and toll-like receptor agonists induce syndecan-4 expression in an NF-kappaB-dependent manner. *Glycobiology* 16: 221-229.

Smythies LE, Waites KB, Lindsey JR, Harris PR, Ghiara P, Smith PD (2000). Helicobacter pylori-induced mucosal inflammation is Th1 mediated and exacerbated in IL-4, but not IFN-gamma, gene-deficient mice. *J Immunol* 165: 1022–1029.

Spiller S, Elson G, Ferstl R, Dreher S, Mueller T, Freudenberg M, Daubeuf B, Wagner H, Kirschning CJ (2008). TLR4-induced IFN-gamma production increases TLR2 sensitivity and drives Gram-negative sepsis in mice. *J Exp Med* 205:1747-1754.

Stein M, Rappuoli R, Covacci A (2000). Tyrosine phosphorylation of the *Helicobacter pylori* CagA antigen after *cag*-driven host celltranslocation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97: 1263–1268.

Stein M, Bagnoli F, Halenbeck R, Rappuoli R, Fantl WJ, Covacci A (2002). c-Src/Lyn kinases activate *Helicobacter pylori* CagA through tyrosine phosphorylation of the EPIYA motifs. *Mol Microbiol* 43: 971–980.

Stingl K, Altendorf K, Bakker EP (2002). Acid survival of Helicobacter pylori: how does urease activity trigger cytoplasmic pH homeostasis? *Trends Microbiol* 10: 70–74.

Stuart LM, Deng J, Silver JM, Takahashi K, Tseng AA, Hennessy EJ, Ezekowitz RA, Moore KJ (2005). Response to Staphylococcus aureus requires CD36-mediated phagocytosis triggered by the COOH-terminal cytoplasmic domain. *J Cell Biol* 170: 477-485.

Sturm A, Rilling K, Baumgart DC, Gargas K, Abou-Ghazalé T, Raupach B, Eckert J, Schumann RR, Enders C, Sonnenborn U, Wiedenmann B, Dignass AU (2005). Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 distinctively modulates T-cell cycling and expansion via toll-like receptor 2 signaling. *Infect Immun* 73:1452-1465.

Suerbaum S and Achtman M (2004). Helicobacter pylori: recombination, population structure and human migrations. *Int J Med Microbiol* 294: 133–139.

Sullivan C, Postlethwait JH, Lage CR, Millard PJ, Kim CH (2007). Evidence for evolving Toll-IL-1 receptor-containing adaptor molecule function in vertebrates. *J Immunol* 178: 4517-4527.

Sumikawa Y, Asada H, Hoshino K, Azukizawa H, Katayama I, Akira S, Itami S (2006).Induction of beta-defensin 3 in keratinocytes stimulated by bacterial lipopeptides through toll-like receptor 2. *Microbes Infect* 8:1513-1521.

Sun J, Fegan PE, Desai AS, Madara JL, Hobert ME (2007). Flagellin-induced tolerance of the Toll-like receptor 5 signaling pathway in polarized intestinal epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 292:G767-78.

Sun J, Walsh M, Villarino AV, Cervi L, Hunter CA, Choi Y, Pearce EJ (2005). TLR ligands can activate dendritic cells to provide a MyD88-dependent negative signal for Th2 cell development. *J Immunol* 174: 742-751.

Sutterwala FS, Mijares LA, Li L, Ogura Y, Kazmierczak BI, Flavell RA (2007). Immune recognition of Pseudomonas aeruginosa mediated by the IPAF/NLRC4 inflammasome. *J Exp Med* 204:3235-3245.

Sutterwala FS, Ogura Y, Szczepanik M, Lara-Tejero M, Lichtenberger GS, Grant EP, Bertin J, Coyle AJ, Galán JE, Askenase PW, Flavell RA (2006). Critical role for NALP3/CIAS1/Cryopyrin in innate and adaptive immunity through its regulation of caspase-1. *Immunity* 24:317-327.

Suzuki M, Mimuro H, Suzuki T, Park M, Yamamoto T, Sasakawa C (2005). Interaction of CagA-Crk plays an important role in *Helicobacter pylori*-induced loss of gastric epithelial cell adhesion. *J Exp Med* 202: 1235–1247.

Suzuki N, Suzuki S, Duncan GS, Millar DG, Wada T, Mirtsos C, Takada H, Wakeham A, Itie A, Li S, Penninger JM, Wesche H, Ohashi PS, Mak TW, Yeh W (2002). Severe impairment of interleukin-1 and Tolllike receptor signalling in mice lacking IRAK4 *Nature* 416: 750–756.

Suzuki N, Suzuki S, Duncan GS, Millar DG, Wada T, Mirtsos C, Takada H, Wakeham A, Itie A, Li S, Penninger JM, Wesche H, Ohashi PS, Mak TW, Yeh WC (2002). Severe impairment of interleukin-1 and Toll-like receptor signalling in mice lacking IRAK-4. *Nature* 416:750-756.

Suzuki T, Grand E, Bowman C, Merchant JL, Todisco A, Wang L, Valle JD (2001). TNF-alpha and interleukin 1 activate gastrin gene expression via MAPK- and PKC-dependent mechanisms. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 281: G1405–G1412.

Suzuki T, Franchi L, Toma C, Ashida H, Ogawa M, Yoshikawa Y, Mimuro H, Inohara N, Sasakawa C, Nuñez G (2007). Differential regulation of caspase-1 activation, pyroptosis, and autophagy via Ipaf and ASC in Shigella-infected macrophages. *PLoS Pathog* 3:e111.

Swantek JL, Tsen MF, Cobb MH, Thomas JA (2000). IL-1 receptor-associated kinase modulates host responsiveness to endotoxin. *J Immunol* 164: 4301–4306.

Sweet L and Schorey JS (2006). Glycopeptidolipids from Mycobacterium avium promote macrophage activation in a TLR2- and MyD88-dependent manner. *J Leukoc Biol* 80:415-23.

Tada H, Aiba S, Shibata K, Ohteki T, Takada H (2005). Synergistic effect of Nod1 and Nod2 agonists with toll-like receptor agonists on human dendritic cells to generate interleukin-12 and T helper type 1 cells. *Infect Immun* 73:7967-7976.

Takada H and Uehara A (2006). Enhancement of TLR-mediated innate immune responses by peptidoglycans through NOD signaling. *Curr Pharm* 12: 4163-4172.

Takahashi K, Shibata T, Akashi-Takamura S, Kiyokawa T, Wakabayashi Y, Tanimura N, Kobayashi T, Matsumoto F, Fukui R, Kouro T, Nagai Y, Takatsu K, Saitoh S, Miyake K. (2007). A protein associated with Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 (PRAT4A) is required for TLR-dependent immune responses. *J Exp Med* 204:2963-2976.

Takeda Y, Kaisho T, Akira S (2003). Toll-Like Receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 21: 335–376.

Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Takada H, Ogawa T, Takeda K, Akira S (1999a). Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. *Immunity* 11: 443-4451.

Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Copeland NG, Gilbert DJ, Jenkins NA, Takeda K, Akira S (1999b). TLR6: a novel member of an expanding Toll-like receptor family. *Gene* 231:59–65

Takeuchi O, Takeda K, Hoshino K, Adachi O, Ogawa T, Akira S (2000a). Cellular responses to bacterial cell wall components are mediated through MyD88-dependent signaling cascades. *Int Immunol* 12:113-117.

Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Akira S (2000b). Cutting edge: TLR2-deficient and MyD88-deficient mice are highly susceptible to Staphylococcus aureus infection. *J Immunol* 165:5392-5396.

Takeuchi O, Kaufmann A, Grote K, Kawai T, Hoshino K, Morr M, Muehlradt PF, Akira S (2000c). Preferentially the S-stereoisomer of the mycoplasmal lipopeptide macrophage-activating lipopeptide-2 activates immune cells through a Toll-like receptor 2- and MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. *J Immunol* 164: 554–557.

Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Mühlradt PF, Morr M, Radolf JD, Zychlinsky A, Takeda K, Akira S ((2001). Discrimination of bacterial lipopeptidesby Toll-like receptor 6. *Int Immunol* 13: 933–940

Takeuchi O, Sato S, Horiuchi T, Hoshino K, Takeda K, Dong Z, Modlin RL, Akira S (2002). Cutting edge: role of Toll-like receptor 1 in mediating immune response to microbial lipoproteins. *J Immunol* 169:110-14.

Talley NJ and Hunt RH (1997). What role does *Helicobacter pylori* play in dyspepsia and nonulcer dyspepsia? Arguments for and against *H. pylori* being associated with dyspeptic symptoms. *Gastroenterology* 113: S67–S77.

Talreja J, Kabir MH, B Filla M, Stechschulte DJ, Dileepan KN (2004). Histamine induces Toll-like receptor 2 and 4 expression in endothelial cells and enhances sensitivity to Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacterial cell wall components. *Immunology* 113: 224-233.

Tamai R, Sugawara S, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Takada H (2003). Synergistic effects of lipopolysaccharide and interferon-gamma in inducing interleukin-8 production in human monocytic THP-1 cells is accompanied by up-regulation of CD14, Toll-like receptor 4, MD-2 and MyD88 expression. *J Endotoxin Res* 9:145-53.

Tammer I, Brandt S, Hartig R, König W, Backert S (2007). Activation of Abl by *Helicobacter pylori*: a novel kinase for CagA and crucial mediator of host cell scattering. *Gastroenterology* 132: 1309–1319.

Tanabe T, Chamaillard M, Ogura Y, Zhu L, Qiu S, Masumoto J, Ghosh P, Moran A, Predergast MM, Tromp G, Williams CJ, Inohara N, Núñez G (2004). Regulatory regions and critical residues of NOD2 involved in muramyl dipeptide recognition. *EMBO J* 23:1587-97.

Tanaka J, Suzuki T, Mimuro H, Sasakawa C (2003). Structural definition on the surface of *Helicobacter pylori* type IV secretion apparatus. *Cell Microbiol* 5: 395–404.

Taneera J, Moran AP, Hynes SO, Nilsson HO, Al-Soud W, Wadstrom T (2002). Influence of activated charcoal, porcine gastric mucin and beta-cyclodextrin on the morphology and growth of intestinal and gastric Helicobacter spp. *Microbiology* 148: 677–684.

Tapping RI, Akashi S, Miyake K, Godowski PJ, Tobias PS (2000). Toll-like receptor 4, but not toll-like receptor 2, is a signaling receptor for Escherichia and Salmonella lipopolysaccharides. *J Immunol* 165:5780-5787.

Tapping RI and Tobias PS (2003). Mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan mediates physical interactions between TLR1 and TLR2 to induce signaling. *J Endotoxin Res* 9: 264-268.

Tarlow JK, Blakemore AAI, Leonard A, Solari R, Hughes HN, Steinkasserer A, Duff GW (1993). Polymorphism in human IL-1 receptor antagonist gene intron 2 is caused by variable numbers of an 86-bp tandem repeat. *Hum Genet* 91:403–404.

Tattoli I, Travassos LH, Carneiro LA, Magalhaes JG, Girardin SE (2007). The Nodosome: Nod1 and Nod2 control bacterial infections and inflammation. *Semin Immunopathol* 29:289-301.

Telepnev M, Golovliov I, Grundström T, Tärnvik A, Sjöstedt A. (2003). Francisella tularensis inhibits Toll-like receptor-mediated activation of intracellular signalling and secretion of TNF-alpha and IL-1 from murine macrophages. *Cell Microbiol* 5: 41-51.

Termeer C, Benedix F, Sleeman J, Fieber C, Voith U, Ahrens T, Miyake K, Freudenberg M, Galanos C, Simon JC. Oligosaccharides of hyaluronan activate dendritic cells via Toll-like receptor 4. *J Exp Med* 195: 99–111 (2002).

Testerman TL, McGee DJ, Mobley HL (2001). *Helicobacter pylori* growth and urease detection in the chemically defined medium Ham's F-12 nutrient mixture. *J Clin Microbiol* 39:3842–3850.

Thomas JA, Allen JL, Tsen M, Dubnicoff T, Danao J, Liao LC, Cao Z, Wasserman SA (1999). Impaired cytokine signaling in mice lacking the IL-1 receptor-associated kinase. *J Immunol* 163: 978–984

Thomas JE, Bunn JE, Kleanthous H, Monath TP, Harding M, Coward WA, Weaver LT (2004). Specific immunoglobulin A antibodies in maternal milk and delayed Helicobacter pylori colonization in Gambian infants. *Clin Infect Dis* 39:1155–1160.

Ting JP and Davis BK (2005). CATERPILLER: a novel gene family important in immunity, cell death, and diseases. *Annu Rev Immunol* 23: 387–414.

Toetemeyer S, Sheppard M, Lloyd A, Roper D, Dowson C, Underhill D, Murray P, Maskell D, Bryant C (2006). IFN-gamma enhances production of nitric oxide from macrophages via a mechanism that depends on nucleotide oligomerization domain-2. *J Immunol* 176: 4804-4810.

Tomb JF, White O, Kerlavage AR, Clayton RA, Sutton GG, Fleischmann RD, Ketchum KA, Klenk HP, Gill S, Dougherty BA, Nelson K, Quackenbush J, Zhou L, Kirkness EF, Peterson S, Loftus B, Richardson D, Dodson R, Khalak HG, Glodek A, McKenney K, Fitzegerald LM, Lee N, Adams MD, Hickey EK, Berg DE, Gocayne JD, Utterback TR, Peterson JD, Kelley JM, Cotton MD, Weidman JM, Fujii C, Bowman C, Watthey L, Wallin E, Hayes WS, Borodovsky M, Karpk PD, Smith HO, Fraser CM, Venter JC (1997). The complete genome sequence of the gastric pathogen *Helicobacter pylori*. *Nature* 388:539–547.

Tompkins LS and Falkow S. The new path to preventing ulcers. *Science* 267: 1621-22,1995.

Tonello F, Dundon WG, Satin B, Molinari M, Tognon G, Grandi G, del Guicide G, Rappuoli R, Montecucco C (1999). The *Helicobacter pylori* neutrophil-activating protein is an iron-binding protein with dodecameric structure. *Mol Microbiol* 34:238–246.

Torres D, Barrier M, Bihl F, Quesniaux VJ, Maillet I, Akira S, Ryffel B, Erard F (2004). Toll-like receptor 2 is required for optimal control of Listeria monocytogenes infection. *Infect Immun* 72: 2131-2139.

Torres VJ, Ivie SE, McClain MS, Cover TL (2005). Functional properties of the p33 and p55 domains of the Helicobacter pylori vacuolating cytotoxin. *J Biol Chem* 280: 21107–21114.

Travassos LH, Girardin SE, Philpott DJ, Blanot D, Nahori MA, Werts C, Boneca IG (2004). Tolllike receptor 2-dependent bacterial sensing does not occur via peptidoglycan recognition. *EMBO Rep* 5: 1000-1006.

Travassos LH, Carneiro LA, Girardin SE, Boneca IG, Lemos R, Bozza MT, Domingues RC, Coyle AJ, Bertin J, Philpott DJ, Plotkowski MC (2005). Nod1 participates in the innate immune response to Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *J Biol Chem* 280: 36714-36718.

Triantafilou K, Vakakis E, Orthopoulos G, Ahmed MA, Schumann C, Lepper PM, Triantafilou M (2005a). TLR8 and TLR7 are involved in the host's immune response to human parechovirus 1. *Eur J Immunol* 35:2416-2423.

Triantafilou K, Orthopoulos G, Vakakis E, Ahmed MA, Golenbock DT, Lepper PM, Triantafilou M (2005b). Human cardiac inflammatory responses triggered by Coxsackie B viruses are mainly Toll-like receptor (TLR) 8-dependent. *Cell Microbiol* 7: 1117-1126.

Tsai CJ, Perry S, Sanchez L, Parsonnet J (2005). *Helicobacter pylori* infection in different generations of Hispanics in the San Francisco Bay Area. *Am J Epidemiol* 162: 351–357.

Tsang YT, Neelamegham S, Hu Y, Berg EL, Burns AR, Smith CW, Simon SI (1997). Synergy between L-selectin signaling and chemotactic activation during neutrophil adhesion and transmigration. *J Immunol* 159: 4566-77.

Tschopp J, Martinon F, Burns K (2003). NALPs: A novel protein family involved in inflammation. *Nature Rev Mol Cell Biol* 4: 95-104

Tsukuba T, Yamamoto S, Yanagawa M, Okamoto K, Okamoto Y, Nakayama KI, Kadowaki T, Yamamoto K. (2006). Cathepsin E-deficient mice show increased susceptibility to bacterial infection associated with the decreased expression of multiple cell surface Toll-like receptors. *J Biochem* 140:57-66.

Tsutsumi R, Higashi H, Higuchi M, Okada M, Hatakeyama M (2003). Attenuation of *Helicobacter pylori* CagA x SHP-2 signaling by interaction between CagA and C-terminal Src kinase. *J Biol Chem* 278: 3664–3670.

Tsutsumi R, Takahashi A, Azuma T, Higashi H, Hatakeyama M (2005). FAK is a substrate and downstream effector of SHP-2 complexed with *H. pylori* CagA. *Mol Cell Biol* 26: 261–276.

Tyrer P, Foxwell AR, Cripps AW, Apicella MA, Kyd JM (2006). Microbial pattern recognition receptors mediate M-cell uptake of a gram-negative bacterium. *Infect Immun* 74: 625-631.

Uchijima M, Nagata T, Aoshi T, Koide Y (2005). IFN-gamma overcomes low responsiveness of myeloid dendritic cells to CpG DNA. *Immunol Cell Biol* 83: 92-95.

Uehara A, Sugawara Y, Kurata S, Fujimoto Y, Fukase K, Kusumoto S, Satta Y, Sasano T, Sugawara S, Takada H (2005a). Chemically synthesized pathogen-associated molecular patterns increase the expression of peptidoglycan recognition proteins via toll-like receptors, NOD1 and NOD2 in human oral epithelial cells. *Cell Microbiol* 7: 675-686.

Uehara A, Yang S, Fujimoto Y, Fukase K, Kusumoto S, Shibata K, Sugawara S, Takada H (2005b). Muramyldipeptide and diaminopimelic acid-containing desmuramylpeptides in combination with chemically synthesized Toll-like receptor agonists synergistically induced production of interleukin-8 in a NOD2- and NOD1-dependent manner, respectively, in human monocytic cells in culture. *Cell Microbiol* 7: 53-61.

Uehara A, Fujimoto Y, Kawasaki A, Kusumoto S, Fukase K, Takada H (2006). Mesodiaminopimelic acid and meso-lanthionine, amino acids specific to bacterial peptidoglycans, activate human epithelial cells through NOD1. *J Immunol* 177:1796-1804.

Uehara A, Iwashiro A, Sato T, Yokota S, Takada H (2007). Antibodies to proteinase 3 prime human monocytic cells via protease-activated receptor-2 and NF-kappaB for Toll-like receptor- and NOD-dependent activation. *Mol Immunol* 44: 3552-3562.

Ueno K, Koga T, Kato K, Golenbock DT, Gendler SJ, Kai H, Kim KC (2008). MUC1 mucin is a negative regulator of toll-like receptor signaling. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 38:263-268.

Underhill DM, Ozinsky A, Hajjar AM, Stevens A, Wilson CB, Bassetti M, Aderem A. The Toll-like receptor 2 is recruited to macrophage phagosomes and discriminates between pathogens. *Nature* 401: 811–815 (1999).

Uno K, Kato K, Atsumi T, Suzuki T, Yoshitake J, Morita H, Ohara S, Kotake Y, Shimosegawa T, Yoshimura T (2007). Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 induced through TLR4 signaling initiated by Helicobacter pylori cooperatively amplifies iNOS induction in gastric epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 293:G1004-12.

Utt M, Danielsson B, Wadström T (2001). *Helicobacter pylori* vacuolating cytotoxin binding to a putative cell surface receptor, heparan sulfate, studied by surface plasmon resonance. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 30:109–113.

Vabulas RM, Ahmad-Nejad P, Ghose S, Kirschning CJ, Issels RD, Wagner H (2002). HSP70 as endogenous stimulus of the Toll/interleukin-1 receptor signal pathway. *J Biol Chem* 277:15107-12.

Vabulas RM, Ahmad-Nejad P, Ghose S, Kirschning CJ, Issels RD, Wagner H (2002). HSP70 as endogenous stimulus of the Toll/interleukin-1 receptor signal pathway. *J Biol Chem* 277: 15107–15112

Vabulas RM, Wagner H, Schild H (2002). Heat shock proteins as ligands of toll-like receptors. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 270: 169-184.

Valkonen KH, Wadstroem T, Moran AP (1997). Identification of the *N* Acetylneuraminyllactose-Specific Laminin-Binding Protein of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Infect Immun* 65:916-923.

van Beelen AJ, Zelinkova Z, Taanman-Kueter EW, Muller FJ, Hommes DW, Zaat SA, Kapsenberg ML, de Jong EC (2007). Stimulation of the intracellular bacterial sensor NOD2 programs dendritic cells to promote interleukin-17 production in human memory T cells. *Immunity* 27: 660-669.

Van de Bovenkamp JH, Mahdavi J, Korteland-Van Male AM, Buller HA, Einerhand AW, Boren T, Dekker J (2003). The MUC5AC glycoprotein is the primary receptor for Helicobacter pylori in the human stomach. *Helicobacter* 8:521–532.

Van De Bovenkamp JH, Korteland-Van Male AM, Buller HA, Einerhand AW, Dekker J (2005). Infection with Helicobacter pylori affects all major secretory cell populations in the human antrum. *Dig Dis Sci* 50: 1078-1086

Van den Brink GR, Tytgat KM, Van der Hulst RW, Van der Loos CM, Einerhand AW, Buller HA, Dekker J (2000). *H pylori* colocalises with MUC5AC in the human stomach. *Gut* 46: 601-607

van der Aar AM, Sylva-Steenland RM, Bos JD, Kapsenberg ML, de Jong EC, Teunissen MB (2007). Loss of TLR2, TLR4, and TLR5 on Langerhans cells abolishes bacterial recognition. *J Immunol* 178:1986-1990.

van der Graaf CA, Netea MG, Verschueren I, van der Meer JW, Kullberg BJ (2005). Differential cytokine production and Toll-like receptor signaling pathways by Candida albicans blastoconidia and hyphae. *Infect Immun* 73:7458-464.

Van der Graaf CA, Netea MG, Morré SA, Den Heijer M, Verweij PE, Van der Meer JW, Kullberg BJ (2006). Toll-like receptor 4 Asp299Gly/Thr399lle polymorphisms are a risk factor for Candida bloodstream infection. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 17:29-34.

van Doorn LJ, Figueiredo C, Sanna R, Pena S, Midolo P, Ng EK, Atherton JC, Blaser MJ, Quint WG (1998). Expanding allelic diversity of *Helicobacter pylori vacA*. *J Clin Microbiol* 36: 2597–2603.

Van Doorn LJ, Figueiredo C, Sanna R, Plaisier A, Schneeberger P, de Boer WA, Quint W (1998). Clinical relevance of the CagA, VacA and IceA status of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Gastroenterology* 115: 58-66.

van 't Veer C, van den Pangaart PS, van Zoelen MAD, de Kruif M, Birjmohun RS, Stroes ES, de Vos AF and van der Poll T (2007). Induction of IRAK-M Is Associated with Lipopolysaccharide Tolerance in a Human Endotoxemia Model. *J Immunol* 179: 7110-7120

van Vliet AHM, Kuipers EJ, Waidner B, Davies BJ, de Vries N, Penn CW, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CM, Kist M, Bereswill S, Kusters JG (2001). Nickel-responsive induction of urease expression in *Helicobacter pylori* is mediated at the transcriptional level. *Infect Immun* 69: 4891–4897.

Varadaradjalou S, Féger F, Thieblemont N, Hamouda NB, Pleau JM, Dy M, Arock M (2003).Tolllike receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR4 differentially activate human mast cells. *Eur J Immunol* 33: 899-906.

Veldhuyzen van Zanten SOJ, Dixon MF, Lee A (1999). The gastric transitional zones: neglected links between gastroduodenal pathology and *Helicobacter* ecology. *Gastroenterology* 116: 1217–1229.

Viala J, Chaput C, Boneca IG, Cardona A, Girardin SE, Moran AP, Athman R, Mémet S, Huerre MR, Coyle AJ, DiStefano PS, Sansonetti PJ, Labigne A, Bertin J, Philpott DJ, Ferrero RL (2004). Nod1 responds to peptidoglycan delivered by the Helicobacter pylori cag pathogenicity island. *Nat Immunol* 5:1166-1174.

Vinzing M, Eitel J, Lippmann J, Hocke AC, Zahlten J, Slevogt H, N'guessan PD, Günther S, Schmeck B, Hippenstiel S, Flieger A, Suttorp N, Opitz B (2008). NAIP and Ipaf control Legionella pneumophila replication in human cells. *J Immunol* 180: 6808-6815.

von Bernuth H, Picard C, Jin Z, Pankla R, Xiao H, Ku CL, Chrabieh M, Mustapha IB, Ghandil P, Camcioglu Y, Vasconcelos J, Sirvent N, Guedes M, Vitor AB, Herrero-Mata MJ, Aróstegui JI, Rodrigo C, Alsina L, Ruiz-Ortiz E, Juan M, Fortuny C, Yagüe J, Antón J, Pascal M, Chang HH, Janniere L, Rose Y, Garty BZ, Chapel H, Issekutz A, Maródi L, Rodriguez-Gallego C, Banchereau J, Abel L, Li X, Chaussabel D, Puel A, Casanova JL (2008). Pyogenic bacterial infections in humans with MyD88 deficiency. *Science* 321: 691-696.

Vora P, Youdim A, Thomas LS, Fukata M, Tesfay SY, Lukasek K, Michelsen KS, Wada A, Hirayama T, Arditi M, Abreu MT (2004). Beta-defensin-2 expression is regulated by TLR signaling in intestinal epithelial cells. *J Immunol* 173: 5398-5405.

Wada A,Yamasaki E, Hirayama T (2004). *Helicobacter pylori* vacuolating cytotoxin, VacA, is responsible for gastric ulceration. *J Biochem* 136: 741–746.

Wagner H (2004). The immunobiology of the TLR9 subfamily. Trends Immunol 25: 381–386.

Wallasch C, Crabtree JE, Bevec D, Robinson PA, Wagner H, Ullrich A (2002). *Helicobacter pylori*-stimulated EGF receptor transactivation requires metalloprotease cleavage of HB-EGF. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 295: 695-701.

Wang Q, McLoughlin RM, Cobb BA, Charrel-Dennis M, Zaleski KJ, Golenbock D, Tzianabos AO, Kasper DL (2006). A bacterial carbohydrate links innate and adaptive responses through Toll-like receptor 2. *J Exp Med* 203: 2853-2863.

Warger T, Hilf N, Rechtsteiner G, Haselmayer P, Carrick DM, Jonuleit H, von Landenberg P, Rammensee HG, Nicchitta CV, Radsak MP, Schild H (2006). Interaction of TLR2 and TLR4 ligands with the N-terminal domain of Gp96 amplifies innate and adaptive immune responses. *J Biol Chem* 281:22545-22553.

Warren JR and Marshall BJ (1983). Unidentified curved bacilli on gastric epithelium in active chronic gastritis. *Lancet* i:1273–127

Warren SE, Mao DP, Rodriguez AE, Miao EA, Aderem A (2008). Multiple Nod-like receptors activate caspase 1 during Listeria monocytogenes infection. *J Immunol* 180:7558-7564.

Watanabe T, Kitani A, Murray PJ, Wakatsuki Y, Fuss IJ, Strober W (2006). Nucleotide binding oligomerization domain 2 deficiency leads to dysregulated TLR2 signaling and induction of antigen-specific colitis. *Immunity* 25: 473-85.

Weck MM, Grünebach F, Werth D, Sinzger C, Bringmann A, Brossart P (2007). TLR ligands differentially affect uptake and presentation of cellular antigens. *Blood* 109:3890-3894.

Weeks DL, Eskandari S, Scott DR, Sachs G (2000). A HC-gated urea channel: the link between *Helicobacter pylori* urease and gastric colonization. *Science* 287: 482–485.

Weinmann AS, Mitchell DM, Sanjabi S, Bradley MN, Hoffmann A, Liou HC, Smale ST (2001). Nucleosome remodeling at the IL-12 p40 promoter is a TLR-dependent, Rel-independent event. *Nat Immunol* 2: 51-57.

Werts C, Tapping RI, Mathison JC, Chuang T, Kravchenko V, Girons I, Haake DA, Godowski PJ, Hayashi F, Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Kirschning CJ, Wagner H, Aderem A, Tobias PS, Ulevitch RJ (2001). Leptospiral liopolysaccharide activates cells through a TLR2-dependent mechanism. *Nature Immunol* 2: 346–352

Werts C, le Bourhis L, Liu J, Magalhaes JG, Carneiro LA, Fritz JH, Stockinger S, Balloy V, Chignard M, Decker T, Philpott DJ, Ma X, Girardin SE (2007). Nod1 and Nod2 induce CCL5/RANTES through the NF-kappaB pathway. *Eur J Immunol* 37: 2499-508.

Wesche H, Henzel WJ, Shillinglaw W, Li S, Cao Z (1997). MyD88: an adapter that recruits IRAK to the IL-1 receptor complex. *Immunity* 7: 837–847.

Wickliffe KE, Leppla SH, Moayeri M (2008). Anthrax lethal toxin-induced inflammasome formation and caspase-1 activation are late events dependent on ion fluxes and the proteasome. *Cell Microbiol* 10:332-43.

Williams KL, Lich JD, Duncan JA, Reed W, Rallabhandi P, Moore C, Kurtz S, Coffield VM, Accavitti-Loper MA, Su L, Vogel SN, Braunstein M, Ting JP (2005). The CATERPILLER protein monarch-1 is an antagonist of toll-like receptor-, tumor necrosis factor alpha-, and Mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced pro-inflammatory signals. *J Biol Chem* 280:39914-39924.

Wolf NA, Amouzegar TK, Swanborg RH (2007). Synergistic interaction between Toll-like receptor agonists is required for induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in Lewis rats. *J Neuroimmunol* 185: 115-22.

Wolfs TG, Buurman WA, van Schadewijk A, de Vries B, Daemen MA, Hiemstra PS, van 't Veer C (2002). In vivo expression of Toll-like receptor 2 and 4 by renal epithelial cells: IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha mediated up-regulation during inflammation. *J Immunol* 168:1286-1293.

Wu MS, Wu CY, Chen CJ, Lin MT, Shun CT, Lin JT (2003). Interleukin-10 genotypes associate with the risk of gastric carcinoma in Taiwanese Chinese. *Int J Cancer* 104: 617–623.

Wunder C, Churin Y, Winau F, Warnecke D, Vieth M, Lindner B, Zaehringer U, Mollenkop H, Heinz E, Meyer TF (2006). Cholesterol glucosylation promotes immune evasion by *Helicobacter pylori*. *Nature Med* 12:1030-1038.

Wundisch T, Thiede C, Morgner A, Dempfle A, Gunther A, Liu H, Ye H, Du MQ, Kim TD, Bayerdorffer E, Stolte M, Neubauer A (2005).Long-term follow-up of gastric MALT lymphoma after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. *J Clin Oncol* 23:8018–8024.

Wyllie DH, Kiss-Toth E, Visintin A, Smith SC, Boussouf S, Segal DM, Duff GW, Dower SK (2002). Evidence for an accessory protein function for Toll-like receptor 1 in anti-bacterial responses. *J Immunol* 165: 7125–7132.

Xu Q, Morgan RD, Roberts RJ, Xu SY, van Doorn LJ, Donahue JP, Miller GG, Blaser MJ (2002). Functional analysis of *iceA1*, a CATG-recognizing restriction endonuclease gene in *Helicobacter pylori*. *Nucleic Acids Research* 30:3839-47.

Xu Y, Tao X, Shen B, Horng T, Medzhitov R, Manley JL, Tong L (2000). Structural basis for signal transduction by the Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domains. *Nature* 408: 111–115.

Yahiro K, Wada A, Nakayama M, Kimura T, Ogushi K, Niidome T, Aoyagi H, Yoshino K, Yonezawa K, Moss J, Hirayama T (2003). Protein-tyrosine phosphatase alpha, RPTP alpha, is a *Helicobacter pylori* VacA receptor. *J Biol Chem* 278: 19183–19189.

Yamamoto M, Sato S, Mori K, Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Takeda K, Akira S (2002a). A novel TIR domain-containing adaptor that preferentially activates the interferon-β promoter. *J Immunol* 169: 6668–6672

Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Sanjo H, Uematsu S, Kaisho T, Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Kobayashi M, Fujita T, Takeda K, Akira S (2002b). Essential role of TIRAP/Mal for activation of the signaling cascade shared by TLR2 and TLR4. *Nature* 420: 324–329.

Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Sanjo H, Takeuchi O, Sugiyama M, Okabe M, Takeda K, Akira S (2003). Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88- independent Toll-like receptor signalling pathway. *Science* 301: 640–643.

Yamamoto M, Yaginuma K, Tsutsui H, Sagara J, Guan X, Seki E, Yasuda K, Yamamoto M, Akira S, Nakanishi K, Noda T, Taniguchi S (2004). ASC is essential for LPS-induced activation of procaspase-1 independently of TLR-associated signal adaptor molecules. *Genes Cells* 9: 1055–1067.

Yamamoto-Furusho JK, Barnich N, Xavier R, Hisamatsu T, Podolsky DK (2006). Centaurin beta1 down-regulates nucleotide-binding oligomerization domains 1- and 2-dependent NF-kappaB activation. *J Biol Chem* 281:36060-36070.

Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Uematsu S, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Takeda K, Akira S (2003). TRAM is specifically involved in the Toll-like receptor 4-mediated MyD88 independent signaling pathway. *Nature Immunol* 4: 1144–1150.

Yamaoka Y, Kodama T, Gutierrez O, Kim JG, Kashima K, Graham DY (1999). Relationship between *Helicobacter pylori iceA*, *cagA*, and *vacA* status and clinical outcome: studies in four different countries. *J Clin Microbio* 37: 2274-2279.

Yamaoka Y, Kwon DH, Graham DY (2000). A M(r) 34,000 proinflammatoryouter membrane protein (oipA) of Helicobacter pylori. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97: 7533–7538.

Yamaoka Y, Kikuchi S, el-Zimaity HM, Gutierrez O, Osato MS, Graham DY (2002). Importance of *Helicobacter pylori oipA* in clinical presentation, gastric inflammation, and mucosal interleukin 8 production. *Gastroenterology* 123: 414–424.

Yang CS, Lee JS, Song CH, Hur GM, Lee SJ, Tanaka S, Akira S, Paik TH, Jo EK. (2007). Protein kinase C zeta plays an essential role for Mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 activation in monocytes/macrophages via Toll-like receptor 2. *Cell Microbiol* 9:382-396.

Yang CS, Shin DM, Lee HM, Son JW, Lee SJ, Akira S, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, El-Benna J, Ichijo H, Jo EK (2008). ASK1-p38 MAPK-p47phox activation is essential for inflammatory responses during tuberculosis via TLR2-ROS signalling. *Cell Microbiol* 10: 741-54.

Yang K, Puel A, Zhang S, Eidenschenk C, Ku CL, Casrouge A, Picard C, von Bernuth H, Senechal B, Plancoulaine S, Al-Hajjar S, Al-Ghonaium A, Maródi L, Davidson D, Speert D, Roifman C, Garty BZ, Ozinsky A, Barrat FJ, Coffman RL, Miller RL, Li X, Lebon P, Rodriguez-Gallego C, Chapel H, Geissmann F, Jouanguy E, Casanova JL (2005). Human TLR-7-, -8-, and -9-mediated induction of IFN-alpha/beta and -lambda Is IRAK-4 dependent and redundant for protective immunity to viruses. *Immunity* 23: 465-478.

Yarovinsky F, Zhang D, Andersen JF, Bannenberg GL, Serhan CN, Hayden MS, Hieny S, Sutterwala FS, Flavell RA, Ghosh S, Sher A (2005). TLR11 activation of dendritic cells by a protozoan profilin-like protein. *Science* 308:1626-1629.

Yea SS, Yang YI, Jang WH, Lee YJ, Bae HS, Paik KH (2001). Association between TNF-alpha promoter polymorphism and *Helicobacter pylori* cagA subtype infection. *J Clin Pathol* 54:703–706.

Yoneyama M, Kikuchi M, Natsukawa T, Shinobu N, Imaizumi T, Miyagishi M, Taira K, Akira S, Fujita T (2004). The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double stranded RNA-induced innate anti-viral responses. *Nat Immunol* 5: 730–737.

Yu HB and Finlay BB (2008). The Caspase-1 Inflammasome: A Pilot of Innate Immune Responses. *Cell Host Microbe* 4: 1-11.

Yu Y, Zeng H, Lyons S, Carlson A, Merlin D, Neish AS, Gewirtz AT (2003). TLR5-mediated activation of p38 MAPK regulates epithelial IL-8 expression via posttranscriptional mechanism. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 285:G282-90.

Zabaleta J, McGee DJ, Zea AH, Hernández CP, Rodriguez PC, Sierra RA, Correa P, Ochoa AC (2004). Helicobacter pylori arginase inhibits T cell proliferation and reduces the expression of the TCR z-chain (CD3z). *J Immunol* 173: 586–593

Zambon CF, Basso D, Navaglia F, Belluco C, Falda A, Fogar P, Greco E, Gallo N, Rugge M, Di Mario F, Plebani M (2005). Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine gene polymorphisms and *Helicobacter pylori* infection: interactions influence outcome. *Cytokine* 29:141–152.

Zambon CF, Basso D, Navaglia F, Germano G, Gallo N, Milazzo M, Greco E, Fogar P, Mazza S, Di Mario F, Basso G, Rugge M, Plebani M (2002). Helicobacter pylori virulence genes and host IL-1RN and IL-1beta genes interplay in favouring the development of peptic ulcer and intestinal metaplasia. *Cytokine* 18:242–251.

Zamboni DS, Kobayashi KS, Kohlsdorf T, Ogura Y, Long EM, Vance RE, Kuida K, Mariathasan S, Dixit VM, Flavell RA, Dietrich WF, Roy CR (2006). The Birc1e cytosolic pattern-recognition receptor contributes to the detection and control of Legionella pneumophila infection. *Nat Immunol* 7: 318–325

Zarember KA, Godowski PJ (2002). Tissue expression of human Toll-like receptors and differential regulation of Toll-like receptor mRNAs in leukocytes in response to microbes, their products and cytokines. *J Immunol* 168: 554-561.

Zanoni I, Foti M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Granucci F (2005). TLR-dependent activation stimuli associated with Th1 responses confer NK cell stimulatory capacity to mouse dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 175:286-292.

Zeaiter Z, Cohen D, Müsch A, Bagnoli F, Covacci A, Stein M (2007). Analysis of detergentresistant membranes of *Helicobacter pylori*-infected cells reveals a role for MARK2/Par1b in CagAmediated disruption of cellular polarity. *Cell Microbiol* 10: 781–794.

Zeisel MB, Druet VA, Sibilia J, Klein JP, Quesniaux V, Wachsmann D (2005). Cross talk between MyD88 and focal adhesion kinase pathways. *J Immunol* 174:7393-7397.

Zhang D, Zhang G, Hayden MS, Greenblatt MB, Bussey C, Flavell RA, Ghosh S (2004). A Tolllike receptor that prevents infection by uropathogenic bacteria. *Science* 303: 1522–1526.

Zhang FX, Kirschning CJ, Mancinelli R, Xu XP, Jin Y, Faure E, Mantovani A, Rothe M, Muzio M, Arditi M (1999). Bacterial lipopolysaccharide activates nuclear factor-kappaB through interleukin-1 signaling mediators in cultured human dermal endothelial cells and mononuclear phagocytes. *J Biol Chem* 274:7611-7614.

Zhang G, Ghosh S. Negative regulation of toll-like receptor-mediated signaling by Tollip. *J Biol Chem* 2002 277: 7059-7065.

Zhang H, Berezov A, Wang Q, Zhang G, Drebin J, Murali R, Greene MI (2007).. ErbB receptors: from oncogenes to targeted cancer therapies". *J Clin Invest* 117: 2051–2058

Zhao Y, Yokota K, Ayada K, Yamamoto Y, Okada T, Shen L, Oguma K (2007). Helicobacter pylori heat-shock protein 60 induces interleukin-8 via a Toll-like receptor (TLR)2 and mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway in human monocytes. *J Med Microbiol* 56:154-164.

Zheng J, Meng J, Zhao S, Singh R, Song W (2008). Campylobacter-induced interleukin-8 secretion in polarized human intestinal epithelial cells requires Campylobacter-secreted cytolethal distending toxin- and Toll-like receptor-mediated activation of NF-kappaB. *Infect Immun* 76:4498-4508.

Zhou C, Ma FZ, Deng XJ, Yuan H, Ma HS (2008). Lactobacilli inhibit interleukin-8 production induced by Helicobacter pylori lipopolysaccharide-activated Toll-like receptor 4. *World J Gastroenterol* 14: 5090-5095.

Zhu W , Downey JS, Li Y, Han J (1999). Co-ordinated regulation of TNF expression by multiple MAP kinase pathways. *Innate Immunity* 5: 239-243

Zilbauer M, Dorrell N, Elmi A, Lindley KJ, Schüller S, Jones HE, Klein NJ, Núnez G, Wren BW, Bajaj-Elliott M (2007). A major role for intestinal epithelial nucleotide oligomerization domain 1 (NOD1) in eliciting host bactericidal immune responses to Campylobacter jejuni. *Cell Microbiol* 9:2404-2416.

Zipris D, Lien E, Nair A, Xie JX, Greiner DL, Mordes JP, Rossini AA (2007). TLR9-signaling pathways are involved in Kilham rat virus-induced autoimmune diabetes in the biobreeding diabetes-resistant rat. *J Immunol* 178:693-701.

Zola TA, Lysenko ES, Weiser JN (2008). Mucosal clearance of capsule-expressing bacteria requires both TLR and nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain 1 signaling. *J Immunol* 181:7909-7916.